SPARTON CORP Form DEFM14A August 29, 2017 Table of Contents

UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

SCHEDULE 14A

Proxy Statement Pursuant to Section 14(a) of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934

(Amendment No.)

Filed by the Registrant

Filed by a Party other than the Registrant

Check the appropriate box:

Preliminary Proxy Statement

Confidential, for Use of the Commission Only (as permitted by Rule

14a-6(e)(2))

Definitive Proxy Statement

Definitive Additional Materials

Soliciting Material Pursuant to § 240.14a-12

SPARTON CORPORATION

(Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

N/A

(Name of Person(s) Filing Proxy Statement, if Other Than the Registrant)

Payment of Filing Fee (Check the appropriate box):

No fee requi Fee compute	ired. ed on table below per Exchange Act Rules 14a-6(i)(1) and 0-11.
(1)	Title of each class of securities to which transaction applies:
(Common Stock, \$1.25 par value per share
(2)	Aggregate number of securities to which transaction applies:
1	10,050,661
	Per unit price or other underlying value of transaction computed pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 0-11 (set forth the amount on which the filing fee is calculated and state how it was determined):
S	\$23.50
(4) I	Proposed maximum aggregate value of transaction:
\$	\$236,190,533.50
(5)	Total fee paid:
5	\$27,374.48
Fee paid pre	eviously with preliminary materials.
	f any part of the fee is offset as provided by Exchange Act Rule 0-11(a)(2) and identify the filing for which the offsetting fee eviously. Identify the previous filing by registration statement number, or the Form or Schedule and the date of its filing.
(1)	Amount Previously Paid:
(2) I	Form, Schedule or Registration Statement No.:
(3) I	Filing Party:
(4) I	Date Filed:

Sparton Corporation

425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000

Schaumburg, Illinois 60173

MERGER PROPOSED YOUR VOTE IS VERY IMPORTANT

To our Shareholders:

On July 7, 2017, Sparton Corporation (which we refer to as the Company), Ultra Electronics Holdings plc (which we refer to as Ultra) and Ultra Electronics Aneira Inc., an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra (which we refer to as Merger Sub), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (which we refer to as the merger agreement) that provides for Ultra to acquire the Company. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company (which we refer to as the merger), so that the Company will be the surviving corporation in the merger and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra.

At the effective time of the merger (which we refer to as the effective time), each share of the Company s common stock, par value \$1.25 per share (which we refer to as Company common stock), issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time (except for shares of Company common stock held by (i) the Company, Ultra and their respective subsidiaries and (ii) holders of Company common stock (which we refer to as Company shareholders) who have properly exercised dissenters rights) will be converted into the right to receive \$23.50 in cash without interest (which we refer to as the merger consideration). The merger consideration represents a premium of:

approximately 54.5% over \$15.21, the closing price of Company common stock on The New York Stock Exchange (which we refer to as the NYSE) on March 15, 2016, the last full trading day before the Company announced its exploration of strategic alternatives;

approximately 28.3% over \$18.31, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on June 22, 2017, the last full trading day before media reports that the Company was in discussions to be acquired by Ultra; and

approximately 5.10% over \$22.36, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on July 6, 2017, the last full trading day before the public announcement of the merger agreement.

On August 25, 2017, the most recent practicable date before this proxy statement was mailed to our shareholders, the closing price for Company common stock on the NYSE was \$23.10 per share. We urge you to obtain current market quotations for Sparton Corporation (trading symbol SPA).

The Company will hold a special meeting of the Company shareholders (which we refer to as the special meeting) in connection with the merger. Company shareholders will be asked to vote to adopt the merger agreement and approve related matters, as described in the attached proxy statement. Adoption of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote in person or by proxy of holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Company common stock entitled to vote thereon.

The special meeting will be held on October 5, 2017, at 10:00 a.m., central time, at the offices of the Company, located at 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173.

The board of directors of the Company has unanimously determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, are fair to the Company shareholders and are in the best interests of the Company and the Company shareholders, declared advisable and approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, and directed that the adoption of the merger agreement be submitted to a vote at a meeting of the Company shareholders. The board of directors of the Company recommends that the Company shareholders vote FOR the adoption of the merger agreement and FOR the other matters to be considered at the special meeting.

The accompanying proxy statement provides detailed information about the special meeting, the merger, the merger agreement, the documents related to the merger and other related matters. Please carefully read the entire proxy statement, including its annexes, and any documents incorporated in the proxy statement by reference. In particular, you should read the section entitled Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements in this proxy statement for a description of the risks related to the proposed merger and the sections entitled Risk Factors and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 3, 2016, and the other reports filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission and incorporated by reference into the proxy statement, for a description of the risks related to the Company s business.

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company, thank you for your cooperation and continued support of the Company.

Sincerely,

/s/ Joseph J. Hartnett

Joseph J. Hartnett

Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved the merger, passed upon the merits or fairness of the merger agreement or the transactions contemplated thereby or passed upon the adequacy or accuracy of the disclosure in this proxy statement. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The date of this proxy statement is August 28, 2017 and it is first being mailed or otherwise delivered to the Company s shareholders on or about August 30, 2017.

Sparton Corporation

425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000

Schaumburg, Illinois 60173

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

To be held on October 5, 2017

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Sparton Corporation, an Ohio corporation (which we refer to as the of holders of shares of common stock of the Company (which we refer to as Company common stock and holders of which we refer to as Company shareholders) on October 5, 2017, at 10:00 a.m., central time, at 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173 (which we refer to as the special meeting) to consider and vote upon the following matters:

- 1. A proposal to adopt the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of July 7, 2017, by and among the Company, Ultra Electronics Holdings plc, a company organized under the laws of England and Wales (which we refer to as Ultra), and Ultra Electronics Aneira Inc., an Ohio corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra (which we refer to as Merger Sub), as such agreement may be amended from time to time (which we refer to as the merger agreement), a copy of which is attached as **Annex A** to this proxy statement, which provides that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company (which we refer to as the merger), so that the Company will be the surviving corporation in the merger and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra (which we refer to as the merger proposal). At the effective time of the merger (which we refer to as the effective time), each share of Company common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time (except for shares of Company common stock held by (i) the Company, Ultra and their respective subsidiaries and (ii) Company shareholders who have properly exercised dissenters rights) will be converted into the right to receive \$23.50 in cash without interest (which we refer to as the merger consideration). For a discussion of the treatment of awards outstanding under the Company stock plans as of the effective time, see The Merger Agreement Treatment of Company Equity Awards ;
- 2. A proposal to approve, on a non-binding, advisory basis, the compensation that certain executive officers of the Company may receive in connection with the merger pursuant to agreements or arrangements with the Company (which we refer to as the compensation proposal); and
- 3. A proposal to approve one or more adjournments of the special meeting, if necessary or advisable, including adjournments to permit further solicitation of proxies in favor of the merger proposal if there are insufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the merger proposal (which we refer to as the adjournment proposal).

The board of directors of the Company has fixed the close of business on August 15, 2017 as the record date for the special meeting. Only Company shareholders of record at that time are entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. Adoption of the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote in person or by proxy of holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Company common stock entitled to vote thereon. Approval of the compensation proposal and the adjournment proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special

meeting.

The board of directors of the Company has unanimously determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, are fair to the Company shareholders and are in the best interests of the Company and the Company shareholders, has declared advisable and approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, has directed that the adoption of the merger agreement be submitted to a vote at a meeting of the Company shareholders, and unanimously recommends that the Company shareholders vote FOR the merger proposal, FOR the compensation proposal and FOR the adjournment proposal.

Your vote is very important. We cannot complete the merger unless the Company shareholders approve and adopt the merger proposal.

If you have any questions about the merger or the accompanying proxy statement, would like additional copies of the proxy statement or need assistance voting your shares of Company common stock, please contact the Company's proxy solicitor, Morrow Sodali LLC, 470 West Avenue, 3rd floor, Stamford, CT 06902, by telephone at (203) 658-9400 (for banks and brokerage firms) or (800) 662-5200 (for shareholders) or by email at spa.info@morrowsodali.com. If you hold your shares in street name through a bank, broker or other holder of record, please also contact your bank, broker or other holder of record for additional information.

Each copy of the proxy statement mailed to the Company shareholders is accompanied by a form of proxy card with instructions for voting. Regardless of whether you plan to attend the special meeting, please vote as soon as possible by accessing the Internet site listed on the proxy card, voting telephonically using the phone number listed on the proxy card or submitting your proxy card by mail. If you hold shares of Company common stock in your name as a shareholder of record and are voting by mail, please complete, sign, date and return the accompanying proxy card in the enclosed postage-paid return envelope. This will not prevent you from voting in person, but it will help to secure a quorum and avoid added solicitation costs. Any holder of record of shares of Company common stock who is present at the special meeting may vote in person instead of by proxy, thereby canceling any previous proxy. In any event, a proxy may be revoked at any time before the special meeting in the manner described in the accompanying proxy statement. Information and applicable deadlines for voting through the Internet or by telephone are set forth in the enclosed proxy card instructions. If you hold your stock in street name through a bank, broker or other holder of record, please follow the instructions on the voting instruction card furnished by the record holder. If you hold stock in the Company is 401(k) retirement savings plan, please follow the instructions on the voting instruction card furnished by the plan trustee.

Under Ohio law, Company shareholders who do not vote in favor of or consent to the adoption of the merger proposal will have dissenters—rights to seek the fair cash value of their shares of Company common stock, but only if they submit a written demand to the Company for such fair cash value before the vote on the merger proposal and comply with the other Ohio law procedures explained in the accompanying proxy statement. Company shareholders who do not vote in favor of the merger proposal and who submit a written demand for payment of the fair cash value of their shares of Company common stock before the vote on the merger proposal and comply with the other Ohio law procedures will not receive the merger consideration.

The enclosed proxy statement provides a detailed description of the special meeting, the merger, the merger agreement, the documents related to the merger and other related matters. **Please carefully read the entire proxy statement, including its annexes and any documents incorporated in the proxy statement by reference.**

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

/s/ Joseph G. McCormack

Joseph G. McCormack

Corporate Secretary

Date: August 28, 2017

REFERENCES TO ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

This proxy statement incorporates important business and financial information about the Company from documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (which we refer to as the SEC) that are not included in or delivered with this proxy statement. You can obtain any of the documents filed with or furnished to the SEC by the Company at no cost from the SEC s website at https://www.sec.gov. You may also request copies of these documents, including documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement, at no cost by contacting the Company at the following address:

Sparton Corporation

Attention: Shareholders Relations Department

425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000

Schaumburg, Illinois 60173

Telephone: 847-762-5800

You will not be charged for any of these documents that you request. To obtain timely delivery of these documents, you must request them no later than five business days before the date of the special meeting. This means that Company shareholders requesting documents must do so by September 28, 2017, in order to receive them before the special meeting.

For additional questions about the merger, assistance in submitting proxies or voting shares of Company common stock, or to request additional copies of the proxy statement or the enclosed proxy card, please contact:

Morrow Sodali LLC

470 West Avenue 19 floor

Stamford, CT 06902

Banks and Brokerage Firms Call: (203) 658-9400

Stockholders Call Toll Free: (800) 662-5200

Email: spa.info@morrowsodali.com

If you hold your shares in street name through a bank, broker or other holder of record, please also contact your bank, broker or other holder of record for additional information.

If you hold your shares in the Company s 401(k) retirement savings plan, please also contact the plan trustee for additional information.

You should rely only on the information contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this proxy statement. No one has been authorized to provide you with information that is different from that contained in, or incorporated by reference into, this proxy statement. This proxy statement is dated August 28, and you should assume that the information in this proxy statement is accurate only as of such date.

This proxy statement does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, any securities, or the solicitation of a proxy, in any jurisdiction to or from any person to whom it is unlawful to make any such offer or solicitation in such jurisdiction.

See Where You Can Find More Information beginning on page 141 for more details.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER AND THE SPECIAL MEETING</u>	1
SUMMARY	8
Parties to the Merger	8
The Special Meeting	8
The Merger	10
The Merger Agreement	12
Dissenters Rights	17
Market Price and Dividends	18
Delisting and Deregistration of Company Common Stock	18
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	19
PARTIES TO THE MERGER	20
The Company	20
<u>Ultra</u>	20
Merger Sub	21
	
THE SPECIAL MEETING THE SPECIAL MEETING	22
Date, Time and Place of the Special Meeting	22
Purpose of the Special Meeting	22
Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors	22
Record Date and Quorum	22
Vote Required	23
Voting, Proxies and Revocation	23
Adjournments and Postponements	25
Solicitation of Proxies	26
Questions and Additional Information	26
THE MERGER	27
Terms of the Merger	27
Background of the Merger	27
Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors; Reasons for the Merger	59
Unaudited Prospective Financial Information	63
Opinion of Raymond James & Associates, Inc.	71
Opinion of Wells Fargo Securities, LLC	80
Financing of the Merger	88
Interests of the Company s Executive Officers and Directors in the Merger	88
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger	97
Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger	99
Litigation Relating to the Merger	101
THE MERGER AGREEMENT	103
Explanatory Note Regarding the Merger Agreement	103
Effects of the Merger; Directors and Officers	103
Closing and Effective Time of the Merger	104
Merger Consideration	104
Treatment of Company Equity Awards	104
Exchange and Payment Procedures	105
Dissenters Rights	106
Adjustments to Prevent Dilution	106
Representations and Warranties	107
Conduct of the Company & Rusiness Pending the Merger	110

i

Table of Contents	
Non-Solicitation of Acquisition Proposals	113
No Change in Board Recommendation; No Entry into Alternative Transactions	115
Company Shareholders Meeting	117
<u>Ultra Shareholders Meeting; No Change in Ultra Board Recommendation</u>	118
Filings; Other Actions; Notification	119
<u>Financing</u>	121
Employee Matters	122
Shareholder Litigation	123
Indemnification; Directors and Officers Insurance	123
Expenses Control of the Control of t	124
Government Contracts Notification of Government Contracts	124
Notification of Certain Matters Sale of MDS	124 124
Other Agreements	124
Conditions to the Merger	123
Termination	128
Termination Fee	129
Remedies	130
Amendment and Waiver	131
PROPOSAL 1 VOTE ON ADOPTION OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT	132
PROPOSAL 2 ADVISORY VOTE ON MERGER-RELATED COMPENSATION FOR THE COMPANY S NAMED EXECUTIVE	
<u>OFFICERS</u>	133
Merger-Related Compensation Proposal	133
PROPOSAL 3 VOTE ON ONE OR MORE ADJOURNMENTS OF THE SPECIAL MEETING, IF NECESSARY OR ADVISABLE	134
<u>DISSENTERS RIGHT</u> S	135
MARKET PRICE AND DIVIDENDS	137
SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT	138
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners	138
Security Ownership of Management and Directors	139
DELISTING AND DEREGISTRATION OF COMPANY COMMON STOCK	140
OTHER MATTERS	140
IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING DELIVERY OF SECURITY HOLDER DOCUMENTS	140
SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS	140
WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION	141

Annex A MERGER AGREEMENT

Annex B-1 OPINION OF RAYMOND JAMES & ASSOCIATES, INC.

Annex B-2 OPINION OF WELLS FARGO SECURITIES, LLC

Annex C SECTIONS 1701.84 AND 1701.85 OF THE OGCL

ii

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE MERGER AND THE SPECIAL MEETING

The following questions and answers are intended to address briefly some commonly asked questions that you may have about the merger, the merger agreement and the special meeting. The information in this section does not provide all of the information that might be important to you with respect to the merger or the special meeting. We urge you to read carefully the remainder of this proxy statement, the annexes attached hereto and the other documents referred to or incorporated by reference herein, which contain additional important information. You may obtain the information incorporated by reference into this proxy statement without charge by following the instructions in Where You Can Find More Information.

Q: What is the merger?

A: Sparton Corporation, an Ohio corporation (which we refer to as the Company), Ultra Electronics Holdings plc, a company organized under the Laws of England and Wales (which we refer to as Ultra), and Ultra Electronics Aneira Inc., an Ohio corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra (which we refer to as Merger Sub), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated July 7, 2017, as such agreement may be amended from time to time (which we refer to as the merger agreement). Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, Merger Sub will merge with and into the Company (which we refer to as the merger), so that the Company will be the surviving corporation in the merger and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra. A copy of the merger agreement is attached as Annex A to this proxy statement.

The merger cannot be consummated unless, among other things, holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company (which we refer to as Company common stock and holders of which we refer to as Company shareholders) entitled to vote approve the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

Q: Why am I receiving this proxy statement?

A: We are delivering this document to you because you were a Company shareholder as of August 15, 2017, the record date for the special meeting the Company has called to adopt the merger agreement and approve related matters (which we refer to as the special meeting). This proxy statement is being used by the board of directors of the Company (which we refer to as the Company board) to solicit, on behalf of the Company, proxies of the Company shareholders in connection with the adoption of the merger agreement and related matters and describes the proposals to be presented at the special meeting.

This proxy statement contains important information about the merger and the other proposals being voted on at the special meeting. You should read it carefully and in its entirety. The enclosed materials allow you to have your shares of Company common stock voted by proxy without attending the special meeting. Your vote is important and we encourage you to submit your proxy as soon as possible.

- Q: What are the Company shareholders being asked to vote on at the special meeting?
- A: The Company is soliciting proxies from its common shareholders with respect to the following proposals:
 - 1. A proposal to adopt the merger agreement (which we refer to as the merger proposal);
 - 2. A proposal to approve, on a non-binding, advisory basis, the compensation that certain executive officers of the Company may receive in connection with the merger pursuant to agreements or arrangements with the Company, as described in Proposal

2 Advisory Vote on Merger-Related Compensation for the Company s Named Executive Officers (which we refer to as the compensation proposal); and

1

Table of Contents

3. A proposal to approve one or more adjournments of the special meeting, if necessary or advisable, including adjournments to permit further solicitation of proxies in favor of the merger proposal if there are insufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the merger proposal (which we refer to as the adjournment proposal).

Q: What will the Company shareholders receive in the merger?

A: In the merger, each share of Company common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the merger (which we refer to as the effective time) (except for shares of Company common stock held by (i) the Company, Ultra and their respective subsidiaries and (ii) Company shareholders who have properly exercised dissenters rights, which we refer to collectively as excluded shares) will, at the effective time, be converted into the right to receive \$23.50 in cash, without interest (which we refer to as the merger consideration).

Q: How will the merger affect Company equity awards?

A: The Company equity awards will be treated as follows:

Restricted Stock. At the effective time, with respect to each share of Company common stock that is subject to any vesting, forfeiture, repurchase or other lapse restriction (which we refer to as a restricted share) under the Sparton Corporation Stock Incentive Plan and the Sparton Corporation 2010 Long-Term Incentive Plan (which we refer to collectively as the Company stock plans), such vesting, forfeiture, repurchase or other lapse restriction will lapse, and such restricted share will be fully vested and will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration.

Restricted Stock Units. At the effective time, each restricted stock unit award in respect of shares of Company common stock granted under the Company stock plans (which we refer to as a Company RSU) will fully vest and will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive the merger consideration in respect of each share of Company common stock underlying such Company RSU. The cash amount will be paid as soon as reasonably practicable (but no later than five business days) after the effective time.

Stock Options. At the effective time, each outstanding option to purchase shares of Company common stock (which we refer to as a stock option) granted under the Company stock plans, whether vested or unvested, that has an exercise price per share that is less than the merger consideration, will fully vest and will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the amount by which the merger consideration exceeds the exercise price per share of such stock option and (ii) the total number of shares of Company common stock subject to such stock option. The cash amount will be paid as soon as reasonably practicable (but no later than five business days) after the effective time. Any stock option that has an exercise price per share that is greater than or equal to the merger consideration will be cancelled at the effective time for no consideration or payment.

Q: How does the merger consideration compare to the market price of Company common stock?

A: The merger consideration represents a premium of approximately 54.5% over \$15.21, the closing price of Company common stock on The New York Stock Exchange (which we refer to as the NYSE) on March 15, 2016, the last full trading day before the Company announced its exploration of strategic alternatives, a premium of approximately 28.3% over \$18.31, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on June 22, 2017, the last full trading day before media reports that the Company was in discussions to be acquired by Ultra, and a premium of approximately 5.10% over \$22.36, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on July 6, 2017, the last full trading day before the public announcement of the merger agreement. On August 25, 2017, the most recent practicable date before this proxy statement was mailed to our shareholders, the closing price for Company common stock on the NYSE was \$23.10 per share. You are encouraged to obtain current market quotations for Company common stock in connection with voting your shares.

Table of Contents

13

- Q: What will happen to the Company generally as a result of the merger?
- A: If the merger is consummated, Company common stock will be delisted from the NYSE and deregistered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (which we refer to as the Exchange Act), and the Company will no longer file periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission (which we refer to as the SEC) on account of Company common stock. The Company will cease to be an independent public company and will become an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra. You will no longer have any ownership interest in the Company.
- Q: How does the Company board recommend that I vote at the special meeting?
- A: The Company board unanimously recommends that you vote **FOR** the merger proposal, **FOR** the compensation proposal and **FOR** the adjournment proposal. You should read The Merger Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors; Reasons for the Merger for a discussion of the factors that the Company board considered in deciding to recommend the approval of the merger agreement. See also The Merger Interests of the Company s Executive Officers and Directors in the Merger.
- Q: Why am I being asked to consider and vote on, by non-binding, advisory vote, the compensation proposal?
- A: The SEC rules require the Company to seek a non-binding, advisory vote to approve compensation that will or may become payable by the Company to its named executive officers in connection with the merger. The approval of this proposal is not a condition to the consummation of the merger and will not be binding on the Company or Ultra. If the merger agreement is approved by Company shareholders and the merger is consummated, the merger-related compensation may be paid to the Company s named executive officers even if the Company shareholders do not approve the proposal.
- Q: When and where is the special meeting?
- A: The special meeting will be held on October 5, 2017, at 10:00 a.m., central time, at the offices of the Company, located at 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173.
- O: What do I need to do now?
- **A:** After you have carefully read this proxy statement including its annexes and any documents incorporated by reference herein and have decided how you wish to vote your shares of Company common stock, please vote your shares promptly so that your shares are represented and voted at the special meeting.

If you hold your shares in your name as a shareholder of record, you can complete, sign, date and mail your proxy card in the enclosed postage-paid return envelope, and we request that you do this as soon as possible. Alternatively, you may vote through the Internet or by telephone. Information and applicable deadlines for voting by mail, through the Internet or by telephone are set forth in the enclosed proxy card instructions.

If you hold your shares in street name through a bank, broker or other holder of record, please refer to the instructions for voting your shares provided by such bank, broker or other holder of record. A street name shareholder who wishes to vote in person at the special meeting will need to obtain a legal proxy from the institution that holds its shares.

If you hold your shares in the Company s 401(k) retirement savings plan (which we refer to as the 401(k) Plan), please refer to the instructions for voting your shares provided by the plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith (which we refer to as Merrill Lynch). A holder of shares in the 401(k) Plan may not vote in person at the special meeting.

3

- Q: What constitutes a quorum for the special meeting?
- A: The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of record of a majority of the outstanding voting shares of the Company as of the record date is necessary to constitute a quorum at the special meeting. The Company cannot hold the meeting unless a quorum is present. Abstentions will be counted as present at the meeting for the purpose of determining whether a quorum is present. We urge you to vote promptly by proxy even if you plan to attend the special meeting so that we will know as soon as possible that enough shares will be present for us to hold the special meeting.
- Q: What is the vote required to approve each proposal at the special meeting?
- **A:** Merger Proposal:

<u>Standard</u>: Approval of the merger proposal requires the affirmative vote in person or by proxy of holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Company common stock entitled to vote thereon.

Effect of abstentions and broker non-votes: If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person, mark ABSTAIN on your proxy or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote with respect to the merger proposal, it will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the proposal.

Compensation Proposal:

<u>Standard</u>: Approval, on a non-binding, advisory basis, of the compensation proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting.

Effect of abstentions and broker non-votes: If you mark ABSTAIN on your proxy card, it will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the proposal. If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person at the special meeting, or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote with respect to the compensation proposal, it will have no effect on the proposal. Adjournment Proposal:

<u>Standard</u>: Whether or not a quorum is present, approval of the adjournment proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting.

Effect of abstentions and broker non-votes: If you mark ABSTAIN on your proxy card, it will have the same effect as a vote **AGAINST** the proposal. If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person at the special meeting, or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote with respect to the adjournment proposal, it will have no effect on the proposal.

- Q: Why is my vote important?
- A: If you do not submit a proxy card or vote in person at the special meeting, or if you fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record as to how to vote, it will be more difficult for the Company to obtain the necessary quorum to hold the special meeting. In addition,

your failure to submit a proxy or vote in person, your failure to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote or your abstention will have the same effect as a vote **AGAINST** the adoption of the merger agreement.

- Q: If my shares of Company common stock are held in street name by my bank or broker, will my bank or broker automatically vote my shares for me?
- A: No. Your bank or broker cannot vote your shares without instructions from you. If your shares are held in street name through a bank, broker or other holder of record, you must provide the record holder of your

4

shares with instructions on how to vote your shares. Please follow the voting instructions provided by such record holder. You may not vote shares held in street name by returning a proxy card directly to the Company, or by voting in person at the special meeting, unless you provide a legal proxy, which you must obtain from the record holder of your shares. Without your specific instruction, banks, brokers or other holders of record who hold shares of Company common stock on your behalf may only vote your shares on routine proposals and may not vote your shares on non-routine matters. All proposals to be voted on at the special meeting are non-routine proposals which your bank, broker, or other holder of record cannot vote on your behalf without your specific instruction. Failure to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the adoption of the merger agreement.

Q: How do I vote my shares held in the Company s 401(k) retirement savings plan?

A: If you participate in the 401(k) Plan and hold shares in your plan account, you must provide the 401(k) Plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, with instructions on how to vote your shares. Please follow the voting instructions provided by Merrill Lynch. You may not vote shares held in the 401(k) Plan by returning a proxy card directly to the Company or by voting in person at the special meeting.

If you do not instruct the 401(k) Plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, as to how to vote your shares held in the 401(k) Plan, Merrill Lynch may vote your shares in accordance with its fiduciary obligations under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

Q: Can I attend the special meeting and vote my shares in person?

A: All Company shareholders, including shareholders of record and shareholders who hold their shares through banks, brokers or other holders of record and in the 401(k) Plan, are invited to attend the special meeting. Shareholders of record of shares of Company common stock can vote in person at the special meeting. If you are not a shareholder of record (in other words, if your shares are held for you in street name), you must obtain a legal proxy, executed in your favor, from your bank, broker or other holder of record of your shares to be able to vote in person at the special meeting. If you plan to attend the special meeting, you must hold your shares in your own name or have a letter from the record holder of your shares confirming your ownership. Company shareholders who hold shares in the 401(k) Plan may attend the special meeting but may not vote the shares held in the 401(k) Plan in person at the special meeting.

In addition, all Company shareholders must bring a form of personal photo identification in order to be admitted to the meeting. The Company reserves the right to refuse admittance to anyone without proper proof of share ownership or without proper photo identification. Whether or not you intend to be present at the special meeting, you are urged to sign, date and return your proxy card, or to vote via the Internet or by telephone, promptly. If you are then present at the special meeting and wish to vote your shares in person, you may revoke your original proxy by voting at the special meeting.

Q: Can I change my vote or revoke my proxy?

A: Yes. If you are a shareholder of record of shares of Company common stock, you may change your vote at any time before your shares of Company common stock are voted at the special meeting by: (i) signing and returning a proxy card with a later date; (ii) attending the special meeting in person, notifying the secretary, and voting by ballot at the special meeting; (iii) voting by telephone or the Internet at a later time; or (iv) delivering a written revocation letter to the Company s Corporate Secretary at 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173.

If you hold your shares in street name through a bank, broker or other holder of record or if you hold your shares in the 401(k) Plan, the above-described options for changing your vote do not apply and, instead, you should follow the instructions received from your bank, broker or other holder of record or from the plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, to change your vote.

Table of Contents 18

5

Table of Contents

- Q: Will the Company be required to submit the merger proposal to the Company shareholders even if the Company board has withdrawn, modified or qualified its recommendation?
- A: Yes. Unless the merger agreement is terminated before the special meeting, the Company is required to submit the merger proposal to the Company shareholders even if the Company board has withdrawn or modified its recommendation.
- Q: Is the merger expected to be taxable to U.S. holders?
- A: Yes. The exchange of shares of Company common stock for cash pursuant to the merger generally will be a taxable transaction for U.S. holders (as defined in The Merger Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If you are a U.S. holder and you exchange your shares of Company common stock in the merger for cash, you will, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, generally recognize gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between the amount of cash you receive with respect to such shares and your adjusted tax basis in such shares. Backup withholding may also apply to the cash payments made pursuant to the merger unless the recipient provides a taxpayer identification number, certifies that such number is correct and otherwise complies with the backup withholding rules. You should read The Merger Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger for a more detailed discussion of the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger. You should also consult your tax advisor for a complete analysis of the effect of the merger on your federal, state, local and foreign taxes.
- Q: Are the Company shareholders entitled to dissenters rights?
- A: Yes. The Company shareholders are entitled to dissenters rights under Sections 1701.84 and 1701.85 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Ohio (which we refer to as the OGCL). For further information, see Dissenters Rights.
- Q: If I am a Company shareholder, should I send in my stock certificate(s) now?
- A: No. If the merger proposal is approved, shortly after the consummation of the merger, you will receive a letter of transmittal describing how you may exchange your stock certificate(s) or book-entry shares of Company common stock for the merger consideration. If your shares of Company common stock are held in street name through a bank, broker or other holder of record, you should contact the record holder of your shares for instructions as to how to effect the surrender of your street name shares of Company common stock in exchange for the merger consideration. If you hold your shares of Company common stock in the 401(k) Plan, you should contact the plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, for instructions as to how to effect the surrender of those shares in exchange for the merger consideration. Please do NOT return your stock certificate(s) with your proxy.
- Q: What should I do if I receive more than one set of voting materials?
- A: You may receive more than one set of voting materials, including multiple copies of this proxy statement and multiple proxy cards or voting instruction cards. For example, if you hold shares of Company common stock in more than one brokerage account, you will receive a separate voting instruction card for each brokerage account in which you hold your shares. If you are a shareholder of record of shares of Company common stock and your shares are registered in more than one name, you will receive more than one proxy card. Please complete, sign, date and return each proxy card and voting instruction card that you receive or otherwise follow the voting instructions set forth in this proxy statement to ensure that you vote every share of Company common stock that you own.

6

- Q: When do you expect the merger to be consummated?
- A: The Company currently expects to consummate the merger no later than January 1, 2018. However, the Company cannot assure you of when or if the merger will be consummated, and closing of the transaction is subject to the satisfaction of various conditions that are not within the Company s control. The Company must obtain the approval of the Company shareholders to adopt the merger agreement at the special meeting. The Company and Ultra must also obtain necessary regulatory approvals and satisfy certain other closing conditions.
- Q: What happens if the merger is not consummated?
- A: If the merger is not consummated for any reason, the Company shareholders will not receive any consideration for their shares of Company common stock in connection with the merger. Instead, the Company will remain an independent, public company and Company common stock will continue to be listed and traded on the NYSE. In addition, under certain circumstances specified in the merger agreement, the Company may be required to pay a termination fee. See The Merger Agreement Termination Fee for a complete discussion of the circumstances under which a termination fee would be required to be paid.
- Q: What happens if I sell my shares of Company common stock before the special meeting?
- A: The record date for Company shareholders entitled to vote at the special meeting is earlier than the date of the special meeting and the expected closing date of the merger. If you transfer your shares of Company common stock after August 15, 2017, the record date for the special meeting, you will, unless special arrangements are made, retain your right to vote at the special meeting but will transfer the right to receive the merger consideration to the transferee of your shares.
- Q: Whom should I call with questions?
- **A:** If you have any questions about the merger or this proxy statement, would like additional copies of this proxy statement, or need assistance voting your shares of Company common stock, please contact the Company s proxy solicitor:

Morrow Sodali LLC

470 West Avenue 19 floor

Stamford, CT 06902

Banks and Brokerage Firms Call: (203) 658-9400

Stockholders Call Toll Free: (800) 662-5200

Email: spa.info@morrowsodali.com

If your Company common stock is held in street name through your bank, broker or other holder of record, please also contact your bank, broker or other holder of record for additional information.

If your Company common stock is held in the 401(k) Plan, please also contact the plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, for additional information.

7

SUMMARY

The following summary highlights selected information in this proxy statement and may not contain all the information that may be important to you. Accordingly, we encourage you to read carefully this entire proxy statement, including the more detailed information contained elsewhere in this proxy statement, its annexes and the documents incorporated by reference into or otherwise referred to in this proxy statement. Each item in this summary includes a page reference directing you to a more complete description of that topic. You may obtain the information incorporated by reference into this proxy statement without charge by following the instructions in Where You Can Find More Information.

Parties to the Merger (Page 20)

Sparton Corporation, an Ohio corporation, is a provider of design, development and manufacturing services for complex electromechanical devices, as well as sophisticated engineered products complementary to the same electromechanical value stream. The Company serves the Medical & Biotechnology, Military & Aerospace and Industrial & Commercial markets through two reportable business segments; Manufacturing & Design Services (MDS) and Engineered Components & Products (ECP). The majority of the Company socustomers are in highly regulated industries where strict adherence to regulations is necessary. The Company soproducts and services include offerings for Original Equipment Manufacturers and Emerging Technology customers that utilize microprocessor-based systems which include transducers, printed circuit boards and assemblies, sensors and electromechanical components, as well as development and design engineering services relating to these product sales. The Company also develops and manufactures sonobuoys, anti-submarine warfare devices used by the United States Navy as well as by foreign governments that meet Department of State licensing requirements. Additionally, the Company manufactures rugged flat panel display systems for military panel PC workstations, air traffic control and industrial applications, as well as high performance industrial grade computer systems and peripherals.

Ultra Electronics Holdings plc, organized under the laws of England and Wales, is a defense, security, transport and energy company. Ultra applies electronic and software technologies in military applications, safety-critical devices in aircraft, nuclear controls and sensor measurement, among other environments. Ultra has world-leading positions in many of its specialist capabilities and, as an independent partner, is able to support all of the main prime contractors in its sectors. As a result of such positioning, Ultra s systems, equipment or services are often mission or safety-critical to the successful operation of the platform to which they contribute.

Ultra Electronics Aneira Inc. is an Ohio corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra. Merger Sub was incorporated on July 3, 2017 for the sole purpose of effecting the merger. As of the date of this proxy statement, Merger Sub has not conducted any activities other than those incidental to its incorporation, the negotiation and execution of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

The Special Meeting (Page 22)

Date, Time and Place of the Special Meeting (Page 22)

The special meeting to vote upon the merger proposal, in addition to the other matters described in this proxy statement, will be held on October 5, 2017, at 10:00 a.m., central time, at the offices of the Company, located at 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173.

Purpose of the Special Meeting (Page 22)

At the special meeting, the Company shareholders will be asked to approve the merger proposal, the compensation proposal and the adjournment proposal.

Record Date and Quorum (Page 22)

The Company board has fixed the close of business on August 15, 2017 as the record date for the determination of the Company shareholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting. As of the close of business on the record date, there were 9,860,635 shares of Company common stock outstanding and entitled to vote, held by approximately 284 holders of record. You will have one vote on each matter properly coming before the special meeting for each share of Company common stock that you owned on the record date.

The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of record of a majority of the outstanding voting shares of the Company as of the record date is necessary to constitute a quorum at the special meeting. All shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy, including abstentions, will be treated as present for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum for all matters voted on at the special meeting.

Vote Required (Page 23)

Approval of the merger proposal requires the affirmative vote in person or by proxy of holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Company common stock entitled to vote thereon. Approval of the compensation proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting. Approval of the adjournment proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting, whether or not a quorum is present.

If you mark ABSTAIN on your proxy card, it will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the merger proposal, the compensation proposal and the adjournment proposal. If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person at the special meeting, or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote, it will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the merger proposal, but will have no effect on the compensation proposal or the adjournment proposal.

Voting, Proxies and Revocation (Page 23)

Any Company shareholder of record entitled to vote at the special meeting may submit a proxy by telephone, over the Internet or by returning the enclosed proxy card in the enclosed postage-paid return envelope, or may vote in person by appearing at the special meeting.

If your Company common stock is held in street name through a bank, broker or other holder of record, you should instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record of your shares on how to vote your shares of Company common stock using the instructions provided by such record holder. Broker non-votes are shares held in street name by banks, brokers and other holders of record that are present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting, but for which the beneficial owner has not provided the record holder with instructions on how to vote on a particular proposal that such record holder does not have discretionary voting power on. Banks, brokers and other holders of record holding shares in street name do not have discretionary voting authority with respect to any of the three proposals described in this proxy statement. Therefore, if a beneficial owner of Company common stock held in street name does not give voting instructions to the applicable record holder, then those shares will not be counted as present in person or by proxy at the special meeting. As the vote to approve the merger proposal is based on the total number of shares of Company common stock outstanding at the close of business on the record date, if you fail to issue voting instructions to your bank, broker or other holder of record, it will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

If no instruction as to how to vote is given (including no instruction to abstain from voting) in an executed, duly returned and not revoked proxy, the proxy will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the

Table of Contents

23

Table of Contents

Company board, which, as of the date of this proxy statement, are **FOR** the merger proposal, **FOR** the compensation proposal and **FOR** the adjournment proposal.

You have the right to revoke a proxy, whether delivered over the Internet, by telephone or by mail, at any time before it is exercised by submitting a later-dated proxy through any of the methods available to you, by giving written notice of revocation to the Company's Corporate Secretary, which must be filed with the Corporate Secretary by 5:00 p.m., central time, on the business day immediately prior to the date of the special meeting, or by attending the special meeting and voting in person. Attending the special meeting alone, without voting at the special meeting, will not be sufficient to revoke your proxy. Written notice of revocation should be mailed to: Sparton Corporation, Attn: Corporate Secretary, 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173. If you are a street name holder of the Company's common stock, you may change your vote by submitting new voting instructions to your bank, broker or other holder of record. You must contact the record holder of your shares to obtain instructions as to how to change your proxy vote. If you hold your shares of Company common stock in the 401(k) Plan, you should contact the plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, to obtain instructions as to how to change your proxy vote.

The Merger (Page 27)

Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, Merger Sub, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra, will merge with and into the Company, so that the Company will be the surviving corporation in the merger and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra. Upon the consummation of the merger, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub will cease.

Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors; Reasons for the Merger (Page 59)

After careful consideration of various factors described in The Merger Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors; Reasons for the Merger, the Company board (i) determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, are fair to the Company shareholders and in the best interests of the Company and the Company shareholders; (ii) authorized, declared advisable and approved the execution, delivery and performance of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger; (iii) directed that the adoption of the merger agreement be submitted to a vote at a meeting of the Company shareholders; and (iv) resolved to recommend that the Company shareholders adopt the merger agreement. The Company board made its determination after consultation with its legal and financial advisors and consideration of numerous factors.

The Company board unanimously recommends that you vote **FOR** the merger proposal, **FOR** the compensation proposal and **FOR** the adjournment proposal.

Opinion of Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (Page 71 and Annex B-1)

At the July 6, 2017 meeting of the Company board, representatives of Raymond James & Associates, Inc. (which we refer to as Raymond James) rendered Raymond James opinion, as to the fairness, based upon market, economic, financial and other circumstances and conditions existing and disclosed to Raymond James as of July 5, 2017, from a financial point of view, to the Company shareholders of the merger consideration to be received by such Company shareholders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement, based upon and subject to the qualifications, assumptions and other matters considered in connection with the preparation of its opinion.

The full text of the written opinion of Raymond James, dated July 6, 2017, which sets forth, among other things, the various qualifications, assumptions and limitations on the scope of the review undertaken, is attached as Annex B-1 to this proxy statement. Raymond James provided its opinion for the information and assistance of the Company board (solely in its capacity as such) in connection with, and for purposes of, its consideration of the merger and its opinion only addresses whether the merger consideration to be

received by the Company shareholders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such shareholders. The opinion of Raymond James did not address any other term or aspect of the merger agreement or the merger contemplated thereby. The Raymond James opinion does not constitute a recommendation to the Company board or any Company shareholder as to how the Company board, such shareholder or any other person should vote or otherwise act with respect to the merger or any other matter.

Opinion of Wells Fargo Securities (Page 80 and Annex B-2)

On July 6, 2017, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC (which we refer to as Wells Fargo Securities) rendered its oral opinion to the Company board (which was subsequently confirmed in writing by delivery of Wells Fargo Securities written opinion dated the same date) as to, as of July 6, 2017, the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Company common stock of the merger consideration to be received by such holders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement.

Wells Fargo Securities opinion was for the information and use of the Company board (in its capacity as such) in connection with its evaluation of the merger. Wells Fargo Securities opinion only addressed the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Company common stock of the merger consideration to be received by such holders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement and did not address any other aspect or implication of the merger. The summary of Wells Fargo Securities opinion in this proxy statement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of its written opinion, which is attached as Annex B-2 to this proxy statement and sets forth the procedures followed, assumptions made, qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken and other matters considered by Wells Fargo Securities in connection with the preparation of its opinion. However, neither Wells Fargo Securities written opinion nor the summary of its opinion and the related analyses set forth in this proxy statement is intended to be, and they do not constitute, advice or a recommendation to the Company board or any holder of Company common stock as to how any such holder should vote or act on any matter relating to the proposed merger.

Financing of the Merger (Page 88)

The obligations of Ultra and Merger Sub to complete the merger are not contingent upon the receipt of any financing. On July 11, 2017, Ultra completed a placement of its ordinary shares in order to finance a portion of the merger consideration and related expenses. Ultra has stated that it intends to use the net proceeds from the placement of its ordinary shares and drawing down under Ultra s and its subsidiaries existing bank facilities to pay the aggregate merger consideration.

Interests of the Company s Executive Officers and Directors in the Merger (Page 88)

The interests of the Company s executive officers and directors in the merger that are different from, or in addition to, those of the Company s shareholders generally are described below. The Company board was aware of and considered these interests, among other matters, in evaluating and negotiating the merger agreement and the merger, and in recommending that the merger agreement be adopted by the Company shareholders. These interests include (i) the right to receive payments in respect of outstanding in-the-money restricted shares, Company RSUs and stock options, which will, in each case and subject to the limitations described herein, be cashed-out based on the merger consideration; (ii) the receipt of cash severance payments and vested benefits upon a qualifying termination of employment pursuant to the terms of each executive officer s respective employment agreement; and (iii) entitlement to continued indemnification, expense advancement and insurance coverage under the merger agreement.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger (Page 97)

The exchange of shares of Company common stock for cash pursuant to the merger generally will be a taxable transaction for U.S. holders (as defined in The Merger Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger) for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A Company shareholder who is a U.S. holder and who exchanges shares of Company common stock for cash in the merger will, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, generally recognize gain or loss in an amount equal to the difference, if any, between the amount of such cash received by such Company shareholder and the Company shareholder is adjusted tax basis in the Company shareholder is shares of Company common stock. Backup withholding may also apply to the cash payments made pursuant to the merger unless the recipient provides a taxpayer identification number, certifies that such number is correct and otherwise complies with the backup withholding rules. Company shareholders should read The Merger Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger for a more detailed discussion of the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger. Company shareholders should also consult their tax advisors for a complete analysis of the effect of the merger on the Company shareholders federal, state, local and foreign taxes.

Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger (Page 99)

The consummation of the merger is subject to the receipt of all regulatory approvals required to complete the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the expiration of any applicable statutory waiting periods. Subject to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, the parties have agreed to cooperate and use their reasonable best efforts to promptly prepare and file all necessary documentation, to obtain as promptly as practicable all regulatory approvals necessary or advisable to consummate the merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

Litigation Relating to the Merger (Page 101)

Four purported class action lawsuits have been filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio by alleged shareholders of the Company against the Company and the members of the Company board (which we refer to as the individual defendants), and, in one case, against Ultra and Merger Sub. The complaints allege, among other things, that the merger consideration is inadequate and that the Company and the individual defendants, and, in one case, Ultra and Merger Sub, violated federal securities laws by disseminating an allegedly materially incomplete and misleading preliminary proxy statement. The plaintiffs seek, among other things: (i) to enjoin the Company and the individual defendants from holding the shareholder vote on the merger proposal and from taking any steps to consummate the merger unless and until certain allegedly material information is disclosed to Company shareholders or (ii) if the merger is consummated, to recover damages.

The plaintiffs in the four actions have agreed in principle to dismiss these actions as moot as a result of the inclusion of certain additional disclosures in this proxy statement.

For more information, see The Merger Litigation Relating to the Merger.

The Merger Agreement (Page 103 and Annex A)

Merger Consideration (Page 104)

In the merger, each share of Company common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time (except for excluded shares) will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration of \$23.50 in cash without interest.

Treatment of Company Equity Awards (Page 104)

Restricted Stock. At the effective time, with respect to each outstanding restricted share under the Company stock plans, the vesting, forfeiture, repurchase or other lapse restriction will lapse and such restricted share will be fully vested and will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration.

12

Restricted Stock Units. At the effective time, each outstanding Company RSU will fully vest and will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the merger consideration in respect of each share of Company common stock underlying such Company RSU.

Stock Options. At the effective time, each outstanding stock option granted under the Company stock plans, whether vested or unvested, that has an exercise price per share that is less than the merger consideration will fully vest and will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the amount by which the merger consideration exceeds the exercise price per share of such stock option and (ii) the total number of shares of Company common stock subject to such stock option. Any stock option that has an exercise price per share that is greater than or equal to the merger consideration will be cancelled at the effective time for no consideration or payment.

Non-Solicitation of Acquisition Proposals (Page 113)

The merger agreement provides that none of the Company, its subsidiaries or its or their representatives retained in connection with the merger will, and the Company will instruct and use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and its subsidiaries representatives retained other than in connection with the merger not to, directly or indirectly:

initiate, solicit or knowingly take any action to facilitate, encourage or solicit any acquisition proposal (as defined in The Merger Agreement Non-Solicitation of Acquisition Proposals) or the making of any proposal that would reasonably be expected to lead to an acquisition proposal;

participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish or provide any non-public information to any person in connection with, any acquisition proposal or afford access to the business, properties, assets, books or records of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to, or knowingly assist, participate in, facilitate or encourage any effort relating to an acquisition proposal by, any person that is seeking to make, or has made, an acquisition proposal;

except as required by applicable law, amend or grant any waiver or release under any standstill or similar agreement with respect to any class of equity securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; or

enter into any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle, merger agreement, acquisition agreement or other similar agreement relating to an acquisition proposal.

Notwithstanding these restrictions, under certain circumstances, and to the extent that the Company board concludes in good faith, after receiving the advice of its outside legal counsel and its financial advisors, that an acquisition proposal is, or is reasonably likely to lead to, a superior proposal (as defined in The Merger Agreement Non-Solicitation of Acquisition Proposals), the Company may, prior to the time the merger agreement is adopted by the Company shareholders, make available non-public information or data, and engage in discussions, with respect to certain unsolicited bona fide written acquisition proposals that did not result from a breach of the merger agreement.

No Change in Board Recommendation; No Entry into Alternative Transactions (Page 115)

If the Company board determines in good faith after considering advice from its financial advisors and outside legal counsel that it would be inconsistent with the directors—fiduciary duties under applicable law to continue to recommend the merger agreement, then it may make a change in its recommendation, provided that:

(i) the Company has received an acquisition proposal that did not result from breach of the Company s agreement not to solicit other offers (and such proposal is not withdrawn) and the Company board

13

Table of Contents

determines in good faith, after receiving the advice of its outside legal counsel and its financial advisors, that such acquisition proposal constitutes a superior proposal or (ii) an intervening event, which was unknown, or if known the consequences of which were unknown, to the Company board as of the date of signing the merger agreement, shall have occurred and the Company board determines in good faith, after receiving the advice of its outside legal counsel and its financial advisors, that continuing to recommend the merger agreement would be inconsistent with the directors fiduciary duties under applicable law;

the Company gives Ultra at least four business days—prior written notice of its intention to take such action and such notice (i) in the case of an acquisition proposal, specifies the latest material terms of, and the identity of the third party making, such acquisition proposal and includes an unredacted copy of any relevant proposed transaction agreements relating to such acquisition proposal and (ii) in the case of an intervening event, includes a description of the intervening event in reasonable detail, and during such four-day period, Ultra may propose revisions to the merger agreement; and

at the end of such notice period, the Company board discusses and negotiates in good faith any amendment or modification to the merger agreement proposed by Ultra and, after receiving the advice of its outside legal counsel and its financial advisors, determines in good faith that it would nevertheless be inconsistent with the directors fiduciary duties under applicable law to continue to recommend the merger agreement or not terminate the merger agreement.

Unless the merger agreement has been terminated in accordance with its terms, the Company is required to hold the special meeting for the purpose of voting upon the merger proposal even if there is a change in Company recommendation.

Company Shareholders Meeting (Page 117)

The Company has agreed to hold a special meeting as promptly as practicable for the purpose of voting upon the adoption of the merger agreement and upon other related matters. The Company board has agreed to recommend that the Company shareholders adopt the merger agreement in this proxy statement and in other materials and communications between the Company and the Company shareholders and to use its reasonable best efforts to solicit the adoption of the merger agreement at the special meeting.

Ultra Shareholders Meeting; No Change in Ultra Board Recommendation (Page 118)

Subject to the fiduciary duties of the board of directors of Ultra (which we refer to as the Ultra board) and the Company s compliance with its obligations under the merger agreement to assist Ultra with completing and filing the Ultra shareholder circular, Ultra has agreed to duly call, give notice of and convene a shareholders meeting (which we refer to as the Ultra shareholders meeting) as promptly as practicable after approval of the Ultra shareholder circular by the UK Listing Authority (UKLA), and in accordance with the requirements of the listing rules of the UKLA, to consider and vote upon a resolution to approve the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (which we refer to as the Ultra shareholder resolution). The Ultra board has agreed, subject to its fiduciary duties and the terms of the merger agreement, to recommend that the Ultra shareholders vote in favor of the Ultra shareholder resolution and to use its reasonable best efforts to solicit approval of the Ultra shareholders.

If the Ultra board determines in good faith, after consultation with its external legal counsel and/or external financial advisers, that it would be inconsistent with the directors fiduciary duties under applicable law to continue to recommend the merger agreement then it may make a change in its recommendation, provided that, where reasonably practicable and not contrary to the duties of the Ultra board, Ultra first provides written notice to the Company of, and sets forth in reasonable detail the reasons for, the determination and intent of the Ultra board to change its recommendation.

Table of Contents 30

14

Expenses (Page 124)

Subject to certain exceptions, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the merger agreement and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement will be paid by the party incurring each such expense, whether or not the merger is consummated.

Sale of MDS (Page 124)

The Company, Ultra and Merger Sub have agreed to cooperate with one another, following the date of signing the merger agreement, to arrange for the sale after the effective time, whether by merger, acquisition or otherwise, of MDS and to achieve a tax efficient disposition of MDS.

The Company is not, however, required to enter into any contract in connection with the sale of MDS (other than non-disclosure agreements with a prospective purchaser, to the extent that it does not have one) or to take certain other actions in connection with the sale of MDS.

Conditions to the Merger (Page 126)

The respective obligations of the Company, Ultra and Merger Sub to effect the merger are subject to the satisfaction or waiver of certain customary conditions, including the adoption of the merger agreement by the Company shareholders and the Ultra shareholders, the absence of any legal prohibitions, the accuracy of the representations and warranties (subject to customary materiality qualifiers), compliance by the other party with its obligations under the merger agreement (subject to customary materiality qualifiers) and the receipt of certain regulatory consents, including specified government contract regulatory and licensing approvals.

Neither the Company nor Ultra can be certain when, or if, the conditions to the merger will be satisfied or waived, or that the merger will be effected.

Termination (Page 128)

The merger agreement may be terminated and the merger may be abandoned at any time prior to the effective time (whether before or after the adoption of the merger agreement by the Company shareholders (unless otherwise specified below)) under the following circumstances:

by mutual written consent of the Company and Ultra;

by either the Company or Ultra if:

the merger is not consummated by January 31, 2018, subject to certain permitted extensions as described in The Merger Agreement Termination, and unless the failure of the merger to be consummated by that date is due to the failure of the party seeking to terminate the merger agreement to perform or observe its covenants and agreements under the merger agreement;

the proposal to adopt the merger agreement is not approved by the Company shareholders at the special meeting;

the proposal to approve the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement is not approved by the Ultra shareholders at the Ultra shareholders meeting; or

any law, executive order, ruling, injunction or other order permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the merger becomes final and non-appealable, unless the party seeking termination has not observed in all material respects its covenants under the merger agreement with respect to obtaining regulatory approvals;

by the Company if:

prior to obtaining the approval of the Company shareholders of the merger proposal, in order to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to a superior proposal concurrently with the termination, so long as the Company has complied with its obligation not to solicit other offers and pays the termination fee described below to Ultra;

prior to obtaining the approval of the Ultra shareholders of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, the Ultra board effected an Ultra adverse recommendation change (as defined in The Merger Agreement Ultra Shareholders Meeting; No Change in Ultra Board Recommendation);

prior to obtaining the approval of the Ultra shareholders of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, if, by January 24, 2018, (i) the Ultra shareholders meeting has not been convened or (ii) the Ultra shareholders meeting is convened without a vote on the approval of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement; or

there is an uncured breach of any of the covenants or agreements or any of the representations or warranties set forth in the merger agreement on the part of Ultra or Merger Sub, which, in each case, would constitute the failure of certain closing conditions set forth in the merger agreement; or

by Ultra if:

prior to obtaining the approval of the Company shareholders of the merger proposal, the Company board effected a Company adverse recommendation change (as defined in The Merger Agreement No Change in Board Recommendation; No Entry into Alternative Transactions); or

prior to obtaining the approval of the Company shareholders of the merger proposal, the Company has breached its obligations in any material respect with respect to not soliciting other offers;

there is an uncured breach of any of the covenants or agreements or any of the representations or warranties set forth in the merger agreement on the part of the Company, which, in each case, would constitute the failure of certain closing conditions set forth in the merger agreement; or

in its sole discretion if any governmental entity has commenced any proceeding challenging the validity or legality of, or seeking to restrain the consummation of, the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

Termination Fee (Page 129)

The Company must pay a termination fee in the amount of \$7,500,000 to Ultra if the merger agreement is terminated in the following circumstances:

In the event that the Company terminates the merger agreement to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to a superior proposal.

In the event that:

after the date of signing the merger agreement and prior to the date of the special meeting, an acquisition proposal has been publicly announced or otherwise publicly disclosed and not withdrawn prior to the date of the special meeting; and

thereafter the Company or Ultra terminates the merger agreement because the merger proposal is not approved at the special meeting and within twelve months of the date of termination of the merger agreement, the Company enters into a definitive agreement and consummates a transaction

16

with respect to such acquisition proposal, or otherwise consummates an acquisition proposal within twelve months after the date of termination of the merger agreement (other than a sale of MDS).

In the event that:

after the date of signing the merger agreement and prior to the outside date (as defined in The Merger Agreement Termination), an acquisition proposal has been publicly announced or otherwise disclosed to the Company board and not withdrawn prior to the outside date;

Ultra could terminate the merger agreement due to the Company s breach of the merger agreement;

the Company or Ultra terminates the merger agreement due to the passing of the outside date; and

within twelve months of the date of termination of the merger agreement, the Company enters into a definitive agreement to consummate an acquisition proposal and consummates a transaction with respect to such acquisition proposal, or otherwise consummates an acquisition proposal within twelve months after the date of termination of the merger agreement (other than a sale of MDS).

Ultra must pay a parent termination fee in the amount of \$7,500,000 to the Company if the merger agreement is terminated in the following circumstances:

the Company or Ultra terminate the merger agreement due to the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement not being approved by the Ultra shareholders;

the Company terminates the merger agreement due to an Ultra adverse recommendation change; or

after the date of signing and prior to January 24, 2018, the Company terminates the merger agreement because the Ultra shareholders meeting was not convened or was convened but without a vote on the approval of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

Remedies (Page 130)

The parties are entitled to seek an injunction, specific performance or other equitable remedies to prevent breaches of the merger agreement and to enforce specifically its terms. However, if Ultra receives the termination fee from the Company or the Company receives the parent termination fee from Ultra, in each case as discussed above, the payment of the applicable fee will be the sole and exclusive remedy of the receiving party against the paying party, including with respect to any willful breach.

Dissenters Rights (Page 135 and Annex C)

If the merger agreement is adopted by the Company shareholders, the Company shareholders who do not vote in favor of or consent to the merger proposal and who properly demand payment of the fair cash value of their shares are entitled to certain dissenters—rights pursuant to Sections 1701.84 and 1701.85 of the OGCL. Section 1701.85 of the OGCL generally provides that shareholders of the Company will not be entitled to such rights without strict compliance with the procedures set forth in Section 1701.85, and failure to take any one of the required steps may result in the termination or waiver of such rights.

Specifically, any Company shareholder who is a record holder of shares of Company common stock on August 15, 2017, the record date for the special meeting, and whose shares are not voted in favor of or have not consented to the adoption of the merger proposal may be entitled to be paid the fair cash value of such shares of Company common stock after the effective time. To be entitled to such payment, a Company shareholder must

deliver to the Company a written demand for payment of the fair cash value of the shares of Company common stock held by such Company shareholder before the vote on the merger proposal is taken, the Company shareholder must not vote in favor of the merger proposal, and the Company shareholder must otherwise comply with Section 1701.85. A Company shareholder s failure to vote against the merger proposal will not constitute a waiver of such Company shareholder s dissenters rights, as long as such Company shareholder does not vote in favor of the merger proposal. A proxy returned to the Company signed but not marked to specify voting instructions will be voted in favor of the proposal to adopt the merger agreement and will constitute a waiver of dissenting shareholders rights. Any written demand must specify the Company shareholder s name and address, the number and class of shares of Company common stock held by him, her or it on the record date, and the amount claimed as the fair cash value of such shares of Company common stock.

See the text of Section 1701.84 and Section 1701.85 of the OGCL attached as **Annex C** to this proxy statement for specific information on the procedures to be followed in exercising dissenters—rights. Any Company shareholder wishing to exercise dissenters—rights is encouraged to consult legal counsel before attempting to exercise those rights due to the complexity of the process.

Company shareholders considering seeking payment of the fair cash value of their shares of Company common stock should be aware that the fair cash value of their shares as determined pursuant to Section 1701.85 of the OGCL could be more than, the same as, or less than the value of the consideration they would receive pursuant to the merger if they did not seek payment of the fair cash value of their shares of Company common stock. If the shares of Company common stock are listed on a national securities exchange, such as the NYSE, immediately before the effective time, the fair cash value will be the closing sale price of the shares of Company common stock as of the close of trading on the day before the vote of the Company shareholders.

Market Price and Dividends (Page 137)

At the effective time, each share of Company common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time (except for excluded shares) will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration. The merger consideration represents a premium of:

approximately 54.5% over \$15.21, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on March 15, 2016, the last full trading day before the Company announced its exploration of strategic alternatives;

approximately 28.3% over \$18.31, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on June 22, 2017, the last full trading day before media reports that the Company was in discussions to be acquired by Ultra; and

approximately 5.10% over \$22.36, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on July 6, 2017, the last full trading day before the public announcement of the merger agreement.

On August 25, 2017, the most recent practicable date before this proxy statement was mailed to our shareholders, the closing price for Company common stock on the NYSE was \$23.10 per share. You are encouraged to obtain current market quotations for Company common stock in connection with voting your shares.

Delisting and Deregistration of Company Common Stock (Page 140)

If the merger is consummated, Company common stock will be delisted from the NYSE and deregistered under the Exchange Act, and the Company will no longer file periodic reports with the SEC on account of Company common stock. The Company will cease to be an independent public company and will become an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra. You will no longer have any ownership interest in the Company.

18

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This proxy statement contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that are intended to be protected by the safe harbor provided therein. We generally identify forward-looking statements, particularly those statements regarding the benefits of the proposed merger between Ultra and the Company, the anticipated timing of the transaction and the business of each company, by terminology such as outlook, believes, expects, potential, continues, may, could. predicts, intends, anticipates, approximately, plans, estimates, projects, strategy, future, opportunity, will likely result or th those words or other comparable words. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, and are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about our industry, management s beliefs and certain assumptions made by management, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and beyond our control. Accordingly, you are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict.

A number of important factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by the forward-looking statements in this proxy statement, including, but not limited to:

the risk that the merger may not be consummated in a timely manner or at all, which may adversely affect the Company s business and the price of the Company common stock;

the risk that required approvals of the merger may not be obtained or may not be obtained on the terms expected or on the anticipated schedule;

the risk that the Company s or Ultra s shareholders may fail to approve the merger;

the risk that the parties to the merger agreement may fail to satisfy other conditions to the consummation of the merger or meet expectations regarding the timing and consummation of the merger;

the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstance that could give rise to the termination of the merger agreement;

the effect of the announcement or pendency of the merger on the Company s business relationships, operating results, employees and business generally;

the risk that the proposed merger disrupts current plans and operations of the Company and potential difficulties in the Company s employee retention as a result of the merger;

risks related to diverting management s attention from the Company s ongoing business operations;

the outcome of legal proceedings instituted against the Company related to the merger agreement or the merger;

the amount of unexpected costs, fees, expenses and other charges related to the merger; and

political instability.

For additional factors that could materially affect our financial results and our business generally, please refer to the Company s filings with the SEC, including but not limited to, the factors, uncertainties and risks described under the headings Risk Factors and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 3, 2016 and its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended October 2, 2016, January 1, 2017 and April 2, 2017 and the other reports filed by the Company with the SEC. See Where You Can Find More Information. The Company undertakes no obligation to revise these statements following the date of this communication, except as required by law.

19

PARTIES TO THE MERGER

The Company

Sparton Corporation

425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000

Schaumburg, Illinois 60173

Telephone: (847) 762-5800

The Company, an Ohio corporation, is a provider of design, development and manufacturing services for complex electromechanical devices, as well as sophisticated engineered products complementary to the same electromechanical value stream. The Company serves the Medical & Biotechnology, Military & Aerospace and Industrial & Commercial markets through two reportable business segments; Manufacturing & Design Services (MDS) and Engineered Components & Products (ECP). The majority of the Company is customers are in highly regulated industries where strict adherence to regulations is necessary. The Company is products and services include offerings for Original Equipment Manufacturers and Emerging Technology customers that utilize microprocessor-based systems which include transducers, printed circuit boards and assemblies, sensors and electromechanical components, as well as development and design engineering services relating to these product sales. The Company also develops and manufactures sonobuoys, anti-submarine warfare devices used by the United States Navy as well as by foreign governments that meet Department of State licensing requirements. Additionally, the Company manufactures rugged flat panel display systems for military panel PC workstations, air traffic control and industrial applications, as well as high performance industrial grade computer systems and peripherals.

Company common stock is traded on the NYSE under the symbol SPA. Additional information about the Company and its subsidiaries is included in documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement. See Where You Can Find More Information. The Company maintains a website at http://www.sparton.com. The information provided on the Company s website is not part of this proxy statement and is not incorporated by reference.

Ultra

Ultra Electronics Holdings plc

417 Bridport Road, Greenford

Middlesex, UB6 8UA, UK

Telephone: +44 (0) 20 8813 4567

Ultra Electronics Holdings plc, organized under the laws of England and Wales, is a defense, security, transport and energy company. Ultra applies electronic and software technologies in military applications, safety-critical devices in aircraft, nuclear controls and sensor measurement, among other environments. Ultra has world-leading positions in many of its specialist capabilities and, as an independent partner, is able to support all of the main prime contractors in its sectors. As a result of such positioning, Ultra s systems, equipment or services are often mission or safety-critical to the successful operation of the platform to which they contribute.

Ultra operates in the following eight market segments:

Aerospace

C2ISR

Land

Nuclear

20

Communications

Infrastructure

Maritime

Underwater Warfare

Ultra s common shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange under the symbol ULE.

Merger Sub

Ultra Electronics Aneira Inc.

c/o Ultra Electronics Inc.

107 Church Hill Road

Unit GL-2

Sandy Hook, Connecticut 06482

Telephone: (203) 270-3695

Ultra Electronics Aneira Inc. is an Ohio corporation and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra. Merger Sub was incorporated on July 3, 2017 for the sole purpose of effecting the merger. As of the date of this proxy statement, Merger Sub has not conducted any activities other than those incidental to its incorporation, the negotiation and execution of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

21

THE SPECIAL MEETING

This section contains information for the Company shareholders about the special meeting that the Company has called to allow the Company shareholders to consider and vote on the merger proposal and other matters. The Company is mailing this proxy statement to you, as a Company shareholder, on or about August 30, 2017. This proxy statement is accompanied by a notice of the special meeting and a form of proxy card that the Company board is soliciting for the Company at the special meeting and at any adjournments or postponements thereof.

Date, Time and Place of the Special Meeting

This proxy statement is being furnished to our shareholders as part of the solicitation of proxies by the Company board from the Company shareholders for use at the special meeting to be held on October 5, 2017, at 10:00 a.m., central time, at the offices of the Company, located at 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173, or at any postponement or adjournment thereof.

Purpose of the Special Meeting

At the special meeting, you will be asked to consider and vote upon the following matters:

The merger proposal (Proposal 1 on your proxy card);

The compensation proposal (Proposal 2 on your proxy card); and

The adjournment proposal (Proposal 3 on your proxy card).

The Company shareholders must adopt the merger agreement by approving the merger proposal in order to consummate the merger. A copy of the merger agreement is attached as **Annex A** to this proxy statement. You are urged to read the merger agreement carefully in its entirety.

Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors

The Company board has unanimously determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, are fair to the Company shareholders and in the best interests of the Company and the Company shareholders and approved the merger agreement. The Company board unanimously recommends that the Company shareholders vote **FOR** the merger proposal, **FOR** the compensation proposal and **FOR** the adjournment proposal. See The Merger Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors; Reasons for the Merger for a more detailed discussion of the Company board s recommendation.

Record Date and Quorum

The Company board has fixed the close of business August 15, 2017 as the record date for the determination of the Company shareholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the special meeting. As of the close of business on the record date, there were 9,860,635 shares of Company common stock outstanding and entitled to vote, held by approximately 284 holders of record. You will have one vote on each matter properly coming before the special meeting for each share of Company common stock that you owned on the record date.

The presence in person or by proxy of the holders of record of a majority of the outstanding voting shares of the Company as of the record date is necessary to constitute a quorum at the special meeting. All shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy, including abstentions, will be treated as present for purposes of determining the presence or absence of a quorum for all matters voted on at the special meeting. Because, under applicable rules, banks, brokers and other holders of record holding shares in street name do not have discretionary voting authority with respect to any of the three proposals described in this proxy

statement, if a beneficial owner of Company common stock held in street name does not give voting instructions to the record holder of its, his or her shares, then those shares will not be counted as present in person or by proxy at the special meeting if no other proposals are brought before the special meeting.

Vote Required

Merger Proposal

<u>Standard</u>: Approval of the merger proposal requires the affirmative vote in person or by proxy of the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Company common stock entitled to vote thereon.

Effect of abstentions and broker non-votes: If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person, mark ABSTAIN on your proxy or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote with respect to the merger proposal, it will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the proposal.

Compensation Proposal

<u>Standard</u>: Approval, on a non-binding, advisory basis, of the compensation proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting.

Effect of abstentions and broker non-votes: If you mark ABSTAIN on your proxy card, it will have the same effect as a vote AGAINST the proposal. If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person at the special meeting, or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote with respect to the compensation proposal, it will have no effect on the proposal.

Adjournment Proposal

<u>Standard</u>: Whether or not a quorum is present, approval of the adjournment proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting.

Effect of abstentions and broker non-votes: If you mark ABSTAIN on your proxy card, it will have the same effect as a vote **AGAINST** the proposal. If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person at the special meeting, or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote with respect to the adjournment proposal, it will have no effect on the proposal.

Voting, Proxies and Revocation

Attending the Special Meeting

All Company shareholders, including shareholders of record and shareholders who hold their shares through banks, brokers or other holders of record or through the 401(k) Plan, are invited to attend the special meeting. Shareholders of record can vote in person at the special meeting. If you are not a shareholder of record, you must obtain a legal proxy executed in your favor from the record holder of your shares to be able to vote in person at the special meeting. If you hold your shares in the 401(k) Plan, you may not vote in person at the special meeting. If you plan to attend the special meeting, you must hold your shares in your own name or have a letter from the record holder of your shares confirming your ownership. In addition, you must bring a form of personal photo identification with you in order to be admitted to the meeting. The Company reserves the right to refuse admittance to anyone without proper proof of share ownership or without proper photo identification.

23

Table of Contents

Voting by Shareholders of Record

If you are a shareholder of record, you may vote your shares of Company common stock on matters presented at the special meeting in any of the following ways:

by proxy shareholders of record have a choice of submitting a proxy:

by telephone or over the Internet, by accessing the telephone number or website specified on the enclosed proxy card. The control number provided on your proxy card is designed to verify your identity when voting by telephone or by Internet. Please be aware that you may incur costs such as telephone and Internet access charges for which you will be responsible;

by signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card in the enclosed postage-paid return envelope; or

in person you may attend the special meeting and cast your vote there.

Voting Shares of Company Common Stock Held Through the 401(k) Plan

If you participate in the Company s 401(k) retirement savings plan (which we refer to as the 401(k) Plan) and hold shares in your plan account, you may vote the number of shares credited to your account as of the record date. You should receive instructions from the 401(k) Plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith (which we refer to as Merrill Lynch), on how to vote your shares of Company common stock held in the 401(k) Plan. You must provide Merrill Lynch with instructions on how to vote your shares. Only the trustee may vote your plan shares. You may not vote shares held in the 401(k) Plan by returning a proxy card directly to the Company or by voting in person at the special meeting.

If you do not instruct the 401(k) Plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, as to how to vote your shares held in the 401(k) Plan, Merrill Lynch may vote your shares in accordance with its fiduciary obligations under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

Voting of Shares Held in Street Name; Broker Non-Votes

If you are a beneficial owner of shares of Company common stock held in street name, you should receive instructions from your bank, broker or other holder of record that you must follow in order to have your shares of Company common stock voted. If you have not received such voting instructions or require further information regarding such voting instructions, contact your bank, broker or other holder of record. If your bank, broker or other holder of record holds your shares of Company common stock in street name, such record holder will vote your shares of Company common stock only if you provide instructions on how to vote by filling out the voter instruction form sent to you by such record holder with this proxy statement. Please note that, if you are a beneficial owner of shares of Company common stock held in street name and wish to vote in person at the special meeting, you must obtain a legal proxy executed in your favor from your bank, broker or other holder of record and present such legal proxy at the special meeting.

Under stock exchange rules, banks, brokers and other holders of record who hold shares of Company common stock in street name for a beneficial owner of those shares typically have the authority to vote in their discretion on routine proposals when they have not received instructions from beneficial owners. However, such record holders are not allowed to exercise their voting discretion with respect to the approval of matters determined to be non-routine. Broker non-votes are shares held in street name by banks, brokers and other holders of record that are present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting, but for which the beneficial owner has not provided the record holder with instructions on how to vote on a particular proposal and such record holder does not have discretionary voting power with respect to such proposal. Because, under applicable rules, banks, brokers and other holders of record holding shares in street name do not have discretionary voting authority with respect to any of the three proposals described in this proxy statement, if a

Table of Contents 47

24

Table of Contents

beneficial owner of Company common stock held in street name does not give voting instructions to the applicable record holder, then those shares will not be counted as present in person or by proxy at the special meeting. As the vote to approve the merger proposal is based on the total number of shares of Company common stock outstanding at the close of business on the record date, if you fail to issue voting instructions to your bank, broker or other holder of record, it will have the same effect as a vote **AGAINST** the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

Voting of Proxies; Incomplete Proxies

If you submit a proxy, regardless of the method you choose to submit such proxy, the individuals named on the enclosed proxy card, and each of them, with full power of substitution, will vote your shares of Company common stock in the way that you indicate. When completing the Internet or telephone processes or the proxy card, you may specify whether your shares of Company common stock should be voted for or against, or abstain from voting, on all, some or none of the specific items of business to come before the special meeting.

All shares represented by valid proxies that the Company receives through this solicitation, and that are not revoked, will be voted in accordance with your instructions on the proxy card. If you properly sign your proxy card but do not mark the boxes showing how your shares of Company common stock should be voted on a matter, the shares of Company common stock represented by your proxy will be voted in accordance with the recommendations of the Company board, which, as of the date of this proxy statement, are **FOR** the merger proposal, **FOR** the compensation proposal and **FOR** the adjournment proposal.

Deadline to Vote by Proxy

Please refer to the instructions on your proxy card or voting instruction card to determine the deadlines for submitting your proxy over the Internet or by telephone. If you choose to submit a proxy by mailing a proxy card, your proxy card should be mailed in the enclosed postage-paid return envelope and must be received by our Corporate Secretary by 5:00 p.m., central time, on October 4, 2017.

Revocation of Proxy

If you are a shareholder of record of shares of Company common stock, you have the right to revoke a proxy, whether delivered over the Internet, by telephone or by mail, at any time before it is exercised. Proxies may be revoked by submitting a later-dated proxy through any of the methods available to you, by giving written notice of revocation to the Company s Corporate Secretary, which must be filed with the Corporate Secretary by 5:00 p.m., central time, on October 4, 2017, or by attending the special meeting and voting in person. Attending the special meeting alone, without voting at the special meeting, will not be sufficient to revoke your proxy. Written notice of revocation should be mailed to: Sparton Corporation, Attn: Corporate Secretary, 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173.

If you are a street name holder of shares of Company common stock, you may change your vote by submitting new voting instructions to your bank, broker or other holder of record or obtaining a legal proxy and voting in person at the special meeting. You must contact the record holder of your shares to obtain instructions as to how to change your proxy vote.

If you hold your shares of Company common stock in the 401(k) Plan, you should contact the plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, to obtain instructions as to how to change your proxy vote.

Adjournments and Postponements

Although it is not currently expected, the special meeting may be adjourned or postponed for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies if there are insufficient votes at the time of the special meeting to approve the

25

merger proposal. In the event that there is present, in person or by proxy, sufficient favorable voting power to secure the vote of the Company shareholders necessary to approve the merger proposal, the Company does not anticipate that it will adjourn or postpone the special meeting, unless it is advised by counsel that such adjournment or postponement is necessary under applicable law to allow additional time for any disclosure. Any adjournment or postponement of the special meeting for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies will allow the Company shareholders who have already sent in their proxies to revoke them at any time prior to their use at the special meeting as adjourned or postponed.

Solicitation of Proxies

The Company is soliciting your proxy in conjunction with the merger. The Company will bear the cost of soliciting proxies from you. In addition to solicitation of proxies by mail, the Company will request that banks, brokers and other holders of record send proxies and proxy materials to the beneficial owners of Company common stock and secure their voting instructions. The Company has also made arrangements with Morrow Sodali LLC to assist it in soliciting proxies and has agreed to pay Morrow Sodali LLC approximately \$17,500 plus reasonable expenses for these services.

Questions and Additional Information

If you have more questions about the merger or how to submit your proxy, or if you need additional copies of this proxy statement or the enclosed proxy card or voting instructions, please contact Sparton Corporation, Attn: Shareholders Relations Department, 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173, or by telephone at 847-762-5800, or the Company s proxy solicitor:

Morrow Sodali LLC

470 West Avenue ^{rg} floor

Stamford, CT 06902

Banks and Brokerage Firms Call: (203) 658-9400

Stockholders Call Toll Free: (800) 662-5200

Email: spa.info@morrowsodali.com

If you hold your shares in street name through a bank, broker or other holder of record, please also contact your bank, broker or other holder of record for additional information.

If you hold your shares in the 401(k) Plan, please also contact the plan trustee, Merrill Lynch, for additional information.

26

THE MERGER

This discussion of the merger is qualified in its entirety by reference to the merger agreement, which is attached to this proxy statement as **Annex A**. You should read the entire merger agreement carefully as it is the legal document that governs the merger.

Terms of the Merger

The Company board has unanimously approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the merger agreement, Merger Sub, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra, will merge with and into the Company, so that the Company will be the surviving corporation in the merger and an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra. Upon the consummation of the merger, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub will cease.

At the effective time, each share of Company common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time (except for shares of Company common stock held by (i) the Company, Ultra and their respective subsidiaries and (ii) Company shareholders who have properly exercised dissenters—rights, which we refer to collectively as—excluded shares—) will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration. For a discussion of the treatment of awards outstanding under the Company stock plans as of the effective time, see—The Merger Agreement—Treatment of Company Equity Awards.

The Company shareholders are being asked to adopt the merger agreement. See The Merger Agreement for additional and more detailed information regarding the legal documents that govern the merger, including information about conditions to the consummation of the merger and provisions for terminating or amending the merger agreement.

Background of the Merger

Set forth below is a description of what we believe are the material aspects of the background and history of the merger. This description may not contain all the information that is important to you. The Company encourages you to read carefully the entire proxy statement, including the merger agreement attached as **Annex A** to this proxy statement, for a more complete understanding of the merger.

The Company board and Company management regularly review and assess the Company s business strategies and objectives, and the Company board regularly reviews and discusses the Company s performance, risks and opportunities, all with the goal of enhancing value for the Company s shareholders.

In August 2015, the Company board, with the assistance of Company management, reviewed the status and performance of the Company s previously announced strategic growth plan for 2015 through 2020 (which we refer to as the 2020 Vision) and, as a part of such review, considered the possibility of potential strategic and financial alternatives that might be available to the Company. As part of its review of the 2020 Vision, the Company board heard presentations from two nationally-recognized middle market investment banks regarding the 2020 Vision and the Company s strategic alternatives. Neither investment bank had been retained by the Company to perform a review of the Company s strategic alternatives and the investment banks based their analyses solely on publicly available information.

On September 2, 2015, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which, as a result of its review of the 2020 Vision and in light of the possibility that Cary B. Wood, the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company at such time, might have an interest in partnering with a potential financial buyer of the Company, the Company board created a special committee of independent directors of the Company board (which we refer to as the special committee). The Company board designated Joseph J. Hartnett, the Chairman of the Company

Table of Contents

board at such time, and directors James D. Fast, Charles R. Kummeth, David P. Molfenter, James R. Swartwout and Frank A. Wilson as the members of the special committee. The special committee was delegated the power of the Company board to, among other things, review the Company s strategic alternatives and make a recommendation to the Company board regarding the Company s strategic alternatives. The special committee was authorized to retain its own advisors, including financial advisors and legal counsel, to assist it in discharging its duties.

From September 2, 2015 through September 11, 2015, after seeking the input of the members of the special committee, Mr. Hartnett and Mr. Swartwout researched and reviewed and interviewed representatives of various law firms to identify potential legal counsel to be retained by the special committee to assist it in discharging its duties.

On September 18, 2015, the special committee held a telephonic meeting. Upon the recommendation of Messrs. Hartnett and Swartwout, the special committee voted to retain Mayer Brown LLP (which we refer to as Mayer Brown) to serve as its legal counsel.

On September 22, 2015, the special committee held a telephonic meeting at which representatives of Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Mayer Brown discussed the responsibilities the special committee had been charged with by the Company board and reviewed with the members of the special committee their fiduciary duties under applicable law. In addition, representatives of Mayer Brown discussed expected next steps in the process, including the retention by the special committee of a financial advisor to assist the special committee in exploring strategic alternatives. In addition, representatives of Mayer Brown discussed considerations in addressing any potential actions by Mr. Wood and other members of the Company management team to seek third-party support for a potential proposal to acquire control of the Company.

On September 30, 2015, Mr. Wood delivered to the Company board a preliminary, non-binding proposal contemplating that he and Michael W. Osborne, Senior Vice President, Corporate Development of the Company at such time, and certain unspecified financial partners would acquire the Company at an unspecified cash price. The proposal was subject to, among other things, obtaining financing, completion of due diligence with results satisfactory to the financial partners in their sole discretion and negotiation of definitive transaction agreements.

On October 2, 2015, the special committee held a telephonic meeting at which representatives of Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Mayer Brown outlined the terms of the September 30, 2015 proposal sent by Mr. Wood and the special committee discussed the contents of a proposed letter to be sent by the special committee responding to Mr. Wood. Mr. Hartnett also updated the special committee on the process that he and Mr. Swartwout had been following to identify a list of potential financial advisors for the special committee s consideration, including an initial outreach process conducted by Mayer Brown to eight financial advisors on a no-names basis to gauge each financial advisor s interest in potentially representing the special committee to assist it in exploring strategic alternatives and obtain background on each financial advisor s expertise and experience for such an assignment. The special committee directed Messrs. Hartnett and Swartwout to continue the process of identifying potential financial advisors to represent the special committee.

On October 5, 2015, Mr. Hartnett, on behalf of the Company board and the special committee, sent to Mr. Wood a letter acknowledging receipt of Mr. Wood s proposal dated September 30, 2015 and stating that because the special committee had not yet authorized the exploration of an acquisition of the Company, the Company would not be moving forward to entertain Mr. Wood s proposal at that time. The letter went on to state that in the event that the special committee were to authorize an exploration of an acquisition of the Company, the special committee would notify Mr. Wood of such development. Ultimately, Mr. Wood never submitted another proposal to acquire the Company.

On November 4, 2015, the special committee held a meeting at the Company s corporate headquarters at which representatives of Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Mayer Brown discussed

28

their observations regarding the joint venture agreement (which we refer to as the ERAPSCO agreement) between Sparton DeLeon Springs, LLC, a subsidiary of the Company (which we refer to as SDS) and UnderSea Sensor Systems, Inc., a subsidiary of Ultra (which we refer to as USSI) under which SDS and USSI are 50/50 partners in a joint venture (which we refer to as the ERAPSCO JV). The ERAPSCO JV allows Sparton and USSI to combine their own unique and complementary backgrounds to jointly develop and produce U.S. derivative sonobuoy designs for the U.S. Navy as well as for foreign governments that meet Department of State licensing requirements. Representatives of Mayer Brown provided their views on, among other things, the provisions of the ERAPSCO agreement that restrict each party from certain transfers of their respective interests in the ERAPSCO JV, unless the party seeking to make such a transfer first offers the other party the opportunity to purchase such interest (which we refer to as the ERAPSCO transfer provisions). Mr. Hartnett also updated the special committee on the process that he and Mr. Swartwout had been following to identify a list of four financial advisors for the special committee to meet with and interview in-person in order to make a final selection of a financial advisor to advise the special committee. Mr. Hartnett described to the special committee the four financial advisors that he and Mr. Swartwout recommended for in-person meetings and, after discussion, the special committee approved their recommendation and directed Messrs. Hartnett and Swartwout to schedule in-person meetings with representatives of those financial advisors.

On November 18 and November 19, 2015, Messrs. Hartnett, Fast, Molfenter and Swartwout held in-person meetings in Rosemont, Illinois with representatives of each of the four financial advisors approved by the special committee. After discussion and consideration by Messrs. Hartnett, Fast, Molfenter and Swartwout, each of Wells Fargo Securities and a middle-market financial advisor (which we refer to as Financial Advisor A) were asked to submit a draft of a letter agreement pursuant to which it would be engaged to act as financial advisor to the special committee.

On November 30, 2015, Messrs. Hartnett, Fast, Molfenter and Swartwout conducted a conference call with representatives of Wells Fargo Securities to discuss Wells Fargo Securities draft form of engagement letter and requested that Wells Fargo Securities submit a revised draft engagement letter reflecting their comments and discussion.

On December 1, 2015, the special committee held a telephonic meeting at which representatives of Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, Mr. Hartnett updated the special committee on activities related to the search for and engagement of a financial advisor for the special committee. The special committee supported the selection of Wells Fargo Securities and Financial Advisor A for continued consideration and authorized Messrs. Hartnett, Fast, Molfenter and Swartwout to continue their evaluation, including the negotiation of an acceptable form of engagement letter with each of Wells Fargo Securities and Financial Advisor A, until they were prepared to recommend a financial advisor to the special committee and submit a draft engagement letter for the recommended financial advisor for approval of the special committee.

On December 2, 2015, Wells Fargo Securities submitted to the special committee a revised draft of its engagement letter.

From December 3 through December 29, 2015, representatives of the Company, Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown negotiated the terms of Wells Fargo Securities engagement letter to act as financial advisor to the special committee. During this period, Mr. Hartnett provided periodic updates to the special committee on the progress of the negotiations of the Wells Fargo Securities engagement letter and the engagement letter for Financial Advisor A, a revised draft of which was received on December 7, 2015.

On December 14, 2015, in light of the possibility that the special committee might retain Wells Fargo Securities to serve as its financial advisor, Mayer Brown sent to Mr. Hartnett a waiver letter containing an acknowledgement by the special committee that Mayer Brown has represented, and continues to represent, Wells Fargo Securities and its affiliates with respect to matters other than its representation of the special committee and the letter provided that the special committee consents to Mayer Brown continuing to represent the special committee, notwithstanding such representations of Wells Fargo Securities and its affiliates.

29

Table of Contents

On December 29, 2015, on the recommendation of Messrs. Hartnett, Fast, Molfenter and Swartwout, the special committee approved the retention of Wells Fargo Securities to serve as its financial advisor to assist the special committee in exploring strategic alternatives and authorized Mr. Hartnett to execute the Wells Fargo Securities engagement letter that had been negotiated.

On December 31, 2015, the special committee, Wells Fargo Securities and the Company executed the Wells Fargo Securities engagement letter.

On January 5, 2016, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities attended a management presentation in the Company s corporate headquarters. During the presentation, senior management of the Company reported on the state of the Company s business and strategy, including the 2020 Vision and key value drivers the Company was pursuing.

On January 8, 2016, the special committee held a telephonic meeting at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities reviewed and discussed the Company s business plan and strategy with the special committee. In addition, the representatives of Wells Fargo Securities reviewed and discussed with the special committee a preliminary list of companies that might potentially be interested in acquiring one or more of the Company s operations in the event that the Company were to consider divesting part or all of its operations in the future. In addition, the special committee approved the waiver letter that Mayer Brown had sent Mr. Hartnett on December 14, 2015 and directed Mr. Hartnett to execute such waiver letter.

On January 10, 2016, Mr. Kummeth received a telephone call from a representative of a middle market private equity fund focused on the healthcare industry (which we refer to as Party A) inquiring about a potential go-private acquisition of the Company.

On January 13, 2016, Mr. Kummeth received a follow-up email from the representative of Party A that had contacted him on January 10, 2016 reiterating Party A s interest in discussing a potential go-private acquisition transaction of the Company. In connection with such inquiry, Mr. Kummeth directed the representative of Party A to contact Mr. Hartnett, as chairman of the Company board. The representative of Party A contacted Mr. Hartnett by email later that day to express Party A s interest in discussing a potential go-private acquisition of the Company.

On January 18, 2016, Mr. Hartnett responded by email to the representative of Party A that had sent him the email expressing Party A s interest in discussing a potential go-private transaction of the Company. In his response, Mr. Hartnett thanked the representative of Party A for his email and indicated that the Company board continues to focus on the best path forward for creating value for the Company s shareholders and that if there is an appropriate time for such a conversation with his organization, the Company board would keep Party A in mind.

On January 28, 2016, the special committee held a telephonic meeting at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, Messrs. Kummeth and Hartnett reported to the special committee their communications with the representative of Party A. The special committee also discussed the process for having Company management produce a five-year forecast that Wells Fargo Securities could use for purposes of assisting the special committee in evaluating strategic alternatives. The special committee decided that such forecast would be subject to the review of the special committee and would not be authorized for use by Wells Fargo Securities unless and until approved by the special committee.

On February 5, 2016, Mr. Wood resigned as the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and as a member of the Company board, effective as of such date and Mr. Osborne left the Company, also effective as of such date. Also on February 5, 2016, the Company board appointed Mr. Hartnett as interim President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Mr. Hartnett resigned as Chairman of the Company board and as a

30

Table of Contents

member of the audit committee of the Company board but remained on the Company board as a director and as a member of the special committee. Finally, on February 5, 2016, the Company board appointed Mr. Swartwout to serve as Chairman of the Company board.

On February 8, 2016, Rakesh Sharma, Chief Executive of Ultra, contacted Mr. Swartwout by telephone. During the call, Mr. Sharma expressed an interest in a potential acquisition of the Company s sonobuoy business. Mr. Swartwout and Mr. Sharma discussed certain potential tax implications of such a transaction as well as matters relating to the U.S. Navy, ECP s largest customer. Mr. Swartwout concluded by telling Mr. Sharma that if the Company were to consider such a transaction, the Company would contact Mr. Sharma first.

On February 9, 2016, a representative of an aerospace and defense company contacted Mr. Hartnett by email regarding a potential strategic transaction with the Company. Mr. Hartnett responded to such representative by email in which he indicated that the Company board continues to focus on the best path forward for creating value for the Company s shareholders and that if there is an appropriate time for a conversation with his organization regarding a strategic transaction, the Company board would keep his organization in mind. Ultimately, this party did not execute a non-disclosure agreement with the Company or make a proposal to acquire the Company.

On March 8, 2016, the special committee held a meeting at the Company s corporate headquarters at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present, as well as Joseph G. McCormack, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company and other members of the Company s senior management. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities reviewed and discussed with the special committee the Company s historical financial performance, and the historical prices at which its common stock had traded. In addition, the special committee, with the assistance of representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, reviewed and discussed management s status quo financial forecast plan and the key considerations in evaluating the risks in achieving that plan. Also, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities provided preliminary financial analysis with respect to the Company and described certain strategic alternatives available to the Company, including continuing to execute management s status quo financial forecast plan, and certain execution and process considerations related thereto, and a possible acquisition of the Company or its business segments by one or more third parties. Upon the conclusion of those discussions, the representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mr. McCormack and other members of the Company s senior management left the meeting and the special committee adopted resolutions recommending to the Company board that the Company proceed to conduct a process (which we refer to as the marketing process) to identify parties interested in purchasing or engaging in a merger or other strategic transaction with (i) the Company, (ii) MDS or (iii) the Company as it would exist after a divestiture of MDS, and to identify and determine the price and other terms and conditions upon which any such parties would be willing to consummate any such transactions. The special committee also resolved to recommend to the Company board that the Company board establish a new committee (which we refer to as the process committee) comprised of Messrs. Hartnett, Molfenter and Swartwout to conduct the marketing process. The process committee would be assisted and advised by Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown. Such committee would have authority, among other things, to negotiate and execute non-disclosure, standstill and other preliminary agreements and to negotiate purchase agreements, merger agreements and other applicable definitive transaction agreements, except that the process committee would not have the power or authority to authorize the Company to enter into any sale or other business combination transaction or any agreement obligating the Company to consummate any such transaction. Finally, the special committee adopted a resolution to recommend to the Company board that the Company issue a press release announcing that the Company board is considering a range of strategic alternatives with the goal of identifying the best way to enhance shareholder value. Immediately following the adjournment of the meeting of the special committee, the Company board met and adopted resolutions implementing all of the special committee s recommendations. While not all members of the Company board were members of the process committee, meetings of the process committee were open to all members of the Company board that would like to attend, and often members of the Company board that were not members of the process committee attended meetings of the process committee.

31

Table of Contents

On March 10, 2016, Engine Capital, L.P., Norwood Capital Partners, LP and certain of their respective affiliates (which we collectively refer to as the Engine Group) filed a Schedule 13D with the SEC disclosing, in the aggregate, ownership of approximately 6.9% of the outstanding shares of Company common stock. In its Schedule 13D, the Engine Group stated that it had entered into an agreement to, among other things, undertake a plan of action at the Company aimed at enhancing shareholder value, which plan may include, but not be limited to, proposals relating to the Company s operations, cost and capital allocation, strategic alternatives, the calling of special meetings, and/or reconstitution of the Company board.

On March 16, 2016, Mr. Swartwout contacted Mr. Sharma to inform him that later that day the Company would be issuing a press release announcing that the Company board had been exploring strategic alternatives, with the goal of identifying the best way to enhance shareholder value. Mr. Swartwout also told Mr. Sharma that the Company would like to begin discussions with Ultra in connection with a potential transaction and would like to provide confidential information to Ultra to facilitate those discussions. To that end, Mr. Sharma requested that the Company send to Ultra a draft of a non-disclosure agreement under which the Company would provide certain non-public information to Ultra to facilitate Ultra in making an acquisition proposal.

Later on March 16, 2016, the Company issued a press release announcing that the Company board had been exploring strategic alternatives, with the goal of identifying the best way to enhance shareholder value. The press release stated that Wells Fargo Securities had been retained as financial advisor and that Mayer Brown had been retained as legal advisor to assist in the process.

On March 17, 2016, at the request of the Company board, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities called representatives of Ultra to discuss exploring strategic alternatives with Ultra. During the call, as authorized by the Company board, the representatives of Wells Fargo Securities informed Ultra that a sale of ECP to Ultra might not be financially attractive to the Company, given the potential tax impact on the Company that would result from such a transaction. As directed by the Company board, the representatives of Wells Fargo Securities emphasized that the more straightforward course of action would be an acquisition of the Company in its entirety by Ultra, but the Company board was open to considering other alternatives if superior value could be achieved for the Company s shareholders.

On March 18, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting. During the meeting, the process committee reviewed and discussed a proposed preparation and marketing timeline, including the assembling of documents for the data room, the preparation of a carve-out audited financial statement for MDS and the preparation of a quality of earnings analysis that would present ECP and MDS as standalone businesses and address corporate costs.

On March 28, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting during which it reviewed and approved a proposal from a nationally recognized accounting and advisory firm to perform a quality of earnings report for the Company and its subsidiaries and a proposal for the Company s outside auditors to prepare audited carve-out financial statements for MDS.

On April 1, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting during which it reviewed the progress of the preparation of the quality of earnings report for the Company and its subsidiaries and preparation of the audited carve-out financial statements for MDS.

On April 18, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting during which it reviewed and approved certain proposed changes to the latest draft of the non-disclosure agreement received from Ultra and reviewed and discussed an updated timeline for the marketing process.

On April 22, 2016, as requested by the process committee, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities called representatives of Ultra to discuss the possibility of Ultra proposing to acquire the Company and the Company board s process of exploring strategic alternatives. During the call, a representative of Ultra stated that Ultra was not interested in acquiring MDS, but that Ultra would be open to considering an acquisition of the entire Company.

32

Table of Contents

On April 27, 2016, the Company issued a press release announcing that as part of its previously announced exploration of strategic alternatives, the Company board had authorized Wells Fargo Securities to conduct a process to identify parties interested in acquiring the entire Company.

On April 28, 2016, the Company board held a meeting at its corporate headquarters at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities updated the Company board on the status of the marketing process. The representatives of Wells Fargo Securities noted that Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP had commenced work on a quality of earnings report for the Company and its subsidiaries. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities also discussed the status of the five-quarter forecast and five-year projections being prepared by Company management as well as the current status of the confidential information package regarding the Company to be used in the initial stage of the marketing process. Wells Fargo Securities also reviewed and discussed the 15 potential strategic buyers and 20 potential financial buyers that had to date reached out to Wells Fargo Securities to express an interest in a potential strategic transaction with the Company.

On May 4, 2016, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement with the Engine Group pursuant to which Alan L. Bazaar and John A. Janitz were appointed to the Company board. Under the agreement, the Engine Group agreed, among other things, to vote its Company shares in support of all of the Company s director nominees, including both Messrs. Bazaar and Janitz, at the Company s 2016 annual meeting of shareholders and to abide by customary standstill provisions until January 1, 2017. In addition, under the terms of the agreement, Mr. Janitz and Mr. Bazaar were each appointed to the process committee and the special committee, among other committee appointments.

On May 9, 2016, Ultra Electronics Limited, a subsidiary of Ultra, and the Company entered into a non-disclosure agreement.

On May 11, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of preparations for the marketing process and the timeline for the marketing process. After discussion, the process committee authorized Wells Fargo Securities to contact the 82 potential strategic buyers, including Ultra, that Wells Fargo Securities had identified to the process committee regarding a potential strategic transaction with the Company and to send interested parties a form of non-disclosure agreement approved by the process committee so that the Company could provide certain non-public information to interested parties to facilitate their making of acquisition proposals. In addition, a sub-committee comprised of Mr. Hartnett and Mr. Swartwout was formed to oversee and administer, with the advice of counsel, the negotiation and execution of non-disclosure agreements with potential buyers. The form of non-disclosure agreement approved by the process committee contained customary provisions, including standstill provisions that, for a period of eighteen months, prohibit the counterparty, without the prior written consent of the Company board, from participating in a proposal for the Company either publicly or privately or from asking the Company to amend or waive such standstill provisions (often referred to as a don t ask, don t waive provision), except that the counterparty may ask the Company to amend or waive the standstill provisions (1) after the Company enters into a definitive agreement with respect to (or has recommended that Company shareholders accept or approve) a transaction involving the acquisition of all or a majority of the Company so outstanding equity securities or all or substantially all of the Company sassets and (2) in order to make a proposal for the Company board on a confidential basis.

From May 2016 through July 2016, representatives of Wells contacted the 81 potential strategic buyers, other than Ultra, which had already been contacted, and sent the process committee-approved form of non-disclosure agreement to the 46 strategic buyers that expressed an interest in exploring a strategic transaction with the Company.

On June 3, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo

33

Table of Contents

Securities provided an update on the status of the confidential information package regarding the Company and its businesses (which we refer to as the CIP), the status of the strategic buyer outreach process authorized by the process committee and the timeline for the marketing process. After discussion, the process committee authorized Wells Fargo Securities to contact the 98 potential financial buyers that Wells Fargo Securities had identified to the process committee regarding a potential strategic transaction with the Company and to send any interested parties the process committee-approved form of non-disclosure agreement so that the Company could provide certain non-public information to interested parties to facilitate their making of acquisition proposals.

From June 2016 through July 2016, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities contacted the 98 potential financial buyers and sent the process committee-approved form of non-disclosure agreement to the 61 financial buyers that expressed an interest in exploring a strategic transaction with the Company.

On June 10, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. At the meeting, the process committee approved the final form of the CIP to be distributed to all prospective buyers that had executed a non-disclosure agreement with the Company.

On June 14, 2016, Mr. Hartnett attended the regularly scheduled meeting of the board of directors of the ERAPSCO JV at USSI s offices in Columbia City, Indiana. Following the meeting, representatives of Ultra met with Mr. Hartnett and inquired about the Company board s process of exploring strategic alternatives. Mr. Hartnett told the representatives of Ultra that Wells Fargo Securities would contact Ultra soon about participating in the marketing process. Representatives of Ultra inquired as to whether the marketing process only contemplated the Company board pursuing a sale of the entire Company, to which Mr. Hartnett responded that the Company board was committed to considering all potential transactions that might create value for the Company shareholders. Finally, a representative of Ultra stated that Ultra would expect that the Company would comply with the ERAPSCO transfer provisions as part of the marketing process. Mr. Hartnett responded that it was not clear at this stage of the marketing process whether the ERAPSCO transfer provisions would apply to any transaction the Company board might select to pursue but that in any event the Company would comply with all of its obligations under the ERAPSCO agreement.

On June 17, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process and reported that to date 19 strategic buyers and 15 financial buyers had executed non-disclosure agreements and received the CIP. In addition, at the meeting, the process committee approved the form of the letter (which we refer to as the IOI letter) to solicit initial indications of interest from potential buyers of ECP, MDS or the entire Company. The process committee authorized Wells Fargo Securities to send the approved form of letter to solicit initial indications of interest from potential buyers of ECP, MDS or the entire Company to interested parties with a requested deadline for submissions of initial indications of interest due July 12, 2016.

During the week of June 20, 2016, as instructed, Wells Fargo Securities sent an IOI letter to all potential buyers that received the CIP and had not indicated that they were no longer interested in participating in the marketing process.

On June 24, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, the process committee discussed information provided by Wells Fargo on the status of the marketing process including that, to date, 21 strategic buyers and 28 financial buyers had executed non-disclosure agreements and received the CIP.

On June 29, 2016, the Company board held a meeting at the Company s corporate headquarters at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities updated the Company board on the status of the marketing process and reported that to

34

date, 83 strategic buyers and 101 financial buyers had been contacted, with 21 strategic buyers and 30 financial buyers executing non-disclosure agreements and receiving the CIP and IOI letter. In addition, 28 potential buyers were still negotiating non-disclosure agreements as of such date. In addition, during the meeting, the Company board discussed the advantages and disadvantages of four potential strategic alternative scenarios: (i) a buyer acquiring the entire Company, (ii) a buyer acquiring the entire Company and thereafter the buyer selling one of the Company s business segments to a second buyer, (iii) a buyer acquiring one of the Company s business segments and a second buyer then acquiring the Company, which would own the remaining business segment, with both transactions closing substantially simultaneously and (iv) a buyer acquiring one of the Company s business segments and at a later time a second buyer acquiring the Company, which would own the remaining business segment. Finally, the Company board noted and considered that since Mr. Wood s resignation on February 5, 2016, the membership of the Company board and the membership of the special committee were the same and that the responsibilities of special committee were, in effect, being discharged by the Company board. In light of such facts, the Company board adopted resolutions formally rendering the special committee inactive, but not dissolving the special committee so that it would be available in the future in the event the special committee needed to be reactivated later in the marketing process. The resolutions adopted by the Company board also charged the Company board with carrying out the duties previously delegated to the special committee, with Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown to serve as advisors to the Company board, which arrangements were subsequently memorialized in amendments to such advisors respective engagement letters.

On July 8, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process and reported that to date 23 strategic buyers and 50 financial buyers had executed non-disclosure agreements and received the CIP, with 18 strategic buyers and 44 financial buyers continuing to participate in or not having affirmatively withdrawn from the marketing process. Each of the non-disclosure agreements remains in effect, and no counterparty has requested that the Company amend or waive the standstill provisions.

On July 12, 2016, Wells Fargo Securities received initial indications of interest from seven strategic buyers, including Ultra, and 14 financial buyers. Nine of the initial indications of interest contained a proposal to acquire the entire Company, with indicative prices ranging from \$18.00 to \$28.00 per share of Company common stock. Six of the initial indications of interest contained a proposal to acquire ECP, with indicative prices ranging from \$220 million to \$275 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis. Eight of the initial indications of interest contained a proposal to acquire MDS, with prices ranging from \$90 million to \$150 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis. Ultra s initial indication of interest contained a proposal to acquire the entire Company for \$21.00 per share of Company common stock, which attributed a value of \$60 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis, to MDS and a value of \$270 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis, to ECP. In its initial indication of interest, Ultra also expressed a willingness to work with a potential buyer of MDS that had a higher valuation for MDS, if such a joint bid would result in a proposal that would be more attractive to the Company than Ultra s proposal. Among the initial indications of interest submitted, a non-U.S.based manufacturer of defense products (which we refer to as Party B) submitted a proposal to acquire the entire Company at a price range of \$26.00 to \$28.00 per share of Company common stock. Party B s indication of interest submitted, an indication of interest was also submitted by a financial buyer (which we refer to as Party C) to acquire the entire Company at a price range of \$25.00 to \$28.00 per share of Company common stock. Party A did not submit an initial indication of interest.

On July 15, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities reviewed and discussed its preliminary financial analyses with respect to the Company and its two business segments. In addition, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process and provided a summary of the financial terms of the initial indications of interest received on July 12, 2016. Mr. McCormack also described for the process committee the tax basis analysis of the

35

Table of Contents

Company that had recently been completed. The tax basis analysis indicated that, given the Company s low tax basis in ECP, a sale of ECP would result in significant tax liability to the Company. After a review and discussion with the assistance of representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, the process committee directed that the 13 potential buyers, including Ultra, that had proposed the highest values be invited to participate in the next stage of the marketing process, which would include management presentations.

On July 20, 2016, Wells Fargo Securities received an initial indication of interest from a strategic buyer to acquire ECP for \$300 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis.

On July 22, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including the schedule for management presentations to the potential buyers invited to participate in the next stage of the process. In addition, the process committee approved the potential buyer that submitted its initial indication of interest on July 20, 2016 for advancement to the next stage of the marketing process.

On July 23, 2016, Wells Fargo Securities received an initial indication of interest from a strategic buyer to acquire ECP for \$320 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis. The strategic buyer was invited to advance to the next stage of the marketing process.

On July 25, 2016, at the Company s corporate headquarters, Mr. Hartnett and other members of Company management gave a management presentation to Ultra regarding the Company, its business segments and operations and its historical and projected financial performance.

From July 26, 2016 through August 12, 2016, Mr. Hartnett and other senior management of the Company gave 14 management presentations at the Company s corporate headquarters to the other potential buyers that advanced to the next stage of the process.

On July 28, 2016, Wells Fargo Securities received a revised initial indication of interest from a strategic buyer that had not been invited to advance to the next stage in the marketing process. The strategic buyer s revised proposal was to acquire ECP following the sale of MDS for \$325 million on a debt-free basis. The strategic buyer was invited to advance to the next stage of the marketing process.

On July 29, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including the schedule for management presentations to the potential buyers invited to participate in the next stage of the process.

During the week of August 8, 2016, the 15 potential buyers still participating in the marketing process were granted access to limited due diligence materials regarding the Company and its businesses via an online virtual data room.

On August 12, 2016, Wells Fargo Securities sent to the 15 potential buyers still participating in the marketing process a letter requesting the submission by August 19, 2016 of revised indications of interests to acquire the entire Company or one of its business segments.

On August 19, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to the expected submission later in the day of revised indications of interest from the potential buyers participating in the marketing process.

Table of Contents

On August 22, 2016, Mr. Hartnett spoke to Mr. Sharma by telephone regarding Ultra s participation in the current stage of the marketing process and the next stages in the process.

From August 19 through August 23, 2016, Wells Fargo Securities received revised indications of interest from four strategic buyers, including Ultra, and seven financial buyers. Six of the revised indications of interest contained a proposal to acquire the entire Company, with prices ranging from \$19.50 to \$28.00 per share of Company common stock. Four of the revised indications of interest contained a proposal to acquire ECP, with prices ranging from \$235 million on a cash-free, debt-free basis to \$325 million, on a debt-free basis, which proposal was structured as an acquisition of the Company following a pre-closing divestiture of MDS. Two of the revised indications of interest contained a proposal to acquire MDS, with prices ranging from \$92.5 million to \$120 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis. Ultra s revised indication of interest contained a proposal to acquire the entire Company at a price of \$26.00 per share of Company common stock, contingent upon a sale of MDS for \$145 million. To the extent the sale price for MDS would be higher or lower than \$145 million, the per share purchase price would be adjusted accordingly to account for the change in the Company s implied enterprise value. Ultra also stated in its revised indication of interest that it reserved its rights under the ERAPSCO transfer provisions. Among the revised indications of interest submitted, Party B submitted a proposal to acquire the entire Company at a price range of \$26.00 to \$28.00 per share of Company common stock. Party B s revised indication of interest also contained a proposal to acquire the Company s ECP business segment for \$250 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis. Also, among the revised initial indications of interest submitted, Party C submitted a proposal to acquire the entire Company at a price of \$26.00 per share of Company common stock.

On August 24, 2016, the Company board held a meeting at its offices at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities reviewed and discussed its preliminary financial analyses with respect to the Company and its two business segments. In addition, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities provided a summary of the revised indications of interest received from August 19, 2016 through August 23, 2016. The Company board discussed the revised indications of interest and noted, among other things, that Ultra's revised indication of interest reflected a valuation of ECP that was \$90 million lower than the highest revised indication of interest for that business segment and a valuation of MDS that was approximately \$25 million higher than any other revised indication of interest for that business segment. Wells Fargo Securities also discussed with the Company board the upcoming stages of the marketing process for the parties that continued participating in the process, which would include access for potential buyers to an online virtual data room containing more complete information than that provided to date as well as submission by potential buyers of mark-ups of drafts of definitive transaction documents.

Later in the day on August 24, 2016, Wells Fargo Securities received a revised indication of interest for the acquisition of ECP for a price ranging from \$200 million to \$220 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis.

On August 25, 2016, Mr. Hartnett spoke to Mr. Sharma by telephone. Mr. Hartnett told Mr. Sharma that based on the revised indications of interest that had been received, Ultra s revised indication of interest reflected a valuation of ECP that was \$90 million lower than the highest revised indication of interest for that business segment and a valuation of MDS that was approximately \$25 million higher than that from any other revised indication of interest for that business segment. Mr. Hartnett encouraged Mr. Sharma to have Ultra raise its price to top all other potential buyers and requested that, if the Company decided to pursue an acquisition of the entire Company by another potential buyer, Ultra commit to work as a cooperative joint venture partner with that potential buyer after completion of the transaction. Mr. Sharma responded that Ultra would further consider its most recent indication of interest and would consider submitting a revised indication of interest in the coming days.

On August 30, 2016, Wells Fargo Securities received a revised indication of interest for the acquisition of MDS for \$100 million, on a cash-free, debt-free basis.

37

Table of Contents

On September 1, 2016, Ultra submitted to Wells Fargo Securities a revised indication of interest letter. Ultra s revised indication of interest contained a proposal to acquire the entire Company at a price of \$27.00 per share of Company common stock, contingent upon a sale of MDS for \$125 million. To the extent the sale price for MDS would be higher or lower than \$125 million, the per share purchase price would be adjusted accordingly to account for the change in the Company s implied enterprise value. Ultra also stated in its revised indication of interest that it reserved its rights under the ERAPSCO transfer provisions.

On September 2, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the revised indications of interest received since the meeting of the Company board on August 24, 2016, including the revised indication of interest received from Ultra on September 1, 2016. After review and discussion with the assistance of representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, the process committee directed that the ten potential buyers, including Ultra, that had proposed the highest values be invited to participate in the next stage of the marketing process.

On September 7, 2016, as directed by the process committee Wells Fargo Securities sent to each of those potential buyers, including Ultra, a process letter that had been approved by the process committee requesting final proposals to acquire the entire Company or one of its business segments by October 7, 2016. The process letters indicated that for potential buyers that would be making proposals to acquire the entire Company or ECP, a form of merger agreement would be sent to them prior to October 7, 2016 for their review and comment and for potential buyers that would be making proposals for MDS, an indicative term sheet setting forth the material terms of an MDS acquisition would be sent to them prior to October 7, 2016 for their review and comment.

On September 12, 2016, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities spoke by telephone with a representative of RBC Capital Markets (which we refer to as RBC), a financial advisor to Ultra, regarding the due diligence process. As directed by the process committee, the representatives of Wells Fargo Securities provided RBC with certain information provided by the Company regarding the Company s corporate cost structure and the likely liabilities that would remain in the Company if the Company were to divest MDS. The representative of RBC informed the representatives of Wells Fargo Securities that Ultra and the Company appeared to have different views on the applicability of the ERAPSCO transfer provisions to the marketing process and that it would be useful for Mr. Hartnett and Mr. Sharma to discuss this matter.

Also on September 12, 2016, additional due diligence materials were made available in the online virtual data room for each of the potential buyers that continued to participate in the process.

On September 13, 2016, Mr. Sharma sent Mr. Hartnett an email indicating that Ultra could not justify spending millions of dollars on due diligence expenses if it did not have exclusivity with the Company regarding a potential strategic transaction and that given the different views of the Company and Ultra as to the applicability of the ERAPSCO transfer provisions to the marketing process, he would like to discuss the issue with Mr. Hartnett by telephone.

On September 14, 2016, Mr. Hartnett spoke with Mr. Sharma by telephone. They discussed the current state of the marketing process, including the fact that other potential buyers were offering higher value than Ultra for a strategic transaction, and their different views as to the applicability of the ERAPSCO transfer provisions to the marketing process. Mr. Hartnett and Mr. Sharma agreed that they would meet, together with their respective financial advisors, in Boston on September 19, 2016 to seek a resolution to the issue relating to the ERAPSCO transfer provisions.

On September 16, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including requests from certain buyers for additional information and site visits at the Company s facilities. The process committee

38

Table of Contents

also discussed issues relating to Mr. Hartnett supcoming meeting on September 19, 2016 in Boston with Mr. Sharma and representatives of the Company s and Ultra s respective financial advisors.

On September 19, 2016, Mr. Hartnett and Mr. Sharma met in Boston, together with representatives of their respective financial advisors. During the meeting, Mr. Hartnett told Mr. Sharma that a sale of the entire Company was the most likely strategic transaction that would result from the marketing process. Mr. Sharma indicated Ultra s strong preference that Ultra would only acquire the Company following a sale of MDS or, alternatively, that the Company sell MDS to a buyer and otherwise remain a public company. Mr. Sharma also requested exclusivity in order to remain in the marketing process, to which Mr. Hartnett responded that exclusivity for Ultra was not justified at this time, given the value Ultra had indicated it would be prepared to offer relative to other potential buyers. Mr. Hartnett and Mr. Sharma discussed their respective views on the applicability of the ERAPSCO transfer provisions to the marketing process. Mr. Hartnett indicated to Mr. Sharma that if the Company were to pursue a transaction for the Company or ECP to be acquired by a potential buyer other than Ultra, the Company would provide an opportunity for representatives of Ultra to meet with representatives of such potential buyer prior to the Company entering into a definitive transaction agreement with such potential buyer. Mr. Hartnett and Mr. Sharma agreed that they should consider amending the ERAPSCO agreement to clarify the application of the ERAPSCO transfer provisions to circumstances such as the marketing process, as well as modify other commercial points relating to issues that had arisen in the ERAPSCO JV since the last time the ERAPSCO agreement was amended. Although the Company and Ultra and their respective advisors subsequently negotiated a draft of an amendment of the ERAPSCO agreement, no such amendment or other agreement regarding the applicability of the ERAPSCO transfer provisions was ever executed by the Company, Ultra or their respective subsidiaries.

On September 21, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, Mr. Hartnett, with the assistance of a representative of Wells Fargo Securities summarized for the process committee the matters discussed at the meeting with representatives of Ultra and its financial advisor that they attended in Boston on September 19, 2016, including with respect to working with Ultra and its representatives to amend the ERAPSCO agreement.

On September 21, 2016, as directed by the process committee, Wells Fargo Securities sent to potential buyers that would be making proposals to acquire the entire Company or ECP, including Ultra, a form of merger agreement, which had been prepared by Mayer Brown and approved by the process committee, for their review and comment to be included in their proposals that were due on October 7, 2016. The draft proposed, among other things, (i) a hell or high water provision that required the proposed buyer to take any and all actions necessary to obtain antitrust approval for the merger (including offering and agreeing to divestitures with respect to its existing business or the Company s business and/or litigating to resist or eliminate any order seeking to delay or prohibit the merger), (ii) a termination fee of 2% of the equity value of the transaction, (iii) a right for the Company board to change its recommendation that the Company shareholders vote to adopt the merger agreement (even in the absence of a superior proposal) if the Company board determined in good faith, after consulting with its outside legal counsel, that the failure to do so would be inconsistent with the directors fiduciary duties to shareholders. The draft did not condition the closing of the merger on the parties obtaining any regulatory approval, other than clearance under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (which we refer to as the HSR Act), or on the potential buyer obtaining financing.

On September 30, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including that several potential buyers continued to appear to be actively conducting due diligence, with Ultra and Party B appearing the most active to date. In addition, two bidders, including Party C, informed Wells Fargo Securities that they were no longer going to participate in the marketing process, while three other potential buyers appeared to only be performing limited due diligence.

39

Table of Contents

On September 30, 2016, as directed by the process committee, Wells Fargo Securities sent to potential buyers, that would be making proposals to acquire MDS, an indicative term sheet, which had been prepared by Mayer Brown and approved by the process committee, setting forth the material terms of an MDS acquisition for their review and comment to be included in their proposals that were due on October 7, 2016. The indicative term sheet provided for, among other things, (i) a transaction for the sale of MDS that would close immediately prior to the consummation of a merger transaction pursuant to which another potential buyer would acquire the Company, (ii) a cash purchase price for MDS on a cash-free, debt-free basis, (iii) certain transition services and supply arrangements to be entered into with the Company, (iv) approval of the transaction by the Company shareholders and (v) the potential buyer would obtain representation and warranty insurance to provide coverage for claims relating to a breach of representation or warranty by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, with no liability of the Company or its subsidiaries for such claims. The indicative term sheet did not condition the closing of the transaction on the parties obtaining any regulatory approval other than clearance under the HSR Act or on the potential buyer obtaining financing.

On October 7, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including that Party C had re-engaged in the marketing process and was expected to submit a proposal on October 7, 2016.

From October 7, 2016 through October 10, 2016, Wells Fargo Securities received revised indications of interest from three potential buyers, including Party C. Two of the revised indications of interest contained proposals to acquire the entire Company and one revised indication of interest contained a proposal to acquire ECP. There were no revised indications of interest with a proposal to acquire MDS. Party C submitted a revised indication of interest containing a proposal to acquire the entire Company for \$26.00 per share of Company common stock, with the other updated indication of interest containing a proposal at a price of \$21.00 per share of Company common stock. Neither Party C nor the other potential buyer submitted a mark-up of the merger agreement with their undated indications of interest, but Party C included an issues list. The indication of interest containing a proposal to acquire ECP was at a price of \$260 million, on a debt-free basis, which proposal was structured as an acquisition of the Company following a pre-closing divestiture of MDS, and did not contain a mark-up of the merger agreement, but did include an issues list.

On October 8, 2016, Mr. Hartnett and Mr. Sharma spoke by telephone. During the conversation, Mr. Sharma informed Mr. Hartnett that Ultra was no longer pursuing a strategic transaction with the Company, but that, given the ERAPSCO JV relationship, Ultra would like for the Company to provide an opportunity for representatives of Ultra to meet with representatives of any potential buyer of the Company or ECP prior to the Company entering into a definitive transaction agreement with such potential buyer.

On October 9, 2016, Mr. Hartnett sent Mr. Sharma an email confirming that the Company would provide an opportunity for representatives of Ultra to meet with representatives of any potential buyer of the Company or ECP prior to the Company entering into a definitive transaction agreement with such potential buyer.

On October 14, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to the three updated indications of interest that were received from October 7, 2016 through October 10, 2016. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities also noted that except for the three potential buyers that submitted a revised indication of interest and Party B, all other potential buyers had withdrawn from the marketing process. In that regard, an updated indication of interest from Party B was expected to be received later on October 14, 2016.

Later on October 14, 2016, Party B submitted an updated indication of interest containing a proposal to acquire the entire Company for \$24.00 per share of Company common stock and a mark-up of the merger agreement.

40

On October 19, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to discussions with the potential buyers remaining in the marketing process. At the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, noting that the number of potential buyers in the process had decreased from ten to four, with Party B and Party C appearing to be the potential buyers most interested in pursuing a potential strategic transaction with the Company, provided additional information regarding investment banking and lending relationships that it or its affiliates had with these remaining bidders. Among other things, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities highlighted for the process committee that (i) Wells Fargo Securities or an affiliate of Wells Fargo Securities is the lead bank for the current credit facility of a subsidiary of Party B and (ii) Wells Fargo Securities or an affiliate of Wells Fargo Securities is a participant in the current credit facility of a consultant that has been advising Party B in its evaluation of a strategic transaction with the Company and that might also provide equity financing to Party B in connection with any such transaction. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mr. McCormack then left the meeting. The process committee considered whether, in light of Wells Fargo Securities relationships with Party B and the consultant, the Company board should retain a second financial advisor in connection with its consideration of strategic alternatives. In response to a request from Party B, the process committee also authorized Wells Fargo Securities to provide Party B with the names of parties that might be interested in acquiring MDS following an acquisition of the entire Company by Party B. Party C had not made a similar request.

On October 24, 2016, as directed by the process committee, Wells Fargo Securities sent Party B and Party C a process letter requesting final proposals to acquire the entire Company to be submitted by November 4, 2016.

On October 28, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to discussions with Party B and Party C. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities informed the process committee that, as requested by Party B and with the consent of the process committee, Wells Fargo Securities had provided Party B with the names of parties that might be interested in acquiring MDS following an acquisition of the entire Company by Party B. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities stated that Party B was well along in its due diligence but that Party C, whose proposal contemplated obtaining financing from a fund that invests in special situation opportunities (which we refer to Party D) had a significant amount of due diligence to complete.

On November 2, 2016, the Company board held a meeting at its corporate headquarters at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to discussions with Party B and Party C and the status of their respective due diligence to date. The Company board also discussed updating the then-current 5-year management forecast, such updated forecast to be discussed at a meeting of the Company board to be scheduled for November 8, 2016. The revised 5-year forecast would then be provided to potential buyers for the next round of proposals from Party B and Party C, the due date for which would be extended to November 15, 2016. The Company board noted that the revised 5-year forecast would likely reflect a downward adjustment of financial performance, as compared to the then-current 5-year forecast. After the representatives of Wells Fargo Securities left the meeting, a representative of Mayer Brown described for the Company board the potential conflicts of interest that Wells Fargo Securities might have as a result of the relationships with Party B that it disclosed, in light of Party B being one of only two bidders remaining in the marketing process, to the process committee on October 19, 2016. After discussion, the Company board decided to seek to identify a potential second financial advisor to assist it in the exploration of strategic alternatives.

On November 8, 2016, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which members of Company management and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. Company management presented and discussed a revised 5-year management forecast, which after discussion, the Company board approved, with certain changes, for distribution to Party B and Party C.

41

Table of Contents

On November 14, 2016, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which representatives of Mayer Brown were present. At the meeting, the Company board discussed the potential conflicts of interest of Wells Fargo Securities that were discussed by the Company board at its November 2, 2016 meeting, in light of Party B being one of only two bidders remaining in the marketing process. After discussion, the Company board decided to engage a second financial advisor to advise it in evaluating potential strategic alternatives available to the Company, including the marketing process, and provide a fairness opinion in the event the Company board decides to pursue a strategic transaction.

On November 15, 2016, Party C submitted a proposal to acquire the entire Company for \$26.25 per share of Company common stock. The proposal contained a detailed list of due diligence requests and a letter from a national investment bank stating that it was highly confident that an acquisition of the Company could be financed in the then-current debt markets. Party C s proposal also contained a mark-up of the merger agreement.

On November 16, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to the proposal received from Party C on November 15, 2016. The representative of Wells Fargo Securities stated that Wells Fargo Securities understood that Party C was an uncommitted family office fund with investors that included several prominent families in the United States. The process committee asked Wells Fargo Securities to follow up with Party C to obtain information regarding the identities of financing sources for Party C s proposal. The process committee decided to not make a decision on how to proceed with Party C until it learned whether Party B would submit a proposal.

On November 17, 2016, Party B submitted a proposal to acquire the entire Company for \$21.50 per share of Company common stock. The proposal contained a detailed list of due diligence requests and requested a meeting with Ultra to discuss the ERAPSCO JV and agree on maintaining the ERAPSCO JV without material change through 2023. Party B also requested exclusivity with the Company for 30 days and included in its proposal a form of the exclusivity agreement it was prepared to execute.

Also on November 17, 2016, Party C sent to Wells Fargo Securities a letter outlining its sources and uses of funds for its proposal that it submitted on November 15, 2016. Also in the letter, Party C indicated that it was important that it be permitted to engage with USSI to discuss the ERAPSCO agreement.

On November 18, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, Mr. Hartnett updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to the proposal received from Party B on November 17, 2016 and the letter received from Party C on November 17, 2016. After discussion, the process committee decided that Mr. Hartnett and a representative of Mayer Brown would have a conference call with representatives of Party C and its counsel for the purpose of determining the identities of the investors in Party C and the parties providing financing for Party C s proposal and requesting that Party C submit written equity and debt commitments in connection with the financing of its proposal. Later on November 18, 2016, Mr. Hartnett and a representative of Mayer Brown had a telephone call with representatives of Party C and its counsel, after which Party C sent a letter to Wells Fargo Securities setting forth additional information identifying its sources of financing for its proposal.

On November 18, 2016, with the approval of the Company board, the Company entered into an agreement with Raymond James for Raymond James to serve as a second financial advisor to advise the Company board in evaluating potential strategic alternatives available to the Company, including the marketing process, and provide a fairness opinion in the event the Company board decides to pursue a strategic transaction. In an amendment to Wells Fargo Securities engagement letter, the Company consented to Wells Fargo Securities remaining as the Company s financial advisor notwithstanding its participation in certain financings for Party B and its affiliates, and Wells Fargo Securities agreed, subject to certain limitations, to reduce its transaction fee payable upon the closing of a strategic transaction involving the Company by the amount of the transaction fee that the Company

42

Table of Contents

pays to Raymond James in connection with such transaction but not exceeding the lesser of \$1.5 million and 50% of the amount of the transaction fee that would otherwise have been payable to Wells Fargo Securities.

On November 20, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to the proposals received from Party B and Party C and subsequent correspondence. The process committee instructed Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James to contact representatives of Party C to determine the status of their financing efforts with their identified financing sources.

On November 22, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including with proposals received from Party B and Party C. After reviewing and discussing with the assistance of representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James, the process committee decided to pursue a potential acquisition of the Company by Party C and, to that end, seek to arrange a meeting with representatives of the Company and Ultra and Party C, respectively. In addition, the process committee requested that Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James continue to encourage Party B to make a more competitive proposal.

Also on November 22, 2016, Party C sent a letter to Wells Fargo Securities reiterating its financing sources for its proposal and indicating that Party D is also prepared to provide an equity backstop for Party C s proposal. Party C also reiterated its need to engage with USSI to discuss the ERAPSCO agreement.

On December 2, 2016, Mr. Hartnett, Mr. Sharma and a representative of Party C met at the Company s corporate headquarters to discuss the ERAPSCO JV. Mr. Sharma and the representative of Party C each made presentations to each other regarding their respective companies and their views on the future of the ERAPSCO JV and the ERAPSCO agreement in the event Party C were to acquire the Company. At the conclusion of the meeting, the representative of Party C indicated to Mr. Hartnett that Party C would require exclusivity with the Company to continue in the marketing process, although he did not specify a duration of such requested exclusivity.

Also on December 2, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, Mr. Hartnett reported on the meeting with Mr. Sharma and the representative of Party C earlier in the day. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including discussions with representatives of Party B.

On December 5, 2016, Mr Hartnett spoke with Mr. Sharma by telephone. During the conversation, Mr. Sharma told Mr. Hartnett that he thought Party C would be an acceptable joint venture partner for Ultra, in the event that Party C were to acquire the Company.

On December 6, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including discussions with representatives of the financial advisors to Party B and Party C. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities noted that Party C did not seem to be moving with much urgency to get to a final agreement on a transaction and Party B also could not make any commitment on the timing of an increased value proposal, if any.

On December 7, 2016, Party B sent Wells Fargo Securities a letter increasing its November 17, 2016 proposal from \$21.50 to \$24.50 per share of Company common stock. The letter also requested exclusivity with the Company for 30 days and stated that the revised proposal would expire on December 12, 2016, if the Company did not agree to exclusivity by such date.

43

Table of Contents

On December 9, 2016, Mr. Hartnett spoke by telephone with a representative of Party C regarding changes that Party C intended to propose to Ultra regarding the ERAPSCO JV. During the call they agreed that Mr. Hartnett would seek to arrange a telephone call with representatives of Ultra and Party C.

On December 10, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting Mr. Hartnett and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including discussions with representatives of Party C and the financial advisors to Party B and Party C. The process committee instructed Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James to contact the financial advisor to Party B to seek an extension of the expiration date of Party B s proposal.

On December 11, 2016, Mr. Hartnett, Mr. Sharma and a representative of Party C held a conference call to discuss changes that Party C intended to propose to Ultra regarding the ERAPSCO JV. After the conference call, Mr. Hartnett spoke with the representative of Party C who told Mr. Hartnett that arriving at an agreement with Ultra on the future conduct of the ERAPSCO JV was necessary if Party C were to proceed with its proposal to acquire the Company. Mr. Hartnett emphasized that any agreement that Party C sought with Ultra would need to be obtained quickly, as the Company board was considering options other than Party C s proposal.

On December 13, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting Mr. Hartnett and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including discussions with representatives of Party C and Ultra and the financial advisors to Party B and Party C. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported that Party B had agreed to keep its proposal open beyond the previously stated expiration date, without providing a revised expiration date. The process committee decided to allow representatives of Party C and Ultra to have until December 16, 2016 to discuss the ERAPSCO JV and come to an agreement on the future conduct of the ERAPSCO JV in the event Party C acquires the Company.

On December 16, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting Mr. Hartnett and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including discussions with representatives of the financial advisor to Party C earlier that day. The process committee decided that Mr. Hartnett would contact Mr. Sharma to determine whether Ultra was amenable to entering into an agreement acceptable to Party C regarding the future conduct of the ERAPSCO JV in the event Party C acquires the Company.

Later on December 16, 2016, Mr. Hartnett spoke to Mr. Sharma by telephone. Mr. Sharma stated that he thought that Ultra and Party C were aligned on the future conduct of the ERAPSCO JV in the event Party C were acquire the Company and that he thought an agreement reflecting that understanding could be executed. Mr. Sharma stated that he would send a draft of an amendment to the ERAPSCO agreement to reflect the relevant changed terms to memorialize this understanding.

On December 19, 2016, a representative of Ultra sent to Mr. Hartnett a draft of an amendment to the ERAPSCO agreement to reflect changes that Ultra proposed to the terms of the ERAPSCO agreement for the future conduct of the ERAPSCO JV in the event Party C were to acquire the Company.

On December 20, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting representatives of Mayer Brown, Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James reviewed with the process committee the draft amendment to the ERAPSCO agreement and the process committee, with the assistance of the Company s legal and financial advisors, discussed a potential response. The process committee decided that Mr. Hartnett would contact a representative of Party C to discuss a response to Ultra s proposed draft of an amendment to the ERAPSCO agreement and then Mr. Hartnett would contact Mr. Sharma to respond to such proposal.

44

Table of Contents

On December 20, 2016, Mr. Hartnett spoke with a representative of Party C by telephone during which they discussed Ultra s proposed amendment to the ERAPSCO agreement and they both agreed that Ultra s proposed amendment was unworkable and did not provide the clarity that Party C sought regarding the future conduct of the ERAPSCO JV in the event Party C were to acquire the Company. Later that day, Mr. Hartnett sent an email to Mr. Sharma to schedule a telephone call to discuss Ultra s proposed amendment to the ERAPSCO agreement, but he and Mr. Sharma did not have that discussion.

On December 26, 2016, Party C sent to Wells Fargo Securities a letter revising its November 15, 2016 proposal. Party C stated in its letter that it had received the clarification it had requested regarding the future conduct of the ERAPSCO JV in the event Party C were to acquire the Company and that Party C was reducing the amount of its proposal to acquire the entire Company from \$26.25 to \$23.50 per share of Company common stock.

On December 30, 2016, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting Mr. Hartnett and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including the revised proposal received from Party C on December 26, 2016, and discussions with representatives of Party C and its financial advisor regarding the revised proposal. The feedback from a representative of Party C and its financial advisor was that Ultra s proposed amendment to the ERAPSCO agreement appeared to indicate a lack of cooperation from Ultra with Party C with respect to the potential future of the ERAPSCO JV. The process committee, with the assistance of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown, also discussed whether it was likely that Ultra would react differently to Party B regarding the ERAPSCO JV, should a transaction with Party B be pursued. The process committee decided that Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James should contact each of Party B and Party C and ask them to provide proposals assuming that there would be no changes to the ERAPSCO agreement or other agreement with Ultra prior to an acquisition of the Company and that the post-acquisition conduct of the ERAPSCO JV would be governed by the ERAPSCO agreement as currently in effect. Representatives of Mayer Brown would be available to discuss their views on the ERAPSCO agreement with representatives of Party B and Party C, to the extent such parties desired to have those discussions.

On January 4, 2017, representatives of Mayer Brown, Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Party C held a conference call on which they discussed the ERAPSCO agreement, including the ERAPSCO transfer provisions.

Also on January 4, 2017, Party B sent a letter to Wells Fargo Securities stating that in order to re-engage in the marketing process, it was requesting permission from the Company to engage in discussions with Ultra and the U.S. Navy, the largest customer of the ERAPSCO JV.

On January 5, 2017, Mr. Hartnett had a telephone conversation with a representative of Party B in which such representative stated that Party B had concluded that the ERAPSCO transfer provisions would not apply to an acquisition of the Company by Party B and that Party B was willing to proceed with a transaction to acquire the Company without conditioning its proposal on any amendment to the ERAPSCO agreement. The representative of Party B also requested that Mr. Hartnett arrange an in-person meeting with representatives of Party B, the Company and Ultra to discuss the future conduct of the ERAPSCO JV in the event Party B were to acquire the Company.

On January 6, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting Mr. Hartnett and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including recent discussions with representatives of Party B and Party C. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported that representatives of Party C s financial advisor had stated that as a result of its due diligence efforts, Party C had concluded that the ERAPSCO transfer provisions would not apply to an acquisition of the Company by Party C. The process committee decided that Mr. Hartnett should

45

Table of Contents

contact Mr. Sharma and arrange a meeting with Mr. Hartnett, Mr. Sharma and a representative of Party B. The process committee also decided that the Company s advisors should continue providing to Party C due diligence material and information with respect to the ERAPSCO JV.

On January 9, 2017, Party C sent to Wells Fargo Securities a letter stating that, in light of the results of its recent due diligence efforts, Party C is willing to move forward with a transaction to acquire the Company without conditioning its proposal on any amendment to the ERAPSCO agreement.

During the week of January 9, 2017, a representative of RBC contacted a representative of Wells Fargo Securities by telephone and stated that Ultra would not be comfortable with having Party B as a joint venture partner if Party B were to acquire the Company, given that Ultra and Party B are competitors in markets other than sonobuoys. The representative of Wells Fargo Securities suggested a meeting with representatives of the Company, Ultra and Party B to address any concerns Ultra might have with the possibility of having Party B as a potential joint venture partner.

On January 13, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting Mr. Hartnett updated the process committee on his efforts to arrange a meeting with Mr. Sharma, Mr. Hartnett and a representative of Party B. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the process committee on the status of discussions with financial advisors to Party B and Party C and discussions with Ultra s financial advisor. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported regarding the call from Ultra s financial advisor indicating that Ultra would not be comfortable with Party B as a joint venture partner. The process committee directed Mayer Brown to prepare a mark-up of the draft merger agreement submitted by Party C with its November 15, 2016 proposal.

On January 20, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting Mr. Hartnett updated the process committee on his efforts to arrange a meeting with Mr. Sharma, Mr. Hartnett and a representative of Party B. A representative of Raymond James updated the process committee on the status of discussions with the financial advisor to Party C. The process committee directed Mayer Brown to send a mark-up of Party C s draft of the merger agreement to counsel for Party C.

Later on January 20, 2017, Mayer Brown sent a mark-up of Party C s draft of the merger agreement to counsel for Party C.

On January 25, 2017, the Company board held a meeting at its corporate headquarters at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the Company board on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to discussions with Party B and Party C and the status of such parties due diligence efforts to date. It was reported that the financial advisor for Party C stated that Party C did not see material issues in the draft of the merger agreement that Mayer Brown sent Party C s counsel on January 20, 2017. Mr. Hartnett reported that a meeting with Mr. Sharma, Mr. Hartnett and a representative of Party B would be held at Ultra s corporate headquarters on January 30, 2017. The Company board discussed the final information it would require from Party C, including an update on Party C s financing structure and commitments from financing sources. The Company board directed Mayer Brown to send to Party B s counsel a revised draft of the merger agreement that Party B submitted with its October 14, 2016 proposal. The Company board directed Company management to update the current financial projections to reflect results of the Company s second fiscal quarter for the 2017 fiscal year and directed Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James to request that best and final proposals from Party B and Party C be submitted by February 2, 2017.

Later on January 25, 2017, a representative of Raymond James received a telephone call from a representative of a middle-market private equity fund (which we refer to as Party E). Party E had signed a non-disclosure

46

Table of Contents

agreement, but had withdrawn early in the marketing process without submitting an initial indication of interest. The representative of Party E stated that Party E was seeking to re-enter the marketing process and was highly motivated to pursue a transaction to acquire the Company. The representative of Raymond James told the representative of Party E that while the marketing process was well-advanced, Party E should submit a proposal, which would be provided to the Company board for consideration.

On January 27, 2017, Wells Fargo Securities, at the request of the process committee, sent Party E a draft of the form of merger agreement previously provided to other potential buyers.

On January 28, 2017, Mayer Brown sent a mark-up of Party B s draft of the merger agreement to counsel for Party B.

On January 30, 2017, Mr. Hartnett, Mr. Sharma and representatives of Party B met at Ultra s corporate headquarters. During the meeting Mr. Sharma and the representatives of Party B discussed their views on the future operation of the ERAPSCO JV in the event Party B were to acquire the Company. Mr. Sharma indicated that he did not think Ultra would be comfortable with Party B as a joint venture partner in the ERAPSCO JV, given that Ultra and Party B are competitors in markets other than sonobuoys. Mr. Sharma also acknowledged to Mr. Hartnett and the representatives of Party B that Ultra could not control whether Party B acquired the Company, but under the ERAPSCO agreement, Ultra, like the Company, had the right to terminate the agreement for convenience on 18 months notice and Ultra might exercise that right. Following the meeting, a representative of Party B spoke with Mr. Hartnett and requested a meeting with a representative of the U.S. Navy in order to discuss issues relating to the ERAPSCO JV in the event Party B were to acquire the Company.

On January 30, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting Mr. Hartnett updated the process committee on the meeting among Mr. Sharma, Mr. Hartnett and a representative of Party B that had taken place at Ultra s corporate headquarters earlier in the day. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the process committee on the status of the marketing process, including the recent communications with Party E and its interest in re-engaging in the marketing process and that a proposal from Party E was expected to be received soon.

On January 31, 2017, Party E submitted a proposal to acquire the Company for \$25.50 per share of Company common stock. The proposal indicated that Party E believed it could complete due diligence and execute a definitive agreement to acquire the Company within two to three weeks. The proposal did not include a mark-up of the merger agreement but included a merger agreement issues list.

On February 1, 2017, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities received a telephone call from a representative of an electronic medical device manufacturer (which we refer to as Party F). Party F had signed a non-disclosure agreement, but had withdrawn early in the marketing process after submitting two prior indications of interest to acquire MDS. The representative of Party F stated that Party F was seeking to re-enter the marketing process and was seeking to pursue a transaction to acquire the Company. The representative of Wells Fargo Securities told the representative of Party F that while the marketing process was well-advanced, Party F should submit a proposal, which would be provided to the Company board for consideration.

Later on February 1, 2017, Party F submitted a proposal to acquire the Company for \$23.00 per share of Company common stock and requesting exclusivity with the Company while Party F completed its due diligence.

On February 1, 2017, Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James sent to Party B, Party C, Party E and Party F a process letter requesting final proposals by February 6, 2017.

On February 3, 2017, Mr. Hartnett and other members of Company management gave a management presentation at the Company s corporate headquarters to representatives of Party E.

47

Table of Contents

On February 6, 2017, Party B submitted a proposal to acquire the Company for \$24.50 per share of Company common stock and reiterated its request for exclusivity with the Company for 30 days. Also that day, Party C submitted a proposal to acquire the Company for \$24.00 per share of Company common stock and also requested exclusivity with the Company for 30 days.

On February 7, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, the representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the Company board on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to proposals that had been received on February 6, 2017. Party E had not yet submitted a proposal following its January 31, 2017 proposal, but had indicated that it expected to do so later that day. The Company board discussed the remaining due diligence requests from Party C, including completion of a quality of earnings report and environmental due diligence and the Company board s need to further understand the financing arrangements being proposed by Party C. The Company board also discussed Party B s request to meet with representatives of the U.S. Navy and the closing condition in Party B s draft of the merger requiring approval of the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (which we refer to as CFIUS). The Company board directed Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown to follow-up with Party B and Party C to discuss these issues and decided to hold its next meeting after receipt of Party E s proposal.

On February 12, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the Company board on the status of the marketing process, including with respect to proposals from Party B and Party C that had been received on February 6, 2017, including advantages and disadvantages of each proposal, as well as the follow-up actions that the Company board s advisors had taken as directed by the Company board at its last meeting. A representative of Raymond James stated that neither Party E nor Party F submitted a proposal. Party E stated that following its due diligence, any proposal it would submit would be less than \$20.00 per share of Company common stock and it did not view that its bid would be competitive. Party F indicated that it did not have the time and resources to submit a proposal and it believed the per share price it would propose would be low compared to other likely proposals. With regard to Party C s proposal, Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James had asked for copies of the equity backstop letter from Party D to support Party C s bid. After initial resistance, Party C provided a copy of an equity backstop letter from Party D, which a representative of Raymond James described as a letter of support that lacked the terms and conditions of an equity commitment letter. The representative of Raymond James stated that he subsequently asked for details on the terms and conditions of the proposed Party D financing but to date had not received any additional information. As part of the discussion of Party B s proposal, a representative of Mayer Brown described for the Company board the CFIUS approval process, as well as other defense-related governmental approvals that would be required in a transaction with Party B. After discussion, the Company board decided to pursue exclusivity with Party B and identified the following additional process points to be completed prior to the Company entering into an exclusivity agreement with Party B: (1) Mr. Hartnett would contact a representative of the U.S. Navy that oversees the sonobuoy program to discuss a potential acquisition of the Company by Party B, (2) Mayer Brown would pursue discussions with Party B s counsel to address key legal matters relating to a definitive agreement, including a reverse break-up fee if regulatory approvals are not obtained and (3) Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James would seek additional information from Party B with respect to its ability to finance an acquisition of the Company. Subject to the process committee receiving feedback to its satisfaction on these items, the Company board authorized the Company to execute an exclusivity agreement with Party B for an exclusivity period not to exceed 30 days.

On February 15, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the process committee on recent discussions with Party B and Party C. Mr. Hartnett updated the process committee on the discussion he had with a representative of the U.S. Navy. A representative of Mayer Brown updated the process committee on a discussion he had with counsel for Party B.

48

Table of Contents

On February 16, 2017, Party C sent a letter to the Company stating that it would increase its proposed price per share of Company common stock to \$24.25, assuming Party C and the Company have entered into a mutually acceptable exclusive negotiation arrangement by February 20, 2017.

On February 17, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James described the revised proposal received from Party C on February 16, 2017 and discussions with representatives of Party D regarding its intention to provide financing for a transaction with Party C and regarding the due diligence work that Party D indicated it needed to complete. After discussion, the process committee decided that because the most recent price per share offered by Party C remained less than the price offered by Party B, Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James should attempt to have Party C extend its deadline for obtaining exclusivity with the Company to February 22, 2017 and the Company should continue to seek to sign an exclusivity agreement with Party B.

On February 20, 2017, Party C sent a letter to the Company stating that it would increase its proposed price per share of Company common stock to \$24.50, assuming Party C and the Company have entered into a mutually acceptable exclusive negotiation arrangement by February 22, 2017.

On February 22, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James described the revised proposal received from Party C on February 20, 2017 and discussions with representatives of Party C regarding its ability to obtain financing from Party D and its remaining due diligence requirements, including with respect to a quality of earnings report and additional environmental due diligence. After discussion, the process committee decided that the Company should continue to seek to sign an exclusivity agreement with Party B, with a term not to exceed 30 days, and authorized Mr. Hartnett to execute such an agreement.

On February 23, 2017, Mayer Brown sent to counsel for Party B a revised draft of the form of exclusivity agreement Party B had delivered in its proposal on November 17, 2016.

Also on February 23, 2017, Ultra sent a letter to the Company stating, among other things, its position that the ERAPSCO transfer provisions give USSI a right of last refusal for any offer to purchase the Company, reserving its rights under the ERAPSCO agreement and requesting that the Company provide it the terms and conditions on which the Company would propose to engage in a transaction.

On February 24, 2017, Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer LLP (which we refer to as Arnold & Porter), counsel to Ultra sent a letter to Mayer Brown stating, among other things, that in the event the Company fails to comply with its obligations under the ERAPSCO transfer provisions, Ultra will take all legal action available to it to enforce its rights.

On March 3, 2017, Mr. Hartnett provided copies of the letters from Ultra and Arnold & Porter to a representative of Party B.

Also on March 3, 2017, USSI sent a letter to the Company requesting that the Company confirm by March 10, 2017 in writing that it will honor its obligations under the ERAPSCO transfer provisions, and stating that, if the Company did not so confirm, then USSI will invoke the dispute resolution mechanism provided for in the ERAPSCO agreement.

Also on March 3, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Mayer Brown described for the Company board the recent correspondence that had been received from Ultra and Arnold & Porter and described the drafts of suggested response letters to be sent to Ultra

49

Table of Contents

and Arnold & Porter respectively that set forth the Company s explanation of why the ERAPSCO transfer provisions are not applicable to any transaction the Company was pursuing at that time. Representatives of Mayer Brown also described the status of negotiations of the exclusivity agreement with Party B s counsel. After discussion, the Company board decided that the Company should continue to seek to sign an exclusivity agreement with Party B, as previously authorized, and that the Company and Mayer Brown should send their respective response letters immediately. Later that day, the Company and Mayer Brown sent their response letters to Ultra and Arnold & Porter, respectively, and Mr. Hartnett provided copies of the response letters and the most recent letter from Ultra to a representative of Party B.

On March, 7, 2017, Ultra sent a letter to the Company stating, among other things, that its counsel would be contacting the Company s attorneys to agree on next steps to establish procedures for the dispute resolution mechanism under the ERAPSCO agreement and that Ultra will not be a party to a joint venture agreement with Party B in any form or manner other than honoring Ultra s obligations following termination. The letter went on to state that if the acquirer is Party B, Ultra would serve notice of its decision to terminate the ERAPSCO agreement. Later that day, Mr. Hartnett forwarded the letter to a representative of Party B.

On March 9, 2017, Party C sent a letter to the Company stating that it was withdrawing its requirement that a quality of earnings review be completed and it was also significantly reducing its list of remaining open due diligence items. In addition, the letter went on to state that Party C s best offer price per share of Company common stock was \$24.50, and assuming Party C and the Company have entered into a mutually acceptable exclusive negotiation arrangement by March 13, 2017, Party C believed it could complete its remaining confirmatory due diligence in 15 business days. The letter also confirmed that Party D was partnering with Party C in the transaction by providing all of the equity that Party C was not providing itself.

Later on March 9, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, Mr. Hartnett reported on recent discussions he had had with a representative of Party B, including with respect to the threat to terminate the ERAPSCO agreement contained in the most recent letter from Ultra. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the Company board on the status of discussions with Party C s financial advisors, including with respect to the letter received from Party C earlier in the day and the equity financing to be provided by Party D for an acquisition of the Company by Party C. Given the recent developments reported to the Company board, including Ultra s threat in its most recent letter to terminate the ERAPSCO agreement in the event that Party B were to be the acquirer of the Company and the significant reduction in Party C s due diligence requests, the Company board, after discussion with its legal and financial advisors, decided to pursue an acquisition of the Company by Party C, instead of Party B, and grant Party C the 15 business day exclusivity period it requested in order to complete its due diligence and for the parties to work toward the signing of a definitive agreement for Party C to acquire the Company. After discussion, the Company board decided that Mr. Hartnett would contact Mr. Sharma to determine whether Ultra would find Party C an acceptable joint venture partner and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James would reach out to Party C and Party D to seek further information regarding Party C s proposal, including details regarding the proposed financing arrangements and confirmatory due diligence requirements.

On March 11, 2017, Mr. Hartnett spoke with Mr. Sharma by telephone inquiring of him whether Ultra would find Party C an acceptable partner in the ERAPSCO JV. Mr. Sharma indicated that, as opposed to Party B, Party C would be an acceptable joint venture partner for Ultra.

On March 13, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, Mr. Hartnett reported on the recent discussions he had had with Mr. Sharma. Mr. Hartnett also reported that he had a discussion with a representative of Party B in which he was told that Party B is reconsidering whether it will remain in the marketing process in light of the most recent letter that the Company received from Ultra. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the Company board on the status of

50

Table of Contents

discussions with Party C s financial advisor with respect to confirmatory due diligence requirements. A representative of Mayer Brown reported on discussions he had with counsel for Party C regarding financing commitments and transaction structure as it relates to obtaining regulatory approval. After discussion, the Company board authorized Mr. Hartnett to execute an exclusivity agreement with Party C for a term not to exceed 15 business days.

Later on March 13, 2017, Mayer Brown sent to counsel for Party C a draft of an exclusivity agreement. From March 13, 2017 through March 15, 2017, Mayer Brown, counsel for Party C and counsel for Party D negotiated the exclusivity agreement.

On March 15, 2017, the Company, Party C and Party D executed an exclusivity agreement providing for exclusivity through April 5, 2017.

From March 15, 2017 through April 5, 2017, Company management, Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James had telephone calls with representatives of Party C and its financial advisors and Party D to discuss Party C and Party D s due diligence review. During this period, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James also had telephone calls with representatives of Party C s financial advisors and Party D to discuss the financing commitments Party C and Party D were putting in place for an acquisition of the Company. During that period, representatives of Mayer Brown had telephone calls with representatives of counsel to Party D to discuss the draft of the merger agreement.

On March 31, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the Company board on the status of process with Party C and Party D, including with respect to Party C and Party D s due diligence requests. A representative of Mayer Brown discussed the most significant issues on the merger agreement raised in discussions with Party D s counsel and indicated that despite repeated requests, counsel for Party D had not committed to a time table for delivering comments to the merger agreement or the disclosure schedules. With Party C and Party D s period of exclusivity about to expire, the Company board decided that no extension would be granted until Party C and Party D first committed to a time table for delivering comments to the merger agreement and the disclosure schedules.

On April 5, 2017, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James spoke by telephone to representatives of Party C and its financial advisor and Party D. Representatives of Party D acknowledged that they had not completed their due diligence and were not in a position to provide a date by which they thought they would complete their due diligence. Representatives of Party D stated that during the exclusivity period they had met with representatives of Ultra to discuss the ERAPSCO JV. A representative of Party D stated that based on those discussions, Party C and Party D now believe that Ultra is of the view that Party C and Party D would not be acceptable joint venture partners and they believe that Ultra would not be a cooperative partner with Party C or Party D in the ERAPSCO JV in the event of an acquisition of the Company.

On April 7, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the Company board on the recent discussions with Party C and its financial advisor and Party D. The Company board considered potential next steps in the marketing process, including (i) continuing with Party C and Party D without granting an extension of exclusivity, (ii) re-engaging with Party B, (iii) seeking to re-engage with other potential acquirers of the Company that had previously withdrawn from the marketing process, (iv) exploring whether to pursue a sale of MDS with a later potential sale of the Company, which would have continued as the owner of ECP, (v) approaching Ultra regarding a potential acquisition of the Company or (vi) concluding the marketing process without a strategic transaction. The Company board discussed and evaluated the various potential next steps and decided to simultaneously continue working with Party C and Party D without granting an extension of exclusivity and seek

51

Table of Contents

to re-start discussions with Party B. In addition, it was decided that Mr. Hartnett would contact Mr. Sharma to seek his feedback regarding his meeting with representatives of Party C and Party D.

On April 10, 2017, Mr. Hartnett spoke with Mr. Sharma regarding his discussion with representatives of Party C and Party D. After recounting the issues he had discussed with representatives of Party C and Party D, Mr. Sharma indicated that if Party C and Party D were to withdraw from the marketing process, Ultra would be interested in acquiring the Company.

On April 11, 2017, at the request of the Company board, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities spoke with Mr. Sharma regarding a potential acquisition of the Company by Ultra. During the discussion, Mr. Sharma stated that if Ultra were to acquire the Company, MDS would need to be divested prior to or at the same time that Ultra acquires the Company.

On April 12, 2017, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities spoke again with Mr. Sharma regarding a potential acquisition of the Company by Ultra. Mr. Sharma told the representative of Wells Fargo Securities that Ultra would have to update its financial analysis of the Company before responding with a proposed price per share of Company common stock and would require a period of exclusivity.

On April 14, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, Mr. Hartnett reported on the recent discussions he had had with Mr. Sharma. In addition, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James updated the Company board on the recent discussions with representatives of Party C and Party D in which Party C and Party D described their remaining due diligence and reiterated that the Company s relationship with Ultra in the ERAPSCO JV caused them concerns because their discussions with representatives of Ultra did not demonstrate a clear willingness by Ultra to be a cooperative partner with the Company in the ERAPSCO JV following an acquisition of the Company by Party C and Party D. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities recounted the discussions with Mr. Sharma on April 11, 2017 and April 12, 2017 in which Mr. Sharma indicated that Ultra would like to obtain updated financial information and obtain a period of exclusivity. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities also reported regarding a discussion with the financial advisor to Party B in which the financial advisor indicated that Party B would likely not pursue an acquisition of the Company, given the response from Ultra to the possibility of an acquisition of the Company by Party B, including Ultra s threat to terminate the ERAPSCO agreement in the event of such an acquisition. After discussion, the Company board decided to explore a transaction for a potential acquisition of the Company by Ultra, including a potential contemporaneous divestiture of MDS.

On April 20, 2017, a representative of the U.S. Navy forwarded to Mr. Hartnett a copy of a letter received by the Secretary of Defense from Representative Jim Banks, member of the U.S. House of Representatives from the Third District in Indiana, requesting a briefing concerning the measures in place to ensure continuity of sonobuoy supply and the protection of sonobuoy intellectual property from contractors from non-Five Eyes nations who might seek to acquire all or a part of the ERAPSCO JV. The U.S. Navy asked the Company to provide certain information requested in Representative Banks letter, which would be incorporated into the Department of Defense s response to Representative Banks information request.

On April 21, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported that Wells Fargo Securities was expecting a proposal from Ultra to acquire the Company later in the day, although Ultra s financial advisors had said that the price per share of Company common stock would be less than \$24.50. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James reported that at this point Party C and Party D have said they would not be interested in pursuing an acquisition of the Company that did not include ECP, and Party B had not been in recent contact with the Company s financial advisors.

Later in the day on April 21, 2017, Ultra sent an indication of interest to Wells Fargo Securities to acquire the Company for \$23.50 per share of Company common stock. In its letter, Ultra stated that a sale of MDS would not

52

Table of Contents

be a condition to Ultra s acquisition of the Company; however, the letter also stated that Ultra required assistance from the Company s financial advisor in identifying parties that might be interested in acquiring MDS and that Ultra be permitted to negotiate with those parties. Ultra also requested six weeks of exclusivity with the Company.

On April 25, 2017, Guggenheim Securities, LLC (which we refer to as Guggenheim) sent to Wells Fargo Securities its initial due diligence request list.

On April 26, 2017, the Company board held a meeting at it corporate headquarters at which Mr. McCormack was present and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present by telephone. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported that Party C and Party D had withdrawn from the marketing process, with a representative Party D indicating that if at a later time Party D were to pursue an acquisition of the Company, it would need to conduct an extensive due diligence process because they would need to proceed on the assumption that the ERAPSCO JV would be terminated in connection with an acquisition of the Company. The representative of Party D indicated that under such circumstances, an acquisition of the Company would be at a price per share for Company common stock below Party C and Party D s current price of \$24.50. Representatives of Raymond James and Wells Fargo Securities also reported on recent discussions with Party B s financial advisor. Party B s financial advisor informed Raymond James that Party B would consider submitting an updated proposal, which would assume a termination of the ERAPSCO JV in connection with an acquisition of the Company by Party B; however, any such proposal would be at a price per share for Company common stock below Party B s current price of \$24.50. Representatives of Raymond James and Wells Fargo Securities also described for the Company board Ultra s indication of interest received on April 21, 2017 and noted that Ultra did not ascribe a separate value to MDS in its indication of interest. The Company board decided to have Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James engage with Ultra s financial advisor to determine how much value Ultra is ascribing to MDS in its indication of interest and wait to receive Party B s next proposal.

Also on April 26, 2017, the Company sent to the U.S. Navy by email its response to the request for information it received from the U.S. Navy on April 20, 2017 in connection with Representative Banks letter to the Department of Defense.

On April 28, 2017, Ultra sent an updated indication of interest to Wells Fargo Securities that maintained the same terms as the April 21, 2017 indication of interest and ascribed a minimum value for MDS materially below other indications received by the Company from bidders for MDS.

On May 1, 2017, Ultra sent an updated indication of interest to Wells Fargo Securities that maintained the same terms as the April 28, 2017 indication of interest but instead provided for only a four week exclusivity period. The updated indication of interest also provided that Ultra would provide to the Company a list of open due diligence items by the end of the first week of exclusivity and that if a substantial majority of such items were not provided to Ultra by the end of the second week of exclusivity, the exclusivity period would be automatically extended for one to two weeks.

On May 1, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities provided the Company board with an update regarding the updated indication of interest letter from Ultra received earlier in the day. The Company board discussed Ultra s request for exclusivity for a period of four to six weeks. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James also reported that representatives of Party B had not replied to their inquiries about whether Party B was willing to submit a revised proposal to acquire the Company. After discussion, the Company board authorized Mr. Hartnett to negotiate an exclusivity agreement with Ultra.

On May 2, 2017, at the request of the Company board, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James sent to Guggenheim, financial advisor to Ultra, and RBC a draft of a document outlining a proposed four week process to allow Ultra to engage with potential MDS buyers before the execution of a merger agreement with the Company.

53

Table of Contents

Later in the day on May 2, 2017, Mayer Brown sent to Arnold & Porter a draft of an exclusivity agreement. From May 2, 2017 through May 10, 2017, Mayer Brown and Arnold & Porter negotiated the exclusivity agreement.

On May 3, 2017, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James discussed with RBC and Guggenheim the proposed four week process to allow Ultra to engage with potential MDS buyers before the execution of a merger agreement with the Company, which process included, with the consent of the Company board, Wells Fargo Securities contacting potential MDS buyers that participated in the marketing process and providing confidential information to and obtaining initial indications of interest from potential MDS buyers and Ultra negotiating definitive purchase agreements with selected potential MDS buyers. Entry by the Company or Ultra into a definitive agreement to acquire MDS would not be a condition to the execution of a merger agreement or the closing of Ultra s acquisition of the Company. From May 3, 2017 through July 7, 2017, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, with the consent of the Company board, provided assistance to RBC and Guggenheim in exploring a potential sale of MDS.

On May 10, 2017, the Company and Ultra executed an exclusivity agreement providing for exclusivity through June 7, 2017, except that if by May 22, 2017 the Company shall not have provided Ultra a substantial majority of the due diligence items on a list to be provided by Ultra to the Company no later than May 15, 2017, the exclusivity period would be automatically extended to June 21, 2017. The exclusivity agreement contained provisions permitting the Company and its representatives and advisors to assist Ultra in the process of soliciting proposals from potential buyers of MDS.

On May 17, 2017, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities spoke by telephone with a representative of Guggenheim. The representative of Guggenheim stated that under the UKLA listing rules, Ultra s acquisition of the Company would be subject to the approval of Ultra s shareholders.

On May 19, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities provided the process committee with an update regarding the solicitation of potential buyers of MDS. In addition, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported regarding the progress of Ultra s due diligence review of the Company since the exclusivity agreement was entered into by the Company and Ultra. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities and a representative of Mayer Brown also reported to the process committee that Ultra s financial advisor indicated that the approval of the transaction by Ultra s shareholders would be a closing condition to the transaction. As there remained outstanding a substantial number of Ultra s due diligence requests, the process committee expected that exclusivity would be extended to June 21, 2017, and exclusivity was so extended to that date.

On May 24, 2017, Arnold & Porter sent to Mayer Brown a revised draft of the merger agreement that had been provided to Ultra on September 21, 2016 in connection with Ultra s participation in the marketing process.

On May 26, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities updated the process committee on the progress Ultra was making in its due diligence and the structure under which Ultra intended to raise funds to pay the purchase price in the transaction by doing an equity placement, to be completed on the date that the transaction is announced. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James also reviewed with the process committee the seven initial indications of interest that been submitted for MDS by potential buyers. The purchase prices in such indications ranged from \$39 million to \$80 million for the sale of MDS, on a cash-free, debt-free basis. The representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James told the process committee that, in light of the prices in the initial indications of interest for MDS, they had attempted to obtain from Ultra a higher price per share of Company common stock in the transaction. In response, Ultra refused to raise its price, stating that the MDS sale was not a condition to the transaction and that Ultra was taking the execution risk on selling MDS after it acquires the Company.

54

Table of Contents

On May 31, 2017, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities received an email from an individual representing a publicly listed supplier of aerospace and defense products and systems (which we refer to as Party G) seeking to make a proposal to acquire the Company. In accordance with the terms of the exclusivity agreement, the Company notified Ultra of the receipt of this communication.

On June 2, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. A representative of Mayer Brown discussed key issues raised by counsel for Ultra in its draft of the merger agreement. A representative of Mayer Brown also described the approach that Mayer Brown is taking in the revised draft of the merger agreement that it is preparing, including with respect to provisions related to certainty of closing, among other issues. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported on the progress Ultra has been making in its due diligence. He further reported that five of the seven parties that had provided indications of interest in acquiring MDS have been given access to the confidential information the Company has compiled in a virtual online data room and that they will be asked to provide more definitive proposals to the Company s financial advisors and Ultra s financial advisors, after additional due diligence has been performed.

On June 4, 2017, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown had a conference call with representatives of Guggenheim and RBC and Ultra s U.K. counsel and outside accountants. During the call, the parties discussed the process and timing for completion of Ultra s shareholder circular to be sent to its shareholders in connection with the shareholder meeting to be held for Ultra s shareholders to vote on the transaction as well as the timing for such meeting. In addition, in connection with the preparation of Ultra s shareholder circular, representatives of Ultra s outside accountants and counsel described certain information that would be required to be provided to Ultra by the Company.

On June 6, 2017, Party G sent to a representative of Wells Fargo Securities a non-binding proposal to acquire the Company for \$22.00 to \$24.00 per share of Company common stock. In accordance with the terms of the exclusivity agreement, the Company notified Ultra of the receipt of this communication and provided Ultra a copy of the proposal.

On June 9, 2017, a representative of the Company spoke with a representative of Ultra. During the conversation, the representative of the Company described a potential breach by the Company of its financial covenants in its credit agreement for the test period ending on the last day of the Company s fiscal quarter ending July 2, 2017. The representative of the Company told the representative of Ultra that the Company was working with its creditor banks to have any such potential breach, if it were to occur, waived by such banks.

Also on June 9, 2017, Mayer Brown sent to Arnold & Porter a revised draft of the merger agreement.

On June 12, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown were present. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported on progress Ultra and its representatives have made, detailing milestones that Ultra had indicated needed to be achieved prior to executing a merger agreement with the Company, including with respect to Ultra s remaining due diligence requirements and its drafting and filing with the UKLA of a shareholder circular with respect to the meeting of Ultra shareholders that would be required to be convened to vote on approval of the transaction. The representative also reported that representatives of Ultra s financial advisors indicated that Ultra currently expects to submit to the Company on June 23, 2017 a letter confirming its price for an acquisition of the Company and setting out its requirements to be satisfied before executing a merger agreement, which letter would be sent following a meeting of Ultra s board of directors. A representative of Mayer Brown described for the process committee certain considerations and implications of the Company executing a merger agreement with Ultra concurrently with Ultra filing its shareholder circular with the UKLA instead of executing the merger agreement only after the shareholder circular has been approved by the UKLA for mailing to Ultra s shareholders. The later the date that Ultra would be permitted to hold its shareholders meeting to vote on the transaction, the longer the opportunity the Ultra board would have to, in the exercise of its

55

Table of Contents

fiduciary duties, change its recommendation to its shareholders that they approve the transaction. After discussion, the Company board decided to seek to sign a merger agreement with Ultra as soon as possible, even if the shareholder circular shall not have been approved by the UKLA.

On June 13, 2017, at the direction of the process committee and with the consent of Ultra, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities sent to a representative of Party G an email stating that Party G s proposal had been forwarded to the Company board and that once the Company board had a response to such proposal, Wells Fargo Securities would contact Party G.

On June 16, 2017, Arnold & Porter sent to Mayer Brown a revised draft of the merger agreement.

On June 19, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported on the status of Ultra s progress on the milestones it previously identified as being required for it to enter into a merger agreement to acquire the Company. He also reported that Ultra indicated that it would send a letter confirming its price per share of Company common stock prior the process committee s next meeting. A representative of Mayer Brown advised the process committee on key issues remaining to be resolved in merger agreement negotiations, including with respect to closing certainty and efforts to obtain regulatory approval. The process committee decided to extend the exclusivity period under the Company s exclusivity agreement with Ultra to June 26, 2017 and authorized Mr. Hartnett to execute an amendment to the exclusivity agreement to grant such extension.

On June 21, 2017, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Mayer Brown had a conference call with representatives of Guggenheim, RBC and Ultra's counsel. On the call, the participants discussed items remaining to be resolved in the merger agreement, including with respect to (i) whether the Ultra shareholder meeting would be held prior to, contemporaneous with or after the Company shareholder meeting, (ii) whether Ultra would obtain the support of certain shareholders through undertakings under which such shareholders would agree to vote to approve the transaction at the Ultra shareholders meeting, (iii) the timing of the filing and the level of efforts in seeking approval of the UKLA for the Ultra shareholder circular to be sent to Ultra's shareholders in connection with the Ultra shareholders meeting, (iv) Ultra's level of efforts in pursuing and obtaining all governmental approvals, including clearances under the HSR Act and CFIUS, (v) whether Ultra would have the right to terminate the merger agreement if a governmental authority shall have filed an action seeking to restrain the transaction and (vi) the amounts of the termination fees to be paid by the Company and Ultra' if the merger agreement were to be terminated under certain circumstances.

Later in the day on June 21, 2017, representatives of Mayer Brown had a conference call with representatives of Arnold & Porter to negotiate terms of the merger agreement. During the call, Mayer Brown and Arnold & Porter engaged in discussions and negotiations regarding, among other things, (i) the scope of each party s representations and warranties in the merger agreement, (ii) the scope of the restrictions on the Company s operations of its business between signing of the merger agreement and closing of the merger, (iii) the provisions permitting the Company board to effect a change of recommendation in certain circumstances, (iv) financing and regulatory matters, (v) the circumstances in which a termination fee would become payable by the Company to Ultra and the size of such fee, (vi) the circumstances in which a termination fee would become payable by Ultra to the Company and the size of such fee and (vii) certain closing conditions.

Also on June 21, 2017, the Company and Ultra entered into an amendment to the exclusivity agreement extending the exclusivity period to June 26, 2017.

On June 22, 2017, Mayer Brown sent to Arnold & Porter a draft of the disclosure schedules to the merger agreement.

Also on June 22, 2017, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James spoke by telephone with representatives of Guggenheim and RBC. During the call, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and

56

Table of Contents

Raymond James, at the direction of the Company board, described a potential breach by the Company of its financial covenants in its credit agreement for the test period ending on the last day of the Company s fiscal quarter ending July 2, 2017. The representatives of Guggenheim and RBC responded that they did not believe that Ultra would execute the merger agreement if the breach were not to be waived by the creditor banks under the credit agreement.

On June 23, 2017, MergerMarket published an article reporting that the Company and Ultra were in deep sale discussions.

On June 24, 2017, in response to the *MergerMarket* article, as required by the UKLA, Ultra issued a press release confirming it was in advanced discussions to acquire the Company.

On June 26, 2017, in response to the *MergerMarket* article and Ultras press release of June 24, 2017, the Company issued a press release confirming it was in discussions to be acquired by Ultra.

Also on June 26, 2016, Ultra sent to the Company its final offer to acquire the Company for \$22.35 per share of Company common stock. Ultra s final offer was conditioned upon, among other things, the Company s lenders waiving the Company s compliance with its debt covenants from signing to closing of the transaction. Ultra also requested that exclusivity be extended to July 10, 2017.

On June 26, 2017, the process committee held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. A representative of Wells Fargo Securities described the final offer received from Ultra earlier in the day and explained that Ultra believed that the outstanding debt of the company was \$12 million higher than the amount it had been assuming for purposes of determining the enterprise value of the Company. In light of Ultra s view that debt was higher than it previously assumed, Ultra reduced the price per share of Company common stock so that the enterprise value remained constant over the two different debt levels. The representative also reported on recent discussions with representatives of Ultra s financial advisors regarding the recent actions and efforts of Company management to negotiate an amendment of the Company s credit facilities and the expected timing for entering into an amendment with the necessary lenders thereunder as well as the final due diligence work that Ultra desires to complete before the execution of a merger agreement. The representative of Wells Fargo Securities also reviewed the five recently received revised indications of interest from potential buyer of MDS. The purchase prices in such indications ranged from \$45 million to \$80 million for the sale of MDS on a cash-free, debt-free basis. A representative of Mayer Brown updated the process committee on the status of merger agreement negotiations that Mayer Brown had been having with Arnold & Porter. After discussion, the process committee instructed Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James to engage with Ultra s financial advisors to seek to obtain a per share price for Company common stock of at least \$23.50. The process committee decided to extend the period of exclusivity with Ultra to July 6, 2017.

Also on June 26, 2017, the Company and Ultra entered into an amendment to the exclusivity agreement extending the exclusivity period to July 6, 2017.

On June 28, 2017, Mayer Brown sent to Arnold & Porter a revised draft of the merger agreement.

On June 28, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported that, as instructed by the Company board, Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James had contacted Guggenheim and RBC to seek to obtain a higher per share price for Company common stock, stating that the level of the Company s indebtedness was the same as the amount Ultra had assumed when Ultra s price per share of Company common stock was \$23.50. Ultra s financial advisors told Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James they would discuss the matter with Ultra.

On June 30, 2017, Arnold & Porter sent to Mayer Brown a revised draft of the merger agreement.

57

Table of Contents

Also on June 30, 2017, Guggenheim sent to Wells Fargo Securities a final package deal reflecting a revised final offer to acquire the Company for \$23.50 per share of Company common stock, which was contingent on the Company accepting Ultra s position on four major open points in the merger agreement: (i) Ultra would have no obligation to make any divestitures or agree to any restrictions on its business in connection with obtaining governmental approvals for the transaction and Ultra would have no obligation to litigate if a governmental authority filed suit challenging the transaction, (ii) the amount of the termination fees payable by the Company or Ultra in certain circumstances would each be \$7.5 million, (iii) the Ultra board of directors would have no obligation to hold a meeting of the Ultra shareholders to vote on the approval of the transaction if the Ultra board of directors shall have changed its recommendation that Ultra shareholders should vote to approve the transaction and (iv) Ultra would not be required to hold the Ultra shareholders meeting by a date certain specified in the merger agreement.

Also on June 30, 2017, the Company entered into an amendment to its credit facility that, among other things, waived any event of default that may have occurred solely as a result of the Company's failure to comply with its leverage covenants in the credit agreement for the test period ending on the last day of the Company's fiscal quarter ending June 2017 and changed the trailing 4-quarter EBITDA requirements that the Company and its subsidiaries are to maintain to \$22,500,000 for the fiscal quarter ending June 2017; \$20,000,000 for the fiscal quarter ending September 2017; and \$22,000,000 for the fiscal quarter ending December 2017.

On July 1, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which Mr. McCormack and representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present. During the meeting, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities discussed the recent price negotiations with Ultra and its advisors and that \$23.50 per share of Company common stock was now being offered by Ultra, subject to the Company accepting the four major points in Ultra s package deal. A representative of Mayer Brown described for the Company board the terms in the merger agreement that the Company had been requesting from Ultra and the positions Ultra was taking in its package deal. After discussion, the Company board decided to accept the four positions in Ultra s package deal, subject to clarifying Ultra s draft of the merger agreement to provide that if the Ultra shareholders meeting is not held by a date prior to the outside date (as defined in The Merger Agreement Termination), the Company would have the right to terminate the merger agreement and receive a termination fee from Ultra, and subject to Mayer Brown and Arnold & Porter negotiating the remaining outstanding terms of the merger agreement.

Later on July 1, 2017, a representative of Wells Fargo Securities reported to a representative of Guggenheim the conditions under which the Company board would accept Ultra s package deal and the representative of Guggenheim confirmed those conditions were acceptable to Ultra.

From July 2, 2017 through July 6, 2017, Mayer Brown and Arnold & Porter finalized the terms of the merger agreement and disclosure schedules.

On July 5, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present to, among other things, consider the proposed merger with Ultra at a price of \$23.50 per share of Company common stock. A representative of Mayer Brown reviewed with the members of the Company board their fiduciary duties under applicable law. Representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James then joined the meeting and, with Mr. Hartnett, reviewed the developments in the marketing process since the last meeting of the Company board on July 1, 2017 with respect to the proposed transaction with Ultra and the solicitation of indications of interest for MDS. At the request of the Company board, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James then reviewed with the Company board their respective preliminary financial analyses with respect to the Company and the proposed merger. Mayer Brown provided the Company board with both a written and an oral summary of the key terms of the merger agreement, noting any items in the merger agreement that remained to be resolved. A representative of Mayer Brown also described for the Company board the resolutions that the Company board would consider adopting at its next meeting. Following discussion and consideration of the proposed transaction with Ultra,

58

including as to the matters discussed in the section titled Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors; Reasons for the Merger; beginning on page 59 of this proxy statement, the Company board unanimously determined to proceed with the merger, assuming satisfactory finalization of definitive transaction documentation.

On July 6, 2017, the Company board held a telephonic meeting at which representatives of Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James and Mayer Brown were present to, among other things, consider the proposed merger with Ultra. A representative of Mayer Brown reviewed with the Company board the resolution of the issues in the merger agreement that had been unresolved as of the time of the meeting of the Company board on July 5, 2016. At the request of the Company board, representatives of Wells Fargo Securities reviewed with the Company board Wells Fargo Securities financial analyses with respect to the Company and the proposed merger. Thereafter, at the request of the Company board, Wells Fargo Securities rendered its oral opinion to the Company board (which was subsequently confirmed in writing by delivery of Wells Fargo Securities written opinion dated July 6, 2017) to the effect that, as of July 6, 2017, and based upon and subject to certain assumptions, qualifications, limitations and other matters considered in connection with the preparation of the opinion, the merger consideration to be received by the holders of shares of the Company common stock in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders. At the request of the Company board, representatives of Raymond James confirmed the financial analysis they had presented to the Company board at its meeting on July 5, 2017. Thereafter, at the request of the Company board, Raymond James rendered its oral opinion to the Company board (which was subsequently confirmed in writing by delivery of Raymond James written opinion dated July 6, 2017) that based upon and subject to the factors, limitations and assumptions set forth therein, as of July 6, 2017, the merger consideration to be paid to the holders of shares of the Company common stock pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders. The Company board then unanimously (a) determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, are fair to the Company shareholders and are in the best interests of the Company and the Company shareholders, (b) authorized, declared advisable and approved the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, (c) directed that the adoption of the merger agreement be submitted to a vote at a meeting of the Company shareholders and (d) resolved to recommend that the Company shareholders adopt the merger agreement.

Early in the morning of July 7, 2017, the Company, Ultra and Merger Sub executed the merger agreement and the Company issued a press release announcing entry into the merger agreement prior to the opening of trading on the NYSE that morning.

Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors; Reasons for the Merger

Recommendation of the Company Board of Directors

The Company board recommends that you vote FOR the merger proposal.

Reasons for the Merger

The Company board held 23 meetings, the special committee of the Company board held 8 meetings and the process committee of the Company board held 46 meetings between September 2, 2015 and July 6, 2017 at which the possibility of selling the Company was discussed. The Company s outside legal advisor, Mayer Brown, participated in portions of all but one of these meetings, and one or both of the Company s financial advisors, Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James, participated in portions of certain of these meetings.

At a meeting held on July 6, 2017, the Company board unanimously (a) determined that the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, are fair to the Company shareholders and are in the best interests of the Company and the Company shareholders, (b) authorized, declared advisable and approved the merger agreement and the execution, delivery and performance of the merger

59

agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger, (c) directed that the adoption of the merger agreement be submitted to a vote at a meeting of the Company shareholders and (d) recommended that the Company shareholders adopt the merger agreement. The Company board made its determination after consultation with its legal and financial advisors and consideration of numerous factors.

In reaching its decision to unanimously approve and recommend the adoption of the merger agreement and to recommend that the Company shareholders approve the merger proposal, the Company board consulted with Company management, as well as its financial and outside legal advisors, and considered numerous factors, including, but not limited to, the following material factors (not in any relative order of importance):

Management s and the Company board s understanding of the business, operations, financial condition, financing needs, earnings, growth plans, strategy and prospects of the Company, as well as the Company s historical and projected financial performance;

The Company board s consideration of the current state of the economy, debt and equity financing markets and uncertainty surrounding forecasted economic conditions both in the near term and the long term, and both generally and within the Company s industry in particular;

That the \$23.50 per share merger consideration represented a premium of:

approximately 54.5% over the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on March 15, 2016, the last full trading day before the Company announced its exploration of strategic alternatives;

approximately 28.3% over the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on June 22, 2017, the last full trading day before media reports that the Company was in discussions to be acquired by Ultra;

approximately 5.10% over the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on July 6, 2017, the last full trading day before the public announcement of the merger agreement; and

approximately 39.7% over the 52-week low closing trading price of the Company common stock as of July 7, 2017, which occurred on May 31, 2017.

The historic trading ranges of the Company s common stock and the potential trading range of the Company s common stock absent announcement of the merger agreement and the cessation of its previously announced sale process;

The fact that the Company board was well-informed about the Company s strategic alternatives on account of the thorough review of the Company s strategic plan and strategic alternatives conducted by the Company s management;

The fact that the Company had engaged in preliminary discussions with a number of parties other than Ultra, none of which resulted in a proposal the Company board deemed as attractive as Ultra s proposal from a value or likelihood of consummation perspective;

The fact that the Company board had conducted the marketing process and had, after taking into account the results of the marketing process and such preliminary discussion with other parties and the advice of the Company s management and the Company s financial

advisors, Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James, concluded that the sale of the Company to Ultra provided the most likely path to creating the greatest value for the Company shareholders;

The Company board s belief that the all-cash merger consideration will allow the Company shareholders to realize in the near term a fair value, in cash, for their shares, while avoiding medium and long-term market and business risks and the risks associated with seeking to realize current expectations for the Company s future financial performance;

The Company board s belief that the merger consideration compensates the Company shareholders not only for the value of the Company s current business and results but also for the future growth in

60

earnings and cash flows, even assuming realization of the financial forecasts prepared by the Company management and the successful execution of the Company s growth plans;

The financial analyses reviewed and discussed with the Company board by representatives of Wells Fargo Securities as well as the oral opinion of Wells Fargo Securities rendered to the Company board on July 6, 2017 (which was subsequently confirmed in writing by delivery of Wells Fargo Securities written opinion dated the same date) as to, as of July 6, 2017, the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Company common stock of the merger consideration to be received by such holders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement;

The opinion of Raymond James, dated July 6, 2017, that, based upon and subject to the factors, limitations and assumptions set forth therein, as of the date of such opinion, the merger consideration to be paid to the Company shareholders pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders, including the various analyses undertaken by Raymond James in connection with its opinion, certain of which are described below under Opinion of Raymond James & Associates, Inc. beginning on page 71 of this proxy statement;

The terms and conditions of the merger agreement, including, among other things, the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements of the parties, the conditions to closing of the merger, the form and structure of the merger consideration and the termination rights of the parties;

The belief of the Company board, after negotiations with Ultra, that the merger consideration provided for in the merger agreement represented the highest consideration reasonably attainable;

That, while the merger agreement contains a covenant prohibiting the Company from soliciting third-party acquisition proposals, the merger agreement permits the Company, prior to the time that the Company shareholders adopt the merger agreement, to discuss and negotiate, under specified circumstances, an unsolicited acquisition proposal should one be made and, if the Company board determines in good faith, after consultation with its legal and financial advisors, that the unsolicited acquisition proposal constitutes a superior proposal within the meaning of the merger agreement, the Company board is permitted, after taking certain steps, to change or withdraw its recommendation of the merger agreement in response to a superior proposal or terminate the merger agreement in order to enter into a definitive agreement for that superior proposal, subject to payment of a termination payment of \$7,500,000 to Ultra;

That the merger agreement allows the Company board, prior to the time that the Company shareholders adopt the merger agreement, to change or withdraw its recommendation of the merger agreement in response a material event, circumstance, change, effect, development or condition that was not known to the Company board when the merger agreement was entered into (or if known, the consequences of which were not known to the Company board when the merger agreement was entered into), if the Company board determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, that the failure to change or withdraw its recommendation would be inconsistent with the Company board s fiduciary duties under applicable law;

That, in the event that (a) Ultra s shareholders do not approve the Ultra shareholders resolution approving the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, (b) the Ultra board changes or withdraws its recommendation of the merger agreement or (c) Ultra fails to convene an Ultra shareholder meeting at which a vote on the Ultra shareholders resolution takes place, and the merger agreement is terminated as a result of the occurrence of any of the foregoing events, the Company will be entitled to receive a termination fee of \$7,500,000 from Ultra;

The likelihood that the merger would be completed based on, among other things (not in any relative order of importance):

the fact that there is no financing or due diligence condition to the completion of the merger in the merger agreement;

61

more generally, the fact that the conditions to the closing of the merger are specific and limited in scope;

the business reputation and capabilities of Ultra, and the Company board s assessment that Ultra is willing to devote the resources necessary to close the merger in an expeditious manner;

Ultra s financial condition and the discussions relating thereto among the Company board, management and the Company s financial advisors, the Company s and its legal advisor s review of the agreements providing Ultra with equity financing in connection with the merger, and the Ultra parties representation in the merger agreement that they have, through a combination of cash on hand, existing financing sources and equity financing, all funds necessary for the payment of the aggregate merger consideration, the payment of all amounts payable to holders of Company equity awards pursuant to the merger agreement, the repayment or refinancing the Company s indebtedness required in connection with the merger and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and the payment of all fees and expenses of Ultra, Merger Sub and the surviving corporation in connection with the merger and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

the Company s ability to seek specific performance to prevent breaches of the merger agreement by the Ultra parties and to enforce specifically the terms of the merger agreement; and

the exclusions from the definition of material adverse effect set forth in the merger agreement;

The dissenters rights of the Company shareholders to demand fair cash value of their shares pursuant to Sections 1701.84 and 1701.85 of the OGCL if they comply in all respects with Section 1701.85 of the OGCL and the absence of any closing conditions related to the exercise of dissenters rights; and

The fact that the merger and the merger agreement are subject to approval by holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of the Company common stock.

The Company board also considered a variety of potentially negative factors in its deliberations concerning the merger agreement and the merger, including the following (not in any relative order of importance):

The risk that the merger will be delayed or will not be completed, including the risk that the required regulatory approvals may not be obtained, as well as the potential loss of value to the Company shareholders and the potential negative impact on the financial position, operations and prospects of the Company if the merger is delayed or is not completed for any reason;

That the Company shareholders will have no ongoing equity participation in the Company or Ultra following the merger and that the Company shareholders will cease to participate in the Company s future earnings or growth, if any, and will not benefit from increases, if any, in the value of the Company common stock in the future;

The risk of incurring substantial expenses related to the merger, including in connection with the pursuit of regulatory approvals, including in the event that the merger is not ultimately consummated;

The significant costs involved in connection with negotiating the merger agreement and completing the merger, the substantial management time and effort required to effectuate the merger and the potential disruptions to the Company s day-to-day operations during the pendency of the merger;

The risk, if the merger is not consummated, that the pendency of the merger could affect adversely the relationship of the Company and its subsidiaries with their respective regulators, customers, employees, suppliers, agents and others with whom they have business dealings;

That, under the terms of the merger agreement, Ultra s obligation to hold the Ultra shareholder meeting is subject to the fiduciary duties of the Ultra board and that the Ultra board may change or withdraw its recommendation of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement if a failure to do so, after

62

consultation with its external financial advisors and external legal counsel, would reasonably be expected to constitute a breach of the Ultra board s fiduciary duties under applicable law;

The restrictions in the merger agreement on the conduct of the Company s business prior to the completion of the merger, which could delay or prevent the Company from undertaking business opportunities that may arise or other action it would otherwise take with respect to the operations of the business absent the pendency of the merger;

That the receipt of cash in exchange for shares of the Company common stock pursuant to the merger will be a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes;

That the Company s executive officers and directors may have interests in the merger that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of the Company shareholders, including the accelerated vesting of stock-based awards held by executive officers and directors, the payment of cash severance to certain executives of the Company if a termination of employment were to occur under specified circumstances in connection with the merger, and the interests of the Company s directors and officers in indemnification by Ultra and insurance coverage from the surviving corporation under the terms of the merger agreement (see the section entitled Interests of the Company s Executive Officers and Directors in the Merger beginning on page 88 of this proxy statement);

That the termination payment to be paid to Ultra under the circumstances specified in the merger agreement, which, while as a percentage of the equity value of the transaction is within a customary range for similar transactions, may discourage other parties that might otherwise have an interest in a business combination with, or an acquisition of, the Company, or may reduce the price offered by those other parties in a competing bid (see the section entitled The Merger Agreement Termination Fee beginning on page 129 of this proxy statement); and

That the right afforded to Ultra under the merger agreement to match acquisition proposals that the Company board determines in good faith are superior proposals may discourage other parties that might otherwise have an interest in a business combination with, or an acquisition of, the Company.

The foregoing discussion of the information and factors considered by the Company board is not intended to be exhaustive, but includes the material factors considered by the Company board. In view of the variety of factors considered in connection with its evaluation of the merger, the Company board did not find it practicable to, and did not, quantify or otherwise assign relative weights to the specific factors considered in reaching its determination and recommendation. In addition, individual directors may have given different weights to different factors. The Company board did not undertake to make any specific determination as to whether any factor, or any particular aspect of any factor, supported or did not support its ultimate determination.

The Company board based its recommendation on the totality of the information presented.

Portions of this explanation of the reasons for the merger and other information presented in this section are forward-looking in nature and, therefore, should be read in light of the section entitled Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.

Unaudited Prospective Financial Information

The Company does not as a matter of course make public projections as to future performance, revenues, earnings or other financial results due to, among other reasons, the inherent uncertainty and unpredictability of the underlying assumptions and estimates. However, the Company is including in this proxy statement a summary of certain unaudited prospective financial information that was provided to the Company board for use in connection with its evaluation of the proposed merger and to the Company financial advisors, who were authorized to rely upon such projections, including for Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James use in providing financial advice to the Company board. The inclusion of

this information should not be regarded as an indication that any of the Company, Ultra, Merger Sub, Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James, their respective representatives or any other recipient of this information considered, or now considers, it necessarily to be predictive of actual future results (which may be significantly more or less favorable), or that it should be construed as financial guidance, and it should not be relied on as such. None of the Company, Ultra, Merger Sub, Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James or any other person assumes responsibility if future results are materially different from those discussed in this proxy statement. In addition, analyses relating to the value of the Company s business do not purport to be appraisals or reflect the prices at which the Company s business may actually be sold. Company management directed Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James to use the unaudited prospective financial information with respect to the Company that was provided by Company management in connection with the preparation of the financial analyses Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James opinions to the Company board at its meeting on July 6, 2017 and the preparation of Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James opinions to the Company board rendered at that meeting.

While presented with numeric specificity, the unaudited prospective financial information reflects numerous estimates and assumptions made with respect to business, economic, market, competition, regulatory and financial conditions and matters specific to the Company s business, all of which are difficult to predict and many of which are beyond the Company s control. The unaudited prospective financial information reflects both assumptions as to certain business decisions that are subject to change and, in many respects, subjective judgment, and thus is susceptible to multiple interpretations and periodic revisions based on actual experience and business developments. The Company can give no assurance that the unaudited prospective financial information and the underlying estimates and assumptions will be realized. In addition, since the unaudited prospective financial information covers multiple years, such information by its nature becomes less predictive with each successive year. Furthermore, the unaudited prospective financial information should not be construed as commentary by Company management as to how Company management expects the Company s actual results to compare to Wall Street research analysts—estimates, as to which the Company expresses no view.

Actual results may differ materially from those set forth below, and important factors that may affect actual results and cause the unaudited prospective financial information to be inaccurate include, but are not limited to, risks and uncertainties relating to the Company's business, industry performance, general business and economic conditions, customer requirements, competition and adverse changes in applicable laws, regulations or rules. For other factors that could cause actual results to differ, please see the section entitled Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements in this proxy statement and the sections entitled Risk Factors and Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 3, 2016, its Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended October 2, 2016, January 1, 2017 and April 2, 2017 and the other reports filed by the Company with the SEC.

The unaudited prospective financial information does not take into account any circumstances or events occurring after the date it was prepared. The Company can give no assurance that, had the unaudited prospective financial information been prepared as of the date of this proxy statement, similar estimates and assumptions would be used. The Company does not intend to, and disclaims any obligation to, make publicly available any update or other revision to the unaudited prospective financial information to reflect circumstances existing since its preparation or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, even in the event that any or all of the assumptions underlying the unaudited prospective financial information are shown to be in error, or to reflect changes in general economic or industry conditions. The unaudited prospective financial information does not take into account the possible financial and other effects on the Company of the merger and does not attempt to predict or suggest future results of the combined company. The unaudited prospective financial information does not give effect to the merger, including the impact of negotiating or executing the merger agreement, the expenses that may be incurred in connection with consummating the merger, the potential synergies that may be achieved by the combined company as a result of the merger or the

64

effect of any business or strategic decisions or actions which would likely have been taken if the merger agreement had not been executed, but which were instead altered, accelerated, postponed or not taken in anticipation of the merger. Further, the unaudited prospective financial information does not take into account the effect on the Company of any possible failure of the merger to occur. None of the Company, Wells Fargo Securities, Raymond James or their respective affiliates, officers, directors, advisors or other representatives has made, makes or is authorized in the future to make any representation to any Company shareholder or other person regarding the Company sultimate performance compared to the information contained in the unaudited prospective financial information or that the forecasted results will be achieved. The summary of the unaudited prospective financial information included below is being provided solely because it was made available to the Company board, Ultra and Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James, financial advisors to the Company, and not to influence your decision as to whether to vote for the merger proposal.

The Company board, Ultra, Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James were provided with unaudited prospective financial information with respect to the Company prepared by Company management for the fiscal years ending July 2, 2017 through July 3, 2022, and calendar years 2017 (CY 2017) and 2018 (CY 2018). The following table summarizes selected unaudited prospective financial data for the fiscal years ending July 2, 2017 through July 3, 2022, and CY 2017 and CY 2018, prepared based on historical data available to the Company as of June 28, 2017, for each of MDS, ECP, and corporate, and on a consolidated basis.

	FY	FY	FY	FY	FY	FY		CY
	2017E (1)(2)	2018P	2019P	2020P	2021P	2022P	CY 2017E (1)	2018P
	2017E (1)(2)	20101			cept per share		2017E (1)	20101
EBITDA (3)			(222	,				
MDS	\$ 11,493	\$ 11,558	\$ 13,209	\$ 13,703	\$ 14,438	\$ 15,242	\$ 9,974	\$ 14,044
ECP	23,125	27,947	29,043	30,580	32,082	33,614	25,721	29,155
Corporate	(11,803)	(10,831)	(10,885)	(10,951)	(11,031)	(11,122)	(10,672)	(10,858)
Consolidated	22,827	28,674	31,367	33,332	35,490	37,735	25,024	32,342
Adjusted EBITDA (4)								
MDS	12,946	13,014	14,680	15,189	15,939	16,758	11,612	15,507
ECP	23,848	28,417	29,518	31,060	32,567	34,104	26,350	29,628
Corporate	(3,863)	(2,509)	(2,480)	(2,462)	(2,457)	(2,462)	(3,529)	(2,494)
Consolidated	32,942	38,922	41,718	43,786	46,048	48,399	34,433	42,641
Management EBITDA (5)								
MDS	11,816	12,519	14,180	14,684	15,429	16,243	10,693	15,010
ECP	23,204	28,266	29,365	30,905	32,411	33,946	25,960	29,476
Corporate	(8,616)	(6,067)	(6,074)	(6,092)	(6,123)	(6,165)	(6,476)	(6,070)
Consolidated	26,416	34,718	37,471	39,497	41,717	44,024	30,177	38,415
Unlevered, after-tax free cash flow (6)	18,949	10,947	24,731	20,225	21,221	22,348		
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (7)							0.82	

⁽¹⁾ Represents the sum of the Company s actual results through April 3, 2017 and forecasted amounts through July 2, 2017, in the case of FY 2017E, and December 31, 2017, in the case of CY 2017E.

⁽²⁾ Due to the timing of this transaction and of the analyses and presentations of the Company s financial advisors, the financial information for FY 2017E is the same as the financial information for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2017 (LTM 2017). A separate LTM 2017 column is, therefore, not included in the table above. Raymond James, in its presentation to the Company board, used the terminology trailing twelve months or TTM to refer to the LTM 2017 information.

(3) EBITDA consists of earnings before deduction of interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization.

65

- (4) See Reconciliation of Unaudited Prospective Financial Information for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to EBITDA.
- (5) See Reconciliation of Unaudited Prospective Financial Information for a reconciliation of Management EBITDA to Adjusted EBITDA.
- (6) Unlevered, after-tax free cash flow consists of the following:

	2017E	2018P	2019P	2020P	2021P	2022P
Management EBITDA	\$ 26,416	\$ 34,718	\$ 37,471	\$ 39,497	\$ 41,717	\$ 44,024
One-time restructuring implementation cost		(1,854)				
Income taxes	(4,200)	(6,936)	(8,844)	(10,084)	(11,191)	(12,290)
Capital expenditures	(6,623)	(6,600)	(6,600)	(6,600)	(6,600)	(6,600)
(Increase)/decrease in working capital	3,356	(8,380)	2,704	(2,588)	(2,705)	(2,786)
Unlevered, after-tax free cash flow	\$ 18,949	\$ 10,947	\$ 24,731	\$ 20,225	\$ 21,221	\$ 22,348

(7) For purposes of adjusted diluted earnings per share, adjusted earnings consists of after-tax net income (including forecasted, tax-effected management restructuring adjustments), plus one-time and non-recurring items, treating stock-based compensation as a cash expense. The adjusted net income used in the calculation was \$8,047 and the diluted shares outstanding used in the calculation was 9,836.

Reconciliation of Unaudited Prospective Financial Information (in thousands)

MDS

FY 2017

MDS Adjusted EBITDA reflects MDS EBITDA plus (i) one time non-operating expenses of \$86, (ii) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$1,007, (iii) projected Q4 reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$237 and (iv) projected Q4 stock-based compensation of \$123.

MDS Management EBITDA reflects MDS Adjusted EBITDA less (i) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$1,007 and (ii) projected Q4 stock-based compensation of \$123.

FY 2018

MDS Adjusted EBITDA reflects MDS EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$961 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$495.

MDS Management EBITDA reflects MDS Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$495.

FY 2019

MDS Adjusted EBITDA reflects MDS EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$971 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$500. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

MDS Management EBITDA reflects MDS Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$500.

FY 2020

MDS Adjusted EBITDA reflects MDS EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$981 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$505. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

MDS Management EBITDA reflects MDS Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$505.

FY 2021

MDS Adjusted EBITDA reflects MDS EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$991 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$510. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

MDS Management EBITDA reflects MDS Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$510.

66

FY 2022

MDS Adjusted EBITDA reflects MDS EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$1,001 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$515. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

MDS Management EBITDA reflects MDS Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$515.

CY 2017

MDS Adjusted EBITDA reflects MDS EBITDA plus (i) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$549, (ii) projected reduction in costs due to restructuring cost of \$719 and (iii) projected stock-based compensation of \$370.

MDS Management EBITDA reflects MDS Adjusted EBITDA less (i) stock-based compensation of \$370 and (ii) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$549.

CY 2018

MDS Adjusted EBITDA reflects MDS EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$966 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$497. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

MDS Management EBITDA reflects MDS Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$497.

ECP

FY 2017

ECP Adjusted EBITDA reflects ECP EBITDA plus (i) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$607, (ii) projected Q4 reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$79 and (iii) projected Q4 stock-based compensation of \$37.

ECP Management EBITDA reflects ECP Adjusted EBITDA less (i) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$607 and (ii) projected Q4 stock-based compensation of \$37.

FY 2018

ECP Adjusted EBITDA reflects ECP EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$319 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$151

ECP Management EBITDA reflects ECP Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$151.

FY 2019

ECP Adjusted EBITDA reflects ECP EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$322 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$153. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

ECP Management EBITDA reflects ECP Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$153.

FY 2020

ECP Adjusted EBITDA reflects ECP EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$325 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$155. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

ECP Management EBITDA reflects ECP Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$155.

67

FY 2021

ECP Adjusted EBITDA reflects ECP EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$329 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$156. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

ECP Management EBITDA reflects ECP Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$156.

FY 2022

ECP Adjusted EBITDA reflects ECP EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$332 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$158. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

ECP Management EBITDA reflects ECP Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$158.

CY 2017

ECP Adjusted EBITDA reflects ECP EBITDA plus (i) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$277, (ii) projected reduction in costs due to restructuring cost of \$239 and (iii) projected stock-based compensation of \$113.

ECP Management EBITDA reflects ECP Adjusted EBITDA less (i) stock-based compensation of \$113 and (ii) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$277.

CY 2018

ECP Adjusted EBITDA reflects ECP EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$321 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$152. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

ECP Management EBITDA reflects ECP Adjusted EBITDA less stock-based compensation of \$152.

Corporate

FY 2017

Corporate Adjusted EBITDA reflects Corporate EBITDA plus (i) one time non-operating expenses of \$2,008, (ii) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$3,047, (iii) projected Q4 reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$1,179, (iv) projected Q4 public company cost of \$291 and (v) projected Q4 stock-based compensation of \$1,415.

Corporate Management EBITDA reflects Corporate Adjusted EBITDA less (i) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$3,047, (ii) projected Q4 public company cost of \$291 and (iii) projected Q4 stock-based compensation of \$1,415.

FY 2018

Corporate Adjusted EBITDA reflects Corporate EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$4,764, (ii) public company cost of \$1,175 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$2,383.

Corporate Management EBITDA reflects Corporate Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company cost of \$1,175 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$2,383.

68

Table of Contents

FY 2019

Corporate Adjusted EBITDA reflects Corporate EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$4,811, (ii) public company cost of \$1,188 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$2,406. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

Corporate Management EBITDA reflects Corporate Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company cost of \$1,188 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$2,406.

FY 2020

Corporate Adjusted EBITDA reflects Corporate EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$4,859, (ii) public company cost of \$1,200 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$2,430. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

Corporate Management EBITDA reflects Corporate Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company cost of \$1,200 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$2,430.

FY 2021

Corporate Adjusted EBITDA reflects Corporate EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$4,908, (ii) public company cost of \$1,211 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$2,455. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

Corporate Management EBITDA reflects Corporate Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company cost of \$1,211 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$2,455.

FY 2022

Corporate Adjusted EBITDA reflects Corporate EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$4,957, (ii) public company cost of \$1,224 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$2,479. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

Corporate Management EBITDA reflects Corporate Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company cost of \$1,224 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$2,479.

CY 2017

Corporate Adjusted EBITDA reflects Corporate EBITDA plus (i) one time non-recurring costs of \$635, (ii) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$739, (iii) projected reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$3,561, (iv) projected public company costs of \$879 and (v) projected stock-based compensation of \$1,329.

Corporate Management EBITDA reflects Corporate Adjusted EBITDA less (i) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$739, (ii) public company cost of \$879 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$1,329.

CY 2018

Corporate Adjusted EBITDA reflects Corporate EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$4,788, (ii) public company cost of \$1,181 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$2,395. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

69

Table of Contents

Corporate Management EBITDA reflects Corporate Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company cost of \$1,181 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$2,395.

Consolidated

FY 2017

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA reflects Consolidated EBITDA plus (i) onetime non-recurring expenses of \$2,093, (ii) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$4,660, (iii) projected Q4 reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$1,496, (iv) projected Q4 public company costs of \$291 and (v) projected Q4 stock-based compensation of \$1,575.

Consolidated Management EBITDA reflects Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA less (i) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$4,660, (ii) projected Q4 public company costs of \$291 and (iii) projected Q4 stock-based compensation of \$1,575.

FY 2018

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA reflects Consolidated EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$6,044, (ii) public company costs of \$1,175 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$3,029.

Consolidated Management EBITDA reflects Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company costs of \$1,175 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$3,029.

FY 2019

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA reflects Consolidated EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$6,104, (ii) public company costs of \$1,188 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$3,059. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

Consolidated Management EBITDA reflects Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company costs of \$1,188 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$3,059.

FY 2020

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA reflects Consolidated EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$6,165, (ii) public company costs of \$1,199 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$3,090. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

Consolidated Management EBITDA reflects Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company costs of \$1,199 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$3,090.

FY 2021

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA reflects Consolidated EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$6,227, (ii) public company costs of \$1,210 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$3,121. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

Consolidated Management EBITDA reflects Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company costs of \$1,210 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$3,121.

FY 2022

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA reflects Consolidated EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$6,289, (ii) public company costs of \$1,223 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$3,152. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

Consolidated Management EBITDA reflects Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company costs of \$1,223 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$3,152.

CY 2017

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA reflects Consolidated EBITDA plus (i) onetime non-recurring expenses of \$635, (ii) operating expenses eliminated during the year that will not be incurred in subsequent years of \$1,566, (iii) projected reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$4,518, (iv) projected public company costs of \$878 and (v) projected stock-based compensation of \$1,812.

Consolidated Management EBITDA reflects Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA less (i) stock-based compensation of \$1,812, (ii) public company costs of \$878 and (iii) operating expenses eliminated of \$1,566.

CY 2018

Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA reflects Consolidated EBITDA plus (i) reduction in costs due to restructuring of \$6,073, (ii) public company costs of \$1,182 and (iii) stock-based compensation of \$3,044. These adjustments reflect the prior year adjustments plus a 1% escalator.

Consolidated Management EBITDA reflects Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA less (i) public company costs of \$1,182 and (ii) stock-based compensation of \$3,044.

The unaudited prospective financial information was not prepared with a view toward public disclosure, nor was it prepared with a view toward compliance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, published guidelines of the SEC or the guidelines established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants for preparation and presentation of prospective financial information. Neither the Company s independent registered public accounting firm, nor any other independent accountants, have compiled, examined or performed any procedures with respect to the unaudited prospective financial information contained herein, nor have they expressed any opinion or any other form of assurance on such information or its achievability. The independent registered public accountant reports incorporated by reference into this proxy statement relate to the Company s historical financial information. They do not extend to the unaudited prospective financial information and should not be read to do so.

In light of the foregoing, and considering that the special meeting will be held after the unaudited prospective financial information was prepared, as well as the uncertainties inherent in any forecasted information, Company shareholders are cautioned not to place unwarranted reliance on such information, and the Company urges all Company shareholders to review the Company s most recent SEC filings for a description of the Company s reported financial results. See Where You Can Find More Information.

Opinion of Raymond James & Associates, Inc.

The Company retained Raymond James as financial advisor on November 18, 2016. Subsequently, pursuant to that engagement, the Company board requested that Raymond James evaluate the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the Company shareholders of the merger consideration to be received by such shareholders pursuant to the merger agreement.

71

At the July 6, 2017 meeting of the Company board, representatives of Raymond James rendered its opinion, as to the fairness, based upon market, economic, financial and other circumstances and conditions existing and disclosed to Raymond James as of July 5, 2017, from a financial point of view, to the Company shareholders of the merger consideration to be received by such shareholders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement, based upon and subject to the qualifications, assumptions and other matters considered in connection with the preparation of its opinion.

The full text of the written opinion of Raymond James is attached as **Annex B-1** to this proxy statement. The summary of the opinion of Raymond James set forth in this proxy statement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of such written opinion. Company shareholders are urged to read this opinion in its entirety.

Raymond James provided its opinion for the information of the Company board (solely in its capacity as such) in connection with, and for purposes of, its consideration of the merger and its opinion only addresses whether the merger consideration to be received by the Company shareholders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement was fair, from a financial point of view, to such shareholders. The opinion of Raymond James does not address any other term or aspect of the merger agreement or the merger contemplated thereby. The Raymond James opinion does not constitute a recommendation to the Company board or to any Company shareholder as to how the Company board, such Company shareholder or any other person should vote or otherwise act with respect to the merger or any other matter.

In connection with its review of the proposed merger and the preparation of its opinion, Raymond James, among other things:

reviewed the financial terms and conditions as stated in the draft of the merger agreement, dated as of July 6, 2017 (which we refer to as the draft agreement);

reviewed the Company s audited and unaudited financial statements;

reviewed certain information related to the historical, current and future operations, financial condition and prospects of the Company made available to Raymond James by the Company, including, but not limited to, financial projections prepared by the management of the Company relating to the Company for each quarterly period from beginning of FY 2018 through the end of FY 2022, as approved for Raymond James use by the Company (which we refer to in this opinion summary as the Projections);

reviewed the Company s recent public filings and certain other publicly available information regarding the Company;

reviewed financial, operating and other information regarding the Company and the industry in which it operates;

reviewed the financial and operating performance of the Company and those of other selected public companies that Raymond James deemed to be relevant;

considered the publicly available financial terms, and other terms available to Raymond James on a confidential basis, of certain transactions Raymond James deemed to be relevant;

reviewed the current and historical market prices for the Company common stock, and the current market prices of the publicly traded securities of certain other companies that Raymond James deemed to be relevant;

conducted such other financial studies, analyses and inquiries and considered such other information and factors as Raymond James deemed appropriate;

reviewed a certificate addressed to Raymond James from a member of senior management of the Company regarding, among other things, the accuracy of the information, data and other materials (financial or otherwise) provided to, or discussed with, Raymond James by or on behalf of the Company; and

72

Table of Contents

discussed with members of the senior management of the Company certain information relating to the aforementioned and any other matters which Raymond James deemed relevant to its inquiry.

With the Company s consent, Raymond James assumed and relied upon the accuracy and completeness of all information supplied by or on behalf of the Company, or otherwise reviewed by or discussed with Raymond James, and Raymond James did not undertake any duty or responsibility to, nor did Raymond James, independently verify any of such information. Raymond James did not make or obtain an independent appraisal of the assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of the Company. With respect to the Projections and any other information and data provided to or otherwise reviewed by or discussed with Raymond James, Raymond James, with the Company s consent, assumed that the Projections and such other information and data were reasonably prepared in good faith on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of management of the Company and Raymond James relied upon the Company to advise Raymond James promptly if any information previously provided became inaccurate or was required to be updated during the period of its review. Raymond James expressed no opinion with respect to the Projections or the assumptions on which they were based. Raymond James relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, that the final form of the merger agreement would be substantially similar to the draft agreement reviewed by Raymond James in all respects material to its analysis, and that the merger would be consummated in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement without waiver of or amendment to any of the conditions thereto. Furthermore, Raymond James assumed, in all respects material to its analysis, that the representations and warranties of each party contained in the merger agreement were true and correct and that each party will perform all of the covenants and agreements required to be performed by it under the merger agreement without being waived. Raymond James also relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, that (i) the merger would be consummated in a manner that complies in all respects with all applicable international, federal and state statutes, rules and regulations, and (ii) all governmental, regulatory or other consents and approvals necessary for the consummation of the merger would be obtained and that no delay, limitations, restrictions or conditions would be imposed or amendments, modifications or waivers made that would have an effect on the merger or the Company that would be material to its analysis or opinion.

Raymond James expressed no opinion as to the underlying business decision to effect the merger, the structure or tax consequences of the merger, or the availability or advisability of any alternatives to the merger. The Raymond James opinion is limited to the fairness, from a financial point of view, of the merger consideration to be received by the Company shareholders. Raymond James expressed no opinion with respect to any other reasons (legal, business, or otherwise) that may support the decision of the Company board to approve or consummate the merger. Furthermore, no opinion, counsel or interpretation was intended by Raymond James on matters that require legal, accounting or tax advice. Raymond James assumed that such opinions, counsel or interpretations had been or would be obtained from appropriate professional sources. Furthermore, Raymond James relied, with the consent of the Company, on the fact that the Company was assisted by legal, accounting and tax advisors, and, with the consent of the Company relied upon and assumed the accuracy and completeness of the assessments by the Company and its advisors, as to all legal, accounting and tax matters with respect to the Company and the merger.

In formulating its opinion, Raymond James considered only the merger consideration to be received by the Company shareholders, and Raymond James did not consider, and its opinion did not address, the fairness of the amount or nature of any compensation to be paid or payable to any of the officers, directors or employees of the Company, or such class of persons, in connection with the merger whether relative to the merger consideration or otherwise. Raymond James was not requested to opine as to, and its opinion did not express an opinion as to or otherwise address, among other things: (1) the fairness of the merger to the holders of any class of securities, creditors or other constituencies of the Company, or to any other party, except and only to the extent expressly set forth in the last sentence of its opinion or (2) the fairness of the merger to any one class or group of the Company s or any other party s security holders or other constituents vis-à-vis any other class or group of the Company s or such other party s security holders or other constituents, without limitation, the allocation of any consideration to be received in the merger amongst or within such classes or groups of security

73

holders or other constituents). Raymond James expressed no opinion as to the impact of the merger on the solvency or viability of the Company or the ability of the Company to pay its obligations when they come due.

Material Financial Analyses

The following summarizes the material financial analyses reviewed by Raymond James with the Company board at its meeting on July 6, 2017, which material was considered by Raymond James in rendering its opinion. No company or transaction used in the analyses described below is identical or directly comparable to the Company, Ultra or the contemplated merger.

Selected Companies Analysis. Raymond James analyzed the relative valuation multiples of sixteen publicly-traded companies consisting of Electronic Manufacturing Services (EMS) companies (eight) and Defense Electronics (DE) companies (eight) that it deemed relevant, including:

Electronic Manufacturing Services:

	Enterprise Value	Enterprise Value / EBITDA (1)	
Company Name	CY2017E	CY2018P	
Benchmark Electronics, Inc.	N/A	N/A	
Celestica Inc.	5.6x	5.4x	
Ducommun Inc.	9.9x	8.3x	
Flex Ltd.	7.9x	7.4x	
Jabil Inc.	5.0x	4.7x	
Plexus Corp.	9.0x	8.2x	
Sanmina Corp.	7.4x	N/A	
TTM Technologies, Inc.	6.3x	6.0x	

(1) Items noted $\,$ N/A $\,$ are not publicly available / determinable. Defense Electronics:

	Enterprise Value	Enterprise Value / EBITDA (1)	
Company Name	CY2017E	CY2018P	
Cobham plc	11.5x	10.5x	
Comtech Telecommunications Corp.	9.8x	N/A	
Cubic Corp.	13.4x	10.1x	
Harris Corp.	12.5x	11.2x	
Kratos Defense & Security Solutions, Inc.	N/M	N/M	
Mercury Systems, Inc.	20.7x	17.5x	
Teledyne Technologies Inc.	14.6x	13.2x	
Ultra Electronics Holdings plc	10.9x	10.3x	

⁽¹⁾ Items noted N/A are not publicly available / determinable. Items noted N/M are considered not meaningful to the analysis if the multiple falls outside of one and a half (1.5) standard deviations from the mean.

The two independent data sets were compiled and applied to each operating segment of the Company. The EMS data set of companies was compiled for the MDS business, while the DE data set of companies was compiled for the ECP business. The EBITDA multiples derived from each data set were weighted based on each segment s respective percentage contribution to its corresponding period s Management EBITDA and applied to the total

Management EBITDA for the respective period to reach a weighted conclusion. For the calendar year ending December 31, 2017, 70.8% was weighted to the ECP business and 29.2% was weighted to the MDS business. For the calendar year ending December 31, 2018, 66.3% was weighted to the ECP business and 33.7% was weighted to the MDS business. Given Raymond James understanding of the Company s business and the relative significance of the two operating businesses, in Raymond James professional judgment, weighting the respective businesses in this manner was an appropriate and reasonable way to value the enterprise. Management EBITDA is a term utilized by the Company management and is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization plus restructuring adjustments, one-time, and non-recurring items provided by the Company management.

Raymond James calculated various financial multiples for each company, including enterprise value (market value plus debt, plus preferred stock, plus minority interests, less cash and equivalents) compared to EBITDA, using publicly available consensus research EBITDA estimates for the selected companies for calendar years ending December 31, 2017 and 2018, referred to as CY2017E and CY2018P. The estimates published by research analysts were not prepared in connection with the merger or at the request of Raymond James and may or may not prove to be accurate. Raymond James reviewed the mean, median, minimum and maximum relative valuation multiples of the selected public companies and compared them to corresponding valuation multiples for the Company implied by the merger consideration. The results of the selected public companies analysis are summarized below:

	Enterprise Value / EBITDA	
	CY2017E	CY2018P
Mean	11.6x	10.3x
Median	11.0x	9.5x
Minimum	8.4x	8.3x
Maximum	17.5x	14.4x
Merger Consideration	10.9x	8.6x

Furthermore, Raymond James applied the mean, median, minimum and maximum relative valuation multiples for each of the metrics to the Company's actual and projected financial results and determined the implied equity price per share of Company common stock and then compared those implied equity values per share to the merger consideration of \$23.50 per share. The results of this are summarized below:

	Enterprise Val	Enterprise Value / EBITDA	
	CY2017E	CY2018P	
Mean	\$ 25.48	\$ 30.07	
Median	\$ 23.73	\$ 26.89	
Minimum	\$ 15.80	\$ 22.27	
Maximum	\$ 43.50	\$ 45.86	
Merger Consideration	\$ 23.50	\$ 23.50	

75

Selected Transaction Analysis. Raymond James analyzed publicly available information relating to selected acquisitions of companies in the EMS and DE sectors, with transaction enterprise values below approximately one billion dollars that closed during the last seven years and prepared a summary of the relative valuation multiples paid in these transactions. The selected transactions used in the analysis included:

Electronic Manufacturing Services:

Enterprise Value /

Company Name	LTM EBITDA
Acquisition of Viasystems Group, Inc. by TTM Technologies,	
Inc. (May-2015)	7.6x
Acquisition of CDR Manufacturing, Inc. by Key Tronic Corp.	
(Sep-2014)	7.6x
Acquisition of Parvus Corp. by Curtiss-Wright Corp. (Oct-2013)	7.8x
Acquisition of DDi Corp. by Viasystems Group, Inc.	
(May-2012)	7.5x
Acquisition of Remmele Engineering, Inc. by RTI International	
Metals, Inc. (Feb-2012)	8.3x
Acquisition of LaBarge, Inc. by Ducommun, Inc. (Jun-2011)	8.9x

76

Defense Electronics:

Enterprise Value /

Company Name	LTM EBITDA
Acquisition of QRC Technologies, Inc. by DC Capital Partners,	
LLC (May-2016)	N/D
Acquisition of API Technologies Corp. by J.F. Lehman & Co.	
(Apr-2016)	15.2x
Acquisition of TeleCommunication Systems, Inc. by Comtech	
Telecommunications Corp. (Feb-2016)	10.7x
Acquisition of GATR Technologies, Inc. by Cubic Corp.	
(Feb-2016)	N/D
Acquisition of the Electronics Product Division of Kratos	
Defense & Security Solutions, Inc. by Ultra Electronics	
Holdings plc (Aug-2015)	12.0x
Acquisition of Anaren, Inc. by Veritas Capital (Feb-2014)	11.4x
Acquisition of Six3 Systems, Inc. by CACI International, Inc.	
(Nov-2013)	13.4x
Acquisition of Micronetics, Inc. by Mercury Systems, Inc.	
(Aug-2012)	10.7x
Acquisition of Composite Engineering, Inc. by Kratos Defense	
& Security Solutions, Inc. (Jul-2012)	9.7x
Acquisition of Ticom Geomatics, Inc. by Six3 Systems, Inc.	
(Apr-2012)	N/D
Acquisition of EMS Technologies, Inc. by Honeywell	
International Inc. (Aug-2011)	14.8x
Acquisition of Herley Industries, Inc. by Kratos Defense &	
Security Solutions, Inc. (Mar-2011)	7.3x
Acquisition of CPI International, Inc. by Veritas Capital	0.0
(Feb-2011)	9.0x
Acquisition of Applied Signal Technology, Inc. by Raytheon	16.0
Co. (Jan-2011)	16.0x

⁽¹⁾ Items noted N/D indicate transactions where proprietary, not publicly disclosed information is included in the summary mean and median statistics, but not disclosed.

The two independent data sets were compiled for each operating segment of the Company. The EMS data set of transactions was compiled for the MDS business, while the DE data set of transactions was compiled for the ECP business. The EBITDA multiples derived from each data set were weighted based on each segment s respective percentage contribution to the trailing twelve months (TTM) Management EBITDA (MDS TTM as of June 30, 2017 at 33.7% and ECP TTM as of June 30, 2017 at 66.3%) and applied to the total TTM Management EBITDA to reach a weighted conclusion. Given Raymond James understanding of the Company s business and the relative significance of the two operating businesses, in Raymond James professional judgment, weighting the respective businesses in this manner was an appropriate and reasonable way to value the enterprise.

Raymond James examined valuation multiples of transaction enterprise value compared to the target companies EBITDA, in each case for twelve months ended prior to closing of the transaction, where such information was publicly available. Raymond James reviewed the mean, median, minimum and maximum relative valuation

multiples of the selected transactions and compared them to corresponding valuation multiples for the Company implied by the merger consideration. Furthermore, Raymond James applied the mean, median, minimum and maximum relative valuation multiples to the Company s actual TTM EBITDA to determine the implied equity price per share and then compared those implied equity values per share to the merger consideration of \$23.50 per share. The results of the selected transactions analysis are summarized below:

Enterprise Value /

	Trailing Twelve Months EBITDA	•	Implied Per Share Equity Price	
Mean	10.6x	\$	18.47	
Median	9.9x	\$	16.73	
Minimum	7.4x	\$	10.00	
Maximum	13.6x	\$	26.54	
Merger Consideration	12.5x	\$	23.50	

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis. Raymond James analyzed the discounted present value of the Company s projected free cash flows for the fiscal years 2017 through 2022, as supplied to Raymond James by the Company, on a standalone basis. Raymond James calculated unlevered free cash flows, defined as earnings before interest, after taxes, plus depreciation, plus amortization, less capital expenditures, less investment in working capital.

The discounted cash flow analysis was based on the Projections. Consistent with the periods included in the Projections, Raymond James used fiscal year 2022 as the final year for the analysis and utilized two methodologies for comparison purposes to calculate a terminal value: i) applied multiples ranging from 9.0x to 11.0x, selected by Raymond James upon the application of its professional judgment and expertise, to fiscal year 2022 EBITDA in order to derive a range of terminal values for the Company in 2022 and ii) applied perpetual growth rates ranging from 2.0% to 4.0%, selected by Raymond James upon the application of its professional judgment and expertise, to fiscal year 2022 unlevered free cash flow in order to derive a range of terminal values for the Company in 2022.

The projected unlevered free cash flows and terminal values were discounted using rates ranging from 12.0% to 14.0%, which reflected the weighted average after-tax cost of debt and equity capital associated with executing the Company's business plan. This range was selected based on Raymond James experience and judgment and an estimate of the Company's weighted average cost of capital. The resulting range of present enterprise values was adjusted by the Company's net debt (the face amount of total debt and preferred stock and book value of non-controlling interests less the amount of cash and cash equivalents, as reflected on its most recent publicly available balance sheet, except that, with respect to the Company, as such information was reflected on its balance sheet as of May 7, 2017) and divided by the number of diluted shares outstanding in order to arrive at a range of present values per share of Company common stock. Raymond James reviewed the range of per share prices derived in the discounted cash flow analysis and compared them to the price per share for Company common stock implied by the merger consideration. The results of the discounted cash flow analysis are summarized below:

	Equi	Equity Value /	
	Pe	r Share	
Terminal Value EBITDA Multiple Method			
Minimum	\$	18.21	
Maximum	\$	25.44	
Perpetual Growth Rate Method			
Minimum	\$	8.16	
Maximum	\$	15.40	
Merger Consideration	\$	23.50	

Trading Analysis. Solely for informational purposes, Raymond James analyzed historical closing prices of the Company and compared them to the value of the proposed merger consideration. The results of this analysis are summarized below:

	Price Per Share	Implied Premium
Merger Consideration value	\$ 23.50	
Unaffected 1-day Premium (1)	\$ 18.34	28.1%
Unaffected 1-week Premium (1)	\$ 18.05	30.2%
Day Prior to Announcement of Sale Process (4/26/2016)	\$ 20.74	13.3%
Day Prior to Announcement of Exploration of Strategic Alternatives		
(3/15/2016)	\$ 15.21	54.5%
52-week high Sparton stock price (10/4/2016)	\$ 26.43	(11.1%)
52-week low Sparton stock price (5/31/2017)	\$ 16.83	39.7%

 $(1) \quad Unaffected \ date \ is \ prior \ to \ Ultra \ and \ Sparton \ is suing \ press \ releases \ acknowledging \ negotiations \ (6/23/2017)$

Additional Considerations. The preparation of a fairness opinion is a complex process and is not susceptible to a partial analysis or summary description. Raymond James believes that its analyses must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses, without considering the analyses taken as a whole, would create an incomplete view of the process underlying its opinion. In addition, Raymond James considered the results of all such analyses and did not assign relative weights to any of the analyses, but rather made qualitative judgments as to the significance and relevance of each analysis and factor, so the ranges of valuations resulting from any particular analysis described above should not be taken to be the view of Raymond James as to the actual value of the Company.

In performing its analyses, Raymond James made numerous assumptions with respect to industry performance, general business, economic and regulatory conditions and other matters, many of which are beyond the control of the Company. The analyses performed by Raymond James are not necessarily indicative of actual values, trading values or actual future results which might be achieved, all of which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested by such analyses. Such analyses were provided to the Company board (solely in its capacity as such) and were prepared solely as part of the analysis of Raymond James of the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the Company shareholders of the merger consideration to be received by such shareholders in connection with the proposed merger pursuant to the merger agreement. The analyses do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which companies may actually be sold, and such estimates are inherently subject to uncertainty. The opinion of Raymond James was one of many factors taken into account by the Company board in making its determination to approve the merger. Neither Raymond James opinion nor the analyses described above should be viewed as determinative of the Company board s or Company management s views with respect to the Company, Ultra or the merger. Raymond James provided advice to the Company with respect to the proposed transaction. Raymond James did not, however, recommend any specific amount of consideration to the Company board or that any specific merger consideration constituted the only appropriate consideration for the merger. The Company placed no limits on the scope of the analysis performed, or opinion expressed, by Raymond James.

The Raymond James opinion was necessarily based upon market, economic, financial and other circumstances and conditions existing and disclosed to it on July 5, 2017, and any material change in such circumstances and conditions may affect the opinion of Raymond James, but Raymond James does not have any obligation to update, revise or reaffirm that opinion. Raymond James relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, that there had been no change in the business, assets, liabilities, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows or prospects of the Company since the respective dates of the most recent financial statements and other information, financial or otherwise, provided to Raymond James that would be material to its analyses or its opinion, and that there was no information or any facts that would make any of the information reviewed by Raymond James incomplete or misleading in any material respect.

Table of Contents

During the two years preceding the date of Raymond James written opinion, Raymond James has not been engaged by, performed services for or received any compensation from the Company other than any amounts that were paid to Raymond James under the engagement letter described in this proxy statement pursuant to which Raymond James was retained as a financial advisor to the Company board to assist in reviewing strategic alternatives.

For services rendered in connection with the delivery of its opinion, the Company paid Raymond James a customary investment banking fee of \$400,000 upon delivery of its opinion. The Company will also pay Raymond James a customary fee for advisory services in connection with the merger of \$600,000, \$500,000 of which is contingent upon the closing of the merger. The Company also agreed to reimburse Raymond James for its expenses incurred in connection with its services, including the fees and expenses of its counsel, and will indemnify Raymond James against certain liabilities arising out of its engagement.

The Company retained Raymond James as its financial advisor in connection with the proposed merger based on Raymond James experience and reputation. Raymond James is actively involved in the investment banking business and regularly undertakes the valuation of investment securities in connection with public offerings, private placements, business combinations and similar transactions. In the ordinary course of business, Raymond James may trade in the securities of the Company and Ultra for its own account and for the accounts of its customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities. Raymond James may provide investment banking, financial advisory and other financial services to the Company and / or Ultra or other participants in the merger in the future, for which Raymond James may receive compensation.

Opinion of Wells Fargo Securities, LLC

On July 6, 2017, Wells Fargo Securities rendered its oral opinion to the Company board (which was subsequently confirmed in writing by delivery of Wells Fargo Securities written opinion dated the same date) as to, as of July 6, 2017, the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Company common stock of the merger consideration to be received by such holders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement.

Wells Fargo Securities opinion was for the information and use of the Company board (in its capacity as such) in connection with its evaluation of the merger. Wells Fargo Securities opinion only addressed the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Company common stock of the merger consideration to be received by such holders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement and did not address any other aspect or implication of the merger. The summary of Wells Fargo Securities opinion in this proxy statement is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of its written opinion, which is attached as Annex B-2 to this proxy statement and sets forth the procedures followed, assumptions made, qualifications and limitations on the review undertaken and other matters considered by Wells Fargo Securities in connection with the preparation of its opinion. However, neither Wells Fargo Securities written opinion nor the summary of its opinion and the related analyses set forth in this proxy statement is intended to be, and they do not constitute, advice or a recommendation to the Company board or any holder of Company common stock as to how any such holder should vote or act on any matter relating to the proposed merger.

In arriving at its opinion, Wells Fargo Securities:

Reviewed a draft, dated July 6, 2017, of the merger agreement and certain publicly available business and financial information relating to the Company;

Reviewed certain other information relating to the Company, including financial forecasts for the Company prepared and provided to Wells Fargo Securities by the management of the Company, as adjusted, based on discussions with the management of the Company (which we refer to in this opinion summary as the Projections);

Spoke with the management of the Company regarding the business and prospects of the Company;

80

Table of Contents

Considered certain financial and stock market data of the Company and compared that data with similar data for other companies with publicly traded equity securities in businesses that Wells Fargo Securities deemed relevant;

Considered, to the extent publicly available, the financial terms of certain other business combinations and other transactions that Wells Fargo Securities deemed relevant; and

Considered such other information, financial studies and analyses and financial, economic and market criteria that Wells Fargo Securities deemed relevant.

In connection with its review, Wells Fargo Securities did not independently verify any of the foregoing information, and Wells Fargo Securities assumed and relied upon such information being complete and accurate in all respects. Wells Fargo Securities was advised, and at the Company s direction assumed, that the Projections were reasonably prepared on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments of the management of the Company as to the future financial performance of the Company. At the Company s direction, Wells Fargo Securities further assumed that the Projections were a reasonable basis on which to evaluate the Company and the merger and used and relied upon such forecasts for purposes of its analyses and opinion. Wells Fargo Securities expressed no view or opinion with respect to the Projections or the assumptions upon which they were based.

For purposes of its analyses and opinion, at the Company s direction, Wells Fargo Securities assumed that, in the course of obtaining any regulatory or third party consents, approvals or agreements in connection with the merger, no delay, limitation, restriction or condition would be imposed that would have an adverse effect on the Company or the contemplated benefits of the merger. Wells Fargo Securities also assumed that the merger would be consummated in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement without waiver, modification or amendment of any term, condition or agreement thereof material to its analyses or opinion. In addition, Wells Fargo Securities was not requested to make, and did not make, an independent evaluation or appraisal of the assets or liabilities (contingent or otherwise) of the Company, nor was Wells Fargo Securities furnished with any such evaluations or appraisals. With the Company board s consent, Wells Fargo Securities further assumed that the final form of the merger agreement, when executed by the parties thereto, would conform to the draft reviewed by Wells Fargo Securities in all respects material to its analyses and opinion.

Wells Fargo Securities opinion only addressed the fairness, from a financial point of view, to the holders of Company common stock of the merger consideration to be received by such holders in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement and did not address any other aspect or implication (financial or otherwise) of the merger, or any other agreement, arrangement or understanding entered into in connection with the merger or otherwise, including, without limitation, the fairness of the amount or nature of, or any other aspect relating to, any compensation or merger consideration to be received by or otherwise payable to any officers, directors or employees of any party to the merger, or class of such persons, relative to the merger consideration or otherwise. Furthermore, Wells Fargo Securities did not express any advice or opinion regarding matters that require legal, regulatory, accounting, insurance, tax, environmental, executive compensation or other similar professional advice. Wells Fargo Securities assumed that the Company had or would obtain such advice or opinions from appropriate professional sources.

Wells Fargo Securities opinion was necessarily based upon information made available to Wells Fargo Securities as of the date of its opinion and financial, economic, market and other conditions as they existed and could be evaluated on the date of its opinion. Wells Fargo Securities did not undertake, and was under no obligation, to update, revise, reaffirm or withdraw its opinion, or otherwise comment on or consider events occurring or coming to its attention after the date of its opinion. Wells Fargo Securities opinion did not address the relative merits of the merger as compared to any alternative transactions or strategies that might have been available to the Company, nor did it address the underlying business decision of the Company board or the Company to proceed with or effect the merger. Wells Fargo Securities did not express any opinion as to the prices at which shares of Company common stock may be purchased or sold at any time.

81

Under the terms of its engagement, neither Wells Fargo Securities opinion nor any other advice or services rendered by it in connection with the proposed merger or otherwise, should be construed as creating, and Wells Fargo Securities will not be deemed to have, any fiduciary, agency or similar duty to the Company board, the Company, Ultra, any security holder or creditor of the Company, Ultra or any other person, regardless of any prior or ongoing advice or relationships. Under the terms of its engagement, Wells Fargo Securities was retained by the Company as an independent contractor and the opinion and other advice rendered by Wells Fargo Securities were provided solely for the use and benefit of the Company board (in its capacity as such) in connection with its evaluation of the proposed merger. As a matter of state law, Wells Fargo Securities believes the opinion and other advice of Wells Fargo Securities may not be used or relied upon by any other person without its prior written consent. See e.g., Joyce v. Morgan Stanley, 538 F.3d 797 (7th Cir. 2008), HA2003 Liquidating Trust v. Credit Suisse Secs. (USA) LLC, 517 F.3d 454 (7th Cir. 2008) and Collins v. Morgan Stanley Dean Witter, 224 F.3d 496 (5th Cir. 2000). By limiting the foregoing statement to matters of state law, Wells Fargo Securities is not, and should not be deemed to be, admitting that Wells Fargo Securities has any liability to any persons with respect to its advice or opinion under the federal securities laws. Furthermore such statement is not intended to affect the rights and responsibilities of the Company board under governing state law or the federal securities laws. Any claims under the federal securities laws against Wells Fargo Securities or the Company board will be subject to adjudication by a court of competent jurisdiction.

Financial Analyses

In connection with rendering its opinion to the Company board, Wells Fargo Securities performed a variety of analyses, including those described below. The summary of Wells Fargo Securities analyses is not a complete description of the analyses underlying Wells Fargo Securities opinion. The preparation of such an opinion is a complex process involving various quantitative and qualitative judgments and determinations with respect to the financial, comparative and other analytical methods employed and the adaptation and application of these methods to the unique facts and circumstances presented. As a consequence, neither Wells Fargo Securities opinion nor its underlying analyses is readily susceptible to summary description. Wells Fargo Securities arrived at its opinion based on the results of all analyses undertaken by it and assessed as a whole and did not draw, in isolation, conclusions from or with regard to any individual analysis, methodology or factor. Accordingly, Wells Fargo Securities believes that its analyses and the following summary must be considered as a whole and that selecting portions of its analyses, methodologies and factors, without considering all analyses, methodologies and factors or the narrative description of the analyses, could create a misleading or incomplete view of the processes underlying Wells Fargo Securities analyses and opinion.

In performing its analyses, Wells Fargo Securities considered general business, economic, industry and market conditions, financial and otherwise, and other matters as they existed on, and could be evaluated as of, the date of its opinion. No company, transaction or business used in Wells Fargo Securities analyses for comparative purposes is identical to the Company or the proposed merger and an evaluation of the results of those analyses is not entirely mathematical. The financial analyses performed by Wells Fargo Securities were performed for analytical purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of actual values or predictive of future results or values, which may be significantly more or less favorable than those suggested by the analyses. In addition, any analyses relating to the value of assets, businesses or securities do not purport to be appraisals or to reflect the prices at which businesses or securities actually may be sold, which may depend on a variety of factors, many of which are beyond the control of the Company.

While the results of each analysis were taken into account in reaching its overall conclusion with respect to fairness, Wells Fargo Securities did not make separate or quantifiable judgments regarding individual analyses. Much of the information used in, and accordingly the results of, Wells Fargo Securities analyses are inherently subject to substantial uncertainty.

Wells Fargo Securities opinion was only one of many factors considered by the Company board in evaluating the proposed merger. Neither Wells Fargo Securities opinion nor its analyses were determinative of the merger

82

Table of Contents

consideration or of the views of the Company board or management with respect to the merger or the merger consideration. The type and amount of merger consideration payable in the merger were determined through negotiation between the Company and Ultra, and the decision to enter into the merger agreement was solely that of the Company board.

The following is a summary of the material financial analyses performed by Wells Fargo Securities in connection with the preparation of its opinion and reviewed with the Company board on July 6, 2017. The order of the analyses summarized below does not represent relative importance or weight given to those analyses by Wells Fargo Securities. The analyses summarized below include information presented in tabular format. The tables alone do not constitute a complete description of the analyses. Considering the data in the tables below without considering the full narrative description of the analyses, as well as the methodologies underlying, and the assumptions, qualifications and limitations affecting, each analysis, could create an incomplete view of Wells Fargo Securities analyses.

For purposes of its analyses, Wells Fargo Securities reviewed a number of financial metrics, including the following:

Adjusted Earnings Per Share generally the amount of the relevant company s earnings per share as adjusted for any one-time and non-recurring items for a specified time period.

Adjusted EBITDA generally the amount of the relevant company s earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, and any one-time and non-recurring items for a specified time period.

Enterprise Value generally the value as of a specified date of the relevant company s outstanding equity securities (taking into account outstanding options and other securities convertible, exercisable or exchangeable into or for equity securities of the company) plus the value as of such date of its net debt (the face amount of total debt and preferred stock and book value of non-controlling interests less the amount of cash and cash equivalents, as reflected on its most recent publicly available balance sheet, except that, with respect to the Company, as such information was reflected on its balance sheet as of May 7, 2017).

Unless the context indicates otherwise, (i) enterprise values used in the selected companies analyses described below were calculated using the market price of the common stock of the selected companies listed below as of July 5, 2017, (ii) the relevant values for the selected transactions analysis described below were calculated on an enterprise value basis based on the merger consideration proposed to be paid in the selected transactions, and (iii) the estimates of the future financial performance of the Company relied upon for the financial analyses described below were based on the Projections, and estimates of the future financial performance for the selected companies listed below were based on certain publicly available research analyst estimates for those companies.

Selected Companies Analysis. Wells Fargo Securities reviewed certain data for selected companies with publicly traded equity securities that Wells Fargo Securities deemed relevant. The selected companies were selected because they were deemed similar to the Company s ECP or MDS businesses in one or more respects.

The financial data reviewed included:

Enterprise Value as a multiple of estimated Adjusted EBITDA for the calendar year 2017, or CY 2017E Adj. EBITDA; and

Share price as a multiple of estimated adjusted earnings per share for the calendar year 2017, or CY 2017E Adj. EPS.

83

The selected companies for the Company s ECP business and the corresponding and median Enterprise Value to CY 2017E Adj. EBITDA multiples for the selected companies were:

Enterprise Value/

CY 2017E Adj.

	EBITDA Multiple
Teledyne Technologies Incorporated	14.2x
Cobham plc	11.5x
Ultra Electronics Holdings plc	10.8x
Mercury Systems, Inc.	21.0x
OSI Systems, Inc.	10.1x
Comtech Telecommunications Corp.	9.8x
Ducommun Incorporated	9.9x

Metric	Median
Enterprise Value / CY 2017E Adj. EBITDA	10.8x

The selected companies for the Company s MDS business and the corresponding and median Enterprise Value to CY 2017E Adj. EBITDA multiples for the selected companies were:

Enterprise Value/

CY 2017E Adj.

	EBITDA Multiple (1)
Flex Ltd.	7.9x
Jabil Inc.	5.0x
Sanmina Corporation	7.4x
TTM Technologies, Inc.	6.6x
Celestica Inc.	5.6x
Plexus Corp.	8.9x
Benchmark Electronics, Inc.	N/A
Ducommun Incorporated	9.9x

(1) Items noted N/A are not publicly available.

Metric	Median
Enterprise Value / CY 2017E Adi, EBITDA	7.4x

84

The corresponding, mean, median, high and low share price to CY 2017E Adj. EPS multiples for all of the selected companies identified above were:

	Share Price/ CY2017E Adj. EPS Multiple (1)
Teledyne Technologies Incorporated	22.7x
Cobham plc	20.4x
Ultra Electronics Holding plc	14.5x
Mercury Systems, Inc.	37.6x
OSI Systems, Inc.	24.0x
Comtech Telecommunications Corp.	N/M
Ducommun Incorporated	24.1x
Flex Ltd.	13.9x
Jabil Inc.	13.0x
Sanmina Corporation	12.3x
TTM Technologies, Inc.	11.4x
Celestica Inc.	10.3x
Plexus Corp.	16.1x
Benchmark Electronics, Inc.	22.4x

(1) Items noted N/M are not meaningful.

Metric	Mean	Median	High	Low
Share Price / CY 2017E Adj. EPS	18.7x	16.1x	37.6x	10.3x

Taking into account the results of the selected companies analysis, Wells Fargo Securities added the amount that resulted from applying a multiple range of 9.8x to 10.8x to CY 2017E Adj. EBITDA for the Company s ECP business to the amount that resulted from applying a multiple range of 6.4x to 7.4x to CY 2017E Adj. EBITDA for the Company s MDS business and deducted the amount that resulted from applying a multiple range of 8.8x to 9.8x (reflecting a weighted average multiple based on the relative contribution of the Company s ECP and MDS businesses, respectively, to the Company s CY 2017E Adj. EBITDA) to CY 2017E Adj. EBITDA attributable to the Company s unallocated corporate overhead. Wells Fargo Securities also applied a multiple range of 14.1x to 16.1x to CY 2017E Adj. EPS for the Company. The selected companies analysis indicated implied valuation reference ranges per share of Company common stock of \$17.07 to \$20.09 based on the Company s CY 2017E Adj. EBITDA and \$11.58 to \$13.21 based on the Company s CY 2017E Adj. EPS. Wells Fargo Securities noted that the merger consideration to be paid in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement is \$23.50 per share of Company common stock.

Selected Transactions Analysis. Wells Fargo Securities considered certain financial terms of certain transactions involving target companies that Wells Fargo Securities deemed relevant. The selected transactions were selected because they involved target companies that were deemed similar to the Company s ECP or MDS businesses in one or more respects.

The financial data reviewed included Enterprise Value as a multiple of Adjusted EBITDA for the last twelve months prior to the announcement of the applicable transaction for which data was publicly available, or LTM Adj. EBITDA.

The selected transactions for the Company s ECP business and the corresponding, mean and median of such financial data, to the extent publicly available, for the selected transactions were:

Enterprise Value/

LTM Adjusted

Date Announced	Acquiror	Target	EBITDA Multiple (1)
04/2016	J.F. Lehman & Co.	API Technologies Corp.	15.1x
11/2015	Benchmarks Electronics, Inc.	Secure Communications Systems	N/A
08/2015	Ultra Electronics Holdings plc	Kratos Electronics Products	10.7x
02/2014	Veritas Capital Fund L.P.	Anaren, Inc.	12.7x
08/2012	Mercury Computer Systems, Inc.	Micronetics Inc.	10.7x
07/2012	Kratos Defense & Security Solutions	Composite Engineering, Inc.	9.7x
02/2012	L-3 Communications	Kollmorgen Electro-Optical	7.5x
12/2011	Mercury Computer Systems, Inc.	KOR Electronics	N/A
02/2011	Veritas Capital	CPI International	8.8x
01/2011	Raytheon	Applied Signal Technology	17.3x
09/2009	General Dynamics	Axsys Technologies	13.3x
01/2009	L-3 Communications	Chesapeake Sciences Corporation	N/A

(1) Items noted N/A are not publicly available.

Metric	Mean	Median
Enterprise Value/ LTM Adjusted EBITDA	11.7x	10.7x

The selected transactions for the Company s MDS business and the corresponding, mean and median of such financial data, to the extent publicly available, for the selected transactions were:

Enterprise Value/

LTM Adjusted

Date Announced	Acquiror	Target	EBITDA Multiple (1)
05/2015	TTM Technologies, Inc.	Viasystems Group, Inc.	7.3x
04/2015	Natel Engineering Co.	OnCore Manufacturing Services LLC	N/A
12/2012	CTS Corporation	D&R Technology	8.5x
05/2012	Viasystems Group, Inc.	DDI Corp.	7.4x
01/2012	RTI International Metals	Remmele Engineering, Inc.	8.3x
06/2011	Ducommun Technologies, Inc.	LaBarge Inc.	8.8x
12/2010	Charlesbank Capital Partners	OnCore Manufacturing Services LLC	N/A
04/2010	TTM Technologies, Inc	Meadville Holdings Limited	7.6x

(1) Items noted N/A are not publicly available.

Metric	Mean	Median
Enterprise Value/ LTM Adjusted EBITDA	8.0x	8.0x

Taking into account the results of the selected transactions analysis, Wells Fargo Securities added the amount that resulted from applying a multiple range of 9.7x to 10.7x to Adjusted EBITDA for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2017 for the Company s ECP business to the amount that resulted from applying a multiple range

86

of 7.0x to 8.0x to Adjusted EBITDA for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2017 for the Company s MDS business and deducted the amount that resulted from applying a multiple range of 8.8x to 9.8x (reflecting a weighted average multiple based on the relative contribution of the Company s ECP and MDS businesses, respectively, to the Company s LTM Adjusted EBITDA) to Adjusted EBITDA for the last twelve months ended June 30, 2017 attributable to the Company s unallocated corporate overhead. The selected transactions analysis indicated an implied valuation reference range per share of Company common stock of \$13.76 to \$16.41. Wells Fargo Securities noted that the merger consideration to be paid in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement is \$23.50 per share of Company common stock.

Discounted Cash Flow Analysis. Wells Fargo Securities also performed a discounted cash flow analysis with respect to the Company. Wells Fargo Securities calculated the estimated net present value of the projected unlevered, after-tax free cash flows of the Company based on the Projections. For purposes of the discounted cash flow analyses, Wells Fargo Securities applied discount rates (selected based on Wells Fargo Securities experience and judgment and an estimate of the Company s weighted average cost of capital) ranging from 12.0% to 13.0% and terminal value multiples (selected based on Wells Fargo Securities experience and judgment) ranging from 8.0x to 9.5x to management estimates of fiscal year 2022 Adjusted EBITDA, referred to as Management EBITDA in the unaudited financial information provided above beginning on page 65. The discounted cash flow analysis indicated an implied valuation reference range per share of Company common stock of \$16.49 to \$21.29. Wells Fargo Securities noted that the merger consideration to be paid in the merger pursuant to the merger agreement is \$23.50 per share of Company common stock.

Other Matters

The Company retained Wells Fargo Securities as its financial advisor in connection with the proposed merger based on Wells Fargo Securities experience and reputation. Wells Fargo Securities is regularly engaged to provide investment banking and financial advisory services in connection with mergers and acquisitions, financings, and financial restructurings. Wells Fargo Securities became entitled to an opinion fee of \$750,000 upon the rendering of its opinion. Wells Fargo Securities will also become entitled to receive a transaction fee, currently estimated to be approximately \$3 million, based on the implied value of the proposed merger, upon the closing of the merger against which the opinion fee and certain advisory fees will be creditable to the extent previously paid. In addition, the Company agreed to reimburse Wells Fargo Securities for certain expenses and to indemnify Wells Fargo Securities and certain related parties against certain liabilities that may arise out of Wells Fargo Securities engagement.

Wells Fargo Securities is a trade name of Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, an investment banking subsidiary and affiliate of Wells Fargo & Company. Wells Fargo Securities and its affiliates provide a wide range of investment and commercial banking advice and services, including financial advisory services, securities underwritings and placements, securities sales and trading, brokerage advice and services, and commercial loans. Wells Fargo Securities and its affiliates may in the future provide investment and commercial banking advice and services to, and has in the past and may in the future otherwise seek to expand its business and commercial relationships with, the Company, Ultra, and/or certain of their respective affiliates, for which Wells Fargo Securities and its affiliates would expect to received compensation. In the ordinary course of business, Wells Fargo Securities and its affiliates may trade or otherwise effect transactions in the securities or other financial instruments (including bank loans or other obligations) of the Company, Ultra and/or their respective affiliates for its own account and for the accounts of its customers and, accordingly, may at any time hold a long or short position in such securities or financial instruments. Wells Fargo Securities and its affiliates have adopted policies and procedures designed to preserve the independence of their research and credit analysts whose views may differ from those of the members of the team of investment banking professionals involved in preparing Well Fargo Securities opinion. The issuance of Wells Fargo Securities opinion was approved by an authorized committee of Wells Fargo Securities.

87

Financing of the Merger

The obligations of Ultra and Merger Sub to complete the merger are not contingent upon the receipt of any financing. On July 11, 2017, Ultra completed a placement of its ordinary shares, which Ultra announced provided aggregate net proceeds of approximately £133.7 million (or approximately US \$173.8 million assuming an exchange rate of £1 to US \$1.30). Ultra has stated that it intends to use those net proceeds and drawing down under Ultra s and its subsidiaries existing bank facilities to pay the aggregate merger consideration.

Interests of the Company s Executive Officers and Directors in the Merger

In considering the recommendation of the Company board with respect to the merger, you should be aware that the Company s directors and executive officers have certain interests in the merger that may be different from, or in addition to, the interests of the other Company shareholders. The Company board was aware of and considered these interests, among other matters, in evaluating and negotiating the merger agreement and the merger, and in determining to recommend to Company shareholders that they vote for the merger proposal and thereby approve the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including the merger. These interests are described below.

The amounts described below are estimates based on multiple assumptions that may or may not actually occur, including assumptions described in this proxy statement, and do not reflect certain compensation actions that may occur before the consummation of the merger. As a result, the actual amounts, if any, to be received by the executive officers and non-employee directors may materially differ from the amounts set forth below. All dollar amounts have been rounded to the nearest whole dollar.

Treatment of Company Equity Awards

The restricted stock, restricted stock units and stock options (which we collectively refer to as the Company equity awards) held by the Company s employees, including the Company s executive officers, and by directors of the Company immediately prior to the effective time will be cancelled in exchange for a cash payment in the same manner as those Company equity awards held by other employees of the Company. As described further in the section titled The Merger Agreement Treatment of Company Equity Awards, such awards will be subject to the following treatment:

Restricted Stock. At the effective time, with respect to each restricted share under the Company stock plans, the vesting, forfeiture, repurchase or other lapse restriction will lapse and such restricted share will be fully vested and will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration.

Restricted Stock Units. At the effective time, each Company RSU will fully vest and will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive the merger consideration in respect of each share of Company common stock underlying such Company RSU. The cash amount will be paid as soon as reasonably practicable (but no later than five business days) after the effective time.

Stock Options. At the effective time, each stock option granted under the Company stock plans, whether vested or unvested, that has an exercise price per share that is less than the merger consideration will fully vest and will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive, an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the amount by which the merger consideration exceeds the exercise price per share of such stock option and (ii) the total number of shares of Company common stock subject to such stock option. The cash amount will be paid as soon as reasonably practicable (but no later than five business days) after the effective time. Any stock option that has an exercise price per share that is greater than or equal to the merger consideration will be cancelled at the effective time for no consideration or payment.

The table below sets forth certain information (without subtraction of applicable withholding taxes) in connection with the merger for the stock options (other than options that have exercise prices greater than \$23.50) held by

Table of Contents 119

88

the Company s named executive officers, other executive officers and directors that are vested or are scheduled to be vested or accelerated in connection with the merger as of August 1, 2017 (the assumed date the merger is completed for purposes of this table). Further information regarding the named executive officers may be found in Golden Parachute Compensation beginning on page 95.

	In-the-Money Vested Options		Accelerated In-the-Money Options			Total	
	Aggregate Number of Shares (#)	Weighted Average Exercise Price (\$)	Cash Spread Value (\$) (1)	Aggregate Number of Shares (#)	Weighted Average Exercise Price (\$)	Cash Spread Value (\$) (1)	Cash Spread Value (\$)
Named Executive Officers							
Joseph J. Hartnett							
Joseph G. McCormack	3,905	\$ 23.02	\$ 1,874	11,715	\$ 23.02	\$ 5,623	\$ 7,497
Gordon B. Madlock	1,953	\$ 23.02	\$ 937	5,857	\$ 23.02	\$ 2,811	\$ 3,748
Joseph T. Schneider	1,465	\$ 23.02	\$ 703	4,392	\$ 23.02	\$ 2,108	\$ 2,811
Steven M. Korwin	1,738	\$ 23.02	\$ 834	5,213	\$ 23.02	\$ 2,502	\$ 3,336
Other Executive Officers							
Michael A. Gaul	1,221	\$ 23.02	\$ 586	3,660	\$ 23.02	\$ 1,757	\$ 2,343
James M. Lackemacher	1,465	\$ 23.02	\$ 703	4,392	\$ 23.02	\$ 2,108	\$ 2,811
James D. Shaddix II	1,220	\$ 23.02	\$ 586	3,661	\$ 23.02	\$ 1,757	\$ 2,343
Christopher A. Ratliff	996	\$ 23.02	\$ 478	2,987	\$ 23.02	\$ 1,434	\$ 1,912
Non-employee Directors Alan L. Bazaar							
James D. Fast							
John A. Janitz							
Charles R. Kummeth							
David P. Mofenter							
James R. Swartwout							
Frank A. Andy Wilson							

⁽¹⁾ Calculated by multiplying the aggregate number of shares of Company common stock by \$23.50 less the weighted average exercise price and then rounded to the nearest whole dollar.

The table below sets forth certain information (without subtraction of applicable withholding taxes) of the restricted shares and Company RSUs held by the Company s executive officers and directors for which vesting will be accelerated in connection with the merger:

		cash Value		cash Value	Total Cash Value (\$)
Named Executive Officers	,	.,,,,,	` ′	(,, (,	(,,
Joseph J. Hartnett					
Joseph G. McCormack			23,886	561,321	561,321
Gordon B. Madlock	7,109	167,062	16,206	380,841	547,903
Joseph T. Schneider			12,816	301,176	301,176
Steven M. Korwin	4,751	111,649	13,644	320,634	432,283
Other Executive Officers					
Michael A. Gaul	2,428	57,058	10,380	243,930	300,988
James M. Lackemacher	4,117	96,750	12,313	289,356	386,106
James D. Shaddix II	2,428	57,058	10,380	243,930	300,988
Christopher A. Ratliff	1,390	32,665	9,252	217,422	250,087
Non-employee Directors					
Alan L. Bazaar					
James D. Fast					
John A. Janitz					
Charles R. Kummeth					
David P. Mofenter					
James R. Swartwout					
Frank A. Andy Wilson					

- (1) Calculated by multiplying the aggregate number of restricted shares by \$23.50 and then rounded to the nearest whole dollar.
- (2) Outstanding restricted shares will expire unvested unless change in control occurs prior to two days after the filing of the Company s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended July 2, 2017.
- (3) Calculated by multiplying the aggregate number of shares issuable upon settlement of Company RSUs by \$23.50 and then rounded to the nearest whole dollar.

The Company s Employment Arrangements with Named Executive Officers

Each of the Company s named executive officers is party to an employment agreement with the Company (each, an employment agreement and, collectively, the employment agreements). A brief summary of the employment agreements of named executive officers and potential payments upon termination or change in control is set out below.

Joseph J. Hartnett Interim President and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Hartnett s employment agreement is for at-will employment without a set term. Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Hartnett is entitled to receive a salary at a rate of \$50,000 per month. In addition, Mr. Hartnett is eligible for a bonus, payable in cash, shares of Company common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of Company common stock while employed by the Company as Interim President and Chief Executive Officer or

90

Table of Contents

upon termination; any such bonus is payable at the sole discretion of the Company board s independent members. Mr. Hartnett is also eligible to participate in the Company s benefit programs in accordance with their terms, including their eligibility provisions. While employed as Interim President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Hartnett does not receive any compensation for his service as a member of the Company board.

Joseph G. McCormack Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

Mr. McCormack s employment agreement provides for: (i) at-will employment; (ii) a current annual base salary of \$335,000; (iii) eligibility for a performance bonus of 45% of his annual base salary, based upon the Company Short-Term Incentive Plan (the STIP), provided that certain target objectives are attained; (iv) eligibility for participation in the 2010 Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (the 2010 LTIP) with an annual grant target award of \$400,000; (v) eligibility for participation in the Company s employee benefits plans that are offered to salaried employees, including, without limitation, health insurance coverage, disability, participation in the Company s 401(k) plan and any applicable incentive programs; (vi) certain severance detailed below; and (vii) covenants not to compete or solicit employees for eighteen months following termination or to disclose confidential information. The 2010 LTIP annual grant figure is a target, not a minimum, and the retention bonus discussed below was counted towards the targeted figure for fiscal year 2017.

If the Company terminates Mr. McCormack s employment for any reason other than cause (as defined below), death, or disability, or if Mr. McCormack terminates his employment for good reason (as defined below), the Company will pay Mr. McCormack: (i) severance in an amount equal to nine months of his current base salary (or, if the termination is within twelve months of a change in control; he will be entitled to 145% of the greater of his base salary as of the date of termination and his base salary as of the date of such change in control), payable over a period of nine months (or twelve months in connection with change in control) as a part of the Company s standard payroll; (ii) nine months of COBRA premiums for medical insurance for Mr. McCormack and/or his dependents if he so elects (or twelve months of COBRA premiums if the termination is within twelve months of a change in control); and (iii) outplacement services in an amount not to exceed \$25,000.

Mr. McCormack s receipt of such benefits is subject to his delivery of a signed release of claims and the return of all property in his possession or control that belongs to the Company. In addition, if Mr. McCormack violates the confidentiality, nonsolicitation, and noncompetition covenants set forth in the employment agreement, the Company may terminate such benefits and Mr. McCormack will repay any such benefits he has received in excess of one month.

Under Mr. McCormack s employment agreement, cause means any of the following: (a) personal dishonesty; (b) gross negligence; (c) violation of any law, rule or regulation; (d) breach of applicable confidentiality, nonsolicitation or noncompetition provisions to which he is subject, including such provisions under the employment agreement; (e) a breach of any material provision of the Company s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or other policies and procedures; (f) use of alcohol or drugs to the extent such use adversely affects his ability to perform his duties or adversely affects the business reputation of Mr. McCormack or the Company; (g) use of illegal drugs; or (h) failure or refusal to substantially perform his duties and responsibilities to the Company as reasonably determined from time to time by the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company (or his designee). For any termination pursuant to subsections (d) or (h), the Company shall first give written notice of the breach to Mr. McCormack, and if the breach is susceptible to a cure, the Company shall give Mr. McCormack a reasonable opportunity to promptly (within thirty days) cure the breach.

Under Mr. McCormack s employment agreement, good reason means the occurrence of any of the following: (a) a material adverse change in Mr. McCormack s title, duties or responsibilities, including reporting responsibilities, other than temporarily while disabled or otherwise incapacitated; or (b) the Company otherwise materially breaches the employment agreement, provided that (i) Mr. McCormack shall provide written notice to the Company of the good reason in (a) or (b) above no more than ninety days after the initial existence of the good reason; and (ii) the Company is afforded thirty days to remedy the material change or breach; and (iii) if the Company fails to cure, Mr. McCormack terminates his employment within thirty days following the expiration of such cure period.

91

Table of Contents

Under Mr. McCormack s employment agreement change in control means: (i) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires ownership of stock of the Company that, together with stock held by such person or group, constitutes more than fifty percent of the total fair market value or total voting power of the stock of the Company; (ii) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired during any twelve month period) ownership of stock of the Company possessing thirty percent or more of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; (iii) a majority of the members of the Company board is replaced during any twelve month period by directors whose appointment is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Company board before the date of appointment or election; or (iv) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired during any twelve month period) assets from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than forty percent of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of the Company immediately before such acquisition or acquisitions.

Under the employment agreement, Mr. McCormack agrees: (i) not to disclose Company confidential information during the term and at all times thereafter; (ii) not to compete with the Company during the term and for a period of eighteen months thereafter; and (iii) not to solicit employees or customers during the term and for a period of eighteen months thereafter.

Under Mr. McCormack s retention bonus agreement, the Company will pay Mr. McCormack a \$100,000 retention bonus provided that he remains continuously employed with the Company until the earliest of (a) a change in control date; (b) two days after filing of the Company s 10-K for fiscal year 2017; or (c) termination of Mr. McCormack other than for cause (as defined in the retention bonus agreement).

Gordon B. Madlock Senior Vice President, Operations

Mr. Madlock s employment agreement, as amended, provides for: (i) at-will employment; (ii) a current annual base salary of \$305,083, subject to annual review by the Chief Executive Officer; (iii) eligibility for a performance bonus of 45% of his annual base salary, based upon the Company Short-Term Incentive Plan (the STIP), provided that certain target objectives set by the Chief Executive Officer are attained; (iv) eligibility for participation in the 2010 LTIP with an annual grant target award of \$200,000; (v) eligibility for participation in the Company s employee benefits plans that are offered to salaried employees including, without limitation, health insurance coverage, disability, participation in the Company s 401(k) plan and any applicable incentive programs; (vi) certain severance detailed below; and (vii) covenants not to compete or solicit employees for eighteen months following termination or to disclose confidential information. The 2010 LTIP annual grant figure is a target, not a minimum, and the retention bonus discussed below was counted towards the targeted figure for fiscal year 2017.

If Mr. Madlock s employment is terminated for any reason other than just cause (as defined below), death or disability, or if his employment is involuntarily terminated within twelve months of a change in control (as defined below), the Company will pay Mr. Madlock: (i) severance equal to nine months salary (or 145% of his salary in connection with a change in control), payable over a period of nine months (or twelve months in connection with change in control) as a part of the Company s standard payroll; (ii) nine months of COBRA premiums (or twelve months in connection with a change in control); and (iii) outplacement services in an amount not to exceed \$25,000. Mr. Madlock s receipt of such benefits is subject to his delivery of a signed release of claims and the return of all property in his possession or control that belongs to the Company. In addition, if Mr. Madlock violates the confidentiality, nonsolicitation, and noncompetition covenants set forth in the employment agreement, the Company may terminate such benefits and Mr. Madlock will repay any such benefits he has received in excess of one month.

Under Mr. Madlock s employment agreement, just cause means any of the following: (i) the commission of any illegal act; (ii) the commission of any act of dishonesty, fraud, gross negligence, or willful deceit in connection with his employment; (iii) the use of alcohol or drugs to the extent such use adversely affects his ability to perform his duties or adversely affects the business reputation of Mr. Madlock or the Company; (iv) a

92

Table of Contents

material and willful failure to perform his assigned duties; (v) the use of illegal drugs or conviction of a crime which is a felony or which involves theft, dishonesty, unethical conduct or moral turpitude; (vi) willful violation of any of the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that are applicable to him; (vii) willful and material violation of the Company s written policies; or (viii) willful and material breach of his employment agreement.

Under Mr. Madlock s employment agreement, change in control means: (i) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires ownership of stock of the Company that, together with stock held by such person or group, constitutes more than fifty percent of the total fair market value or total voting power of the stock of the Company; (ii) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired during any twelve month period) ownership of stock of the Company possessing thirty percent or more of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; (iii) a majority of the members of the Company board is replaced during any twelve month period by directors whose appointment is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Company board before the date of appointment or election; or (iv) any one person, or more than one person acting as group, acquires (or has acquired during any twelve month period) assets from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than forty percent of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of the Company immediately before such acquisition or acquisitions.

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Madlock agrees: (i) not to disclose Company confidential information during the term and at all times thereafter; (ii) not to compete with the Company during the term and for a period of eighteen months thereafter; and (iii) not to solicit employees or customers during the term and for a period of eighteen months thereafter.

Under Mr. Madlock s retention bonus agreement, the Company will pay Mr. Madlock a \$37,500 retention bonus provided that he remains continuously employed with the Company until the earliest of (a) a change in control date, (b) two days after filing of the Company s 10-K for fiscal year 2017, or (c) termination of Mr. Madlock other than for cause (as defined in retention bonus agreement).

Steven M. Korwin Senior Vice President, Quality and Engineering

Mr. Korwin s employment agreement provides for: (i) at-will employment; (ii) a current annual base salary of \$264,702 subject to annual review by the Chief Executive Officer; (iii) eligibility for a performance bonus of 45% of his annual base salary, based upon the STIP, provided that certain target objectives set by the Chief Executive Officer are attained; (iv) eligibility for participation in the 2010 LTIP with an annual grant target award of \$178,000; (v) eligibility for participation in the Company s employee benefits plans that are offered to salaried employees including without limitation health insurance coverage, disability, participation in the Company s 401(k) plan and any applicable incentive programs; (vi) certain severance detailed below; and (vii) covenants not to compete or solicit employees for eighteen months following termination or to disclose confidential information. The 2010 LTIP annual grant figure is a target, not a minimum, and the retention bonus discussed below was counted towards the targeted figure for fiscal year 2017.

The provisions regarding Mr. Korwin s termination of employment are generally the same as those of Mr. Madlock.

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Korwin agrees: (i) not to disclose Company confidential information during the term and at all times thereafter; (ii) not to compete with the Company during the term and for a period of eighteen months thereafter; and (iii) not to solicit employees or customers during the term and for a period of eighteen months thereafter.

Under Mr. Korwin s retention bonus agreement, the Company will pay Mr. Korwin a \$37,500 retention bonus provided that he remains continuously employed with the Company until the earliest of (a) a change in control date; (b) two days after filing of the Company s 10-K for fiscal year 2017; or (c) termination of Mr. Korwin other than for cause (as defined in the retention bonus agreement).

93

Table of Contents

Joseph T. Schneider Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing

Mr. Schneider s employment agreement, as amended, provides for: (i) at-will employment; (ii) a current annual base salary of \$265,000, subject to annual review by the Chief Executive Officer; (iii) eligibility for a performance bonus of 45% of Mr. Schneider s annual base salary, based upon the STIP, provided that certain target objectives set by the Chief Executive Officer are attained; (iv) eligibility for participation in the 2010 LTIP with an annual grant target award of \$150,000; (v) eligibility for participation in the Company s employee benefits plans that are offered to salaried employees including, without limitation, health insurance coverage, disability, participation in the Company s 401(k) plan and any applicable incentive programs; (vi) certain severance detailed below; and (vii) covenants not to compete or solicit employees for twelve months following termination or to disclose confidential information. The 2010 LTIP annual grant figure is a target, not a minimum, and the retention bonus discussed below was counted towards the targeted figure for fiscal year 2017.

If Mr. Schneider s employment is terminated for any reason other than cause (as defined below), death or disability, or if his employment is involuntarily terminated within twelve months of a change in control (as defined below), the Company will pay Mr. Schneider: (i) severance equal to nine months salary (or 145% of his annual base salary in connection with a change in control), payable over a period of nine months (or twelve months in connection with change in control) as a part of the Company s standard payroll; (ii) nine months of COBRA premiums (or twelve months in connection with a change in control); and (iii) outplacement services in an amount not to exceed \$25,000. Mr. Schneider s receipt of such benefits is subject to his delivery of a signed release of claims and the return of all property in his possession or control that belongs to the Company. In addition, if Mr. Schneider violates the confidentiality, nonsolicitation, and noncompetition covenants set forth in the employment agreement, the Company may terminate such benefits and Mr. Schneider will repay any such benefits he has received in excess of one month.

Under Mr. Schneider s employment agreement, cause means any of the following: (a) personal dishonesty; (b) gross negligence; (c) violation of any law, rule or regulation; (d) breach of applicable confidentiality, nonsolicitation or noncompetition provisions to which he is subject, including such provisions under the employment agreement; (e) a breach of any material provision of the Company s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics or other policies and procedures; (f) use of alcohol or drugs to the extent such use adversely affects his ability to perform his duties or adversely affects the business reputation of Mr. Schneider or the Company; (g) use of illegal drugs; or (h) failure or refusal to substantially perform his duties and responsibilities to the Company as reasonably determined from time to time by the President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company (or his designee).

Under Mr. Schneider s employment agreement change in control means: (i) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires ownership of stock of the Company that, together with stock held by such person or group, constitutes more than fifty percent of the total fair market value or total voting power of the stock of the Company; (ii) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired during any twelve month period) ownership of stock of the Company possessing thirty percent or more of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; (iii) a majority of the members of the Company board is replaced during any twelve month period by directors whose appointment is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Company board before the date of appointment or election; or (iv) any one person, or more than one person acting as a group, acquires (or has acquired during any twelve month period) assets from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than forty percent of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of the Company immediately before such acquisition or acquisitions.

Under the employment agreement, Mr. Schneider agrees: (i) not to disclose Company confidential information during the term and at all times thereafter; (ii) not to compete with the Company during the term and for a period of twelve months thereafter; and (iii) not to solicit employees or customers during the term and for a period of twelve months thereafter.

94

Table of Contents

Under Mr. Schneider s retention bonus agreement, the Company will pay Mr. Schneider a \$37,500 retention bonus provided that he remains continuously employed with the Company until the earliest of (a) a change in control date, (b) two days after filing of the Company s 10-K for fiscal year 2017, or (c) termination of Mr. Schneider other than for cause (as defined in the retention bonus agreement).

Ultra s Arrangements with the Company s Executive Officers

As of the date of this proxy statement, none of the Company s executive officers has entered into any agreement with Ultra or any of Ultra s affiliates regarding employment with, or the right to purchase the equity of, the surviving corporation or one or more of its affiliates, and Ultra does not have any present or proposed arrangements with any of the Company s executive officers with respect to employment with the surviving corporation or one or more of its affiliates.

Golden Parachute Compensation

This section sets forth information required by Item 402(t) of Regulation S-K regarding the compensation for each named executive officer of the Company that is based on or otherwise relates to the merger. This compensation is referred to as golden parachute compensation by the applicable SEC disclosure rules, and in this section we use such term to describe the merger-related compensation payable to our named executive officers. The merger-related compensation payable to these individuals is the subject of a non-binding, advisory vote of the Company shareholders, as described below in the section Proposal 2 Advisory Vote on Merger-Related Compensation for the Company s Named Executive Officers.

The estimated value of the payments and benefits that the Company s named executive officers will receive in connection with the merger is quantified below in accordance with Item 402(t) of Regulation S-K. The estimated values are based on (i) an assumption that the consummation of the merger occurs on August 1, 2017 (the latest practicable date determined in accordance with Item 402(t) of Regulation S-K); (ii) the merger consideration; (iii) salary levels as of the date of this proxy statement; (iv) the number of unvested Company equity awards held by the named executive officers as of the date of this proxy statement, assuming a merger closing date of August 1, 2017; and (v) termination of each named executive officer s employment without cause (as defined in each named executive officer s employment agreement) immediately after the consummation of the merger. See The Company s Employment Arrangements with Named Executive Officers for the definition of cause in each named executive officer s employment agreement.

Depending on when the merger occurs, certain Company equity awards that would be unvested as of August 1, 2017 and included in the table below may vest independently of the merger pursuant to their terms based on continued service with the Company. In addition, the amounts indicated below are estimates based on multiple assumptions that may or may not actually occur, including assumptions described in this proxy statement, and do not reflect any compensation actions that may occur before the consummation of the merger. As a result, the actual amounts, if any, to be received by a named executive officer may materially differ from the amounts set forth below. All dollar amounts have been rounded to the nearest whole dollar.

The table below quantifies the estimated value of the cash severance that would be payable to each named executive officer assuming each individual had a qualifying termination of employment on the assumed merger closing date of August 1, 2017.

95

Golden Parachute Compensation

			Perquisites/	
Name	Cash (\$) (1)	Equity (\$) (2)	Benefits (\$) (3)	Total (\$)
Joseph J. Hartnett	200,000(4)			200,000
Joseph G. McCormack	659,750	568,818	45,531	1,274,099
Gordon B. Madlock	479,870	551,651	40,738	1,079,259
Joseph T. Schneider	421,750	303,987	41,556	767,293
Steven M. Korwin	421,318	435,619	40,738	897,674
Cary B. Wood (5)				

(1) Except as noted in the following table, these payments are double-trigger (i.e., they are triggered by a change in control and are conditioned on the named executive officer s qualifying termination during the twelve-month period following the change in control) and consist of the following:

		Retention	Discretionary	
Name	Salary (\$)	Bonus (\$) (A)	Bonus (\$) (A)	Total (\$)
Joseph J. Hartnett			200,000	200,000
Joseph G. McCormack	485,750	100,000	74,000(B)	659,750
Gordon B. Madlock	442,370	37,500		479,870
Joseph T. Schneider	384,250	37,500		421,750
Steven M. Korwin	383,818	37,500		421,318
Cary B. Wood				

- (A) These payments are single-trigger (i.e., they are triggered by a change in control and are not conditioned upon the named executive officer s qualifying termination).
- (B) Represents minimum fiscal year 2017 STIP payout of \$100,000 less estimated STIP earned of \$26,000.
- (2) The equity amounts consist of the Total Cash Spread Value for stock options and the Total Cash Value of accelerated vesting of restricted shares and Company RSUs described above in the section entitled Treatment of Company Equity Awards and set forth in the tables presented therein (assuming the target level of performance has been achieved for restricted shares and Company RSUs). These amounts are based on the merger consideration of \$23.50 per share underlying such equity-based awards and, in the case of each stock option, the exercise price. These payments are single-trigger.
- (3) These payments are double-trigger and represent the payments by the Company for outplacement services and twelve months of health insurance premiums following the consummation of the merger as follows:

Name	Outplacement Services (\$)	Health Insurance Premium Payable by the Company	Total
	Sel vices (\$\phi\$)	Company	Total
Joseph J. Hartnett			
Joseph G. McCormack	25,000	20,531	45,531
Gordon B. Madlock	25,000	15,738	40,738
Joseph T. Schneider	25,000	16,556	41,556
Steven M. Korwin	25,000	15,738	40,738

Cary B. Wood 0 0 0

- (4) This amount reflects a bonus for which Mr. Hartnett is eligible upon termination at the sole discretion of the Company board s independent members.
- (5) Mr. Wood resigned from the Company effective February 5, 2016.

Director and Officer Indemnification and Insurance

The merger agreement provides that Ultra will, and will cause the surviving corporation to, indemnify and hold harmless each present and former director and officer of the Company and its subsidiaries to the fullest extent

96

Table of Contents

permitted by applicable law against any costs or liabilities incurred in connection with any suit, action, arbitration, litigation, mediation or legal, arbitral, administrative or other proceeding arising out of or pertaining to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the effective time relating to such person service with, at the request of or for the benefit of the Company or its subsidiaries, including the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, and will, and will cause the surviving corporation to, also advance expenses to such persons to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, provided that such person provides an undertaking to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such person is not entitled to indemnification.

The merger agreement also provides that, from and after the effective time, Ultra will cause the surviving corporation to honor the provisions, to the extent they are enforceable under applicable law, regarding exculpation of directors, limitation of liability of directors and officers and advancement of expenses contained in the Company's articles of incorporation, code of regulations, the comparable organizational documents of any of the Company's subsidiaries or any indemnification contract between the applicable indemnified party and the Company or any of its subsidiaries immediately prior to the effective time. The Company has entered into an indemnification agreement with each of its directors and officers.

Subject to certain limitations, the merger agreement also requires Ultra to cause the surviving corporation to maintain, for a period of six years after the consummation of the merger, the Company's existing directors and officers liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance policies from an insurer with the same or better credit rating as the Company's current insurance carrier with benefits, levels of coverage and terms and conditions that are at least as favorable as the Company's policies existing immediately prior to the effective time with respect to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the effective time, including acts or omissions in connection with the merger agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. The surviving corporation will not, however, be required to spend annually an amount greater than 300% of the annual premium paid by the Company for the fiscal year immediately prior to the effective time. The Company may in its sole discretion obtain, prior to the effective time, a six-year prepaid tail policy at an aggregate cost no greater than six times the cap described in the preceding sentence, providing coverage not less favorable than the Company's policies existing immediately prior to the effective time. For additional information, see the section of this proxy statement entitled. The Merger Agreement Indemnification; Directors and Officers Insurance.

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Merger

The following is a summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger to U.S. holders (as defined below) whose shares of Company common stock are converted into the right to receive cash in the merger. This summary does not purport to consider all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that might be relevant to the Company shareholders. This discussion does not address the consequences of the merger to Company shareholders who receive cash pursuant to the exercise of dissenters—rights. This discussion applies to a Company shareholder only if the shareholder holds shares of Company common stock as capital assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and does not apply to Company shareholders that are members of a special class of persons subject to special rules, including but not limited to:

Shareholders that are not U.S. holders (as defined below);
Dealers in securities;
Traders in securities that elect to use a mark-to-market method of accounting for securities holdings;
Tax-exempt organizations;
Life insurance companies;
Financial institutions:

Regulated investment companies;

97

Real estate investment trusts:

Partnerships (or entities or arrangements taxable as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes);

Company shareholders that use shares of Company common stock as part of a straddle or a hedging or conversion transaction;

Company shareholders that have a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar;

Company shareholders that acquired shares of Company common stock upon the exercise of stock options or otherwise as compensation; or

Company shareholders that hold an equity interest, actually or constructively, in Ultra.

This discussion is based on the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, its legislative history, final, temporary and proposed U.S. Treasury Regulations, published rulings and administrative guidance from the Internal Revenue Service (which we refer to as the IRS) and court decisions, all as of the date of this proxy statement. These laws and other authorities are subject to change, possibly on a retroactive basis.

This discussion addresses only U.S. federal income taxation and does not address any aspect of foreign, state, local, alternative minimum, estate, gift or other tax law that may be applicable to a Company shareholder.

This discussion is intended to provide only a general summary of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger to U.S. holders of shares of Company common stock. The Company does not intend for this discussion to be a complete analysis or description of all potential U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger. The U.S. federal income tax laws are complex and subject to varying interpretations. Accordingly, the IRS may not agree with the tax consequences described in this proxy statement.

If a partnership (including an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes) holds shares of Company common stock, the tax treatment of a partner in such partnership generally will depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partner and the partnership. A partner of a partnership holding shares of Company common stock should consult the partner s tax advisor regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the merger to the partner.

Each Company shareholder is urged to consult with the Company shareholder s own tax advisor as to the tax consequences of the merger in the Company shareholder s particular circumstances, including the applicability and effect of U.S. federal (including the alternative minimum tax), state, local and foreign tax laws and of changes in those laws.

For purposes of this discussion, we use the term U.S. holder to mean a beneficial owner of shares of Company common stock that is, for U.S. federal income tax purposes:

An individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States;

A corporation (or other entity taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes) created or organized under the laws of the United States or any of its political subdivisions;

A trust that (i) is subject to the supervision of a court within the United States and the control of one or more U.S. persons or (ii) has a valid election in effect under applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations to be treated as a U.S. person; or

An estate that is subject to U.S. federal income tax on the estate s income regardless of its source. *Tax Consequences of the Merger*

The exchange of shares of Company common stock for cash in the merger will generally be a taxable transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In general, a U.S. holder whose shares of Company common stock are

98

converted into the right to receive cash in the merger will recognize capital gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes equal to the difference, if any, between (i) the amount of cash received with respect to such shares, determined before the deduction of any applicable withholding taxes, as described below under Backup Withholding and Information Reporting and (ii) the U.S. holder s adjusted tax basis in such shares. A U.S. holder s adjusted tax basis generally equals the price the U.S. holder paid for its shares of Company common stock less any distributions received that were in excess of the Company s current and accumulated earnings and profits (but not reduced below zero). Gain or loss will be determined separately for each block of shares of Company common stock (i.e., shares acquired at the same cost in a single transaction). Such capital gain or loss will be long-term capital gain or loss, provided that the U.S. holder s holding period for each such block of shares of Company common stock exceeds one year at the effective time, and otherwise will be short-term capital gain or loss. Long-term capital gains of non-corporate U.S. holders are generally eligible for a reduced rate of U.S. federal income taxation. There are limitations on the deductibility of capital losses.

Medicare Tax

U.S. holders that are individuals, estates or trusts that do not fall into a special class of trusts that is exempt from such tax are generally subject to a 3.8% tax on the lesser of (1) the U.S. holder s net investment income (or undistributed net investment income in the case of an estate or trust) for the relevant taxable year and (2) the excess of the U.S. holder s modified adjusted gross income for the taxable year over a certain threshold (which in the case of individuals will be between \$125,000 and \$250,000, depending on the individual s circumstances). A U.S. holder s net investment income generally includes capital gain recognized on the exchange of shares of Company common stock for cash in the merger, unless such capital gain is derived in the ordinary course of the conduct of a trade or business (other than a trade or business that consists of certain passive or trading activities). There are limitations on deducting capital losses in calculating a U.S. holder s net investment income. U.S. holders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the applicability of the Medicare tax to gain recognized on the exchange of shares of Company common stock for cash in the merger.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

A U.S. holder may, under certain circumstances, be subject to information reporting and backup withholding (at a rate of 28%) with respect to the merger consideration, unless the U.S. holder properly establishes an exemption or provides the U.S. holder s correct tax identification number and otherwise complies with the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules can be refunded or credited against a U.S. holder s U.S. federal income tax liability, if any, provided that the U.S. holder furnishes the required information to the IRS in a timely manner.

The U.S. federal income tax consequences described above are not intended to constitute a complete description of all tax consequences relating to the merger. Because individual circumstances may differ, each Company shareholder should consult the Company shareholder s own tax advisor regarding the applicability of the rules discussed above to the Company shareholder and the particular tax effects to the Company shareholder of the merger in light of the Company shareholder s particular circumstances and the application of state, local and foreign tax laws.

Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger

The consummation of the merger is subject to the receipt of all regulatory approvals required to complete the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Subject to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, the parties have agreed to cooperate and use their reasonable best efforts to promptly prepare and file all necessary documentation to obtain as promptly as practicable certain regulatory approvals necessary or advisable to consummate the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. These approvals include

99

clearance or approval under the HSR Act (as defined below), from certain foreign jurisdictions, from the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States (CFIUS), from the U.S. Department of State s Directorate of Defense Trade Controls (DDTC) and from the Defense Security Service of the U.S. Department of Defense (DSS), all as described further below. Although we expect that all required regulatory clearances and approvals will be obtained, we cannot assure you that these regulatory clearances and approvals will be timely obtained, obtained at all or that the granting of these regulatory clearances and approvals will not involve the imposition of additional conditions on the completion of the merger, including the requirement to divest assets, or require changes to the terms of the merger agreement.

Hart-Scott Rodino

The consummation of the merger is subject to antitrust review in the United States. Under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (which we refer to as the HSR Act.), and the rules promulgated thereunder, the merger cannot be consummated until the parties to the merger agreement have given notification and furnished information to the Federal Trade Commission and the Department of Justice and until the applicable waiting period (or any extension of the waiting period) has expired or has been terminated. On July 21, 2017, the Company and Ultra each filed a premerger notification and report form under the HSR Act. After discussions with the Department of Justice, Ultra withdrew its premerger notification and report form on August 21, 2017 and then re-filed the form on August 23, 2017. As a result of the re-filing, a second 30-day waiting period under the HSR Act commenced on August 23, 2017.

Foreign Regulatory Matters

The parties have agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to comply with all foreign regulatory notification requirements and obtain all regulatory approvals required or advisable to consummate the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. Those foreign approvals include approval under the Investment Canada Act and approvals or, if applicable, assurances by the relevant competition authorities that the respective notification thresholds are not met under the merger control laws of Portugal, Spain and Germany and/or the European Union in the event that the transaction is referred to the European Commission by an EU member state.

CFIUS

Section 721 of the Defense Production Act (the DPA), as amended, and regulations at 31 C.F.R. Part 800, authorize CFIUS to review transactions which could result in control of a U.S. business by a foreign person. CFIUS reviews certain covered transactions that are voluntarily submitted to CFIUS or that are unilaterally reviewed by CFIUS. In general, CFIUS review of a covered transaction occurs in an initial 30-day review period that may be extended by CFIUS for an additional 45-day investigation period. In some cases, the parties may withdraw the notification with CFIUS s approval, and refile it in order to gain more time. In certain circumstances, the 30-day review and potential 45-day investigation period may be repeated.

Completion of the merger is conditioned on obtaining CFIUS Approval, which means (1) a written determination that CFIUS has concluded that the merger is not a covered transaction under the DPA, (2) written notice that CFIUS has concluded its review or investigation, if applicable, and there are no unresolved national security concerns with respect to the merger, or (3) if CFIUS sent a report to the President of the United States requesting the President s decision, then (A) the President has announced a decision not to take any action to suspend or prohibit the merger, or (B) having received a report from CFIUS requesting the President s decision, the President has not taken any action after fifteen days from the date the President received such report.

Under the merger agreement, the parties have agreed to submit a joint voluntary notice to CFIUS and to use their reasonable best efforts to obtain CFIUS Approval. The parties are preparing a joint notification to CFIUS.

100

DDTC

The Company is registered with the DDTC as a manufacturer and exporter of defense articles, as that term is defined under International Traffic in Arms Regulations (ITAR). A registrant must notify DDTC at least 60 days in advance of any intended sale or transfer to a foreign person of ownership or control of the registrant.

ITAR does not provide for DDTC to grant consent for a transaction that would result in foreign ownership or control, although DDTC retains the right to invalidate a registration or revoke any approved export licenses, agreements or other authorizations. As the U.S. Department of State is also a CFIUS member agency, it could also raise any issues or concerns about a transaction in the CFIUS process.

The Company and Ultra each submitted their required portions of the ITAR notification to DDTC on July 11, 2017, in order to satisfy the 60-day notice requirement under ITAR. The parties are not aware of any circumstances that would lead DDTC to invalidate the Company s registration, revoke licenses or agreements issued thereunder, or seek redress in the CFIUS process. Nevertheless, the parties cannot provide assurances that there will not be an issue resulting from the DDTC review.

DSS

Subject to the terms and conditions in the merger agreement, Ultra and the Company have agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to (A) have the Company prepare and submit to DSS notification of the merger and the other relevant transactions contemplated by the merger agreement pursuant to the National Industrial Security Program Operating Manual (DoD 5220.22-M) (NISPOM), and the Company shall reasonably cooperate with Ultra in requesting from DSS approval to operate the business of the Company and its cleared subsidiaries pursuant to the special security agreement, existing as of the date of the merger agreement, of Ultra or one of its subsidiaries in accordance with the NISPOM (the DSS Approval); and (B) take all steps advisable, necessary or desirable to obtain assurances, reasonably deemed sufficient by Ultra or one of its subsidiaries, that favorable National Interest Determinations in accordance with the NISPOM, or similar determinations under any applicable national or industrial security regulations of an federal governmental entity of the U.S. Government, will be granted authorizing access to proscribed or other relevant information by the Company and its cleared subsidiaries following the closing of the merger as may be necessary for the Company and its cleared subsidiaries to continue to perform government contracts.

On July 17, 2017, the Company submitted a letter to DSS notifying DSS of the merger agreement and certain actions contemplated by the merger agreement and undertaking to provide DSS with all required documentation during the coming weeks. On August 4, 2017, the parties submitted to DSS the documentation required for its initial review.

Litigation Relating to the Merger

Alleged shareholders of the Company have filed class action lawsuits on behalf of themselves and the other public holders of Company common stock in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Ohio against the Company and the members of the Company board (which we refer to as the individual defendants), and, in one case, against Ultra and Merger Sub, in connection with the merger. Four lawsuits have been filed and are captioned *Schwartz v. Sparton Corp.*, et al., Case No. 1:17-cv-1663, *Sheahen v. Sparton Corp.*, et al., Case No. 1:17-cv-1742, *Scarantino v. Sparton Corp.*, et al., Case No. 1:17-cv-1741 and *Jacobs v. Sparton Corp.*, et al., Case No. 1:17-cv-1731. The complaints allege, among other things, that the merger consideration is inadequate and that the Company and the individual defendants, and, in one case, Ultra and Merger Sub, violated federal securities laws by disseminating an allegedly materially incomplete and misleading preliminary proxy statement (which we refer to as the preliminary proxy). Among other things, the complaints allege that the preliminary proxy omits or misrepresents material information concerning: (i) the Company s financial projections, (ii) the valuation analyses performed by Raymond James and Wells Fargo Securities and (iii) the

101

Table of Contents

terms of the non-disclosure agreements the Company entered into with certain interested parties. The complaints also allege that the individual defendants, and, in one case, Ultra and Merger Sub, are liable for these alleged violations because they acted as controlling persons of the Company and knew or were negligent in not knowing that the preliminary proxy contained materially incomplete and misleading information. The plaintiffs seek: (i) to enjoin the Company and the individual defendants from holding the shareholder vote on the merger proposal and from taking any steps to consummate the merger unless and until certain allegedly material information is disclosed to Company shareholders, (ii) to have the merger rescinded and set aside in the event it is consummated or to recover rescissory damages, and (iii) to recover all damages sustained by the plaintiffs as a result of the Company s and the individual defendants, and, in one case, Ultra, and Merger Sub, alleged wrongdoing, the costs and disbursements of the lawsuits, including attorneys fees, and any further relief the court may deem just and proper.

The plaintiffs in the four actions have agreed to dismiss these actions as moot as a result of the inclusion of certain additional disclosures in this proxy statement. The Company believes the demands and complaints are without merit, there are substantial legal and factual defenses to the claims asserted, and this proxy statement disclosed all material information prior to the inclusion of these additional disclosures. The Company made these additional disclosures to avoid the expense and burden of litigation.

102

THE MERGER AGREEMENT

The following discussion contains certain information about the merger. The discussion is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the merger agreement attached as **Annex A** to this proxy statement and incorporated herein by reference. We urge you to read carefully this entire proxy statement, including the merger agreement attached as **Annex A**, for a more complete understanding of the merger.

Explanatory Note Regarding the Merger Agreement

The merger agreement and this summary of terms are included to provide you with information regarding the terms of the merger agreement. Factual disclosures about the Company contained in this proxy statement or in the public reports of the Company filed with the SEC may supplement, update or modify the factual disclosures about the Company contained in the merger agreement. The merger agreement contains representations and warranties by Ultra, on the one hand, and the Company, on the other hand. The representations, warranties and covenants made in the merger agreement by the Company and Ultra were qualified and subject to important limitations that were negotiated and agreed to by the Company and Ultra, respectively. In particular, in your review of the representations and warranties contained in the merger agreement, and described in this summary, it is important to bear in mind that the representations and warranties were negotiated with the principal purposes of allocating risk between the parties to the merger agreement, rather than establishing matters as facts. The representations and warranties also may be subject to a contractual standard of materiality different from that generally relevant to investors or applicable to reports and documents filed with the SEC, and some were qualified by certain confidential disclosures made by the Company and Ultra in connection with the merger agreement and certain public filings made by the Company with the SEC. Moreover, information concerning the subject matter of the representations and warranties, which do not purport to be accurate as of the date of this proxy statement, may have changed since the date of the merger agreement.

For the foregoing reasons, the representations and warranties, or any descriptions of those provisions, should not be read alone or relied upon as characterizations of the actual state of facts or condition of the Company, Ultra or any of their respective subsidiaries or affiliates. Instead, such provisions or descriptions should be read only in conjunction with the other information provided elsewhere in, or incorporated by reference into, this proxy statement. See Where You Can Find More Information. The Company will provide additional disclosures in its public reports to the extent it is aware of the existence of any material facts that are required to be disclosed under federal securities laws and that might otherwise contradict the terms and information contained in the merger agreement and will update such disclosure as required by federal securities laws.

Effects of the Merger; Directors and Officers

The merger agreement provides for the merger of Merger Sub with and into the Company upon the terms, and subject to the conditions, set forth in the merger agreement and in accordance with the Ohio General Corporation Law (which we refer to as the OGCL). At the effective time, the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub will cease. As the surviving corporation, the Company will continue to exist following the merger. As a result of the merger, the surviving corporation will be an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra.

The directors of Merger Sub immediately prior to the effective time will, from and after the effective time, be the directors of the surviving corporation, until their respective successors have been duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the surviving corporation s articles of incorporation and code of regulations. The officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the effective time will, from and after the effective time, be the officers of the surviving corporation, until their respective successors have been duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the surviving corporation s articles of incorporation and code of regulations.

103

Closing and Effective Time of the Merger

The merger agreement provides that the closing for the merger (the closing) will take place on the third business day following the first day on which all of the conditions to the closing (described in Conditions to the Merger beginning on page 126 of this proxy statement) have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions at the closing), or at such other time as the Company and Ultra may agree in writing.

The effective time will occur when the certificate of merger has been duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Ohio (or at such later time as the Company and Ultra may agree in writing and specify in the certificate of merger).

Merger Consideration

In the merger, each share of Company common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time (except for excluded shares) will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration of \$23.50 in cash without interest. Excluded shares include (1) cancelled shares, which are comprised of shares of Company common stock owned immediately prior to the effective time by Ultra, Merger Sub or any other wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra and by the Company or by any wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (including treasury stock) and (2) dissenting shares, which are comprised of shares of Company common stock held by shareholders who have properly exercised dissenters rights. At the effective time, cancelled shares will automatically cease to be outstanding, will be cancelled and will cease to exist. For information on the treatment of dissenting shares in the merger, see the section below entitled Dissenters Rights beginning on page 106 of this proxy statement and the section entitled Dissenters Rights beginning on page 135 of this proxy statement.

Treatment of Company Equity Awards

Restricted Stock

At the effective time, with respect to each outstanding restricted share that is subject to any vesting, forfeiture, repurchase or other lapse restriction under the Company stock plans, such vesting, forfeiture, repurchase or other lapse restriction will lapse and such restricted share will be fully vested and will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration.

Restricted Stock Units

At the effective time, each outstanding Company RSU will fully vest and will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the merger consideration in respect of each share of Company common stock underlying such Company RSU. The cash amount will be paid as soon as reasonably practicable (but no later than five business days) after the effective time.

Stock Options

At the effective time, each outstanding stock option granted under the Company stock plans, whether vested or unvested, that has an exercise price per share that is less than the merger consideration will fully vest and will be cancelled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the amount by which the merger consideration exceeds the exercise price per share of such stock option and (ii) the total number of shares of Company common stock subject to such stock option. The cash amount will be paid as soon as reasonably practicable (but no later than five business days) after the effective time. Any stock option that has an exercise price per share that is greater than or equal to the merger consideration will be cancelled at the effective time for no consideration or payment.

104

Exchange and Payment Procedures

Prior to the effective time, Ultra will select and enter into an agreement with a paying agent. Under the agreement with the paying agent, the paying agent will act as agent for the Company shareholders in connection with the merger and receive payment of the aggregate merger consideration to which the Company shareholders are entitled pursuant to the merger agreement. At or prior to the effective time, Ultra will deposit or cause to be deposited with the paying agent cash in immediately available funds in an amount sufficient to fund the aggregate merger consideration payable to the Company shareholders pursuant to the merger agreement.

Promptly after the effective time, and in any event within four business days thereafter, Ultra will cause the paying agent to mail or otherwise provide to each person who was, as of immediately prior to the effective time, a holder of record of shares of Company common stock (other than holders of excluded shares) the following:

transmittal materials, including a letter of transmittal, specifying that delivery of shares of Company common stock will be effected only upon proper delivery of the certificate representing shares of Company common stock (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or book entry shares to the paying agent; and

instructions for use in effecting the proper delivery of the certificate representing shares of Company common stock (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or book entry shares to the paying agent.

Upon surrender of a certificate representing shares of Company common stock (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or book-entry shares to the paying agent together with the properly completed and validly executed transmittal materials and any other documents reasonably required by the transmittal material instructions or by the paying agent, the holder of a certificate representing shares of Company common stock (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or book-entry shares will be entitled to receive, and Ultra will cause the paying agent to pay and deliver promptly after the effective time, a cash amount equal to the product of the number of shares of Company common stock represented by the holder s certificates and book-entry shares multiplied by the merger consideration and any certificate representing shares of Company common stock surrendered will be cancelled. No interest will be paid or accrued on any amount payable upon due surrender of a certificate representing shares of Company common stock (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or book-entry shares.

Until surrendered in the manner contemplated above, each share of Company common stock will be deemed to represent at any time after the effective time only the right to receive upon such surrender (together with the transmittal materials, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions thereto, and such other such documents as may be reasonably required pursuant to the transmittal material instructions or by the paying agent) the merger consideration pursuant to the merger agreement, except for excluded shares which are described in the section below entitled Dissenters Rights beginning on page 106 of this proxy statement and the section entitled Dissenters Rights beginning on page 135 of this proxy statement. Ultra is required to pay or cause to be paid all charges and expenses of the paying agent set forth in the agreement with the paying agent.

Any merger consideration deposited with the paying agent (including the proceeds of any investment thereof) that remains undistributed one year after the effective time will be delivered to Ultra or the surviving corporation upon demand by Ultra. Thereafter, any holders of shares of Company common stock (other than excluded shares) will be entitled to look only to Ultra and the surviving corporation for payment of the merger consideration upon surrender of their certificates representing shares of Company common stock (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or book-entry shares in accordance with the procedures for surrender set forth above, and Ultra and the surviving corporation will remain liable (subject to applicable abandoned property, escheat or other similar law) for payment of claims for the merger consideration payable upon due surrender of such certificates representing shares of Company common stock (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or book-entry shares.

From and after the effective time, the stock transfer books of the Company will be closed and there will be no transfers on the stock transfer books of the Company of the shares of Company common stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the effective time.

105

If any certificate representing shares of Company common stock has been lost, stolen, or destroyed, upon (i) the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming such certificate representing shares of Company common stock to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the paying agent, the surviving corporation or Ultra, the posting by such person of a bond in a reasonable amount as the paying agent, surviving corporation or Ultra may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such certificate representing shares of Company common stock and (ii) delivery of such other materials as required under the merger agreement, the paying agent will pay and deliver promptly after the effective time in exchange for such certificate representing shares of Company common stock a cash amount in immediately available funds equal to the product of the number of shares of Company common stock represented by the lost, stolen or destroyed certificate representing shares of Company common stock multiplied by the merger consideration, without interest.

The paying agent, Ultra and the surviving corporation will be entitled to deduct and withhold, or cause to be deducted or withheld, any applicable taxes from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to the merger agreement to any holder of shares of Company common stock, Company restricted stock, Company RSUs or Company stock options, and pay over such withheld amount to the appropriate governmental entity. Any amount so withheld will be promptly remitted to the applicable governmental entity and be treated for all purposes under the merger agreement as having been paid to the person in respect of whom such deduction and withholding was made.

Dissenters Rights

Any shares of Company common stock that are held by a holder of record who is entitled to demand and properly demands payment of the fair cash value of such shares of Company common stock as a dissenting shareholder pursuant to, and who complies in all respect with, the provisions of Section 1701.85 of the OGCL, will not be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration, but will instead at the effective time become entitled to receive the fair cash value of such dissenting shares in accordance with the provisions of Section 1701.85 of the OGCL and, at the effective time, all such dissenting shares will cease to be outstanding, will automatically be cancelled and will cease to exist, and such holder of record will cease to have any other rights with respect to such shares of Company common stock, except as set forth in the merger agreement and the OGCL. If any holder of record fails to perfect or otherwise waives, withdraws or loses the right to proceed under Section 1701.85 of the OGCL or a court of competent jurisdiction determines that such holder of record is not entitled to the relief provided by Section 1701.85 of the OGCL, then the right of such holder of record to be paid the fair cash value of such holder of record s dissenting shares will be deemed to have been converted at the effective time into, and will have become, the right to receive the merger consideration. The Company must give Ultra prompt notice of any demands for the fair cash value of the shares of Company common stock, attempted withdrawals of such demands and any other instruments delivered to the Company pursuant to the OGCL with respect to a demand for the fair cash value of the shares of Company common stock, and will provide Ultra an opportunity to participate in all negotiations and proceedings with respect to any demands under Section 1701.85 of the OGCL. Prior to the effective time, the Company will not, and will not agree to, without Ultra s prior written consent, make any payment with respect to, or settle or off

Adjustments to Prevent Dilution

If the number of shares of Company common stock or securities convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for shares of Company common stock issued and outstanding after the date of signing the merger agreement and prior to the effective time are changed into a different number of shares of Company common stock or securities or a different class as a result of a reclassification, stock split (including a reverse stock split), stock dividend or distribution, recapitalization, merger, issuer tender or exchange offer, or other similar transaction, the merger consideration will be equitably adjusted, without duplication, to provide the holders of shares of Company common stock the same economic effect contemplated by the merger agreement prior to such change.

106

Representations and Warranties

Representations and Warranties of the Company

The merger agreement contains customary representations and warranties made by the Company to Ultra and Merger Sub that are subject, in some cases, to specified exceptions and qualifications contained in the merger agreement, in the Company disclosure letter or in certain SEC reports filed by the Company. In particular, certain of these representations and warranties are subject to materiality or material adverse effect qualifications (that is, they will not be deemed to be untrue or incorrect unless their failure to be true or correct is material or would result in a material adverse effect on the Company, as further described in the section entitled Material Adverse Effect beginning on page 108 of this proxy statement). In addition, certain of the representations and warranties in the merger agreement are subject to knowledge qualifications, which means that those representations and warranties would not be deemed untrue, inaccurate or incorrect as a result of matters of which certain officers of the Company did not have actual knowledge after reasonable inquiry.

In the merger agreement, the Company made representations and warranties to Ultra and Merger Sub regarding, among other things:

the Company s due organization, valid existence, good standing and authority to carry on its businesses;

ownership of the Company s subsidiaries;

the Company s capitalization, including the number of shares of Company common stock and equity-based awards outstanding;

the Company s corporate power and authority to execute and deliver, and perform its obligations under, the merger agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, and the enforceability of the merger agreement against the Company;

the Company board s determination that the merger is in the best interests of the Company shareholders, the Company board s authorization, approval and declaring advisable the merger agreement and the execution, delivery and performance of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, direction that the adoption of the merger agreement be submitted to a vote at a special meeting of the Company shareholders and recommendation that the Company shareholders vote to adopt the merger agreement, which we refer to collectively as the Company board recommendation;

the absence of violations of, or conflicts with, the Company s or its subsidiaries governing documents, governmental orders, applicable law and certain agreements as a result of the Company entering into and performing under the merger agreement;

the governmental consents, approvals, notices and filings required in connection with the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

the proper filing of documents by the Company with the SEC and the accuracy of the information contained in those documents;

the conformity with generally accepted accounting principles of the Company s financial statements filed with the SEC and the absence of certain undisclosed liabilities;

internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures;

the compliance of this proxy statement with applicable laws, and the accuracy of information contained in this proxy statement and information supplied by the Company to Ultra to be included in public announcements of the merger and the Ultra shareholder circular;

107

Table of Contents

the Company s and its subsidiaries conduct of business, in all material respects, in the ordinary course of business between April 2, 2017 and July 7, 2017, and the absence of a material adverse effect or certain other changes during such period; the absence of certain legal proceedings, investigations and governmental orders against the Company or its subsidiaries; compliance with certain material contracts; compliance with applicable laws and the existence, effectiveness and status of necessary licenses and permits; certain labor and employment matters; certain employee benefits matters, including matters related to Company benefit plans; certain tax matters; certain environmental matters; matters relating to the Company s insurance policies; matters relating to the Company s owned and leased property; matters relating to the Company s intellectual property; matters relating to the Company s compliance with applicable privacy laws; the required vote of the Company s shareholders to adopt the merger agreement; the absence of any undisclosed broker s or finder s fees; the receipt of fairness opinions from Wells Fargo Securities and Raymond James; the inapplicability of any anti-takeover law or anti-takeover provision of the Company s articles of incorporation or code of regulations to the merger.

the absence of undisclosed affiliate arrangements required to be described under Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended;

compliance with applicable export control laws, the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, and the UK Bribery Act 2010;

compliance with certain contracts and bids with governmental entities;

the validity and sufficiency of the Company s security clearances; and

certain matters related to the Company s material customers and material suppliers.

Material Adverse Effect

Many of the Company s representations and warranties in the merger agreement are qualified by, among other things, exceptions relating to the absence of a material adverse effect , which means any change, effect, event, occurrence, state of circumstances or development (each of which we refer to as a Change) that has a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, except that no Change arising out of or resulting from any of the following will, either alone or in combination, constitute or contribute to a material adverse effect:

Changes in the economy in the United States or elsewhere in the world, including as a result of changes in geopolitical conditions;

Changes that affect any of the industries in which the Company or its subsidiaries do business;

108

Changes in the financial, debt, capital, credit or securities markets generally in the United States or elsewhere in the world, including changes in interest rates;

Changes in the stock price or trading volume of the shares of Company common stock or credit rating of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any failure by the Company to meet published analyst estimates or expectations of the Company s revenue, earnings or other financial performance or results of operations for any period, or any failure by the Company to meet its internal or published projections, budgets, plans or forecasts of its revenues, earnings or other financial performance or results of operations for any period, except that the Changes underlying any such Change or failure that are not otherwise excluded from the definition of material adverse effect may be considered in determining whether there has been a material adverse effect;

Changes in any applicable law or generally accepted accounting principles or any principles or interpretations of generally accepted accounting principles;

an act of terrorism or an outbreak or escalation of hostilities or war (whether declared or not declared) or any weather related events, force majeure events or natural disasters;

the execution and delivery of the merger agreement or the public announcement or pendency of the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including any impact on relationships, contractual or otherwise, with customers, suppliers, distributors, lenders, partners or employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, or any action taken or requirements imposed by any governmental entity in connection with the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

the performance of the Company of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including compliance with the covenants contained in the merger agreement and any action taken or omitted to be taken by the Company at the written request of, as a result of an express instruction by Ultra or Merger Sub or with Ultra s or Merger Sub s prior written consent;

the performance of by the Company of its obligations under the merger agreement related to the sale of MDS, including any impact due to a sale of MDS on relationships, contractual or otherwise, with customers, suppliers, distributors, regulators, lenders, partners or employees of MDS;

any actions or omissions of the ERAPSCO JV undertaken by or at the direction of Ultra or any of its subsidiaries and any actions taken by Ultra or any of its subsidiaries in performing any of their obligations under or pursuant to the organizational documents of the ERAPSCO JV or otherwise in connection with the ERAPSCO JV; and

any matter disclosed in the Company disclosure letter;

except, with respect to the first, second, third and sixth bullets above, in the case of Changes that disproportionally adversely affect the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as compared to the other companies operating in the industries in which the Company and its subsidiaries operate, only the incremental disproportionate impact or impacts may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a material adverse effect.

Representations and Warranties of Ultra and Merger Sub

The merger agreement also contains customary representations and warranties made by Ultra and Merger Sub to the Company that are subject, in some cases, to specified exceptions and qualifications contained in the merger agreement or in the Ultra disclosure letter. In particular, certain of these representations and warranties are subject to knowledge qualifications, which means that those representations and warranties would not be deemed untrue, inaccurate or incorrect as a result of matters of which certain officers of Ultra did not have actual

109

Table of Contents

knowledge after reasonable inquiry. The representations and warranties of Ultra and Merger Sub relate to, among other things:

their due organization, valid existence, good standing (where recognized under applicable law) and authority to carry on their businesses:

their corporate or similar power and authority to execute and deliver, and perform their obligations under, the merger agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, and the enforceability of the merger agreement against them;

the Ultra board s determination that the merger is fair to and in the best interests of Ultra and the Ultra shareholders, the Ultra board s approval and declaring advisable the execution, delivery and performance of the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, direction that the Ultra shareholder circular be prepared and distributed to the Ultra shareholders in accordance with the merger agreement, direction that the approval of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement be submitted to a vote at a general meeting of the Ultra shareholders and recommendation that the Ultra shareholders vote in favor of the Ultra shareholder resolution (which we refer to as the Ultra board recommendation);

the absence of violations of, or conflicts with, Ultra s or its subsidiaries governing documents, governmental orders, applicable law and certain agreements as a result of entering into and performing under the merger agreement;

the compliance of the Ultra shareholder circular with applicable laws, and the accuracy of information contained in the Ultra shareholder circular and information supplied by Ultra to the Company to be included in this proxy statement;

the absence of certain legal proceedings, investigations and governmental orders against Ultra and Merger Sub;

the absence of any undisclosed broker s or finder s fees;

the capitalization, ownership and operations of Merger Sub;

the lack of ownership of any of the Company s securities by Ultra, Merger Sub or any of their respective subsidiaries;

the required vote of Ultra s shareholders to adopt the merger agreement;

the validity and enforceability of the placing agreement Ultra entered into in connection with execution of the merger agreement and, subject to receipt of equity financing, the availability to Ultra of sufficient funds to consummate the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (Ultra completed the placement of its ordinary shares on July 7, 2017);

their independent investigation of the Company and its business and the absence of reliance by them on any representation, warranty or other statement by any person on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries other than the representations and warranties expressly set forth in the merger agreement; and

the absence of sanctions under certain applicable laws.

The representations and warranties in the merger agreement of each of the Company, Ultra, and Merger Sub will not survive the effective time.

Conduct of the Company s Business Pending the Merger

Under the merger agreement, the Company has agreed to certain restrictions on the operation of its business until the earlier of the effective time and the termination of the merger agreement. In general, the Company and its

110

subsidiaries will carry on their businesses in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and will use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact their current business organizations, maintain their current goodwill and preserve their relationships with significant customers and suppliers and other persons with whom they have material business relationships in a manner consistent with past practice and retain the services of their officers and key employees as of the date of signing the merger agreement. In addition, except as specifically disclosed in the Company disclosure letter, as required by applicable law, as requested by Ultra to be undertaken in connection with the sale of MDS or with the written consent of Ultra (which consent will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), the Company will not, and will not permit its subsidiaries to:

declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distributions (whether in cash, stock or property) in respect of, any of its capital stock or other voting securities or equity interests, other than cash dividends or distributions by a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company to the Company or another wholly owned subsidiary of the Company;

adjust, split, combine or reclassify any of its capital stock or issue or authorize the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its capital stock, other than transactions solely between or among the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries:

purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of its or its subsidiaries—capital stock or other securities or any rights, warrants or options to acquire any such shares or other securities, other than (i) the withholding of shares of Company common stock in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice to satisfy tax obligations or the exercise price with respect to awards granted pursuant to the Company stock plans and (ii) the acquisition by the Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice of awards granted pursuant to the Company stock plans in connection with the forfeiture of such awards or rights, in each case, with respect to awards that are outstanding as of the date of signing the merger agreement and in accordance with their terms as of the date of signing the merger agreement in accordance with the merger agreement;

issue, deliver, sell, pledge, dispose of, encumber or subject to any lien any shares of its capital stock, ownership interests, any other voting securities (other than the issuance of shares by a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company or another wholly owned subsidiary of the Company), or any securities convertible into, exercisable or exchangeable for, or any rights, warrants or options to acquire, any such shares, ownership interests, voting securities or convertible securities or any phantom stock, phantom stock rights, stock appreciation rights or stock-based performance units, other than upon the vesting or settlement of restricted shares under the Company stock plans, Company RSUs, and stock options granted under the Company stock plans that are outstanding as of the date of signing the merger agreement or granted after the date of signing the merger agreement in accordance with the merger agreement, in each case, vested or settled in accordance with their terms;

amend, waive or rescind the Company s articles of incorporation or code of regulations or the comparable organizational or governing documents of any subsidiary of the Company, other than, in the case of the organizational or governing documents of any subsidiary of the Company, amendments that effect solely ministerial changes to such documents;

merge or consolidate with any person, or purchase property or assets (including equity interests) of any person, or make capital contributions to any person, in each case, other than (i) purchases of inventory, equipment and other personal property in the ordinary course of business or, for such purchases not in the ordinary course of business, in an amount not in excess of \$1,000,000 in the aggregate, or (ii) transactions solely between or among the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries;

sell, license, lease, transfer, assign, divest, cancel, abandon, or otherwise dispose of or permit a lien (other than a permitted lien) to be placed upon any of its properties, rights, or assets (including the Company s intellectual property) with a value in excess of \$1,000,000 in the aggregate, other than (i) sales, licenses, or other dispositions of assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with past

111

Table of Contents

practice; (ii) sales, transfers and dispositions of obsolete, non-operating or worthless assets or properties; (iii) sales, licenses, leases, transfers or other dispositions made in connection with any transaction between or among the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries or (iv) pursuant to contracts existing as of the date of signing the merger agreement;

incur, create, assume, redeem, prepay, defease, cancel, or, in any material respect, modify any indebtedness of the Company or its subsidiaries or enter into any arrangement having the economic effect of any of the foregoing, other than (i) borrowings and prepayments under the Company s existing credit facilities that are made solely for working capital purposes in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (ii) the incurrence, redemption, prepayment, defeasance, cancellation, or modification of indebtedness of the Company or a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company to the Company or a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, (iii) the incurrence, creation or assumption of indebtedness to replace, renew, extend, refinance or refund any existing indebtedness on substantially the same or more favorable terms to the Company or a subsidiary of the Company than such existing indebtedness and (iv) with respect to any indebtedness not incurred, created, assumed, redeemed, prepaid, defeased, cancelled or modified as set forth above, the incurrence, creation, assumption, redemption, prepayment, defeasance, cancellation, or modification of indebtedness of the Company or its subsidiaries not in excess of \$1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount outstanding;

subject to the Company s covenant in the merger agreement related to transaction litigation, settle any proceedings or investigations with a governmental entity or third party, in each case, threatened, made or pending against the Company or any of its subsidiaries, in excess of \$1,000,000 in the aggregate for all such proceedings or investigations, other than the settlement of proceedings or investigations made in the ordinary course of business or for an amount (excluding any amounts that are covered by any insurance policies of the Company or its subsidiaries, as applicable) not in excess of the amount reflected or reserved therefor in the most recent financial statements (or the notes thereto) of the Company included in the documents filed with the SEC by the Company since June 30, 2014, except that in no event will the Company or any of its subsidiaries settle any proceeding or investigation if such settlement involves injunctive relief against the Company or any of its subsidiaries or restricts the conduct of the Company s business following the effective time;

except as required pursuant to the terms of any Company benefit plan or other written agreement disclosed to Ultra in the Company disclosure letter, in each case, as in effect on the date of signing the merger agreement, (i) promote any officers or employees to a position of vice president or more senior without first consulting with Ultra and considering its views in good faith, (ii) grant to any director or executive officer or employee any increase in compensation or pay, or award any bonuses or incentive compensation other than, in the case of non-executive employees, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (iii) grant to any current or former director, executive officer or employee any increase in severance, change of control, retention, or termination pay, (iv) grant or amend any equity awards, (v) enter into any new, or modify any existing, employment, consulting, severance, retention or termination agreement with any current or former director, executive officer or any other employee or individual consultant pursuant to which the annual base salary of such individual under such agreement exceeds \$200,000, (vi) establish, adopt, enter into, terminate, waive or amend in any material respect any collective bargaining agreement or material Company benefit plan, or (vii) take any action to accelerate any rights or benefits under any Company benefit plan, except that the above restrictions will not restrict the Company or any of its subsidiaries from entering into or making available to newly hired employees or to employees in the context of promotions based on job performance or workplace requirements, in each case, in the ordinary course of business, plans, agreements, benefits and compensation arrangements (including incentive grants, but excluding any individual severance arrangements or any options or other equity awards) that have a value that is consistent with the past practice of making compensation and benefits available to newly hired or promoted employees in similar positions;

112

other than as required by generally accepted accounting principles (or any interpretation thereof), including pursuant to standards, guidelines, and interpretations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or any similar organization, or by law, including pursuant to SEC rule or policy, make any change in accounting methods, principles or practices affecting the consolidated assets, liabilities or results of operations of the Company where such change would reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole;

make any material tax election or change or rescind any material tax election or tax method of accounting; settle or compromise any tax liability or, with respect to any claim or assessment that does not relate to U.S. federal income tax, consent to any claim or assessment relating to a material amount of taxes; other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, file any amended tax return; enter into any tax allocation, sharing, indemnity or closing contract or similar arrangement relating to a material amount of taxes; or consent to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any material taxes;

materially amend or modify or cancel or terminate, or waive any material rights under, any material contract or waive any material rights with respect to any material Company real property;

enter into certain contracts that would have been considered certain specified types of material contracts for purposes of the merger agreement if they were put into effect prior to the date of signing the merger agreement, except as expressly permitted under the merger agreement;

adopt or enter into a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization, other than the merger and any other mergers, consolidations, restructurings, recapitalizations or other reorganizations solely between or among the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries;

other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, make capital expenditures in excess of \$1,000,000 in the aggregate other than in accordance with the Company s capital expenditure plan previously provided to Ultra;

fail to keep in force any insurance policy or comparable replacement or revised provisions providing insurance coverage with respect to the assets, operations and activities of the Company and its subsidiaries as are currently in effect; or

authorize any, or commit or agree to take any, of the foregoing prohibited actions.

From the date of signing the merger agreement until the earlier of the effective time and the termination of the merger agreement, except as expressly permitted by the merger agreement, neither Ultra nor the Company will, and each will cause their respective subsidiaries not to, take any action that is reasonably likely to prevent, or materially impair or delay, the consummation of the merger.

The merger agreement is not intended to give any of the parties to the merger agreement, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct another party s operations prior to the effective time. Prior to the effective time, each party will exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of the merger agreement, complete control and supervision over its operations.

Non-Solicitation of Acquisition Proposals

Non-Solicitation of Acquisition Proposals

From the date of signing the merger agreement until the earlier of the effective time and the termination of the merger agreement, the Company is subject to restrictions on its ability to solicit third-party proposals relating to alternative transactions or to provide information to and engage in discussions or negotiations with a third party in relation to an alternative transaction (subject to certain exceptions prior to the time the Company shareholder

Table of Contents

approval is obtained as described further below). Specifically, the Company, its subsidiaries, and any officers, directors, employees, investment bankers, attorneys, accountants and other advisors or representatives (which we refer to as representatives) retained by the Company or its subsidiaries in connection with the merger may not, and the Company must use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and its subsidiaries representatives retained by the Company or its subsidiaries other than in connection with the merger not to, directly or indirectly:

initiate, solicit or knowingly take any action to facilitate, encourage or solicit any acquisition proposal (as defined below) or the making of any proposal that would reasonably be expected to lead to an acquisition proposal;

participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish or provide any non-public information to any person in connection with, any acquisition proposal or afford access to the business, properties, assets, books or records of the Company or any of its subsidiaries to, or knowingly assist, participate in, facilitate or encourage any effort relating to an acquisition proposal by, any person that is seeking to make, or has made, an acquisition proposal;

except as required by applicable law, amend or grant any waiver or release under any standstill or similar agreement with respect to any class of equity securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; or

enter into any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle, merger agreement, acquisition agreement or other similar agreement relating to an acquisition proposal.

Under the merger agreement, an acquisition proposal means any inquiry, proposal or offer from any person (other than Ultra, Merger Sub or their respective affiliates) relating to (i) a sale of MDS or any direct or indirect acquisition or purchase of a business in a single transaction or series of related transactions that constitutes more than 15% of the net revenues, net income or assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, or more than 15% of the issued and outstanding shares of Company common stock, (ii) any tender offer or exchange offer that if consummated would result in any person beneficially owning, directly or indirectly, more than 15% of the issued and outstanding shares of Company common stock or (iii) any merger, reorganization, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, joint venture, partnership, dissolution or similar transaction involving the Company (or any subsidiary or subsidiaries of the Company whose business constitutes more than 15% of the net revenues, net income or assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis).

Existing Discussions

Except as permitted under the merger agreement or as requested or consented to in writing by Ultra to be undertaken by the Company in connection with a sale of MDS, the Company agreed, upon execution of the merger agreement, to immediately cease any solicitation, discussions, or negotiations with any person (other than Ultra, Ultra s affiliates and their respective representatives) with respect to an acquisition proposal or other proposal that would reasonably be expected to lead to an acquisition proposal that existed on or prior to the date of signing the merger agreement. The Company agreed that it would promptly request the return or destruction of all non-public information furnished to any person and its representatives (other than Ultra, Ultra s affiliates and their respective representatives) by or on behalf of the Company with respect to any acquisition proposal prior to the date of signing the merger agreement. Any breach of the non-solicitation obligations described above by any subsidiary of the Company or any Company representative will be deemed a breach by the Company.

Notice

The Company must promptly (and, in any event, within 48 hours after receipt) notify Ultra of the Company s, any of the Company s subsidiaries or any of their respective representative s receipt of any acquisition proposal or any request for non-public information or inquiry relating to any acquisition proposal. The Company will provide Ultra with notice of such receipt, the identity of the person making any such acquisition proposal or

114

Table of Contents

request for non-public information or inquiry, the material terms and conditions of such acquisition proposal, request or inquiry, as applicable, and copies of any documents evidencing or delivered in connection with any such acquisition proposal, request or inquiry. The Company will keep Ultra informed on a reasonably current basis of any material developments, discussions or negotiations regarding any such acquisition proposal, request or inquiry (including any changes thereto), and will promptly (and, in any event, within 48 hours after receipt) provide Ultra with copies of all correspondence and written materials sent or provided to the Company or any of its subsidiaries that describes any terms or conditions of any acquisition proposal, inquiry or request.

Fiduciary Exception

Notwithstanding the foregoing restrictions, prior to the time the Company shareholder approval is obtained, the Company may, subject to the Company providing prior notice to Ultra:

furnish or provide information in response to a request by a person who has made an unsolicited, bona fide written acquisition proposal that did not result from a violation of the non-solicitation obligations described above if the Company receives from the person requesting such information an executed confidentiality agreement on terms not less favorable in the aggregate to the Company than the those contained in the confidentiality agreement between the Company and Ultra (such confidentiality agreement may contain confidentiality provisions that permit the Company to comply with the terms of the merger agreement but will not include any provisions requiring exclusive negotiations); or

engage in discussions with such person and its representatives with respect to such acquisition proposal (as defined below); in each case if, prior to taking such action, the Company board determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, that the acquisition proposal is, or is reasonably likely to lead to, a superior proposal.

In addition, the Company must provide to Ultra a copy of any confidentiality agreement entered into as contemplated in bullet one above promptly after its execution.

Under the merger agreement, a superior proposal means a bona fide, unsolicited written acquisition proposal that did not result from the Company s breach of the non-solicitation obligations described above and relating to any direct or indirect acquisition or purchase of (i) assets that generate more than 50% of the consolidated total revenues or operating income of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (ii) assets that constitute more than 50% of the consolidated total assets of the Company and its subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (iii) more than 50% of the total voting power of the equity securities of the Company, in each case, that the Company board determines in good faith is reasonably likely to be consummated in accordance with its terms, taking into account all legal, financial and regulatory aspects of the acquisition proposal and the person making the acquisition proposal, and if consummated, would result in a transaction more favorable to the Company s shareholders from a financial point of view than the merger (taking into account the most recent irrevocable written binding offer proposed by Ultra to amend the terms of the merger agreement). No acquisition proposal for a sale of MDS will constitute a superior proposal.

No Change in Board Recommendation; No Entry into Alternative Transactions

No Change in Board Recommendation; No Entry into Alternative Transactions

In the merger agreement, the Company board agreed to make the Company board recommendation to the Company shareholders. Subject to certain exceptions described below, the Company board and each committee of the Company board may not:

withdraw, fail to make or modify in a manner adverse to Ultra or Merger Sub (or propose to withdraw, fail to make or modify in a manner adverse to Ultra or Merger Sub) the Company board recommendation;

Table of Contents 156

115

Table of Contents

fail to include in this proxy statement the Company board recommendation;

approve, adopt or recommend, or propose to approve, adopt or recommend, any acquisition proposal;

if any acquisition proposal is structured as a tender or exchange offer that is commenced, fail to recommend against the Company shareholders accepting such tender or exchange offer within ten business days of commencement of the tender or exchange offer pursuant to Rule 14d-2 of the Exchange Act; or

agree or resolve to take any of the foregoing prohibited actions (we refer to each of the above actions as a Company adverse recommendation change).

Fiduciary Exception

Notwithstanding any of the foregoing restrictions, prior to the time the Company shareholder approval is obtained, if the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective representatives receives from any person, after the date of signing the merger agreement, an unsolicited, bona fide written acquisition proposal that did not result from a breach of the Company's non-solicitation obligations described above and that the Company board determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, is a superior proposal, the Company board may, in response to such superior proposal, (i) effect a Company adverse recommendation change or (ii) terminate the merger agreement (as described in the section below entitled Termination beginning on page 128 of this proxy statement) for the purpose of entering into a definitive written agreement concerning such a superior proposal (subject to paying the required termination payment to Ultra concurrently with such termination, as described in the section entitled Termination Fee beginning on page 129 of this proxy statement). However, the Company board may not take any such action, and as a condition precedent to taking such action, unless:

the Company provides Ultra with at least four business days prior written notice of the Company board s intention to effect a Company adverse recommendation change or terminate the merger agreement, specifying in such notice the reasons underlying such intention and including an unredacted copy of any relevant proposed transaction agreements, the identity of the party making the superior proposal and the material terms of such superior proposal;

during the four-business-day-period following Ultra s receipt of such notice, Ultra may propose revisions to the terms of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement (it being understood that any change to the financial terms or any other material terms of the applicable superior proposal triggers an extension to the notice period to ensure that at least two business days remain in the notice period following any such change);

the Company board will discuss and negotiate, and will cause its representatives to discuss and negotiate, in good faith with Ultra during the four-business-day notice period to the extent Ultra reasonably desires to discuss and negotiate; and

at or after 5:00 p.m. eastern time on the final day of the notice period, the Company board has considered in good faith the effect of any irrevocable written binding offer proposed by Ultra to amend the terms of the merger agreement (which we refer to as an offered amendment) and has determined, after consideration and consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, and taking into consideration any offered amendment from Ultra, that the applicable acquisition proposal continues to be a superior proposal and that the failure of the Company board to effect a Company adverse recommendation change or terminate the merger agreement would continue to be inconsistent with the Company board s fiduciary duties under applicable law.

The Company board may also effect a Company adverse recommendation change in response to an intervening event (as defined below) if the Company board determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, that the failure to effect a Company adverse recommendation change would

116

Table of Contents

be inconsistent with the Company board s fiduciary duties under applicable law. However, the Company board may not take any such actions unless:

the Company provides Ultra with at least four business days prior written notice of the Company board s intention to effect a Company adverse recommendation change, specifying in such notice the reasons underlying such intention and including a reasonably detailed description of the intervening event, and during the four-business-day-period following Ultra s receipt of such notice, Ultra may propose revisions to the terms of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

the Company board will negotiate, and will cause its representatives to negotiate, in good faith with Ultra during the four-business-day notice period to the extent Ultra reasonably desires to negotiate; and

at or after 5:00 p.m. eastern time on the final day of the four-business-day notice period, the Company board has considered in good faith the effect of any offered amendment and has determined, after consideration and consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, and taking into consideration any offered amendment from Ultra, that the failure of the Company board to effect a Company adverse recommendation change would continue to be inconsistent with the Company board s fiduciary duties under applicable law.

Under the merger agreement, an intervening event means a material event, circumstance, change, effect, development or condition that was unknown to the Company board as of the date of signing the merger agreement (or if known, the consequences of which were unknown to the Company board as of the date of signing the merger agreement), except that in no event does the receipt, existence or terms of an acquisition proposal constitute an intervening event, and in no event will any event, circumstance, change, effect, development or condition arising out of or resulting from a sale of MDS or the actions contemplated by the covenants contained in the merger agreement relating to a sale of MDS, individually or in the aggregate, constitute an intervening event.

Certain Permitted Disclosure

Nothing in the merger agreement will prevent the Company or any of its subsidiaries from taking and disclosing to the Company shareholders a position contemplated by Rule 14d-9 or Rule 14e-2(a) under the Exchange Act or making a disclosure to the Company shareholders if the Company board determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel, that a failure to do so would be inconsistent with applicable law, except that in no event will the Company or the Company board or any committee of the Company board take any action prohibited by the restrictions on the Company in the merger agreement related to the Company board s ability to effect a Company adverse recommendation change (except that any stop, look and listen communication that contains only the information set forth in Rule 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act will not be deemed a Company adverse recommendation change), unless such action is required by applicable law and, if such action constitutes a Company adverse recommendation change prior to the time the Company shareholder approval is obtained, then Ultra will have the right to terminate the merger agreement (as described in the section below entitled Termination beginning on page 128 of this proxy statement).

Company Shareholders Meeting

The Company has agreed to hold a special meeting (which we refer to as the Company shareholders meeting) as promptly as practicable after clearance of the proxy statement by the SEC (and, in any event, within 45 days) to consider and vote upon the adoption of the merger agreement (Ultra has waived the Company should the Company shareholders meeting within 45 days of clearance of the proxy statement by the SEC provided that the meeting is held within 52 days of clearance of the proxy statement by the SEC). Subject to the provisions of the merger agreement discussed above under No Change in Board Recommendation; No Entry into Alternative Transactions beginning on page 115 of this proxy statement, the Company board has agreed to recommend that the Company shareholders adopt the merger agreement in this proxy statement and in other

117

materials and communications between the Company and the Company shareholders and to use its reasonable best efforts to solicit the adoption of the merger agreement at the Company shareholder meeting. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the merger agreement, the Company may not adjourn or postpone the Company shareholder meeting, except (i) to the extent necessary to ensure that any required supplement or amendment to this proxy statement is provided to the Company shareholders at least five business days in advance of the vote to adopt the merger agreement, (ii) if the Company reasonably believes that it is necessary and advisable to do so, in order to solicit additional proxies in order to obtain the Company shareholder approval or (iii) if, as of the time for which the meeting of the Company shareholders is originally scheduled, the Company will not have sufficient shares of Company common stock represented (either in person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to conduct the business of the meeting of the Company shareholders.

Ultra Shareholders Meeting; No Change in Ultra Board Recommendation

Ultra Shareholders Meeting

Subject to the fiduciary duties of the Ultra board and the Company s compliance with its obligations under the merger agreement to assist Ultra with completing and filing the Ultra shareholder circular, Ultra has agreed, as promptly as practicable after approval of the Ultra shareholder circular by the UKLA and in accordance with the requirements of the listing rules of the UKLA, to duly call, give notice of and convene a meeting of the Ultra shareholders to consider and vote upon the Ultra shareholder resolution. Subject to the fiduciary duties of the Ultra board and certain exceptions described below, the Ultra board has agreed to recommend that the Ultra shareholders vote in favor of the Ultra shareholder resolution (which we refer to as the Ultra board recommendation) and to use its reasonable best efforts to solicit approval of the Ultra shareholder resolution by the Ultra shareholders. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the merger agreement, Ultra may not adjourn or postpone the Ultra shareholders meeting, except (i) with the written consent of the Company, (ii) to the extent necessary to ensure that any necessary supplement or amendment to the Ultra shareholder circular is provided to the Ultra shareholders a reasonable amount of time in advance of (being at least five business days in advance of) the vote of the Ultra shareholders on the Ultra shareholder resolution, (iii) if Ultra reasonably believes that it is necessary and advisable to do so, in order to solicit additional proxies in order to obtain the Ultra shareholder approval, (iv) if, as of the time for which the Ultra shareholder meeting is originally scheduled, there are insufficient shares of Ultra represented (either in person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to conduct the business of the Ultra shareholder meeting or (v) as required by applicable law or the fiduciary duties of the Ultra board.

No Change in Ultra Board Recommendation

In the merger agreement, the Ultra board agreed to make the Ultra board recommendation to the Ultra shareholders. Subject to the fiduciary duties of the Ultra board and certain exceptions described below, the Ultra board and each committee of the Ultra board may not:

withdraw, fail to make or modify in a manner adverse to the Company (or propose to withdraw, fail to make or modify in a manner adverse to the Company) the Ultra board recommendation;

fail to include in the Ultra shareholder circular the Ultra board recommendation; or

agree or resolve to take any of the foregoing prohibited actions.

We refer to each of the above actions as an Ultra adverse recommendation change.

However, where a unanimous recommendation of the Ultra board or a committee of the Ultra board, as applicable, ceases to be unanimous, so long as a majority of the Ultra board recommend to vote in favor of passing the Ultra shareholder resolution, that shall not constitute an Ultra adverse recommendation change and an adjournment or postponement of the Ultra shareholders meeting in the circumstances described above shall not constitute an Ultra adverse recommendation change unless and until, at or prior to the adjourned or postponed Ultra shareholders meeting, the Ultra board does not make the Ultra board recommendation.

118

Fiduciary Exception

Prior to the time the Ultra shareholder approval is obtained, the Ultra board may effect an Ultra adverse recommendation change if (i) the Ultra board determines in good faith, after consultation with its external legal counsel and/or external financial advisers (as the case may be), that the failure to effect an Ultra adverse recommendation change would reasonably be expected to constitute a breach the Ultra board s fiduciary duties under applicable law and (ii) where reasonably practicable and not contrary to the duties of the Ultra board, Ultra first provides written notice to the Company of, and sets forth in reasonable detail the reasons for, the determination and intent of the Ultra board to effect an Ultra adverse recommendation change.

Filings; Other Actions; Notification

General Obligations

As a general matter, the Company and Ultra must cooperate with each other and use (and cause their respective subsidiaries to use) their respective reasonable best efforts to take or cause to be taken all actions and do or cause to be done all things reasonably necessary and proper on their part under the merger agreement and applicable law to consummate and make effective the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement as soon as practicable, including preparing and filing as promptly as practicable all documentation to effect all necessary notices, reports and other filings and to obtain as promptly as practicable all consents, registrations, approvals, permits and authorizations necessary or advisable to be obtained from any third party or any governmental entity in order to consummate the merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

Efforts to Complete the Merger

The Company and Ultra have agreed to cooperate with each other, to the extent not prohibited by applicable law and under the terms and subject to the conditions contained in the merger agreement, in connection with the obtaining the regulatory approvals described below, including by:

promptly notifying the other of, and, if in writing, furnishing the other with copies of (or, in the case of material oral communications, advising the other orally of) any communications from or with any governmental entity with respect to the merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

permitting the other to review and discuss in advance, and considering in good faith the views of the other in connection with, any proposed written (or any material proposed oral) communication with any governmental entity;

not participating, and not permitting any of its representatives to participate, in any meeting with any governmental entity unless the party notifies the other in advance and, to the extent permitted by the applicable governmental entity, gives the other the opportunity to attend and participate at such meeting;

furnishing the other with copies of all correspondence, filings and communications (and memoranda setting forth the substance thereof) between the party and any governmental entity with respect to the merger agreement and the merger; and

cooperating with the other to furnish the other party with such necessary information and reasonable assistance as the other party may reasonably request in connection with the parties mutual cooperation in preparing any necessary filings or submissions of information to any governmental entity.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the merger agreement, in order to obtain the regulatory approvals described below, the Company will not agree or consent to dispose of, license or hold separate any assets, or

119

otherwise commit to take or take any action that would limit Ultra's ability to retain the Company or any of its affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) or Ultra or any of its affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) or agree to alter or restrict the business or commercial practices, including any terms or conditions of any contracts, of the Company or any of its affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) without Ultra's prior written consent.

Antitrust Approval

The Company and Ultra have agreed, as promptly as practicable but no later than ten business days following the execution and delivery of the merger agreement, to file or cause to be filed with the United States Federal Trade Commission and the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice the notification and report form, if any, required for the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and any supplemental information requested in connection with filing the notification and report form, and, as promptly as practicable, to make, or cause to be made, any filing that may be necessary or, in the reasonable opinion of Ultra, advisable under any other antitrust or competition law and provide each governmental entity with jurisdiction over enforcement of any antitrust or competition law applicable to the Company, its subsidiaries or Ultra all non-privileged information and documents that are required or reasonably requested by any governmental entity or by Ultra pursuant to applicable antitrust or competition law in connection with consummation of the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

CFIUS Approval

The Company and Ultra have also agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to obtain the CFIUS Approval described in the section entitled The Merger Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger beginning on page 99 of this proxy statement. Such reasonable best efforts includes promptly after the date of signing the merger agreement preparing, prefiling and then filing with CFIUS a joint voluntary notice pursuant to the DPA with respect to the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, and providing any additional or supplemental information, certifications and agreements requested by CFIUS or any other agency or branch of the U.S. government in connection with the CFIUS review or investigation of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement within the timeframes required by the DPA, unless CFIUS agrees in writing to an extension of such timeframe, except that, other than operating the Company and the Company s cleared subsidiaries pursuant to the special security agreement, existing as of the date of the merger agreement, of Ultra or one of its subsidiaries, neither Ultra nor any of its subsidiaries will be required to agree to take or commit to take any action or agree to any mitigation under Section 721(I) of the DPA or the NISPOM that are reasonably unacceptable to Ultra or any of its subsidiaries, including any actions or mitigation that could reasonably be expected to limit its freedom of action with respect to, or ability to retain, one or more of the Company s businesses or product lines, and that, if CFIUS notifies Ultra, Merger Sub or the Company that CFIUS has completed its review or investigation and intends to send a report to the President of the United States recommending that the President suspend or prohibit the merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, Ultra and the Company may, at the discretion of Ultra or the Company, request a withdrawal of any filing or notification made to CFIUS. Ultra, Merger Sub and the Company will afford each other the opportunity to review and comment in advance on any submissions to CFIUS to be made by the submitting party, except for personal identifier information or other information proprietary to the submitting party.

DDTC Notification

The Company and Ultra have also agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to prepare and submit, as promptly as practicable but no later than ten business days after the execution and delivery of the merger agreement, the Company s notification to DDTC pursuant to Section 122.4(b) of ITAR, including such information about the Company and its affiliates as may be required, and to prepare and submit any other information or agreement as may be required by DDTC in connection with the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

120

DSS Approval

The Company and Ultra have also agreed to use their reasonable best efforts to (i) have the Company prepare and submit, at the Company s sole expense, to the DSS and, to the extent applicable, any other agency of the U.S. government, notification of the merger and the other relevant transactions contemplated by the merger agreement pursuant to the NISPOM, and the Company will reasonably cooperate with Ultra in requesting, at Ultra s sole expense, from the DSS approval to operate the business of the Company and its cleared subsidiaries pursuant to the special security agreement, existing as of the date of the merger agreement, of Ultra or one of its subsidiaries, in accordance with NISPOM, and (ii) take all steps advisable, necessary or desirable to obtain assurances, reasonably deemed sufficient by Ultra or one of its subsidiaries, that favorable National Interest Determinations in accordance with the NISPOM, or similar determinations under any applicable national or industrial security regulations of any federal governmental entity of the U.S. government, will be granted authorizing access to proscribed or other relevant information by the Company and its cleared subsidiaries following the closing as may be necessary for the Company and its cleared subsidiaries to continue to perform their government contracts.

Certain Limitations on Ultra s Obligations to Obtain Regulatory Approvals

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the merger agreement, nothing contained in the merger agreement will require Ultra or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates to agree to any action to (i) dispose of, license or hold separate any assets, or otherwise take or commit to take any action that limits the freedom of action of Ultra or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates with respect to, or their ability to retain, the Company or any of its affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets), or (ii) alter or restrict in any way the business or commercial practices, including any terms or conditions of any contracts, of the Company or any of its affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) or Ultra or any of its affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) or Ultra or any of its affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets), except that if requested by a governmental entity in order to obtain the regulatory approvals described above, Ultra will agree to the disposal (and the Company will agree to do so after the closing if requested by Ultra) of the Company s MDS business segment or any assets of the Company or its subsidiaries (but not of Ultra or its affiliates) that do not relate to the sonobuoy business of the Company or its subsidiaries and that, individually or in the aggregate, are not material in any respect to the Company and its subsidiaries.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the merger agreement, Ultra has the right, but not the obligation, to defend (or initiate) any proceeding instituted by a governmental entity with respect to the legality of the merger under any law, including any antitrust or competition law, or in order to overturn any regulatory action by any such governmental entity to prevent consummation of the merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including by defending any proceeding in order to avoid the entry of, or to have vacated, overturned or terminated, including by appeal, any governmental order.

Financing

The obligation of Ultra and Merger Sub to effect the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement is not contingent upon the receipt by Ultra of any financing.

Equity Financing

On July 11, 2017, Ultra completed a placement of its ordinary shares, which Ultra announced provided aggregate net proceeds of approximately £133.7 million (or approximately US \$173.8 million assuming an exchange rate of £1 to US \$1.30). Ultra has stated that it intends to use those net proceeds and drawing down under Ultra s and its subsidiaries existing bank facilities to pay the aggregate merger consideration.

Letters of Credit; Company Credit Facilities

Prior to the closing and as promptly as practicable following the date of signing the merger agreement, the Company has agreed to, and will cause its subsidiaries and its and its subsidiaries respective representatives to,

121

use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with Ultra, in connection with facilitating the replacement (effective as of the date of the closing) of all outstanding letters of credit of the Company or any of its subsidiaries issued under the Company s existing credit facility with BMO Harris Bank N.A. with letters of credit issued under Ultra s credit facility and paying off other credit facilities of the Company and its subsidiaries as of the date of the closing and, as applicable, releasing liens under such credit facilities and receiving documentation confirming such payoff and release. The Company s cooperation will include facilitating the direct contact between Ultra and the parties under credit facilities of the Company and its subsidiaries, and between the beneficiaries of all outstanding letters of credit of the Company or any of its subsidiaries issued under the Company s existing credit facility with BMO Harris Bank N.A. and Ultra and its representatives, as well as direct contact between such beneficiaries and Ultra s lenders, in all such cases upon reasonable advance notice.

Employee Matters

From and after the effective time until the later of the first anniversary of the date of the closing and December 31, 2018 (which we refer to as the continuation period), Ultra has agreed to provide, or will cause the surviving corporation to provide, each individual who is employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries immediately before the effective time (which we refer to as company employees) and who continues employment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the continuation period with compensation and benefits that are substantially comparable in the aggregate to the compensation and benefits (including target cash incentive amounts but excluding equity compensation incentives, severance payments and any compensation or benefits triggered in whole or in part by the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or other transactions that would constitute a change in control or change of control or similar transaction for purposes of a Company benefit plan or comparable plan) provided to the company employee immediately prior to the effective time. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, those individuals who are employed by MDS or otherwise are transferred to a buyer in connection with a sale of MDS will cease to be company employees as of the closing of the sale of MDS, and the continuation period with respect to such individuals will, if not previously expired, expire on the closing of the sale of MDS.

Ultra, the surviving corporation and their respective subsidiaries, as applicable, have agreed to cause each Company benefit plan or comparable benefit plan maintained by Ultra, the surviving corporation or their respective subsidiaries in which the company employees are eligible to participate after the date of the closing (including any vacation and paid time-off and severance plans) to take into account each company employee s service with the Company or any of its subsidiaries (as well as service with any predecessor employer of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, to the extent service with the predecessor employer is recognized by the Company or any of its subsidiaries) for purposes of determining the company employee s eligibility to participate and vesting in such plan (but not for accrual of benefits other than determining the level of vacation pay accrual), except that the company employee s service need not be considered to the extent that the recognition by Ultra described above would result in any duplication of benefits for the same period of service.

Ultra has also agreed, to the extent permitted by applicable law and the relevant insurance carriers, to waive, or cause the surviving corporation to waive, any pre-existing condition limitations, exclusions, actively-at-work requirements and waiting periods under any welfare benefit plan maintained by Ultra, the surviving corporation or any of their respective subsidiaries in which company employees (and their eligible dependents) will be eligible to participate from and after the effective time, except to the extent that such pre-existing condition limitations, exclusions, actively-at-work requirements and waiting periods would not have been satisfied or waived under the comparable Company benefit plan immediately prior to the effective time. Ultra will, or will cause the surviving corporation to, recognize the dollar amount of all co-payments, deductibles and similar expenses incurred by each company employee (and his or her eligible dependents) during the calendar year in which the effective time occurs for purposes of satisfying such year s deductible and co-payment limitations under the relevant welfare benefit plans in which they will be eligible to participate from and after the effective time.

122

Shareholder Litigation

The Company and Ultra must promptly notify each other of, and give each other the opportunity to participate in the defense, settlement and/or prosecution of, any proceeding (including derivative claims) brought by any of the Company shareholders against the Company and/or members of the Company board relating to the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. The Company and Ultra will keep each other reasonably informed with respect to the status of any such litigation, and the Company may not compromise, settle, come to an arrangement regarding or agree to compromise, settle or come to an arrangement regarding any such litigation or consent to the same, without the Ultra's prior written consent (which will not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

Indemnification; **Directors** and **Officers** Insurance

Ultra will, and will cause the surviving corporation to, indemnify and hold harmless each present and former director and officer of the Company and its subsidiaries (in each case, when acting in such capacity), whom we collectively refer to as the indemnified parties, to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law from and against any costs or expenses (including reasonable attorneys fees), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages or liabilities incurred in connection with any proceeding arising out of or pertaining to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the effective time relating to the indemnified party s service with, at the request of or for the benefit of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, including the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. From and after the effective time, Ultra will, and will cause the surviving corporation to, advance expenses to any indemnified party claiming indemnification pursuant to the merger agreement as incurred to the fullest extent permitted under applicable law, except that such indemnified party must provide a written undertaking in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Ultra to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that the indemnified party is not entitled to indemnification.

From and after the effective time, Ultra will cause the surviving corporation to honor the provisions, to the extent they are enforceable under applicable law, regarding exculpation of directors, limitation of liability of directors and officers and advancement of expenses contained in the Company's articles of incorporation, code of regulations, the comparable organizational documents of any of the Company's subsidiaries or any indemnification contract between the applicable indemnified party and the Company or any of its subsidiaries immediately prior to the effective time.

From and after the effective time, Ultra will cause the surviving corporation to maintain for a period of at least six years following the effective time directors and officers liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance policies (which we refer to as the D&O policies), with respect to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the effective time, including for acts or omissions in connection with the merger agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. The D&O policies must be from an insurance carrier with the same or better credit rating as the Company s current insurance carrier with benefits, levels of coverage and terms and conditions that are at least as favorable as the Company s D&O policies existing immediately prior to the effective time. However, neither Ultra nor the surviving corporation will be required to expend for any year of such D&O policy coverage an annual premium amount greater than 300% of the annual premium paid by the Company for the D&O policies for the fiscal year immediately prior to the effective time, but Ultra and the surviving corporation will still be required to obtain D&O policies with the greatest coverage available for an annual premium not exceeding such amount.

Notwithstanding Ultra s obligations described above, the Company may in its sole discretion obtain, prior to the effective time, six year pre-paid tail insurance coverage, at an aggregate cost no greater than six times 300% of the annual premium paid by the Company for the D&O policies for the fiscal year immediately prior to the effective time, providing for D&O policy coverage not less favorable than the coverage described above. If the Company obtains such six year pre-paid tail insurance policy, Ultra will cause such policy to be maintained in full force and effect for its full term and cause all obligations thereunder to be honored by the surviving corporation, and Ultra will have no further obligation to purchase or pay for the D&O policies.

123

Table of Contents

Each of the indemnified parties will have the right to enforce the provisions of the merger agreement relating to their indemnification as third-party beneficiaries of such provisions and the obligations of Ultra and the surviving corporation under such provisions will not be terminated or modified in any manner that could adversely affect any indemnified party without such indemnified party s consent.

Expenses

Subject to certain exceptions, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with the merger agreement and the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement will be paid by the party incurring such expenses, whether or not the merger is consummated.

Government Contracts

If a responsible contracting officer for the U.S. government determines before the closing that there are any issues related to the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement with respect to any government contract to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries is a party and that such issues should be addressed in a formal agreement between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the U.S. government (including pursuant to Federal Acquisition Regulation 42.12), the Company and Ultra have agreed to prepare, and if applicable the Company will cause the applicable Company subsidiary to prepare, with Ultra s assistance, the required agreement within a reasonable time following the effective time to be submitted by the Company to the responsible contracting officer for the U.S. government. Each party will promptly provide to the others any information with respect to such party that may be required in connection with preparing, processing, entering into and completing the agreement. Each party has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to obtain all consents, approvals and waivers required for the purpose of processing, entering into, and completing the agreement with respect to the government contracts, including responding to any requests for information by the U.S. government with regard to such agreement.

The Company will, at Ultra s reasonable request, or, if applicable, cause the applicable Company subsidiary to, with respect to certain contracts listed in the Company disclosure letter, communicate to each responsible contracting officer for the U.S. government the fact that the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement are pending. Such communications will be made as soon as practicable after the date of signing the merger agreement and prior to the date of closing and will be made in the manner Ultra reasonably determines is appropriate to preserve the Company s or its applicable subsidiary s relationship with such responsible contracting officers for the U.S. government.

Notification of Certain Matters

The Company, Ultra and Merger Sub have agreed to give prompt written notice to the others of (i) any notice or other communication received by the Company, Ultra or Merger Sub from any governmental entity in connection with the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement or from any person alleging that their consent is or may be required in connection with the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, or (ii) to the Company s, Ultra s or Merger Sub s knowledge, the occurrence, or non-occurrence, of any change or event that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to cause any condition to the obligation of the Company, Ultra or Merger Sub to effect the merger as described below under Conditions to the Merger, beginning on page 126 of this proxy statement, not to be satisfied.

Sale of MDS

The Company, Ultra and Merger Sub have agreed to cooperate with one another, following the date of signing the merger agreement, to arrange for the sale after the effective time, whether by merger, acquisition or otherwise, of MDS and to achieve a tax efficient disposition of MDS. The Company will, and will cause its

124

subsidiaries and will use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and their respective representatives to, (i) provide Ultra and prospective purchasers of MDS approved by Ultra who have signed or will sign confidentiality agreements in form reasonably acceptable to Ultra and the Company (which we refer to as prospective purchasers), reasonable access, subject to certain limitations in the merger agreement regarding access to the Company and its information, to the Company and its subsidiaries and their facilities, books and records (including copies of tax returns and supporting work schedules and such other financial, tax and operating data, including information regarding tax basis of the assets and stock of each of the Company s subsidiaries and any net operating losses and current year income) and other information relating to MDS and, to the extent applicable, the Company and its subsidiaries, (ii) subject to certain limitations in the merger agreement regarding access to the Company and its information, make employees of the Company and its subsidiaries reasonably available to Ultra, prospective purchasers and their respective representatives to provide additional information and explanation as may be reasonably requested of any materials provided under the merger agreement and to facilitate discussions regarding employment of such employees following the sale of MDS, (iii) in anticipation of, and prior to, signing the definitive purchase agreement with respect to a sale of MDS with a prospective purchaser, facilitate customary pre-signing calls between the prospective purchaser and the material customers and suppliers of MDS to assist with due diligence by the prospective purchaser and the Company will have the option to, at its sole discretion, participate in such calls, (iv) make available an electronic data room and contribute information relating to MDS as may be reasonably requested by Ultra or the prospective purchasers, (v) cause the Company s and the Company s subsidiaries officers and employees to provide assistance reasonably requested by Ultra in Ultra s preparation and negotiation of the definitive purchase agreement, including appropriate covenants, representations, warranties and disclosure schedules and customary ancillary agreements, and (vi) take additional actions that are reasonably requested by Ultra in connection with the obligations of the Company described above, which includes providing information reasonably requested by Ultra in connection with any announcement Ultra is required to issue regarding the sale of MDS in compliance with the listing rules of the UKLA.

The Company is not, however, required to enter into any contract in connection with the sale of MDS (other than non-disclosure agreements with a prospective purchaser, to the extent that it does not have one) or to take certain other actions in connection with the sale of MDS.

Other Agreements

The merger agreement contains certain other covenants and agreements between the Company, Ultra and Merger Sub, including covenants and agreements relating to:

the Company s agreement to provide Ultra reasonable access to its books and records;

cooperation by the Company with Ultra to use its reasonable best efforts to delist the Company common stock from the NYSE and to deregister the Company common stock under the Exchange Act;

cooperation between the Company and Ultra in connection with public announcements relating to the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

the Company s agreement to take the steps reasonably necessary or advisable to cause any dispositions of the Company s equity securities (including derivative securities) pursuant to the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement by each individual subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to the Company to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act;

the Company s and Ultra s agreement to provide each other with certain resolutions and written consents effected in connection with the merger agreement and the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

Ultra s agreement to cause Merger Sub and the surviving corporation to comply with their obligations under the merger agreement and Merger Sub s agreement not to engage in any activities except as provided in or contemplated by the merger agreement;

125

the agreement that the Company, Ultra, Merger Sub and their respective boards of directors will, if any takeover statute is or may be applicable to the merger or the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, grant reasonable approvals and take reasonable actions as are necessary to consummate, as promptly as practicable, the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement and will otherwise act to eliminate or minimize the effects of any takeover statute or regulations on the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement; and

the resignation of certain of the Company s and its subsidiaries directors and officers as requested by Ultra that will be effective on or before the effective time.

Conditions to the Merger

Each of the Company s, Ultra s and Merger Sub s obligation to effect the merger is subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by law) waiver at or prior to the closing of each of the following conditions:

the merger agreement having been duly adopted by the holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Company common stock entitled to vote at the Company shareholder meeting (which we refer to as the Company shareholder approval);

the Ultra shareholder resolution having been duly passed by the affirmative vote of a simple majority of the votes cast on a show of hands by the Ultra shareholders present in person or by proxy at the Ultra shareholders meeting, or if a poll is called, the affirmative vote of a simple majority of the votes cast on a poll by the Ultra shareholders present in person or by proxy at the Ultra shareholders meeting (which we refer to as the Ultra shareholder approval);

the absence of an enactment, entering, promulgation or enforcement of any law, executive order, ruling, injunction, or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) by a governmental entity of competent jurisdiction that is in effect and restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the merger;

the expiration, lapse or termination of the waiting or other time periods applicable to the consummation of the merger under the Investment Canada Act (or any extension thereof) and any applicable regulatory clearance having been obtained;

the expiration or early termination of the waiting period applicable to the consummation of the merger under the HSR Act (or any extension thereof);

the expiration, lapse or termination (as appropriate) of all applicable waiting and other time periods applicable to the consummation of the merger under the antitrust or competition laws of each jurisdiction agreed to at the time of the signing of the merger agreement and, subject to the limitations in the merger agreement, certain additional jurisdictions for which Ultra reasonably determines a filing is mandatory (which we refer to as applicable jurisdictions), and the obtaining of all antitrust or competition regulatory clearances applicable to the consummation of the merger in each such applicable jurisdiction, in each case unless waived by Ultra in its sole discretion (see The Merger Regulatory Approvals Required for the Merger Foreign Regulatory Matters, beginning on page 100 of this proxy statement, for more information on the applicable jurisdictions);

the expiration or termination of any agreement with a governmental entity not to consummate the merger, which agreement will have been entered into with both the Company s and Ultra s prior written consent;

the Company, Ultra and Merger Sub having obtained the CFIUS Approval;

the Company, Ultra and Merger Sub having obtained the DSS Approval; and

the expiration or waiver by DDTC of any applicable prior notice period under ITAR relating to the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

126

The obligations of Ultra and Merger Sub to effect the merger are further subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by law) waiver at or prior to the closing of each of the following conditions:

the representations and warranties of the Company relating to its ownership of its subsidiaries, capital structure, corporate power and authority and brokers and other advisors being true and correct in all respects as of the date of signing the merger agreement and as of the date of the closing as though made on and as of the date of the closing (except to the extent the representation or warranty is expressly made as of a specific date (including the date of signing the merger agreement) in which case the representation and warranty must be true and correct only as of that specific date), except, in the case of the Company s representations and warranties relating to its ownership of its subsidiaries and capital structure, for de minimis inaccuracies;

the representations and warranties of the Company relating to the absence of certain changes or events since April 2, 2017 being true and correct in all respects as of the date of signing the merger agreement and as of the date of the closing as though made on and as of the date of the closing;

the representations and warranties of the Company relating to noncontravention being true and correct in all material respects (disregarding all qualifications or limitations as to materiality, material adverse effect and words of similar import set forth therein) as of the date of signing the merger agreement and as of the date of the closing as though made on and as of the date of the closing (except to the extent the representation or warranty is expressly made as of a specific date (including the date of signing the merger agreement) in which case the representation and warranty must be true and correct only as of that specific date);

each of the representations and warranties of the Company other than those referred to in the first three bullets above being true and correct in all respects (disregarding all qualifications or limitations as to materiality, material adverse effect and words of similar import set forth therein) as of the date of signing the merger agreement and as of the date of the closing as though made on and as of the date of the closing (except to the extent the representation or warranty is expressly made as of a specific date (including the date of signing the merger agreement) in which case the representation and warranty must be true and correct only as of that specific date), except where the failure of any such representations and warranties to be true and correct has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect;

the Company having performed in all material respects all of its obligations under the merger agreement on or prior to the date of the closing; and

Ultra having received a certificate of the chief executive officer or the chief financial officer of the Company, certifying that the conditions set forth in the preceding five bullets have been satisfied.

The obligations of the Company to effect the merger are further subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by law) waiver at or prior to the closing of each of the following conditions:

the representations and warranties of Ultra and Merger Sub relating to its power and authority being true and correct in all respects as of the date of signing the merger agreement and as of the date of the closing as though made on and as of such date (except to the extent the representation or warranty is expressly made as of a specific date (including the date of signing the merger agreement) in which case the representation and warranty must be true and correct only as of that specific date), except for de minimis inaccuracies:

each of the representations and warranties of Ultra and Merger Sub other than the representations and warranties referred to in the first bullet above being true and correct in all respects (disregarding all qualifications or limitations as to materiality, material adverse effect and words of similar import set forth therein) as of the date of signing the merger agreement and as of the date of the closing as though made on and as of such date (except to the extent the representation or warranty is expressly made as of a specific date (including the date of signing the merger agreement) in which case the

127

Table of Contents

representation and warranty must be true and correct only as of that specific date), except where the failure of any such representations and warranties to be true and correct has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on Ultra s or Merger Sub s ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement;

Ultra and Merger Sub having performed in all material respects all of their obligations under the merger agreement on or prior to the date of the closing; and

the Company having received a certificate of the chief executive officer or the chief financial officer (or comparable officer) of Ultra, certifying that the conditions set forth in the preceding three bullets have been satisfied.

Termination

The merger agreement may be terminated and the merger may be abandoned at any time prior to the effective time, whether before or after (except as set forth below) the Company shareholders approval, under the following circumstances:

by mutual written consent of Ultra and the Company;

by either Ultra or the Company:

if the merger is not consummated on or before January 31, 2018 (unless any condition relating to a governmental order having been entered pursuant to the HSR Act or any other applicable antitrust or competition law, the expiration or termination of the waiting period under the Investment Canada Act or the HSR Act or certain other applicable antitrust or competition laws, CFIUS Approval, DSS Approval or the expiration or waiver of the applicable notice period under ITAR by DDTC has not been satisfied by January 31, 2018, in which case Ultra or the Company may extend the date to March 31, 2018 and, following such extension, Ultra, in its sole discretion, may further extend the date to July 31, 2018), except that this right to terminate the merger agreement will not be available to Ultra or the Company if either party (or, in the case of Ultra, Merger Sub) has materially breached its obligations under the merger agreement if such breach was the principal cause of or resulted in the failure of a condition to any party s obligation to effect the merger on or prior to such date (we refer to such date as the outside date and a termination of the merger agreement for this reason as an outside date termination);

if, at the Company shareholders meeting (or any adjournment or postponement thereof), a proposal to adopt the merger agreement is voted upon by the Company shareholders and the Company shareholder approval is not obtained (we refer to a termination of the merger agreement for this reason as a Company shareholder no-vote termination);

if, at the Ultra shareholders meeting (or any adjournment or postponement thereof), the Ultra shareholder resolution is voted upon by the Ultra shareholders and the Ultra shareholder approval is not obtained (we refer to a termination of the merger agreement for this reason as an Ultra shareholder no-vote termination); or

if any law, executive order, ruling, injunction or other order permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the merger becomes final and non-appealable, except that this right to terminate the merger agreement will not be available to any party that has not complied in all material respects with its obligations under the regulatory approvals covenant of the merger agreement (with any non-compliance by Merger Sub being attributed to Ultra).

by the Company:

at any time prior to the Company shareholder approval being obtained and, if the Company is in compliance in all respects with its obligations under the acquisition proposals covenant of the merger agreement, in order to accept a superior proposal and enter into an acquisition agreement

128

providing for the superior proposal concurrently with terminating the merger agreement (we refer to a termination of the merger agreement for this reason as a superior proposal termination);

if the Ultra board effects an Ultra adverse recommendation change (we refer to a termination of the merger agreement for this reason as a termination for Ultra adverse recommendation change);

if, by January 24, 2018, (i) the Ultra shareholders meeting is not convened or (ii) the Ultra shareholders meeting is convened without a vote on the Ultra shareholder resolution by the Ultra shareholders taking place, so long as Ultra has not effected a Ultra adverse recommendation change, except that the right of the Company to terminate the merger agreement under clauses (i) and (ii) will not be available to the Company if the Ultra shareholder approval has been obtained (we refer to a termination of the merger agreement for this reason as an Ultra no-meeting termination); or

if Ultra or Merger Sub has breached any of their respective representations or warranties or failed to perform any of their respective covenants or other agreements contained in the merger agreement, in each case such that the conditions to the Company s obligations to effect the merger would not be satisfied and such breach is incapable of being cured or, if capable of being cured, is not cured prior to the earlier of 45 days after written notice of such breach or failure to perform is given by the Company to Ultra, and the outside date, except that this right of the Company to terminate the merger agreement will not be available to the Company if it is then in material breach of the merger agreement such that the conditions to Ultra s and Merger Sub s obligations to effect the merger would not be satisfied.

by Ultra:

if the Company board effects a Company adverse recommendation change (we refer to a termination of the merger agreement for this reason as a termination for Company adverse recommendation change);

if the Company has breached or been deemed to have breached the Company s covenant related to non-solicitation of acquisition proposals in any material respect, except that this right of Ultra to terminate the merger agreement will not be available to Ultra if the Company shareholder approval has been obtained (we refer to a termination of the merger agreement for this reason as a termination for breach of the non-solicitation covenant);

if the Company has breached any of its representations or warranties or failed to perform any of its covenants or other agreements contained in the merger agreement, in each case such that the conditions to Ultra s and Merger Sub s obligations to effect the merger would not be satisfied and such breach is incapable of being cured or, if capable of being cured, is not cured prior to the earlier of 45 days after written notice of such breach or failure to perform is given by Ultra to the Company, and the outside date, except that this right of Ultra to terminate the merger agreement will not be available to the Ultra if it is then in material breach of the merger agreement such that the conditions to the Company s obligations to effect the merger would not be satisfied (we refer to a termination of the merger agreement for this reason as a termination for Company breach); or

in Ultra s sole discretion, if any governmental entity has instituted any proceeding challenging the validity or legality of, or seeking to restrain the consummation of, the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement.

Termination Fee

The Company will be required to pay Ultra a termination fee equal to \$7,500,000 if:

a superior proposal termination has occurred;

129

Table of Contents

after the date of signing the merger agreement and prior to the date of the Company shareholders meeting (or the date of postponement or adjournment thereof, if applicable), a bona fide acquisition proposal is publicly announced or otherwise publicly disclosed and not withdrawn prior to the date of the Company shareholders meeting (or the date of postponement or adjournment thereof, if applicable) and thereafter (i) a Company shareholder no-vote termination occurs and (ii) twelve months after such termination, the Company enters into a definitive agreement to consummate an acquisition proposal and the acquisition proposal is subsequently consummated or an acquisition proposal is otherwise consummated within twelve months after such termination (for these purposes, acquisition proposal has the same meaning assigned elsewhere in this proxy statement, except that all references to 15% in the definition are deemed to be references to 50% and a sale of MDS is excluded);

after the date of signing the merger agreement and prior to the outside date, a bona fide acquisition proposal is publicly announced or otherwise disclosed to the Company board and not withdrawn as of the outside date, and the Company, as of the outside date, is in breach of the merger agreement such that Ultra could terminate for Company breach and thereafter (i) an outside date termination occurs and (ii) within twelve months after such termination, the Company enters into a definitive agreement to consummate an acquisition proposal and such acquisition proposal is subsequently consummated or an acquisition proposal is otherwise consummated within twelve months after such termination (for these purposes, acquisition proposal has the same meaning assigned elsewhere in this proxy statement, except that all references to 15% in the definition are deemed to be references to 50% and a sale of MDS is excluded); or

a termination for Company adverse recommendation change or termination for breach of the non-solicitation covenant has occurred. If the merger agreement is terminated pursuant to the first bullet above, the termination fee must be paid on the date of termination. If the merger agreement is terminated pursuant to the second bullet or third bullet above, the termination fee must be paid on the date of consummation of the acquisition proposal. If the merger agreement is terminated pursuant to the fourth bullet above, the termination fee must be paid within three business days of the date of termination. The Company will not be required under any circumstances to pay the termination fee on more than one occasion.

Ultra will be required to pay the Company a parent termination fee equal to \$7,500,000 (except that nothing in the merger agreement will require Ultra to pay any amount in excess of the amount permitted to be paid without prior approval of the Ultra shareholders under the listing rules of the UKLA and the parent termination fee will be reduced to the extent necessary to ensure approval of the Ultra shareholders is not required) if:

an Ultra shareholder no-vote termination occurs; or

a termination for Ultra adverse recommendation change or an Ultra no-meeting termination occurs.

If the merger agreement is terminated pursuant to the first or second bullet above, the parent termination fee must be paid within three business days of termination. Ultra will not be required under any circumstances to pay the parent termination fee on more than one occasion.

Remedies

No termination of the merger agreement will relieve any of the Company, Ultra or Merger Sub of any liability for damages resulting from any willful breach (as defined below) prior to the termination.

Under the merger agreement, willful breach means, with respect to any breach or failure to perform any of the covenants or other agreements contained in the merger agreement, a material breach that is a consequence of an act or failure to act undertaken by the breaching party with actual knowledge that such party s act or failure to act would result in or constitute a breach of the merger agreement. The failure of a party to the merger agreement to

130

Table of Contents

consummate the closing when required under the merger agreement constitutes a willful breach of the merger agreement.

In the event of termination of the merger agreement, if the Company or Ultra receives the termination fee or the parent termination fee, as applicable, such payment, together with any costs, fees or expenses payable under the merger agreement, is the sole and exclusive remedy of the receiving party against the paying party and its subsidiaries and their respective former, current or future partners, shareholders, managers, members, affiliates and representatives in connection with the merger agreement or the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, and none of the paying party, any of its subsidiaries or any of their respective former, current or future partners, shareholders, managers, members, affiliates or representatives will have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of the merger agreement or the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement, including with respect to any willful breach.

No agent, arranger, lender or other person that is not Ultra or a subsidiary of Ultra and has committed to provide or arrange, or has entered into definitive agreements related to, the equity financing provided for in the merger agreement, or any of such person s affiliates or its or their respective officers, directors, employees, partners, trustees, shareholders, controlling persons, agents, representatives, successors or assigns (which we refer to as financing sources), will have any liability to the Company or any of the Company s affiliates relating to or arising out of the merger agreement, the equity financing or otherwise, whether at law, or equity, in contract, in tort or otherwise, and neither the Company nor any of the Company s affiliates will have any rights or claims against any financing sources under the merger agreement or the equity financing.

In addition to any other remedies to which the Company, Ultra or Merger Sub may be entitled at law or in equity, the parties are entitled to seek an injunction, specific performance or other equitable remedies to prevent breaches of the merger agreement and to enforce specifically its terms.

Amendment and Waiver

Subject to applicable law, the merger agreement may be amended or modified by the Company, Ultra or Merger Sub at any time prior to the effective time (in the case of the Company or Merger Sub, by action of their respective board of directors to the extent required by law) by written agreement, executed and delivered by duly authorized officers of the Company, Ultra and Merger Sub.

At any time prior to the effective time, the Company, Ultra or Merger Sub may extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties; to the extent permitted by law, waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other parties in the merger agreement or any document delivered pursuant to the merger agreement; and, subject to the requirements of applicable law, waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions contained in the merger agreement, except that neither Ultra nor Merger Sub may perform any of the actions described above with respect to Merger Sub or Ultra, respectively. Such extensions or waivers will only be valid if set forth in a writing signed by the party or parties to be bound thereby and specifically referencing the merger agreement. The failure of the Company, Ultra or Merger Sub to assert any of their respective rights or remedies will not constitute a waiver of such rights or remedies.

131

PROPOSAL 1 VOTE ON ADOPTION OF THE MERGER AGREEMENT

As discussed elsewhere in this proxy statement, at the special meeting Company shareholders will consider and vote on a proposal to adopt the merger agreement. You should carefully read this proxy statement in its entirety for more detailed information concerning the merger agreement, the merger and the other transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. In particular, you should read in its entirety the merger agreement, which is attached as **Annex A** to this proxy statement. For more information please see the discussion in the sections entitled The Merger beginning on page 27 and The Merger Agreement beginning on page 103 in this proxy statement.

The Company board unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

If you submit your proxy, but do not indicate instructions to vote your shares of Company common stock for, against or abstain on the merger proposal, your shares will be voted FOR the proposal to adopt the merger agreement.

The proposal to adopt the merger agreement requires the affirmative vote in person or by proxy of holders of at least two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Company common stock entitled to vote thereon. If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person, mark abstain on your proxy or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote with respect to the merger proposal, it will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal.

132

PROPOSAL 2 ADVISORY VOTE ON MERGER-RELATED COMPENSATION FOR THE COMPANY S NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Merger-Related Compensation Proposal

Pursuant to Section 14A of the Exchange Act and Rule 14a-21(c) thereunder, the Company is seeking a non-binding, advisory shareholder approval of the compensation of the Company s named executive officers that is based on or otherwise relates to the merger as disclosed in this proxy statement in the section entitled. The Merger Interests of the Company s Executive Officers and Directors in the Merger Golden Parachute Compensation. The proposal gives the Company shareholders the opportunity to express their views on the merger-related compensation of the Company s named executive officers.

Accordingly, the Company is requesting shareholders to adopt the following resolution, on a non-binding, advisory basis:

RESOLVED, that the compensation that will or may be paid or become payable to the Company s named executive officers, in connection with the merger, and the agreements or understandings pursuant to which such compensation will or may be paid or become payable, in each case as disclosed pursuant to Item 402(t) of Regulation S-K in the section entitled The Merger Interests of the Company s Executive Officers and Directors in the Merger Golden Parachute Compensation, are hereby APPROVED.

Approval of this proposal is not a condition to the consummation of the merger, and the vote with respect to this proposal is advisory only and will not be binding on the Company or Ultra. If the merger is consummated, the merger-related compensation may be paid to the Company s named executive officers to the extent payable in accordance with the terms of the employment arrangements even if the Company shareholders fail to approve the advisory vote regarding merger-related compensation.

The Company board unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the compensation proposal.

If you submit your proxy, but do not indicate instructions to vote your shares of Company common stock for, against or abstain on the compensation proposal, your shares will be voted FOR the compensation proposal.

Approval, on a non-binding, advisory basis, of the compensation proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting. If you mark abstain on your proxy card, it will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal. If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person at the special meeting, or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote with respect to the compensation proposal, it will have no effect on the proposal.

133

PROPOSAL 3 VOTE ON ONE OR MORE ADJOURNMENTS OF THE SPECIAL MEETING, IF NECESSARY OR ADVISABLE

If, at the special meeting, the number of shares of Company common stock present or represented by proxy and voting in favor of the merger proposal is insufficient to approve the merger proposal, the Company intends to ask its shareholders to vote to adjourn the special meeting to another time or place to allow for the solicitation of additional proxies to approve the merger proposal. In this event, the Company will request that the shareholders vote on the adjournment proposal and not the merger proposal. The Company does not intend to call a vote on the adjournment proposal if the merger proposal has been approved at the special meeting.

Accordingly, the Company is asking its shareholders to authorize the holder of any proxy solicited by the Company board, and each of them individually, to vote in favor of adjourning the special meeting to another time and place for the purpose of soliciting additional proxies. If the Company requests a vote on the adjournment proposal and the Company shareholders approve this proposal, the Company could adjourn the special meeting and use this additional time to solicit proxies from its shareholders, including those shareholders who have previously voted.

The Company board unanimously recommends that you vote FOR the adjournment proposal.

If you submit your proxy, but do not indicate instructions to vote your shares of Company common stock for, against or abstain on the adjournment proposal, your shares will be voted FOR the adjournment proposal.

Approval of the adjournment proposal requires the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of the shares of Company common stock present in person or represented by proxy at the special meeting, whether or not a quorum is present. If you mark abstain on your proxy card, it will have the same effect as a vote against the proposal. If you fail to submit a proxy card or vote in person at the special meeting, or fail to instruct your bank, broker or other holder of record how to vote with respect to the adjournment proposal, it will have no effect on the proposal.

134

DISSENTERS RIGHTS

If the merger agreement is adopted by the Company shareholders, Company shareholders who do not vote in favor of or consent to the merger proposal and who properly demand payment of the fair cash value of their shares are entitled to certain dissenters rights pursuant to Sections 1701.84 and 1701.85 of the OGCL.

The following is a summary of the principal steps a shareholder must take to perfect dissenting shareholders—rights under the OGCL. This summary is qualified by reference to the full text of Sections 1701.84 and 1701.85 and other provisions of the OGCL. Any shareholder contemplating exercise of dissenting shareholders—rights is urged to review carefully the provisions of Sections 1701.84 and 1701.85 and to consult an attorney because failure to follow fully and precisely the procedural requirements of the statute may result in termination or waiver of such rights. A copy of Sections 1701.84 and 1701.85 is attached as **Annex C** to this proxy statement.

To perfect dissenting shareholders rights, a dissenting Company shareholder must satisfy each of the following conditions and must otherwise comply with Section 1701.85:

Must be a shareholder of record. A dissenting shareholder must be a record holder of Company common stock on August 15, 2017, the record date for determining those shareholders entitled to vote on the proposal to adopt the merger agreement. Because only shareholders of record on the record date may exercise dissenting shareholders—rights, any person who beneficially owns shares of Company common stock that are held of record by a bank, broker or other holder of record and who desires to exercise dissenting shareholders—rights must, in all cases, instruct the record holder of the common stock to satisfy all of the requirements outlined under Section 1701.85 of the OGCL. The Company may make a written request for evidence of authority if the dissenting demand is executed by a signatory who was designated and approved by the shareholder. The shareholder shall provide the evidence within a reasonable time to the Company, but not sooner than 20 days after receipt of the Company—s written request.

Does not vote in favor of adopting the merger agreement. A dissenting shareholder must not vote his, her or its common stock in favor of the proposal to adopt the merger agreement at the special meeting. Failing to vote or abstaining from voting does not waive a dissenting shareholder s rights. However, a proxy returned to the Company signed but not marked to specify voting instructions will be voted in favor of the proposal to adopt the merger agreement and will constitute a waiver of dissenting shareholders rights.

File a written demand. Before the shareholder vote on the adoption of the merger agreement, any shareholder seeking to perfect dissenting shareholders—rights must make a written demand upon the Company for the fair cash value of the shares of Company common stock held by him, her or it. Any written demand must specify the shareholder—s name and address, the number and class of shares held by him, her or it on the record date, and the amount claimed as the—fair cash value—of the shares of Company common stock held by the shareholder. Voting against the adoption of the merger agreement does not satisfy the requirement of a written demand to the Company as required by Section 1701.85 of the OGCL.

Deliver certificates for placement of a legend. If the Company sends a request to the dissenting shareholder at the address specified in the dissenting shareholder is demand, the dissenting shareholder must submit his, her or its share certificates to the Company within 15 days from the date of the sending of such request for endorsement thereon by the Company that a demand for the fair cash value of the shares of Company common stock has been made. Such a request is not an admission by the Company that a dissenting shareholder is entitled to relief. The Company will promptly return the endorsed share certificates to the dissenting shareholder. At the option of the Company, exercised by written notice sent to the dissenting shareholder, a dissenting shareholder who fails to deliver his, her or its certificates upon request may have his, her or its dissenting shareholder is rights terminated within 20 days after the lapse of the 15-day period, unless a court for good cause shown otherwise directs.

135

Table of Contents

The Company and a dissenting shareholder may come to an agreement as to the fair cash value of the dissenting shareholder s shares of Company common stock. If the Company and any dissenting shareholder cannot agree upon the fair cash value of the shares of Company common stock, then either the Company or the dissenting shareholder may, within three months after service of the dissenting shareholder s demand for the fair cash value of the shares of Company common stock, file a petition in the Court of Common Pleas of Cuyahoga County, Ohio, for a determination that the shareholder is entitled to exercise dissenting shareholders—rights and to determine the fair cash value of the shares of Company common stock. The cost of the proceeding, including reasonable compensation to the appraisers to be fixed by the court, will be assessed or apportioned as the court considers equitable.

Fair cash value is the amount that a willing seller, under no compulsion to sell, would be willing to accept, and that a willing buyer, under no compulsion to purchase, would be willing to pay. In no event will the fair cash value be in excess of the amount specified in the dissenting shareholder s demand. Fair cash value is determined as of the day before the meeting to vote on the adoption of the merger agreement. For purposes of determining fair cash value of a common share listed on a national securities exchange (such as NYSE, on which Company common stock is currently listed) immediately before the effective time of the merger, fair cash value will be the closing sale price on the day before the shareholders meeting to vote on the adoption of the merger agreement. Otherwise, the amount of the fair cash value excludes any appreciation or depreciation in market value of the shares of Company common stock resulting from the merger, any premium associated with control of the Company, or any discount for lack of marketability or minority status. The fair cash value of the shares of Company common stock may be higher, the same as, or lower than the value that shareholders would be entitled to receive under the terms of the merger agreement.

Payment of the fair cash value must be made within 30 days after the later of the final determination of that value or the closing date of the merger. Any such payment will be made only upon simultaneous surrender to the Company of the share certificates for which the payment is made.

A dissenting shareholder s rights to receive the fair cash value of his, her or its shares of Company common stock will terminate if:

the dissenting shareholder has not complied with Section 1701.85 of the OGCL, unless the Company by its board of directors agrees to waive such failure:

the merger is abandoned or is finally enjoined or prevented from being carried out, or shareholders rescind their adoption of the merger agreement;

the dissenting shareholder withdraws his, her or its demand with the consent of the Company by its board of directors; or

the dissenting shareholder and the Company have not agreed on the fair cash value per share and neither has filed or joined in a timely complaint in the Court of Common Pleas of Cuyahoga County, Ohio, requesting a determination of fair cash value within three months after the dissenting shareholder delivered his, her or its demand for fair cash value to the Company.

If a Company shareholder exercises his, her or its dissenters—rights under Section 1701.85, all other rights with respect to such Company shareholder—s shares of Company common stock, including voting and dividend or distribution rights, will be suspended until the Company purchases the shares, or the right to receive the fair cash value is otherwise terminated. All rights of the dissenter with respect to the dissenter—s shares of Company common stock will be reinstated should the right to receive the fair cash value be terminated other than by the purchase of such shares.

136

MARKET PRICE AND DIVIDENDS

The Company common stock is listed for trading on the NYSE under the symbol SPA. On August 25, 2017, the most recent practicable date before this proxy statement was mailed to our shareholders, there were 284 holders of record. The table below shows the high and low closing prices of shares of Company common stock, as reported on the NYSE, for the periods indicated.

	High	Low
Fiscal Year 2016		
First quarter	\$ 26.91	\$ 21.21
Second quarter	25.31	19.03
Third quarter	21.64	12.46
Fourth quarter	22.45	17.71
Fiscal Year 2017		
First quarter	26.26	20.81
Second quarter	26.04	21.57
Third quarter	24.00	20.50
Fourth quarter	23.05	17.16
Fiscal Year 2018		
First quarter (July 3, 2017 through August 25, 2017)	23.28	21.96

The Company has not declared or paid dividends on Company common stock during fiscal 2016, 2017 or 2018.

At the effective time, each share of Company common stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time (except for excluded shares) will be converted into the right to receive the merger consideration of \$23.50 in cash without interest. The merger consideration represents a premium of approximately 54.5% over \$15.21, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on March 15, 2016, the last full trading day before the Company announced its exploration of strategic alternatives, a premium of approximately 28.3% over \$18.31, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on June 22, 2017, the last full trading day before media reports that the Company was in discussions to be acquired by Ultra, and a premium of approximately 5.10% over \$22.36, the closing price of Company common stock on the NYSE on July 6, 2017, the last full trading day before the public announcement of the merger agreement.

On August 25, 2017, the most recent practicable date before this proxy statement was mailed to our shareholders, the closing price for Company common stock on the NYSE was \$23.10 per share. You are encouraged to obtain current market quotations for shares of Company common stock in connection with voting your shares.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

As of August 1, 2017, there were 9,860,635 shares of Company common stock issued and outstanding. Only Company shareholders of record at the close of business on the record date will be entitled to vote at the special meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof.

The Company has determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC. Except as indicated by the footnotes below, the Company believes, based on the information furnished to us, that the persons and entities named in the tables below have voting and investment power with respect to all shares of Company common stock that they beneficially own, subject to applicable community property laws. A person is deemed to be a beneficial owner of any security of which that person has the right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days from the date of determination. The footnotes to the tables indicate how many shares each person has the right to acquire within 60 days of August 1, 2017, along with any Company equity awards that vest within 60 days of August 1, 2017. The Company has based the calculation of the percentage of beneficial ownership on 9,860,635 shares of Company common stock outstanding as of August 1, 2017 plus, with respect to each person, the number of shares that person has the right to acquire within 60 days of August 1, 2017 including shares resulting from Company equity awards that vest within 60 days of August 1, 2017.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

The following table sets forth the Company common stock beneficially owned as of August 1, 2017 by each shareholder known to the Company, based on public filings made with the SEC as of August 1, 2017, to beneficially own more than 5% of the Company s outstanding common stock.

	Shares Beneficially Owned	
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner	Number	Percentage
Dimensional Fund Advisors, LP	806,059(1)	8.21%
Palisades West, Building One, 6300 Bee Cave Road		
Austin, Texas 78746		
Beddow Capital Management Inc.	756,475(2)	7.68%
250 Healdsburg Avenue, Suite 202		
Healdsburg, California 95448		
Tappan Street Partners, LLC	600,000(3)	6.10%
200 Park Avenue South, Suite 1116		
New York, NY 10003		
Janus Capital Management LLC	538,443(4)	5.50%
151 Datusit St		

151 Detroit St.

Denver, Colorado 80206-4805

⁽¹⁾ The shares presented are according to information included in the Schedule 13G filed February 9, 2017, by Dimensional Fund Advisors LP (Dimensional), a registered investment advisor. Dimensional is deemed to have beneficial ownership of 806,059 shares of common stock, with sole voting power over 797,435 shares and sole investment power over 806,059 shares. Dimensional disclaims beneficial ownership of all such shares.

- (2) The shares presented are according to information in the Schedule 13G filed on February 8, 2013 by Beddow Capital Management Inc. (Beddow), an investment adviser. Beddow is deemed to have beneficial ownership of 756,475 shares of common stock, with sole voting and shared investment power over such shares. Beddow states in its filing that the filing should not be construed as an admission that Beddow is the beneficial owner of such shares. Beddow has not amended its filing in fiscal 2014, 2015, 2016, or 2017.
- (3) The shares presented are according to information included in the Schedule 13G filed January 17, 2017, by Tappan Street Partners, LLC (Tappan), a registered investment advisor. Tappan is deemed to have beneficial ownership of 600,000 shares of common stock, with sole voting power over 600,000 shares and sole investment power over 600,000 shares.

138

(4) The shares presented are according to information in the Schedule 13G filed on February 13, 2017 by Janus Capital Management LLC (Janus), an investment manager. Janus is deemed to have beneficial ownership of 538,443 shares of common stock, with sole investment and sole voting power over 538,443 shares. Janus disclaims beneficial ownership of all such shares.

Security Ownership of Management and Directors

The following table sets forth information about the beneficial ownership of Company common stock for each named executive officer, each director and all executive officers and directors as a group.

Unless otherwise noted below, the address of each beneficial owner listed on the table is c/o Sparton Corporation, 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173.

	Shares Beneficially Owned	
Name	Number	Percentage
Alan L. Bazaar	3,349	*
James D. Fast (1)	38,307	*
Joseph J. Hartnett	48,580	*
John A. Janitz	3,349	*
Charles R. Kummeth	16,197	*
David P. Mofenter	41,056	*
James R. Swartwout (2)	43,466	*
Frank A. Andy Wilson	7,972	*
Joseph G. McCormack (3)	9,810	*
Gordon B. Madlock (4)	35,094	*
Joseph T. Schneider (5)	6,465	*
Steven M. Korwin (6)	42,220	*
All directors and executive officers as a group (16 persons) (7)	370,004	3.74%

- * Less than 1%
- (1) Includes 25,633 shares over which Mr. Fast s spouse shares voting and investment control.
- (2) Includes 26,953 shares over which Mr. Swartwout s spouse shares voting and investment control.
- (3) Includes 7,180 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of options that have vested or will vest before September 30, 2017.
- (4) Includes 7,109 restricted shares and 9,632 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of options that, in each case, have vested or will vest before September 30, 2017.
- (5) Includes 5,465 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of options that have vested or will vest before September 30, 2017.
- (6) Includes 4,751 restricted shares and 7,302 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of options that, in each case, have vested or will vest before September 30, 2017.
- (7) Includes 22, 223 restricted shares and 49,248 shares that may be acquired upon exercise of options that, in each case, have vested or will vest before September 30, 2017.

139

DELISTING AND DEREGISTRATION OF COMPANY COMMON STOCK

Company common stock is currently listed on the NYSE under the symbol SPA. If the merger is consummated, Company common stock will be delisted from the NYSE and deregistered under the Exchange Act, and we will no longer file periodic reports with the SEC on account of Company common stock. The Company will cease to be an independent public company and will become an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Ultra. You will no longer have any ownership interest in the Company.

OTHER MATTERS

The Company does not know of any business to be presented for action at the special meeting other than those items referred to herein. If any other matters properly come before the special meeting or any adjournment thereof, it is intended that the proxies will be voted in respect thereof by and at the discretion of the persons named as proxies on the proxy card.

IMPORTANT NOTICE REGARDING DELIVERY OF SECURITY HOLDER DOCUMENTS

The SEC has adopted rules that permit companies and intermediaries (such as banks, brokers and other holders of record) to satisfy the delivery requirement for proxy materials with respect to two or more shareholders sharing the same address by delivering a single copy of the proxy materials addressed to all shareholders at that address, unless one or more of the affected shareholder has provided contrary instructions to such company or intermediary, as applicable. This process is commonly known as householding. To conserve resources and reduce expenses, we consolidate materials under these rules when possible.

Certain brokerage firms, banks or similar entities holding shares of Company common stock for their customers may household notices or proxy materials. Shareholders sharing an address whose shares of our common stock are held in street name should contact their bank, broker or other holder of record if they wish to receive separate copies of these materials in the future or if they are receiving multiple copies and wish to receive only one copy per household in the future. The Company will also promptly deliver a separate copy of the notice or proxy materials if you contact us at the following address or telephone number: Sparton Corporation, Shareholders Relations Department, 425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000, Schaumburg, Illinois 60173, telephone 847-762-5800.

SHAREHOLDER PROPOSALS

If the merger is consummated, we will not have public shareholders and there will be no public participation in any future meeting of shareholders. However, if the merger is not consummated prior to our 2017 annual meeting of shareholders, we expect to hold a 2017 annual meeting and will provide notice of or otherwise publicly disclose the date on which such meeting will be held.

The deadlines for shareholder proposals submitted in accordance with the SEC s Rule 14a-8 to be included in the proxy materials for, or to be considered for submission to the shareholders at, our 2017 annual meeting have already passed. If the merger is consummated, we will not have public shareholders at the time of, and there will be no public participation in, our 2018 annual meeting. However, instruction for submitting shareholder proposals to be considered at the 2018 annual meeting will be included in the proxy materials for our 2017 annual meeting in the event that the merger is not consummated and there will be public participation in our 2018 annual meeting.

140

The Company s amended and restated code of regulations provides an advance notice procedure for a Company shareholder to properly bring business before an annual meeting or to nominate any person for election to the Company board. The deadlines for advance notice for a Company shareholder to properly bring business before our 2017 annual meeting or to nominate any person for election to the Company board have already passed.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

The Company files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC under the Exchange Act. You may read and copy any reports, proxy statements or other information on file at the SEC s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1(800) SEC-0330 for further information regarding its public facilities. The Company s SEC filings are available to the public from commercial document retrieval services and are also available at the Internet website maintained by the SEC at https://www.sec.gov. You may also retrieve the Company s SEC filings at its Internet website at http://www.sparton.com under the heading Investor Relations and then under the heading SEC Filings in the Additional Info drop down menu. The information contained on our Internet website, or any other Internet site described herein, is not a part of, and is not incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference into this proxy statement.

Statements contained in this proxy statement, or in any document incorporated by reference into this proxy statement regarding the contents of any contract or other document, are not necessarily complete and each such statement is qualified in its entirety by reference to that contract or other document filed as an exhibit with the SEC. The SEC s rules allow the Company to incorporate by reference information into this proxy statement, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring you to another document filed separately with the SEC. The information incorporated by reference is deemed to be part of this proxy statement from the date those documents are filed, except for any information superseded by information contained directly in this proxy statement. The Company has filed the documents listed below with the SEC under the Exchange Act, and these documents are incorporated herein by reference (other than information in such documents that is furnished and not deemed to be filed):

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended July 3, 2016;

Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended October 2, 2016, January 1, 2017 and April 2, 2017; and

Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 19, 2016, August 29, 2016, November 4, 2016, June 15, 2017, July 3, 2017, July 7, 2017 and July 11, 2017.

All documents that the Company files pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act from the date of this proxy statement to the date on which the special meeting is held, including any adjournments or postponements (other than information in such documents that is furnished and not deemed to be filed) shall also be deemed to be incorporated by reference into this proxy statement from the date of filing of those documents.

141

You may obtain any of the documents incorporated by reference from the SEC s Internet website described above. Documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement are also available from the Company without charge, excluding all exhibits unless specifically incorporated by reference into such documents. Shareholders may obtain any and all documents incorporated by reference into this proxy statement, including documents filed subsequent to the date of this proxy statement up to the date that we respond to your request, without charge by requesting them in writing or by telephone from the Company at the following address and telephone number:

Sparton Corporation

Attention: Shareholders Relations Department

425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000

Schaumburg, Illinois 60173

Telephone: 847-762-5800

If you would like to request documents, please do so by September 28, 2017 to receive them before the special meeting. If you request any incorporated documents, the Company undertakes to mail them to you by first-class mail, or another equally prompt means, within one business day of receipt of your request.

You should rely only on the information contained in this proxy statement, including the annexes attached hereto or the information incorporated by reference herein, to vote your shares of Company common stock at the special meeting. The Company has not authorized anyone to provide you with information that differs from that contained in this proxy statement. Therefore, if anyone does give you information of this sort, you should not rely on it. This proxy statement is dated August 28, 2017. You should not assume that the information contained in this proxy statement is accurate as of any date other than that date, and the mailing of this proxy statement to shareholders will not create any implication to the contrary.

THIS PROXY STATEMENT DOES NOT CONSTITUTE THE SOLICITATION OF A PROXY IN ANY JURISDICTION TO OR FROM ANY PERSON TO WHOM OR FROM WHOM IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE SUCH PROXY SOLICITATION IN THAT JURISDICTION. YOU SHOULD RELY ONLY ON THE INFORMATION CONTAINED OR INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO THIS PROXY STATEMENT TO VOTE YOUR SHARES AT THE SPECIAL MEETING.

142

Annex A

EXECUTION VERSION

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

ULTRA ELECTRONICS HOLDINGS PLC,

ULTRA ELECTRONICS ANEIRA INC.

and

SPARTON CORPORATION

Dated as of July 7, 2017

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I THE MERGER		Page A-1
Section 1.01.	The Merger	A-1
Section 1.02.	Closing	A-2
Section 1.03.	Effective Time	A-2
Section 1.04.	Articles of Incorporation; Code of Regulations	A-2
Section 1.05.	Directors and Officers	A-2
ARTICLE II EF	FECT OF THE MERGER ON THE CAPITAL STOCK OF THE CONSTITUENT	
CORPORATIO	NS	A-3
Section 2.01.	Effect on Capital Stock	A-3
Section 2.02.	Treatment of Company Equity Awards	A-3
Section 2.03.	Surrender of Shares	A-4
Section 2.04.	Withholding Rights	A-6
Section 2.05.	Dissenters Rights	A-6
Section 2.06.	Adjustments to Prevent Dilution	A-7
ARTICLE III R	EPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	A-7
Section 3.01.	Representations and Warranties of the Company	A-7
Section 3.02.	Representations and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub	A-28
ARTICLE IV C	OVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS	A-32
Section 4.01.	Conduct of Business Pending the Merger	A-32
Section 4.02.	Acquisition Proposals	A-35
ARTICLE V AI	DDITIONAL AGREEMENTS	A-38
Section 5.01.	Proxy Statement; Company Shareholders Meeting	A-38
Section 5.02.	Parent Shareholders Meeting; Parent Shareholder Circular; Parent Adverse	
	Recommendation Change	A-39
Section 5.03.	Filings; Other Actions; Notification	A-41
Section 5.04.	Access and Reports; Confidentiality	A-43
Section 5.05.	Stock Exchange Delisting	A-44
Section 5.06.	Publicity	A-44
Section 5.07.	Employee Matters	A-45
Section 5.08.	Expenses	A-46
Section 5.09.	Indemnification; Directors and Officers Insurance	A-46
Section 5.10.	Rule 16b-3	A-47
Section 5.11.	Written Consents, Resolutions and Other Materials	A-47
Section 5.12.	Merger Sub and Surviving Corporation Compliance	A-47
Section 5.13.	Takeover Statutes	A-47
Section 5.14.	Control of Operations	A-48
Section 5.15.	Resignation of Directors and Officers	A-48
Section 5.16.	Transaction Litigation	A-48
Section 5.17.	Government Contracts	A-48

Section 5.18.	Notification of Certain Matters	A-48
Section 5.19.	Sale of MDS	A-49
Section 5.20.	Equity Financing	A-50
Section 5.21.	Letters of Credit; Company Credit Facilities	A-50

A-i

TABLE OF CONTENTS

(continued)

ARTICLE VI C	CONDITIONS	Page A-50
Section 6.01.	Conditions to Each Party s Obligation to Effect the Merger	A-50
Section 6.02.	Additional Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub	A-51
Section 6.03.	Additional Conditions to Obligation of the Company	A-51
ARTICLE VII	TERMINATION	A-52
Section 7.01.	Termination	A-52
Section 7.02.	Effect of Termination and Abandonment	A-53
Section 7.03.	Termination Fee	A-54
Section 7.04.	Parent Termination Fee	A-55
Section 7.05.	VAT	A-55
Section 7.06.	Costs and Expenses	A-55
Section 7.07.	Limitation	A-55
ARTICLE VIII	MISCELLANEOUS	A-56
Section 8.01.	Non-Survival	A-56
Section 8.02.	Modification or Amendment	A-56
Section 8.03.	Waiver	A-56
Section 8.04.	Notices	A-56
Section 8.05.	Definitions	A-58
Section 8.06.	Interpretation	A-58
Section 8.07.	Counterparts	A-58
Section 8.08.	Parties in Interest	A-59
Section 8.09.	Governing Law	A-59
Section 8.10.	Entire Agreement; Assignment	A-59
Section 8.11.	Specific Enforcement; Consent to Jurisdiction	A-59
Section 8.12.	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	A-60
Section 8.13.	Severability	A-60
Section 8.14.	Transfer Taxes	A-61
Section 8.15.	Disclosure Letters	A-61
Section 8.16.	Further Assurances	A-61
Annex I D	Definitions	A-I-1
Exhibit A A	articles of Incorporation of the Surviving Corporation	
Exhibit B C	Code of Regulations of the Surviving Corporation	

A-ii

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of July 7, 2017 (this <u>Agreement</u>), is entered into by and among Ultra Electronics Holdings plc, a company organized under the Laws of England and Wales (<u>Parent</u>), Ultra Electronics Aneira Inc., an Ohio corporation and an indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent (<u>Merger Sub</u>) and Sparton Corporation, an Ohio corporation (the <u>Company</u>).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Parent (the <u>Parent Board</u>) has (a) determined that it is in the best interests of Parent and the shareholders of Parent (the <u>Parent Shareholders</u>) that Parent enter into this Agreement and consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, (b) approved this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, and (c) resolved, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, to recommend that the Parent Shareholders pass the Parent Shareholder Resolution to approve the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, as required by Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules;

WHEREAS, the board of directors of the Company (the <u>Company Board</u>) has (a) determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders of the Company (the <u>Company Shareholders</u>) that the Company enter into this Agreement and consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, (b) approved this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger and (c) resolved, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, to recommend that the Company Shareholders adopt this Agreement;

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Merger Sub has (a) determined that it is in the best interests of Merger Sub and the sole shareholder of Merger Sub that Merger Sub enter into this Agreement and consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, (b) approved this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger and (c) resolved to recommend that the sole shareholder of Merger Sub adopt this Agreement;

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Parent is entering into the Placing Agreement, the net proceeds of which are expected to be used to pay the aggregate Per Share Merger Consideration, to consummate the Merger and to pay the fees and expenses of, and any other amounts payable by, Parent, Merger Sub and the Surviving Corporation in connection with the Equity Financing, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Company, Parent and Merger Sub desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with the Merger and also to prescribe various conditions to the Merger.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Company, Parent and Merger Sub hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

THE MERGER

Section 1.01. The Merger. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement and in accordance with the Ohio General Corporation Law (the <u>OGC</u>L), at the Effective Time, Merger Sub shall be merged with and into the Company and the separate corporate existence of Merger Sub shall thereupon cease and the Company shall continue as the surviving corporation (sometimes hereinafter referred to as the <u>Surviving</u>

A-1

Corporation) and an indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent (the Merger). The Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable provisions of the OGCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and subject thereto, at the Effective Time, all of the assets, property, rights, privileges, immunities, powers, franchises and authority of the Company and Merger Sub shall vest in the Surviving Corporation and the Surviving Corporation shall be liable for all of the obligations of the Company and Merger Sub. If, at any time after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation considers or is advised that any deeds, bills of sale, assignments, assurances or any other actions or things are necessary or desirable to vest, perfect or confirm of record or otherwise in the Surviving Corporation, its full right, title, possession or interest in, to or under any of the rights, properties, assets, privileges, powers or franchises of either of the Company or Merger Sub vested in or to be vested in the Surviving Corporation as a result of, or in connection with, the Merger or otherwise to carry out this Agreement, the officers and directors of the Surviving Corporation will execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of the Company, Merger Sub or the Surviving Corporation, all such deeds, bills of sale, assignments and assurances and will take and do, in the name and on behalf of each of such corporations or otherwise, all such other actions and things as may be necessary or desirable to vest, perfect or confirm any and all right, title, possession and interest in, to and under such rights, properties, assets, privileges, powers or franchises in the Surviving Corporation or otherwise to carry out this Agreement.

Section 1.02. <u>Closing</u>. The closing for the Merger (the <u>Closing</u>) shall take place at the offices of Mayer Brown LLP, 71 South Wacker Drive, Chicago, Illinois 60606, at 9:00 a.m., local time, on the third (3rd) Business Day following the first (1st) day on which all of the conditions set forth in <u>ARTICLE VI</u> (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of those conditions at the Closing) have been satisfied or waived in accordance with this Agreement, or at such other time and place as the Company and Parent may agree in writing. The date on which the Closing occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the <u>Closing Date</u>.

Section 1.03. Effective Time. As soon as practicable on the Closing Date, the Company and Parent will cause the Merger to become effective by filing with the Secretary of State of the State of Ohio a certificate of merger (the Certificate of Merger), in such form as required by, and to be executed and filed in accordance with, the applicable provisions of the OGCL. The Merger shall become effective at the time when the Certificate of Merger has been duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Ohio or at such later time as may be agreed by Parent and the Company in writing and specified in the Certificate of Merger (the Effective Time).

Section 1.04. Articles of Incorporation; Code of Regulations.

- (a) At the Effective Time, the articles of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended in its entirety to read as set forth on Exhibit A, and, as so amended, shall be the articles of incorporation of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and applicable Law.
- (b) At the Effective Time, the code of regulations of the Surviving Corporation shall be amended in its entirety to read as set forth on $\underline{\text{Exhibit B}}$ and, as so amended, shall be the code of regulations of the Surviving Corporation until thereafter amended in accordance with the provisions thereof and applicable Law.

Section 1.05. Directors and Officers.

(a) The Company and the Surviving Corporation shall take all necessary action (including procuring the resignations of members of the Company Board in accordance with <u>Section 5.15</u>) such that, at the Effective Time, the directors of Merger Sub as of immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, from and after the Effective Time, be the directors of the Surviving Corporation until their respective successors have been duly elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the articles of incorporation and the code of regulations

of the Surviving Corporation.

(b) The officers of Merger Sub as of immediately prior to the Effective Time shall, from and after the Effective Time, be the officers of the Surviving Corporation until their respective successors have been duly

A-2

elected or appointed and qualified or until their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the articles of incorporation and the code of regulations of the Surviving Corporation.

ARTICLE II

EFFECT OF THE MERGER ON THE CAPITAL STOCK OF THE

CONSTITUENT CORPORATIONS

Section 2.01. <u>Effect on Capital Stock</u>. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the Company, Parent, Merger Sub or the holders of any shares of capital stock of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub:

- (a) Merger Consideration. Each share of common stock, par value \$1.25 per share, of the Company (including any Restricted Shares that fully vest pursuant to Section 2.02(a)) (each, a Share) issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, other than (i) the Cancelled Shares, which shall be treated in accordance with Section 2.01(b), and (ii) the Dissenting Shares, which shall be treated in accordance with Section 2.05, shall be converted into the right to receive \$23.50 per Share in cash, without interest thereon (the Per Share Merger Consideration). At the Effective Time, all such Shares shall cease to be outstanding, shall be cancelled and shall cease to exist, and each such Share, whether represented by a certificate (Certificate) or in non-certificated form and represented by book-entry (Book-Entry Shares), shall thereafter represent only the right to receive the Per Share Merger Consideration in accordance with this ARTICLE II.
- (b) <u>Cancellation of Cancelled Shares</u>. Each Share that immediately prior to the Effective Time is owned by Parent, Merger Sub or any other wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent and each Share that immediately prior to the Effective Time is owned by the Company or any wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company (including as treasury stock) (collectively, the <u>Cancelled Shares</u>) shall at such time automatically cease to be outstanding, be cancelled without payment of any consideration therefor and cease to exist.
- (c) <u>Capital Stock of Merger Sub</u>. Each common share, no par value, of Merger Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one (1) validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable common share, no par value, of the Surviving Corporation, and all such shares when so converted shall constitute the only outstanding shares of capital stock of the Surviving Corporation.

Section 2.02. Treatment of Company Equity Awards.

- (a) <u>Treatment of Restricted Stock</u>. With respect to each Share that is subject to any vesting, forfeiture, repurchase or other lapse restriction under any Company Equity Award Plan (each, a <u>Restricted Share</u>) and outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, such vesting, forfeiture, repurchase or other lapse restriction shall lapse as of the Effective Time and such Restricted Share shall be fully vested and shall be converted into the right to receive the Per Share Merger Consideration as provided in <u>Section 2.01(a)</u>.
- (b) <u>Treatment of Restricted Stock Units</u>. At the Effective Time, each restricted stock unit award in respect of Shares granted under a Company Equity Award Plan that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (a <u>Company RSU</u>) shall fully vest and shall be cancelled and converted automatically into the right to receive, as soon as reasonably practicable (but no later than five (5) Business Days) after the Effective Time, from or on behalf of the Surviving Corporation, an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the Per Share Merger Consideration in respect of each Share underlying such Company RSU.

(c) <u>Treatment of Company Options</u>. At the Effective Time, each option award in respect of Shares granted under a Company Equity Award Plan that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (a <u>Company Option</u>), whether vested or unvested, and has an exercise price per Share that is less than the Per Share Merger Consideration shall fully vest and shall be cancelled and converted automatically into the right to receive, as soon as reasonably practicable (but no later than five (5) Business Days) after the Effective Time, from or on behalf of the Surviving Corporation, an amount in cash, without interest, equal

A-3

to the product of (i) the amount by which the Per Share Merger Consideration exceeds the exercise price per Share of such Company Option and (ii) the total number of Shares subject to such Company Option. At the Effective Time, each Company Option that has an exercise price per Share that is greater than or equal to the Per Share Merger Consideration shall cease to be outstanding, be cancelled and cease to exist and the holder of any such Company Option shall not be entitled to payment of any consideration therefor; <u>provided</u>, that the Company Board has adopted resolutions whereby the Company Board has authorized such cancellation. From and after the Effective Time, there shall be no outstanding Company Options.

- (d) <u>Corporate Actions</u>. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company, the Company Board and the compensation committee of the Company Board, as applicable, shall adopt any resolutions and take any actions that are necessary to effectuate the provisions of <u>Sections 2.02(a)</u> through <u>2.02(c)</u>. Prior to the Closing, the Company shall take all actions necessary to ensure that, from and after the Effective Time, neither Parent nor the Surviving Corporation will be required to deliver Shares or other capital stock of the Company to any Person pursuant to or in settlement of Restricted Shares, Company RSUs, Company Options or any other awards under any Company Equity Award Plan.
- (e) <u>Funding</u>. As promptly as practicable after the Effective Time, Parent shall make a cash contribution to the Surviving Corporation in immediately available funds to permit the Surviving Corporation to make or cause to be made the payments required under <u>Sections 2.02(b)</u> and <u>2.02(c)</u> to the extent, if any, the Surviving Corporation does not otherwise have sufficient funds to make such payments.

Section 2.03. Surrender of Shares.

(a) Paying Agent. Prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall select a paying agent (the Paying Agent) that is reasonably acceptable to the Company and enter into an agreement with such Paying Agent (the Paying Agent Agreement) in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Company wherein the Paying Agent will act as agent for the Company Shareholders in connection with the Merger and receive payment of the aggregate Per Share Merger Consideration to which the Company Shareholders shall become entitled pursuant to Section 2.01(a). At or prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit or cause to be deposited with the Paying Agent, in trust for the benefit of the holders of Shares, a cash amount in immediately available funds sufficient in the aggregate to provide all funds necessary for the Paying Agent to make payments required pursuant to Section 2.01(a) upon due surrender of Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares in accordance with Section 2.03(b) (such cash amount being hereinafter referred to as the <u>Exchange Fund</u>). The Paying Agent shall invest the Exchange Fund as directed by Parent; provided, however, that such investments shall be in obligations of or guaranteed by the United States of America, in commercial paper obligations rated A-1 or P-1 or better by Moody s Investors Service, Inc. or Standard & Poor s Corporation, respectively, in certificates of deposit, bank repurchase agreements or banker s acceptances of commercial banks with capital exceeding \$1 billion, or in money market funds having a rating in the highest investment category granted by a recognized credit rating agency at the time of acquisition or a combination of the foregoing and, in any such case, no such instrument shall have a maturity exceeding three (3) months. Subject to Section 2.03(c), to the extent that there are losses with respect to such investments, or the Exchange Fund diminishes for other reasons below the level required to make prompt cash payment of the aggregate Per Share Merger Consideration as contemplated by Section 2.01(a), Parent shall promptly replace or restore the cash in the Exchange Fund lost through such investments or other events so as to ensure that the Exchange Fund is at all applicable times maintained at a level sufficient to make such payments. Any interest and other income resulting from such investment shall become a part of the Exchange Fund, and any amounts in excess of the amounts payable under Section 2.01(a) shall be promptly returned to Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as requested by Parent. The funds deposited with the Paying Agent pursuant to this Section 2.03(a) shall not be used for any purpose other than as contemplated by this Section 2.03(a).

- (b) Exchange Procedures.
- (i) <u>Transmittal Materials</u>. Promptly after the Effective Time (and, in any event, within four (4) Business Days thereafter), Parent shall cause the Paying Agent to mail or otherwise provide to each Person who

A-4

was, as of immediately prior to the Effective Time, a holder of record of Shares (other than holders of Cancelled Shares and Dissenting Shares) (A) transmittal materials, including a letter of transmittal, specifying that delivery of Shares shall be effected, and risk of loss and title with respect to Shares shall pass, only upon proper delivery of Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares to the Paying Agent, such transmittal materials to be in such form and have such other provisions as Parent and the Company may reasonably agree, and (B) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares to the Paying Agent.

- (ii) Payment of Per Share Merger Consideration. Upon surrender of Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares to the Paying Agent together with the transmittal materials, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions thereto, and such other documents as may reasonably be required pursuant to such instructions or by the Paying Agent, the holder of such Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares shall be entitled to receive, and Parent shall cause the Paying Agent to pay and deliver promptly after the Effective Time, a cash amount in immediately available funds equal to the product of (A) the number of Shares represented by such holder s properly surrendered Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) and Book-Entry Shares and (B) the Per Share Merger Consideration, without any interest thereon, and any Certificates so surrendered shall forthwith be cancelled. No interest shall be paid or accrued on any amount payable upon due surrender of Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares.
- (iii) <u>Unrecorded Transfers</u>; <u>Other Payments</u>. In the event of a transfer of ownership of Shares that is not registered in the transfer records of the Company or if payment of the Per Share Merger Consideration is to be made to a Person other than the Person in whose name the surrendered Certificate is registered, a check or wire transfer for any cash to be exchanged upon due surrender of the Certificate may, in the reasonable discretion of the Paying Agent, be issued to such transfere or other Person if the Certificate formerly representing such Shares is presented to the Paying Agent accompanied by all documents required to evidence and effect such transfer and to evidence that any applicable transfer or other similar Taxes have been paid or, to the reasonable satisfaction of Parent, are not applicable. For the avoidance of doubt, payment of the Per Share Merger Consideration with respect to Book-Entry Shares shall only be made to the Person in whose name such Book-Entry Shares are registered.
- (iv) <u>Rights of Holders of Shares</u>; <u>Expenses</u>. Until surrendered as contemplated by this <u>Section 2.03(b)</u>, each Share shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to represent only the right to receive upon such surrender (together with the transmittal materials, duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions thereto, and such other documents as may reasonably be required pursuant to such instructions or by the Paying Agent) the Per Share Merger Consideration as contemplated by <u>Section 2.01(a)</u>, except for (A) Dissenting Shares, which shall be deemed to represent the right to receive the consideration due with respect to such Dissenting Shares in accordance with <u>Section 2.05</u> and to the extent provided by Section 1701.85 of the OGCL and (B) Cancelled Shares. Parent shall pay or cause to be paid all charges and expenses of the Paying Agent set forth in the Paying Agent Agreement.
- (c) <u>Termination of the Exchange Fund</u>. Any portion of the Exchange Fund (including the proceeds of any investment thereof) that remains undistributed one (1) year after the Effective Time shall be delivered to Parent or the Surviving Corporation, upon demand by Parent. Any holders of Shares (other than Cancelled Shares or Dissenting Shares) who have not theretofore complied with this <u>ARTICLE II</u> shall thereafter be entitled to look only to Parent and the Surviving Corporation for payment of the Per Share Merger Consideration upon surrender of their Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares in accordance with the provisions set forth in <u>Section 2.03(b)</u>, and Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall remain liable for (subject to applicable abandoned property, escheat or other similar Law) payment of their claims for the Per Share Merger Consideration payable upon due surrender of their Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares. Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of

the Surviving Corporation, Parent, the Company, the Paying Agent or any other Person shall be liable to any

A-5

Person for any amount properly delivered to a public official pursuant to applicable abandoned property, escheat or other similar Law. If any Certificate or Book-Entry Share shall not have been surrendered prior to the date on which the related Per Share Merger Consideration would escheat to or become the property of any Governmental Entity, any such Per Share Merger Consideration shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, immediately prior to such time become the property of Parent, free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.

- (d) <u>Transfers</u>. From and after the Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed and there shall be no transfers on the stock transfer books of the Company of the Shares that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, after the Effective Time, acceptable evidence of a Certificate (or affidavit of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Share (other than a Certificate (or affidavit of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Share in respect of Dissenting Shares) is presented to the Surviving Corporation, Parent or the Paying Agent for transfer, the holder of such Shares shall be given a copy of the transmittal materials referred to in <u>Section 2.03(b)(i)</u> and instructed to comply with the instructions thereto in order to receive the cash amount to which such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 2.01(a).
- (e) <u>Lost Certificates</u>. In the case of any Certificate that has been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon (i) the making of an affidavit of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by the Paying Agent, Surviving Corporation or Parent, the posting by such Person of a bond in a reasonable amount as the Paying Agent, Surviving Corporation or Parent may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such Certificate and (ii) delivery of the other materials provided for in <u>Section 2.03(b)(ii)</u>, the Paying Agent shall pay and deliver promptly after the Effective Time in exchange for such Certificate a cash amount in immediately available funds equal to the product of (A) the number of Shares represented by such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate and (B) the Per Share Merger Consideration, without any interest thereon.

Section 2.04. Withholding Rights. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, each of the Paying Agent, Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall be entitled to deduct and withhold, or cause to be deducted or withheld, from the consideration otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of Shares, Restricted Shares, Company RSUs or Company Options such amounts as it is required to deduct and withhold with respect to the making of such payment under the Code or any other applicable state, local or foreign Tax Law, taking into account any applicable exemption under such Law. To the extent that amounts are so withheld by the Paying Agent, Surviving Corporation or Parent, as the case may be, such withheld amounts (a) shall be promptly remitted by the Paying Agent, Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as applicable, to the applicable Governmental Entity and (b) shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of whom such deduction and withholding were made by the Paying Agent, Surviving Corporation or Parent, as the case may be.

Section 2.05. <u>Dissenters</u> <u>Rights</u>. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Shares that are held by any record holder who is entitled to demand and properly demands payment of the fair cash value of such Shares as a dissenting shareholder pursuant to, and who complies in all respects with, the provisions of Section 1701.85 of the OGCL (the <u>Dissenting Shares</u>) shall not be converted into the right to receive the Per Share Merger Consideration payable pursuant to <u>Section 2.01(a)</u>, but instead at the Effective Time shall become entitled to receive the fair cash value of such Dissenting Shares in accordance with the provisions of Section 1701.85 of the OGCL and, at the Effective Time, all such Dissenting Shares shall cease to be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and cease to exist, and the holder of such Dissenting Shares shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except as set forth in this <u>Section 2.05</u> and the OGCL. Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, if any such holder fails to perfect or otherwise waives, withdraws or loses the right to proceed under Section 1701.85 of the OGCL or a court of competent jurisdiction determines that such holder is not entitled to the relief provided by Section 1701.85 of the OGCL, then the right of such holder to be paid the fair cash value of such holder s Dissenting Shares under Section 1701.85 of the OGCL shall be forfeited and cease, and each of such holder s Dissenting Shares shall be

deemed to have been converted at the Effective Time into, and shall have become, the right to receive the Per Share Merger Consideration. The Company shall

A-6

deliver prompt notice to Parent of any demands for the fair cash value of any Shares, attempted withdrawals of such demands and any other instruments delivered to the Company pursuant to the OGCL with respect to a demand for the fair cash value of the Shares, and shall provide Parent with the opportunity to participate in all negotiations and Proceedings with respect to any demands under Section 1701.85 of the OGCL. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall not, without the prior written consent of Parent, make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demands, or agree to take any such action.

Section 2.06. Adjustments to Prevent Dilution. In the event that the number of Shares or securities convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for Shares issued and outstanding after the date hereof and prior to the Effective Time shall have been changed into a different number of Shares or securities or a different class as a result of a reclassification, stock split (including a reverse stock split), stock dividend or distribution, recapitalization, merger, issuer tender or exchange offer, or other similar transaction, the Per Share Merger Consideration shall be equitably adjusted, without duplication, to provide the holders thereof the same economic effect contemplated by this Agreement prior to such change; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 2.06 shall be construed to permit the Company, any Subsidiary of the Company or any other Person to take any action that is otherwise prohibited by the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 3.01. Representations and Warranties of the Company. Except (x) as disclosed in the SEC Reports filed with the SEC since June 30, 2014 and publicly available at least two (2) Business Days prior to the date of this Agreement (and only as and to the extent disclosed therein), other than any disclosures in any such SEC Reports contained under the captions Risk Factors, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and Forward-Looking Statements sections thereof or other similarly cautionary, forward-looking or predictive statements in such SEC Reports but it being understood that this clause (x) shall not be applicable to Sections 3.01(b) (Subsidiaries), 3.01(c) (Capital Structure), 3.01(d)(i) (Authority), 3.01(s) (Voting Requirements), 3.01(t) (Brokers and Other Advisors) and 3.01(u) (Opinions of Financial Advisors) of this Agreement, or (y) as set forth in the Company Disclosure Letter (it being agreed that disclosure of any item in any section or subsection of the Company Disclosure Letter shall also be deemed disclosure with respect to any other section or subsection of this Agreement to the extent that it is reasonably apparent on its face that such information is relevant to such other sections or subsections), the Company represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as follows:

(a) Organization, Standing and Corporate Power. The Company is a corporation duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of Ohio and has all requisite corporate power and authority to carry on its business as presently conducted. The Company is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing (where such concept is recognized under applicable Law) in each jurisdiction where the nature of its business or the ownership, leasing or operation of its properties makes such qualification or licensing necessary, other than where the failure to be so qualified, licensed or in good standing has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Company s Subsidiaries is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (where such concept is recognized under applicable Law) under the Law of its respective jurisdiction of organization and has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to carry on its business as presently conducted and each of the Company s Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing (where such concept is recognized under applicable Law) in each jurisdiction where the nature of its business or the ownership, leasing or operation of its properties makes such qualification or licensing necessary, other than where the failure to be so qualified, licensed or in good standing has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. The Company has made

available to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement a true and complete copy of the Second Amended Articles of Incorporation of the Company (the <u>Company Articles of Incorporation</u>) and the Amended and Restated Code of Regulations of the Company (the <u>Company Code of Regulations</u>),

A-7

as amended to date, and each as so made available is in full force and effect. The Company is not in material violation of any of the provisions of the Company Articles of Incorporation or the Company Code of Regulations.

(b) <u>Subsidiaries</u>. Section 3.01(b) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and correct list of each Subsidiary of the Company and the jurisdiction of organization of each such Subsidiary. All of the outstanding shares of capital stock of, or other equity interests in, each Subsidiary of the Company have, in all cases, been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable, and are wholly owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, free and clear of all preemptive rights, rights of first refusal, option or similar rights, pledges, liens, charges, mortgages, encumbrances, adverse claims and interests, or security interests of any kind or nature whatsoever (including any restriction on the right to vote or transfer the same, except for such transfer restrictions of general applicability as may be provided under the Securities Act, the blue sky Laws of the various states of the United States or similar Law of other applicable jurisdictions) (collectively, <u>Liens</u>), other than Permitted Liens. Except for its interests in its Subsidiaries, the Company does not own, directly or indirectly, any capital stock of, or other equity or voting interests in, any Person. The Company has made available to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement true and complete copies of the organizational documents of each of its Subsidiaries, each as amended to date, and each as made available are in full force and effect. None of the Subsidiaries of the Company is in material violation of its respective organizational documents.

(c) Capital Structure.

- (i) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 15,000,000 Shares and 200,000 shares of serial preferred stock, without par value (such preferred stock, the Company Preferred Stock). At the close of business on July 5, 2017 (the <u>Cutoff Date</u>), there were (A)(1) 9,860,635 Shares issued and outstanding (which number includes 25,912 Restricted Shares) and (2) no Shares held by the Company in its treasury, (B) 128,134 Shares underlying the outstanding Company RSUs, (C) 100,022 Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to outstanding Company Options, and (D) no shares of Company Preferred Stock issued or outstanding. Except as set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, at the close of business on the Cutoff Date, no shares of capital stock or other voting securities of the Company were issued or outstanding or subject to issuance in connection with an outstanding Company RSU, Company Option or other security, obligation or arrangement of the Company giving any Person a right to subscribe for or acquire shares of capital stock or other voting securities of the Company. Since the Cutoff Date to the date of this Agreement, (x) there have been no issuances by the Company of shares of capital stock or other voting securities of the Company other than pursuant to the exercise of Company Options or the vesting of Company RSUs, in each case, outstanding as of the Cutoff Date and (y) there have been no issuances by the Company of options, restricted stock units, warrants, other rights to subscribe for or acquire shares of capital stock of the Company or other rights that give the holder thereof any economic interest of a nature accruing to the holders of Shares. All outstanding Shares are, and all such shares that may be issued prior to the Effective Time, including all Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to outstanding Company Options as noted in clause (C) of the second sentence of this Section 3.01(c), will be, when issued, duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable and not subject to preemptive rights.
- (ii) Section 3.01(c)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth the aggregate amount of Company Options, Restricted Shares and Company RSUs outstanding as of the Cutoff Date, including with respect to each such award, as applicable, the holder, type of award, date of grant, exercise price, vesting schedule, expiration date, total initial number of Shares underlying such award and total outstanding number of Shares underlying such award.
- (iii) No Subsidiary of the Company owns any shares of capital stock of the Company. There are no bonds, debentures, notes, obligations or other Indebtedness or obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that give the holders thereof the right to vote (or that are convertible into, or exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which holders of Shares or the

A-8

securityholders of the Company s Subsidiaries may vote (Voting Company Debt). Except for any obligations pursuant to this Agreement or as otherwise set forth above, as of the date hereof, there are no subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, rights (including preemptive, conversion, stock appreciation, redemption or repurchase rights), convertible or exchangeable securities, profits interests, stock-based performance units or other similar rights, Contracts or undertakings of any kind to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them is bound (A) obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, transfer, deliver or sell, or cause to be issued, transferred, delivered or sold, shares of capital stock or other securities of, or equity or voting interests in, or any security convertible or exchangeable for any capital stock or other security of, or equity or voting interest in, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any Voting Company Debt, (B) obligating the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, grant, extend or enter into any such subscription, option, warrant, call, right, security, unit, profits interest or other similar right, Contract or undertaking or (C) that give any Person the right to subscribe for or acquire any securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or to receive any economic interest of a nature accruing to the holders of Shares or otherwise based on the performance or value of shares of capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. As of the date of this Agreement, there are no outstanding obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of capital stock or other equity or voting interests of the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, other than (pursuant to the Company Equity Award Plans, There are no stockholder agreements, registration right agreements, voting trusts, voting agreements or proxies (other than customary revocable proxies solicited by the Company for any meeting of the holders of Shares) to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with respect to equity interests of the Company.

(d) Authority; Noncontravention.

- (i) The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver, and perform its obligations under, this Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, subject, in the case of the Merger only, to receipt of the Company Requisite Vote. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company, subject, in the case of the Merger only, to receipt of the Company Requisite Vote. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by each of the other parties hereto, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforceability, to bankruptcy, insolvency and other Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors—rights and to general equity principles.
- (ii) The Company Board duly and validly adopted resolutions (A) determining that the Merger is in the best interests of the Company Shareholders, (B) authorizing, approving and declaring advisable the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, (C) directing that the adoption of this Agreement be submitted to a vote at a meeting of the Company Shareholders (the <u>Company Shareholders Meeting</u>) and (D) recommending that the Company Shareholders adopt this Agreement (the <u>Company Board Recommendation</u>), which resolutions, as of the date of this Agreement, have not been rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way.
- (iii) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement do not, and the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and compliance with the provisions of this Agreement will not, conflict with, or result in any breach or violation of, or default, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, under, or give rise to any right or obligation (including a right of termination, modification, cancellation or acceleration of any right or obligation or any right of first refusal, participation or similar right) under, or cause the loss of any benefit under, or require consent under, or result in the creation of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens

A-9

and Liens created solely as a result of any action taken by Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective Affiliates) upon any of the properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under, any provision of (A) the Company Articles of Incorporation, the Company Code of Regulations or the comparable organizational or governing documents of any of the Company s Subsidiaries or (B) subject to the filings and other matters referred to in the immediately following sentence, (1) any Permit or Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of their respective properties or assets are bound, or (2) any Law, in each case applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets, other than, in the case of the foregoing clause (B), any such conflicts, violations, defaults, rights, losses or Liens that have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement. No consent, approval, order, waiver or permit of, action by, authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Entity is required to be obtained or made, or in the case of the CFIUS Approval, advisable to be obtained, by or with respect to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of the material assets or businesses of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company or the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except for (I) the filing of a premerger notification and report form by the Company under the HSR Act, and any other filings required or advisable under any applicable non-United States antitrust or competition Law listed on Section 3.01(d)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter, (II) joint notification to, and submission of any supplementary information and any mitigation agreement requested by, CFIUS in order to obtain the CFIUS Approval, (III) filings with, and submissions as may be advisable to, the DSS or other agency of the U.S. government in accordance with the NISPOM, (IV) notification to, and submission of any supplementary information and any agreement requested by, DDTC pursuant to Section 122.4(b) and other provisions of ITAR, (V) the filing with the SEC of such reports and other documents under the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder as may be required in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the filing of the Proxy Statement), and state securities, takeover and blue sky Laws, (VI) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Ohio, (VIII) any filings required under the rules and regulations of the NYSE, (IX) any consents, approvals, orders, waivers, permits, actions, authorizations, registrations, declarations, filings and notices required to be made or obtained by Parent or any of its Affiliates or as a result of the identity of Parent or any of its Affiliates and (X) such other consents, approvals, orders, waivers, permits, actions, authorizations, registrations, declarations, filings and notices, the failure of which to be obtained or made has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement.

(e) Applicable SEC Reports; Financial Statements; Undisclosed Liabilities.

(i) The Company has timely filed or furnished, as applicable, all SEC Reports, including all schedules, forms, statements and other documents, required to be filed or furnished by it with the SEC since June 30, 2014 (such SEC Reports, the Applicable SEC Reports). As of their respective effective dates (in the case of Applicable SEC Reports that are registration statements filed pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act) and as of their respective dates of filing (in the case of all other Applicable SEC Reports) or, if amended or superseded by a subsequent filing made prior to the date of this Agreement, as of the date of the last such amendment or superseding filing prior to the date of this Agreement, the Applicable SEC Reports complied in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act, the Exchange Act and the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the Sarbanes-Oxley Act), as the case may be, and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, each as in effect on the date of any such effectiveness or filing. As of the time of effectiveness, filing with, or furnishing to, the SEC, none of the Applicable SEC Reports (or, if amended or superseded prior to the date of this Agreement, as of the date of such amendment or

A-10

superseding filing) contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances in which they were made, not misleading, except to the extent that any such information in such Applicable SEC Reports has been amended or superseded by a later Applicable SEC Report that was effective, filed or furnished with the SEC prior to the date of this Agreement. The Company has made available to Parent true and complete copies of all material correspondence between the SEC, on one hand, and the Company and any of its Subsidiaries, on the other hand, occurring since June 30, 2014, and prior to the date hereof. As of the date hereof, there are no material outstanding or unresolved comments received from the SEC with respect to any of the Applicable SEC Reports, and to the Knowledge of the Company, none of the Applicable SEC Reports is the subject of ongoing SEC review. As of the date hereof, none of the Company s Subsidiaries is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) under the Exchange Act.

- (ii) As of their respective dates, the audited and unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company (including any related notes thereto) included or incorporated by reference in the Applicable SEC Reports (A) have been prepared (except, as applicable, as permitted by Form 10-Q of the SEC or other applicable rules and regulations of the SEC) in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (<u>GAAP</u>) applied on a consistent basis during the periods involved (except as may be indicated in the notes thereto) and fairly present, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the respective dates thereof (taking into account the notes thereto) and the consolidated results of their operations and cash flows for the periods indicated (taking into account the notes thereto) and subject, in the case of unaudited financial statements, to normal year-end adjustments and (B) have been prepared from, and in accordance with, the books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in all material respects. Since June 30, 2014, the Company has not received any written advice or written notification from its independent certified public accountants that it has used any improper accounting practice that would have the effect of not reflecting or incorrectly reflecting in the financial statements or in the books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries, any properties, assets, liabilities, revenues or expenses in any material respect, or that have identified any significant deficiencies or material weaknesses (as defined by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board) in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting that are reasonably likely to adversely affect in any material respect the Company s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information.
- (iii) The Company maintains disclosure controls and procedures required by Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act. The Company has established and maintains a system of internal controls over financial reporting required by Rule 13a-15(f) or Rule 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Since June 30, 2014, the Company s principal executive officer and its principal financial officer have disclosed to the Company s auditors and the audit committee of the Company Board (A) any known significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) and (B) any known fraud or allegation of fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company s internal controls over financial reporting. The Company has made available to Parent a summary of all such disclosures made by management to the Company s auditors and the audit committee of the Company Board since June 30, 2014.
- (iv) Each of the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer of the Company (or each former principal executive officer and each former principal financial officer of the Company, as applicable) has made all certifications required by Rule 13a-14 or 15d-14 under the Exchange Act and Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act with respect to the Applicable SEC Reports, and the statements contained in such certifications are true and accurate in all material respects. For purposes of this Agreement, principal executive officer and principal financial officer shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has outstanding (nor has arranged or modified since the enactment of the Sarbanes-Oxley

A-11

Act) any extensions of credit (within the meaning of Section 402 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act) to directors or executive officers (as defined in Rule 3b-7 under the Exchange Act) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. The Company is otherwise in compliance with all applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the applicable listing and corporate governance rules of the NYSE, except for any non-compliance that would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement.

- (v) There are no liabilities or obligations, whether accrued or unaccrued, known or unknown, or matured or unmatured, of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of a nature that would be required under GAAP to be reflected on a consolidated balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries, other than (A) liabilities or obligations reflected or reserved against in the Company s unaudited consolidated balance sheet (or the notes thereto) (the <u>Balance Sheet</u>) as of April 2, 2017 (the <u>Balance Sheet Date</u>) included in the Company s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 9, 2017, (B) liabilities or obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice since the Balance Sheet Date, (C) liabilities or obligations incurred under or in accordance with this Agreement or in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (D) liabilities or obligations that have not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect.
- (vi) Except as described in the Applicable SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, or has any commitment to become a party to (A) any joint venture, off-balance sheet partnership, or any similar Contract or arrangement (including any Contract or arrangement relating to any transaction or relationship between or among the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any other Person, including any structured finance, special purpose, or limited purpose Person, on the other hand); or (B) any off balance sheet arrangements (as defined in Item 303(a) of Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act).

(f) Disclosure Documents.

- (i) The Proxy Statement and any amendment or supplement thereto, when filed, will comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder. At the time the Proxy Statement and any amendments or supplements thereto are first mailed to the Company Shareholders and at the time the Company Shareholders vote on the adoption of this Agreement, the Proxy Statement, as supplemented or amended, if applicable, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to statements made or incorporated by reference in the Proxy Statement based on information supplied by or on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub or any Affiliates thereof expressly for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein.
- (ii) All of the information supplied in writing by, or on behalf of, the Company, its Subsidiaries or its Affiliates to Parent expressly for inclusion, or expressly to support statements made, (A) in the announcement of the Merger and Share Issuance to be released immediately following execution of this Agreement in compliance with the Listing Rules (the Merger Announcement), (B) in the Parent Shareholder Circular, or any amendment or supplement thereto, or (C) in any announcement issued or released by Parent via any regulatory information service in connection with transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and in any other related documents required to be filed by Parent with the UKLA or published by Parent pursuant to the Listing Rules in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, will, at the time the relevant document or announcement in its final form is published, issued or released (i) be in accordance with the facts, and (ii) not contain any omission likely to affect the import of such information.

A-12

- (g) <u>Absence of Certain Changes or Events</u>. Since April 2, 2017, (i) there have not been any changes, effects, events, occurrences, state of circumstances, or developments (changes, effects, events, occurrences, state of circumstances, and developments being collectively referred to as <u>Changes</u>) that have had or would reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement, (ii) except as contemplated or required by this Agreement, the Company and its Subsidiaries have conducted their respective businesses in all material respects in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, and (iii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has taken, or agreed or committed to take, any actions that would constitute a breach or violation of Sections 4.01(a)(v), (ix), (xii), (xii) or (xv) if such covenants had been in effect as of April 2, 2017.
- (h) <u>Litigation</u>. (i) There is no, and since June 30, 2014 there has not been any suit, action, arbitration, litigation, mediation or legal, arbitral, administrative or other proceeding (each, a <u>Proceeding</u>) pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets, at law or in equity, (ii) there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened material governmental or regulatory audit, review, inspection, survey or investigation of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets, at law or in equity, and (iii) there is no injunction, order, judgment, ruling, decree or writ of any Governmental Entity outstanding against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective directors or officers in their capacities as such or any of their respective properties or assets, at law or in equity, except, in each case, as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement.
- (i) <u>Contracts</u>. Section 3.01(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a correct and complete list of the following Contracts (excluding in each case any Company Benefit Plan) to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is otherwise bound, in each case, as of the date of this Agreement:
- (i) any Contract that would be required to be filed by the Company as a material contract pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act;
- (ii) any Contract creating or evidencing any Indebtedness of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case having an outstanding amount in excess of \$1,000,000, other than any Contract between or among the Company and its Subsidiaries;
- (iii) any Contract constituting a guaranty by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of Indebtedness of any third party;
- (iv) any Contract that restricts the ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to (A) engage in any line of business in any geographic area, solicit customers or compete with any other Person or (B) acquire or dispose of the securities of another Person;
- (v) any Contract that contains a requirement for the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to conduct its business on an exclusive or preferential basis or any most favored nation or any other provisions for the benefit of a third party that restricts the type of business activity of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in a material manner;
- (vi) any Contract that is related to the creation, governance or operation of any joint venture, partnership, limited liability company, strategic alliance or other similar arrangement, other than any such Contract solely between or among the Company and its Subsidiaries;

(vii) any Contract that by its terms calls for aggregate payments, commitments or expenditures by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of more than \$2,000,000 in any fiscal year period or \$3,000,000 in the aggregate over the term of such Contract, except for any such Contract that may be cancelled by the Company, without any material penalty or other liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, upon notice of ninety (90) days or less;

A-13

- (viii) any Contract that involves, or is reasonably expected in the future to involve, annual revenues of \$2,000,000 or more;
- (ix) any Contract for an acquisition, disposition, merger or similar transaction by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of properties or assets, including securities, (A) in each case, for aggregate consideration of more than \$5,000,000 or (B) that contains material continuing obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries following the date of this Agreement;
- (x) any Government Contract that contains a legal obligation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to provide goods or services that resulted in revenues in an aggregate amount that exceeded \$2,500,000;
- (xi) any Contract of employment, consulting, management, separation, or other similar agreement (in each case with respect to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has continuing obligations on or after the date hereof) with any current or former employee, any consultant or any individual who is an independent contractor providing for total annual compensation from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in excess of \$300,000;
- (xii) any Contract of employment, consulting, management, separation, severance, indemnification or similar agreement with any member of the Company Board, any executive officer of the Company or any Person holding more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company as of July 3, 2016;
- (xiii) any Contract that contains any standstill or similar agreement pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has agreed not to acquire any of the assets or securities of any Person;
- (xiv) any Contract constituting an Affiliate Transaction;
- (xv) any employee collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with any labor union or association representing employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (xvi) any Contract that grants any right of first refusal, right of first negotiation, right of first offer, or similar right to any Person with respect to the sale, transfer, or other disposition of any business or line of business or any material assets, rights or properties of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (xvii) any Contract between the Company and its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and a Company Shareholder beneficially owning five percent (5%) or more of the outstanding shares of common stock of the Company or such shareholder s Affiliate, on the other hand, other than Contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (xviii) any IP Contract that is material to the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (xix) any lease or sublease of personal property providing for annual payments of \$5,000,000 or more; and
- (xx) any Contract relating to any swap, forward, futures, warrant, option or other derivative transactions;
- (xxi) any Contract with a Major Supplier or Major Customer; and
- (xxii) each amendment, modification or supplement in respect of any of the foregoing.

Each such Contract described in the foregoing clauses (i) through (xxii) is referred to herein as a <u>Material Contract</u>. Except as, individually or in the aggregate, has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (A) each of the Material Contracts is valid and binding on the Company or the Subsidiary of the Company party thereto and, to the Knowledge of the Company, as of the date hereof, the other party or parties thereto, and is in full force and effect and is enforceable against the Company or its Subsidiaries parties thereto and, to the Knowledge of the Company, each other party thereto, in accordance with its terms, (B) the Company and each of its Subsidiaries and, to the Knowledge of the

A-14

Company, each other party thereto, has substantially performed all obligations required to be performed by it to date under each Material Contract and is not in breach of or default under such Material Contract, (C) since June 30, 2014, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice of breach or default under any Material Contract or the existence of any event or condition which constitutes or, after notice or lapse of time or both, will constitute, a default or breach on the part of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any such Material Contract, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no such condition exists, and (D) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice from any other party to a Material Contract with respect to the termination of any Material Contract that has not been cured or withdrawn.

(j) Compliance with Law; Permits.

- (i) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries are, and since June 30, 2014, have at all times been, in compliance with, and are not in default under or in violation of, any applicable Law, except where such non-compliance, default or violation has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement. Since June 30, 2014, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has (A) received any written notice from any Governmental Entity regarding any violation of, or failure to comply with, any Law, or (B) provided any written notice to any Governmental Entity regarding any violation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any Law, except, in each case, where such non-compliance or violation has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement.
- (ii) The Company and its Subsidiaries are in possession of all franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, easements, variances, exceptions, consents, certificates, approvals, clearances, permissions, qualifications and registrations and orders of all Governmental Entities and have filed all tariffs, reports, notices, and other documents with all Governmental Entities necessary for the Company and its Subsidiaries to own, lease and operate their properties and assets and to carry on their businesses as presently conducted (collectively, Permits), except where the failure to have any of such Permits has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement. All Permits are valid and in full force and effect and are not subject to any administrative or judicial Proceeding or investigation that would reasonably be expected to result in modification, termination or revocation thereof, except where the failure to be in full force and effect or any modification, termination or revocation thereof has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement. The Company is, and each of its Subsidiaries is, in compliance with the terms and requirements of such Permits, except where non-compliance has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement. Since June 30, 2014, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received notice that any Permit will be terminated, revoked or modified, is threatened with suspension or cannot be renewed in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, and the Company has no Knowledge of any reasonable basis for any such termination, revocation, modification, suspension or non-renewal, except, in each case, where such termination, revocation, modification, suspension or non-renewal has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect or would not otherwise prevent or materially adversely affect the Company s ability to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement.

A-15

(k) Labor and Employment Matters.

- (i) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to, bound by, or subject to, or is currently negotiating in connection with entering into, any collective bargaining agreement or understanding with a labor union or similar organization. As of the date hereof, (A) to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no union or other labor organizing activities occurring concerning any employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and (B) there are no labor strikes, slowdowns, work stoppages or lockouts pending or, the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. There are no material legal actions, labor grievances or investigations by any Governmental Entity pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened relating to any employment-related matter involving any Company Employee or applicant, including claims of unlawful discrimination, harassment or retaliation, failure to provide reasonable accommodation, denial of a leave of absence, failure to provide compensation or benefits, employee classification, unfair labor practices, or other alleged violations of employment-related Law.
- (ii) The Company and its Subsidiaries are, and have been since June 30, 2014, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws respecting labor, employment, discrimination in employment, terms and conditions of employment, payroll, worker classification, wages, mandatory social security schemes, hours and occupational safety and health and employment practices.
- (iii) Since June 30, 2014, (A) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has effectuated a plant closing (as defined in the Worker Adjustment Retraining and Notification Act of 1988, as amended (the <u>WARN Act</u>)) affecting any site of employment or one or more facilities or operating units within any site of employment or facility, (B) there has not occurred a mass layoff (as defined in the WARN Act) by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries affecting any site of employment or one or more facilities or operating units within any site of employment or facility, and (C) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in any transaction or engaged in layoffs or employment terminations sufficient in number to trigger application to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of any similar Law. During the three (3) years prior to the date of this Agreement, each Person employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries was or is properly classified as exempt or non-exempt in accordance with applicable overtime laws, and no Person treated as an independent contractor or consultant by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries should have been properly classified as an employee under applicable Laws.

(l) Employee Benefit Matters.

- (i) Section 3.01(l)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a complete and accurate list of each Company Benefit Plan in effect as of the date of this Agreement. True and complete copies (or summaries for any Company Benefit Plan for which a separate document does not exist) of all Company Benefit Plans listed on Section 3.01(l)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter have been made available to Parent, and the Company has made available to Parent where applicable (i) the most recently prepared actuarial report or financial statement, (ii) the most recent summary plan description, and all material modifications thereto, (iii) the most recent annual report (Form 5500 Series) and accompanying schedule, (iv) the most recent determination letter or opinion letter, (v) copies of any material written correspondence with a Governmental Entity relating to a Company Benefit Plan since June 30, 2014, and (vi) any related funding arrangements. Except as specifically provided in the foregoing documents delivered or made available to Parent, there are no amendments to any Company Benefit Plan that have been adopted or approved nor have the Company or any of its Subsidiaries undertaken to make any such amendments or to adopt or approve any new Company Benefit Plan.
- (ii) (A) Each Company Benefit Plan (and any related trust or other funding vehicle) has been in all material respects established, operated and administered in accordance with its terms and is in compliance with ERISA, the Code and

all other applicable Law, (B) all material contributions or other amounts payable by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to each Company Benefit Plan in respect of current or prior plan years have been paid or accrued in accordance with GAAP, the Code,

A-16

the terms of such plans and other applicable Laws, (C) each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is in compliance in all material respects with ERISA, the Code and all other Laws, in each case, applicable to Company Benefit Plans and (D) each Company Benefit Plan (and any related trust) that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a favorable determination or opinion letter, or has pending or has time remaining in which to file an application for such determination or opinion from the IRS.

- (iii) As of the date hereof, (A) no Proceedings (other than routine claims for benefits in the ordinary course of business) are pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened relating to or otherwise in connection with any Company Benefit Plan or the assets thereof and (B) there are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened material administrative investigations, audits or other administrative Proceedings by the Department of Labor, the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, the IRS or other Governmental Entity relating to any Company Benefit Plan.
- (iv) None of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any Commonly Controlled Entity of the Company has, within the past six (6) years, sponsored, maintained, contributed to or been required to maintain or contribute to, or has any liability under, any employee benefit plan (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA) that is (and no Company Benefit Plan is) subject to Section 302 or Title IV of ERISA or Sections 412 or 4971 of the Code, or is otherwise a defined benefit plan (as defined in Section 4001 of ERISA). The fair market value of assets available for benefits under each Company Benefit Plan which is subject to Title IV of ERISA exceeds the present value of accumulated benefit obligations under such Company Benefit Plan, and also, on a plan termination basis, exceeds the value of benefit liabilities—under such Company Benefit Plan within the meaning of Section 4001(a)(16) of ERISA, and the actuarial valuation of each such Company Benefit Plan for the most recent plan year accurately reflects its actuarial condition as of the first day of such plan year, and there has been no material change in such actuarial condition since such date.
- (v) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any Commonly Controlled Entity of the Company has any liability for providing health, medical or life insurance or other welfare benefits after retirement or other termination of employment (other than for continuation coverage required under Section 4980(B)(f) of the Code or other similar applicable Law).
- (vi) None of the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the obtaining of the Company Requisite Vote or the consummation of the Merger (alone or in conjunction with any other event, including any termination of employment on or following the Effective Time) would reasonably be expected to (A) entitle any current or former director, officer, employee or independent contractor of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any compensation or material benefit, (B) accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or trigger any payment or funding, of any compensation or material benefits or trigger any other material obligation under any Company Benefit Plan, (C) result in any material breach or violation of, or material default under, or limit the Company s right to amend, modify, terminate or transfer the assets of, any Company Benefit Plan or (D) directly or indirectly cause the Company to transfer or set aside any assets to fund any benefits, or otherwise give rise to any material liability, under any Company Benefit Plan.
- (vii) No amount paid or which could become payable (whether in cash or property or the vesting of property) by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as a result of the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the obtaining of the Company Requisite Vote or the consummation of the Merger (in each case, alone, or in combination with any other event, whether or not such other event could reasonably be expected to occur) to any of their respective employees, officers, directors or independent contractors, or otherwise, could not be deductible by reason of Section 280G of the Code or may be subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code. There is no agreement, plan or other arrangement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them is otherwise bound to

compensate any Person in respect of Taxes imposed pursuant to Section 4999 of the Code.

A-17

- (viii) Each Company Benefit Plan that constitutes in any part a nonqualified deferred compensation plan within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code is in all material respects in operational and documentary compliance with Section 409A of the Code and all IRS guidance promulgated thereunder, to the extent such section and such guidance are applicable to such Company Benefit Plan. To the Knowledge of the Company, all prior instances of material operational and/or documentary non-compliance with respect to Section 409A of the Code have been corrected under applicable IRS guidance. There is no agreement, plan or other arrangement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of them is otherwise bound to compensate any Person in respect of Taxes imposed pursuant to Section 409A of the Code.
- (ix) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries nor, to the Knowledge of the Company, any other Person has engaged in a transaction in connection with which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries would reasonably be expected to be subject to either a material civil penalty assessed pursuant to Section 409 or 502(i) of ERISA or a material Tax imposed pursuant to Section 4975 or 4976 of the Code.
- (x) As of the date hereof (A) each Company Benefit Plan which is for the benefit of any employee or former employee, officer, director or independent contractor of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries who is located outside or whose principal place of work is outside the United States but excluding any employee benefit plan that is statutorily required, government sponsored or not otherwise sponsored, maintained or controlled by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (each an <u>International Plan</u>) that under applicable Laws requires registration has been duly registered with the necessary Governmental Entity and no event has occurred which is reasonably likely to cause the loss of such registered status, (B) the Company and each Subsidiary has complied with and performed all material obligations under and in respect of the International Plans under the terms thereof, any funding agreements and all applicable Law (including any fiduciary, funding, investment and administration obligations), (C) there are no taxes, penalties or interest owing in respect of any International Plan and (D) the solvency liabilities of each International Plan (using actuarial methods and assumptions which are consistent with the valuations last filed with the applicable Governmental Entities and which are consistent with generally accepted actuarial principles) do not exceed the market value of the assets held in connection with such plan in any material respect.

(m) Taxes.

- (i) (A) All material Tax Returns required to be filed by or with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been timely filed (taking into account any valid extension of time within which to file) and all such Tax Returns are correct and complete in all material respects, (B) all Taxes of the Company and its Subsidiaries (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) that are required to be paid or discharged have been timely paid and discharged other than Taxes being contested in good faith by appropriate Proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been established and maintained on the financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiaries in accordance with GAAP, (C) there are no Tax Liens, other than for Taxes not yet due and payable, on any asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that exist in connection with any failure (or alleged failure) to pay any Tax and (D) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has executed any waiver of any statute of limitations for the assessment or collection of any Tax, which waiver is currently in effect.
- (ii) Any unpaid Taxes of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries (A) did not, as of the Balance Sheet Date, exceed the reserve for Tax liability (rather than any reserve for deferred Taxes established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax income) set forth on the Balance Sheet and (B) do not exceed that reserve as adjusted for the passage of time in accordance with the past custom and practice of the Company and its Subsidiaries in filing their Tax Returns.

(iii) All assessments for Taxes due with respect to completed and settled audits or examinations have been fully paid. No federal, state, local or non-U.S. audits, examinations, investigations or Proceedings are being conducted, have been threatened in writing against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or,

A-18

to the Knowledge of the Company, are pending in respect of any Taxes, which audits, examinations, investigations or Proceedings have not been resolved.

- (iv) The Company and each of its Subsidiaries has withheld and paid or remitted Taxes required by Law to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholder, non-resident or other Person.
- (v) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (A) is a party to, is bound to, or has any obligation under any Tax allocation or sharing agreement or any Tax indemnity agreement (other than any commercial Contracts entered in the ordinary course of business that do not relate primarily to Taxes such as a lease or a loan or to which the only parties are the Company or any of its Subsidiaries), (B) has been a controlled corporation or a distributing corporation in any distribution occurring during the five (5)-year period ending on the date hereof that was purported or intended to be governed by Section 355 or Section 361 of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law), (C) is a party to any Contract, arrangement or plan that has resulted or could reasonably be expected to result, individually or in the aggregate, in the payment of any amount that will not be fully deductible as a result of Section 162(m) of the Code (or any analogous provision of state, local or non-U.S. law), (D) is or has been a member of an affiliated group (other than a group the common parent of which is or was the Company) filing an affiliated, consolidated, combined or unitary Tax return, (E) has any liability for the Taxes of any other Person (other than the Company and its Subsidiaries) arising from the application of Treasury Regulation §1.1502-6 (or any analogous provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law), as a transferee or successor or by Contract (other than customary Tax indemnifications contained in commercial agreements the primary purpose of which does not relate to Taxes such as a lease or a loan), (F) has engaged in any reportable transaction described in Treasury Regulation §1.6011-4(b) or (G) has received a written inquiry from a Governmental Entity in a jurisdiction where the Company or any of its Subsidiaries does not file Tax Returns claiming that the Company or any such Subsidiary is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction.
- (vi) In the past three (3) taxable years, none of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has ever had to include material amounts in income under Section 951(a) of the Code.
- (vii) If the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is required to be registered for value added tax or any similar tax on consumption (<u>VAT</u>) in any jurisdiction, it (A) is so registered in each such applicable jurisdiction, (B) has complied in all material respects with all applicable Law in respect of such VAT, (C) maintains full and accurate records with respect to VAT to the extent required by applicable Law and (D) has not in the six (6) year period ending with the Closing Date been subject to any material interest, forfeiture, surcharge or penalty in respect of VAT. None of the Company or its Subsidiaries is or has been in the six (6) year period ending with the Closing Date a member of a group or consolidation with any company other than the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for purposes of VAT.
- (viii) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has agreed, or is required, to make any material adjustments after the Closing Date pursuant to Section 481(a) of the Code or any similar Law by reason of a change in accounting method initiated by it or any other relevant party prior to the Closing Date, and, as of the date hereof, the IRS has not proposed any such adjustment or change in accounting method in writing nor does the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have any application pending with any Governmental Entity requesting permission for any changes in accounting methods that relate to the business or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (ix) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any material item of income in, or exclude any material item of deduction from, taxable income for any taxable period ending after the Closing Date as a result of any: (A) installment sale or other open transaction disposition; (B) closing agreement described in Section 7121 of the Code or any similar provision of Applicable Law; (C) required change in accounting method; (D) prepaid amount received prior to the Closing Date; (E) intercompany transaction or excess loss account described

in Treasury Regulations

A-19

Section 1.1502 or any similar provision of Applicable Law, in each case occurring, entered into, made or in existence prior to the Effective Time; or (F) any election under Section 108(i) of the Code.

- (x) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any Contract, arrangement or plan that has resulted or would result, individually or in the aggregate, in the payment of any excess parachute payment within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code (or any corresponding provision of any other Tax Laws) arising out of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (n) Environmental Matters. Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (i) each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is, and since June 30, 2014 has been, in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and, since June 30, 2014, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice from any Governmental Entity that has not been fully resolved alleging that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of, or has any liability under, any Environmental Law, including a request for information pursuant to Section 104(e) of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, (ii) each of the Company and its Subsidiaries possesses and is in compliance with all Permits required under applicable Environmental Laws to conduct its business as presently conducted, and all such Permits are valid and in good standing, (iii) since June 30, 2014, there have been no Proceedings or investigations pursuant to any Environmental Law pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or any real property currently or, to the Knowledge of the Company, formerly owned, leased or operated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iv) there have been no releases or threatened releases of Hazardous Materials at, on or from any property currently or, to the Knowledge of the Company, formerly owned, leased or operated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, in a manner that would reasonably be expected to result in any obligation to conduct any investigation, remediation or other corrective or response action by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and (v) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any consent decrees, orders, settlements or compliance agreements, nor has any of them entered into by Contract or, to the Knowledge of the Company, by operation of Law any other commitments that impose any current or future obligations under Environmental Law. The Company has made available to Parent copies of all environmental assessments and investigative or remedial action reports for any property currently or formerly owned, leased or operated by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and all material documents and reports regarding liabilities or obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under Environmental Laws, in each case, to the extent such assessments, reports and documents are within the custody or control of the Company or any Subsidiary.
- (o) Insurance. The Company has delivered or otherwise made available to Parent copies of all material insurance policies and all material self-insurance programs and arrangements relating to the business, assets and operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries in effect as of the date hereof (collectively, the Insurance Policies). The Insurance Policies provide coverage in such amounts and against such risks as the Company has reasonably determined to be prudent, taking into account the industries in which the Company and its Subsidiaries operate, and as is sufficient to comply with applicable Laws. Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect: (i) all Insurance Policies are in full force and effect and all premiums thereon have been timely paid, or if not yet due, accrued; (ii) there has not been any default by the insured under any Insurance Policy or any event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a default by the insured and preclude coverage thereunder; (iii) no notice of cancellation has been given to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any Insurance Policy; (iv) the Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with the terms of each Insurance Policy; (v) as of the date of this Agreement, there is no claim pending under any Insurance Policy as to which coverage has been questioned, denied or disputed in writing by the underwriters of such policies; and (vi) as of the date of this Agreement, the Company has no Knowledge of any threatened termination of, or material premium increase with respect to, any Insurance Policy.

A-20

(p) Property.

- (i) Section 3.01(p)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a correct and complete list of all Contracts (each, a Company Real Property Lease) under which the Company or any Subsidiary thereof is the tenant, subtenant or occupant with respect to material real property leased, subleased, licensed or otherwise occupied (whether as tenant, subtenant or pursuant to other occupancy arrangements) by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (collectively, including the improvements thereon, the Company Leased Real Property). The Company has made available to Parent a true and complete copy of each Company Real Property Lease (including all exhibits, schedules, amendments and extensions thereto). Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (A) each Company Real Property Lease is valid, binding and enforceable against the Company or the Subsidiary of the Company party thereto, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, each other party thereto, (B) there is no uncured default of any provision of any Company Real Property Lease by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of the Company, by any other party thereto, and no event has occurred that with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would reasonably be expected to constitute a default thereunder by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of the Company, by any other party thereto and (C) the Company s or its Subsidiary s possession and quiet enjoyment of the Company Leased Real Property has not been disturbed, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no disputes with respect to the corresponding Company Real Property Lease. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has assigned, pledged, mortgaged, hypothecated, or otherwise transferred any Company Real Property Lease or any material interest therein nor has the Company or any of its Subsidiaries subleased, licensed or otherwise granted any Person (other than another Subsidiary of the Company) a material right to use or occupy any Company Leased Real Property or any material portion thereof.
- (ii) The Company or one of its Subsidiaries has good and valid fee simple title to all material real property currently owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (collectively, the Company Owned Real Property and, with the Company Leased Real Property, collectively the <u>Company Real Property</u>). The fee simple or leasehold (as applicable) title held by the Company or its Subsidiaries to the Company Real Property is free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens), except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect. Section 3.01(p)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a true and complete list by address and legal description of the Company Owned Real Property. Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (A) the buildings, structures, fixtures and improvements located on the Company Owned Real Property, taken as a whole, are adequately maintained and are in good operating condition and repair for the requirements of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, ordinary wear and tear and deferred maintenance excepted, (B) to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no pending or threatened condemnation Proceedings against the Company Real Property, (C) to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no material latent defects or material adverse physical conditions affecting the Company Real Property or any of the facilities, buildings, component parts or other constructions, structures, erections, improvements, fixtures and fixed assets of a permanent nature annexed, affixed or attached to, or located on the Company Real Property. The Company has provided to Parent true and correct copies of all title reports and title policies (including all exception documents referenced therein), zoning reports, appraisals, surveys and engineering reports in the possession or control of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries regarding the Company Owned Real Property. There are no outstanding options, rights of first offer, rights of refusal or similar preemptive rights granted to third parties to purchase or lease any of the Company Owned Real Property, or any portion thereof or interest therein.
- (iii) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (A) each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has title to, or a

A-21

valid leasehold interest in, as applicable, all personal property used in their respective businesses free and clear of any Liens, except for Permitted Liens and (B) such personal property is, to the Knowledge of the Company, in good operating condition and repair, ordinary wear and tear and deferred maintenance excepted.

(q) Intellectual Property.

- (i) <u>Registered IP</u>. Section 3.01(q)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of all Registered Intellectual Property (including pending applications therefor) owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and material to the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, as currently conducted, whether considered individually or in the aggregate, that has not otherwise been abandoned or expired in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, indicating for each item the registration or application number and the applicable filing jurisdiction (the <u>Company Registered Intellectual Property</u>).
- (ii) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (A) the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company (1) is the sole and exclusive legal and beneficial, and with respect to the Company Registered Intellectual Property, record, owner of all right, title and interest in and to the Company Intellectual Property, (2) has the valid and enforceable right to use, sell, convey, transfer, license and otherwise exploit the Company Intellectual Property, (3) has the valid and enforceable right to use the Licensed Intellectual Property which is currently used or held for use in or necessary for the conduct of the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted, in each case, free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens, and (4) since June 30, 2014, has not received a written notice of breach of any agreement that licenses or grants to Company any Licensed Intellectual Property, and to the Knowledge of the Company, is not in breach of any agreement that licenses or grants to Company any Licensed Intellectual Property, and (B) the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder will not result in the loss or impairment of or payment of any additional amounts with respect to, nor require consent of any other Person in respect of, the Company s or any of its Subsidiaries rights with respect to Company Intellectual Property or material Licensed Intellectual Property currently used in or necessary for the conduct of the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries as currently conducted.
- (iii) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (A) to the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has since June 30, 2014 infringed, misappropriated, diluted or otherwise violated the Intellectual Property Rights of any Person and (B) as of the date of this Agreement, there are no investigations or Proceedings (including any oppositions, interferences or re-examinations) pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, since June 30, 2014, threatened in writing against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (1) alleging that the operation or conduct of the Company s or any of its Subsidiaries business infringes, misappropriates, dilutes or otherwise violates the Intellectual Property Rights of any Person or (2) challenging the validity, enforceability, registrability or ownership of any Company Intellectual Property or material Licensed Intellectual Property.
- (iv) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (A) to the Knowledge of the Company, since June 30, 2014, no Person has misappropriated, infringed, diluted or otherwise violated any Company Intellectual Property or is misappropriating, infringing, diluting or otherwise violating any Company Intellectual Property, (B) the Company and its Subsidiaries have taken all reasonable measures in accordance with normal industry practice to protect and to maintain the confidentiality of the Company Intellectual Property and no Company Intellectual Property has been disclosed other than to Persons bound by valid written confidentiality agreements, (C) the Company and its Subsidiaries have taken reasonable measures in accordance with normal industry practice to protect and maintain the Company Intellectual Property, and (D) the Company and its Subsidiaries have appropriate procedures in place designed to provide

A-22

that all Intellectual Property Rights conceived or developed by employees performing their duties for the Company and its Subsidiaries or by third parties performing research and development or other services for the Company or its Subsidiaries have been assigned to the Company or its Subsidiary, as applicable.

- (v) Section 3.01(q)(v) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of all Contracts pursuant to which a Person has licensed or granted any right to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries involving any Licensed Intellectual Property or any other material Intellectual Property Rights or agreed to provide any services (including hosted services) related to any material Intellectual Property Rights to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than commercially available Software licensed under commercially available shrink wrap or other comparable standard form licenses (In-Licenses).
- (vi) Section 3.01(q)(vi) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth a true and complete list of all Contracts pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has granted to any Person any rights, interests or licenses to any material Company Intellectual Property, excluding non-exclusive licenses entered in the ordinary course of business (the <u>Out-Licenses</u>, and together with the In-Licenses, the <u>IP Contracts</u>). Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has granted to any Person any exclusive or sole license under any material Company Intellectual Property.
- (vii) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, to the Knowledge of the Company, the Company Intellectual Property and the Company Systems do not, to the Knowledge of the Company, (A) contain any permanent viruses or any other contaminants (including codes, commands, instructions, devices, techniques, bugs, web bugs, or design flaws) that access (without authorization), alter, delete, threaten, infect, assault, vandalize, defraud, disrupt, damage, disable, inhibit, or shut down any computer systems, networks, infrastructures, devices, websites, databases, Software or other data or property; (B) cause or permit the unauthorized access (either internally or externally) to systems, networks, infrastructures, devices, websites, databases, Software, or other data or property; (C) cause or permit the misappropriation of personal or corporate information or Intellectual Property from any computer systems, networks, infrastructures, devices, websites, databases, Software, or other data or property or (D) cause or permit denial-of-service (DoS) attacks or distributed denial-of-service (DDoS) attacks (collectively, Cyber Attacks). The Company and its Subsidiaries have taken commercially reasonable steps to prevent Cyber Attacks on the Company Systems.
- (viii) Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, the Company Software contains no Open Source Software.
- (r) <u>Privacy and Data Protection</u>. Except as has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect, (i) the Company and each of its Subsidiaries has complied at all times since June 30, 2014 with all applicable Privacy Laws relating to Personal Data, (ii) the Company and each of its Subsidiaries have policies, programs and procedures that are in compliance with all applicable Privacy Laws, and (iii) since June 30, 2014, to the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written claim, complaint, inquiry, or notice from any Person related to the Company s or such Subsidiary s collection, processing, use, storage, security, and/or disclosure of Personal Data, alleging that any of these activities are in violation of any Privacy Law.
- (s) <u>Voting Requirements</u>. Assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties set forth in <u>Section 3.02(g)</u>, the affirmative vote of holders of at least two-thirds (2/3rds) of the outstanding Shares entitled to vote thereon at the Company Shareholders Meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof to adopt this Agreement (the <u>Company Requisite Vote</u>) is the only vote of the holders of any class or series of capital stock of the Company necessary for the Company to adopt this Agreement and approve and consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated

by this Agreement.

(t) <u>Brokers and Other Advisors</u>. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person, other than Wells Fargo Securities LLC and Raymond James & Associates, Inc., is entitled to, or will be entitled to, any

A-23

broker s, finder s, financial advisor s or other similar fee or commission from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

- (u) <u>Opinions of Financial Advisors</u>. The Company Board has received the written opinions (or oral opinions to be confirmed in writing) on or prior to the date hereof of each of Wells Fargo Securities LLC and Raymond James & Associates, Inc. to the effect that, as of the date of the meeting of the Company Board at which this Agreement was approved by the Company Board, and subject to the assumptions, limitations, qualifications and other matters considered in connection with the preparation of such opinions, the Per Share Merger Consideration to be received by the holders of Shares in the Merger pursuant to this Agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.
- (v) <u>State Takeover Statutes</u>; <u>No Rights Agreement</u>. The Company Board has taken all action necessary to render inapplicable to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement all potentially applicable state anti-takeover statutes or regulations (including Chapter 1704 of the OGCL) and any similar provisions in the Company Articles of Incorporation and the Company Code of Regulations. Assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties set forth in <u>Section 3.02(g)</u>, as of the date of this Agreement, no fair price, business combination, moratorium, control share acquisition or other state takeover Law or similar Law (collectively, <u>Takeover Statutes</u>) enacted by any jurisdiction will prohibit or impair the consummation of the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Company does not have any shareholder rights plan, poison pill or similar arrangement in effect.
- (w) <u>Affiliate Transactions</u>. There are not, and since June 30, 2014 there have not been, any transactions, Contracts, arrangements, or understandings (each, an <u>Affiliate Transaction</u>) required to be disclosed under Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated under the Securities Act that has not been disclosed in the Applicable SEC Reports filed prior to the date of this Agreement. The Company has made available to Parent copies of each material Contract or other relevant material documentation (including any amendments or modifications thereto) available as of the date of this Agreement with respect to each Affiliate Transaction.
- (x) Export; Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; UK Bribery Act. With respect to the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries:
- (i) To the Knowledge of the Company, since that date which is five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement the Company and its Subsidiaries are and have been in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws concerning the trade of any products, technology, technical data and services (<u>Export Control Laws</u>), including (A) the Export Administration Regulations (including the anti-boycott regulations contained therein) and Foreign Trade Regulations administered by the United States Department of Commerce; (B) the ITAR administered by the United States Department of State; (C) those administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control (<u>OFAC</u>) of the United States Department of the Treasury; and (D) those administered by the Bureau of Customs and Border Protection of the United States Department of Homeland Security. There is no export-related or import-related legal or enforcement Proceeding and, to the Knowledge of the Company, there is no export related or import related investigation or inquiry pending or threatened against the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any officer, manager or director of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (in his or her capacity as such) by or before (or, in the case of a threatened matter, that would come before) any Governmental Entity.
- (ii) To the Knowledge of the Company, since the date which is five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have provided unauthorized access to, and no Affiliate of the Company or its Subsidiaries (or any of their personnel, representatives, or agents) has had unauthorized access to, export-controlled information in the possession of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. To the Knowledge of the Company, no Affiliate of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that is located outside of the United States has had

access to the electronic networks or systems of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries inside the United States in material violation of applicable Law.

A-24

- (iii) To the Knowledge of the Company, no director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is or, since the date which is five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, has been identified on any of the following: (A) the OFAC list of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons (SDNs); (B) the Bureau of Industry and Security of the United States Department of Commerce Denied Persons List, Entity List or Unverified List; (C) the Office of Defense Trade Controls of the United States Department of State List of Debarred Parties, including both administrative and statutory debarments; or (D) the Bureau of International Security and Nonproliferation of the United States Department of State listing of Nonproliferation Sanctions. To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company and its Subsidiaries are not and, since the date which is five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, have not been involved in business arrangements or otherwise engaged in transactions with or involving countries subject to economic or trade sanctions imposed by the United States Government, or with or involving SDNs, in violation of the regulations maintained by OFAC.
- (iv) To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company and its Subsidiaries are not currently and have not been, at any time since June 30, 2014, denied export privileges involving items subject to the Export Administration Regulations, or debarred or suspended from participating directly or indirectly in the export of defense articles, including technical data, or in the furnishing of defense services, for which a license or approval is required under the ITAR.
- (v) Since the date which is five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, the Company and its Subsidiaries have not made any voluntary disclosure to the DDTC, the United States Department of Commerce s Bureau of Industry and Security, OFAC, or any other Governmental Entity respecting compliance by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with Export Control Laws or with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended (the <u>FCPA</u>).
- (vi) The Company and the its Subsidiaries have had, since the date which is five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, and have all necessary authority under the United States Export Control Laws to conduct their businesses as currently conducted in all material respects, including (A) necessary permits for any import or export transactions, (B) necessary permits and clearances for the disclosure of information to foreign persons and (C) necessary registrations with any United States Governmental Entity with authority to implement such Laws.
- (vii) To the Knowledge of the Company, since the date which is five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries nor any officer, director, employee, agent, or representative of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (acting in such capacity), nor any other Person acting at the direction of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, has violated or is violating any provision of the FCPA or any other similar Law of any non-U.S. jurisdiction.
- (viii) To the Knowledge of the Company, since the date which is five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, the Company and its Subsidiaries are not and have not engaged in any activity, practice or conduct in violation of, and are not committing and have not committed an offence under, the UK Bribery Act 2010, to the extent applicable.
- (ix) To the Knowledge of the Company, since the date which is five (5) years prior to the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries nor any officer, director, employee, agent, or representative of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (acting in such capacity), nor any other Person acting at the direction of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, to the Knowledge of the Company, is or has been the subject of any investigation, inquiry or enforcement Proceedings by any governmental, administrative or regulatory body or any customer regarding any offence or alleged offence, or liability or alleged liability, under the FCPA, and no such investigation, inquiry or Proceedings are pending or threatened.
- (x) The Company and its Subsidiaries maintain on an ongoing basis written anti-corruption and anti-bribery policies, procedures and guidelines and internal accounting controls which are designed to

A-25

ensure compliance with the FCPA by the Company, its Subsidiaries and their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives (acting in such capacity) and other persons acting at the direction of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(y) Government Contracts.

- (i) Section 3.01(y)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter identifies (A) each currently active Government Contract awarded to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or that relates to a program set forth on Section 3.01(y)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter, or which remains open to audit periods (collectively, <u>Material Government Contracts</u>), and (B) all outstanding quotations, bids, and proposals submitted by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries which, to the Knowledge of the Company, are still subject to acceptance by either a federal Governmental Entity of the United States or any proposed prime contractor or subcontractor of a federal Governmental Entity of the United States with respect to any potential Government Contract (x) having aggregate future payments to the Company and its Subsidiaries in excess of \$250,000 or (y) for which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries provided any bid bond (collectively, <u>Government Bids</u>).
- (ii) To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company has complied in all material respects with all applicable statutory and regulatory requirements with respect to each Material Government Contract and Government Bid.
- (iii) To the Knowledge of the Company, neither a federal Governmental Entity of the United States nor any prime contractor or subcontractor of a federal Governmental Entity of the United States has notified the Company in writing that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries breached a requirement of a Material Government Contract, or violated any applicable Law with respect to any Material Government Contract or with respect to any Government Bid. All representations, certifications, disclosures and warranties made by the Company and any of its Subsidiaries with respect to such Material Government Contracts or Government Bids were current, accurate and complete in all material respects as of their effective date, and the Company and any of its Subsidiaries has complied in all material respects with such representations, certifications, disclosures and warranty requirements.
- (iv) To the Knowledge of the Company, since June 30, 2014, no written notices of terminations for convenience or default, show cause or cure notices and no stop work orders or notices of non-exercise of an option to extend a multi-year contract have been issued to or against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any Material Government Contract.
- (v) To the Knowledge of the Company, since June 30, 2014, no costs incurred in respect of any Material Government Contract by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been questioned, withheld or set-off, and remain unresolved or disallowed because of a finding or determination of any kind by a Governmental Entity, including the Defense Contract Audit Agency, and no outstanding material costs invoiced or claimed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any Material Government Contract have been questioned, withheld or set-off, and remain unresolved or disallowed.
- (vi) To the Knowledge of the Company, since June 30, 2014, no contracting officer s final decisions have been issued by a federal Governmental Entity concerning and referencing any Material Government Contract.
- (vii) To the Knowledge of the Company, none of the Company, its Subsidiaries or any of their respective principals (as defined in FAR 52.209-5) is, or since June 30, 2014, has been, suspended, debarred or proposed for debarment from doing business with any federal Governmental Entity of the United States or has been declared non-responsible or ineligible for contracting with or for any federal Governmental Entity of the United States. To the Knowledge of the Company, since June 30, 2014 the Company has not made a voluntary disclosure or a mandatory disclosure

pursuant to the Federal Acquisition Regulation (\underline{FAR}) mandatory disclosure provisions (FAR 9.406-2, 9.407-2 & 52.203-13) to any federal Governmental Entity of the United States and no facts exist which would reasonably be expected to give rise to a claim for fraud under federal or state Law.

A-26

- (viii) To the Knowledge of the Company, there are no outstanding material claims or disputes against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries by a federal Governmental Entity of the United States or by any prime contractor or subcontractor arising under or relating to any Material Government Contract
- (ix) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries are under an organizational conflict of interest (as defined in FAR Subpart 9.5) mitigation plan with respect to any Government Contract.
- (x) To the Knowledge of the Company, all technical data, computer software (other than third party computer software), and computer software documentation delivered to a Governmental Entity of the U.S. or to any prime contractor by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries in performance of a Material Government Contract, has included the proper restrictive legends identified in the FAR and the Department of Defense FAR Supplement to protect Intellectual Property Rights of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (xi) To the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any pending requests for equitable adjustment, claims or disputes against a federal Governmental Entity of the United States, or against any prime contractor or subcontractor, arising under or relating to any Material Government Contract, except for routine demands for payment.
- (xii) To the Knowledge of the Company, no Material Government Contract or Government Bid is based on the Company or any of its Subsidiaries having some form of small business or preferred status afforded by applicable statute or regulation.
- (xiii) To the Knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any past performance rating less than satisfactory with respect to any Material Government Contract with a federal Governmental Entity of the United States since June 30, 2014.
- (xiv) Section 3.01(y)(xiv) of the Company Disclosure Letter sets forth true and complete listings (including an indication of the type of clearance) of all facility security clearances issued by any federal Governmental Entity of the United States held by the Company and its Subsidiaries. To the Knowledge of the Company, the facility security clearances set forth in Section 3.01(y)(xiv) of the Company Disclosure Letter and the personnel security clearances held by the officers, directors, managers and employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries constitute all of the facility and personnel security clearances necessary to conduct the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries as it is currently being conducted. To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company and each of its cleared Subsidiaries holds, and at all relevant times since June 30, 2014, has held, at least a satisfactory rating from the DSS with respect to their respective facility security clearances and there are no liabilities or obligations relating to or arising from any violation by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries of the NISPOM or prior failure by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to maintain at least a satisfactory rating from the DSS. The Company and its cleared Subsidiaries are in compliance with all national security obligations specified in the NISPOM. All facility security clearances held by the Company and its Subsidiaries are currently in full force and effect. No termination for default, notice of rescission, notice of revocation, notice of wrongdoing, notice of breach, cure notice or show cause notice from the DSS or any other federal Governmental Entity of the United States has been issued and remains unresolved with respect to any such facility security clearance.
- (z) <u>Customers and Suppliers</u>. Section 3.01(z) of the Company Disclosure Letter contains a true and complete list of the names of the ten (10) largest suppliers (with the dollar volume of purchases for each) of products and services to the Company and its Subsidiaries (the <u>Major Suppliers</u>) and the ten (10) largest customers (with the dollar amount of revenue for each) of the Company and its Subsidiaries (the <u>Major Customers</u>), in each case for the fiscal year ended July 3, 2016. Since July 3, 2016 through the date of this Agreement, none of the Major Suppliers or Major Customers

has given the Company or any of its Subsidiaries written notice terminating, canceling, reducing the volume under, or renegotiating the pricing terms or any other material terms of any Contract or relationship with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened to take any of such actions.

A-27

(aa) <u>No Other Representations or Warranties</u>. Except for the representations and warranties contained in <u>Section 3.02</u>, the Company acknowledges that neither Parent, Merger Sub nor any other Person on behalf of Parent or Merger Sub makes any express or implied representation or warranty with respect to Parent or Merger Sub or with respect to any other information provided to the Company or its Representatives.

Section 3.02. <u>Representations and Warranties of Parent and Merger Sub</u>. Except as set forth in the Parent Disclosure Letter (it being agreed that disclosure of any item in any section or subsection of the Parent Disclosure Letter shall also be deemed disclosure with respect to any other section or subsection of this Agreement to the extent that it is reasonably apparent that such information is relevant to such other section or subsection), Parent and Merger Sub each represent and warrant to the Company as follows:

(a) Organization, Standing and Corporate Power. Each of Parent and Merger Sub is a legal entity duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (where such concept is recognized under applicable Law) under the Law of its respective jurisdiction of organization and has all requisite corporate or similar power and authority to carry on its business as presently conducted and is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing (where such concept is recognized under applicable Law) in each jurisdiction where the nature of its business or the ownership, leasing or operation of its properties makes such qualification or licensing necessary, other than where the failure to be so qualified, licensed or in good standing would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent, materially delay or impair the ability of Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Parent has made available to the Company prior to the date of this Agreement a true and complete copy of the organizational documents of Parent (the Parent Organizational Documents), and the comparable organizational documents of Merger Sub, in each case as amended and in effect as of the date of this Agreement. Parent and Merger Sub are not in material violation of any of the provisions thereof.

(b) Authority; Noncontravention.

- (i) Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and, subject to receipt of the Parent Requisite Vote and, in the case of Merger Sub only, the delivery by Ultra Electronics Defense, Inc., its sole shareholder, of the written consent (as sole shareholder of Merger Sub) referenced in Section 5.11, to perform its obligations under and to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub and the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of each of Parent and Merger Sub, subject to receipt of the Parent Requisite Vote and, in the case of Merger Sub only, the delivery by Parent of the written consent (as sole shareholder of Merger Sub) referenced in Section 5.11. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of Parent and Merger Sub and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Company, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of each of Parent and Merger Sub, enforceable against each of Parent and Merger Sub in accordance with its terms, subject, as to enforceability, to bankruptcy, insolvency and other Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting creditors—rights and to general equity principles. The Share Issuance has been duly and validly authorized by all requisite corporate action on the part of Parent.
- (ii) The Parent Board duly and validly adopted resolutions (A) determining that the Merger is fair to, and in the best interests of, Parent and the Parent Shareholders, (B) authorizing, approving and declaring advisable the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger and the Share Issuance, (C) directing that the Parent Shareholder Circular be prepared and, subject to the approval of the UKLA, mailed, distributed or otherwise made available to Parent Shareholders in accordance with the provisions of Section 5.02(b), (D) subject to the provisions of this Agreement, resolving that the Parent Shareholder Resolution should be submitted to a vote of the Parent Shareholders at the Parent Shareholders Meeting; and

(E) subject to the fiduciary duties of the Parent Board and the provisions of <u>Section 5.02(e)</u>, resolving that the Parent Board recommend in the Parent Shareholder Circular that the

A-28

Parent Shareholders vote in favor of the Parent Shareholder Resolution (the <u>Parent Board Recommendation</u>), which resolutions, as of the date of this Agreement, have not been rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way.

- (iii) The board of directors of Merger Sub duly and validly adopted resolutions (A) determining that the Merger is fair to, and in the best interests of, Merger Sub and its shareholder and authorizing Merger Sub to enter into this Agreement and consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, (B) authorizing, approving and declaring advisable the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger and (C) recommending that the sole shareholder of Merger Sub adopt this Agreement, which resolutions of Merger Sub, in each case, have not been rescinded, modified or withdrawn in any way.
- (iv) The execution, delivery and performance by Parent and Merger Sub of this Agreement do not, and the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement and compliance with the provisions of this Agreement will not, conflict with, or result in any breach or violation of, or default, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, under, or give rise to any right or obligation (including a right of termination, modification, cancellation or acceleration of any right or obligation or any right of first refusal, participation or similar right) under, or cause the loss of any benefit under, or require consent under, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets of Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries under, any provision of (A) subject to receipt of the Parent Requisite Vote, the Parent Organizational Documents or the comparable organizational or governing documents of any of Parent s Subsidiaries, including Merger Sub, (B) subject to the filings and other matters referred to in the immediately following sentence, (1) any Permit or Contract to which Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries is a party or by which any of their respective properties or assets are bound or (2) any Law applicable to Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective Subsidiaries or any of their respective properties or assets, other than, in the case of foregoing clause (B), any such conflicts, violations, defaults, rights, losses or Liens that would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent, materially delay or impair the ability of Parent or Merger Sub to perform any of its obligations under this Agreement or to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No consent, approval, order, waiver or permit of, action by, authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Entity is required to be obtained or made, or in the case of the CFIUS Approval, advisable to be obtained, by or with respect to Parent or Merger Sub, any of their respective Subsidiaries or any of Parent s or Parent s Subsidiaries material assets or businesses in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Merger Sub or the consummation by Parent and Merger Sub of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except for (I) the filing of a premerger notification and report form by Parent and Merger Sub under the HSR Act and any other filings required or advisable under any applicable non-United States antitrust or competition Law, (II) joint notification to, and submission of any supplementary information and any mitigation agreement requested by, CFIUS in order to obtain the CFIUS Approval, (III) filings with, and submissions as may be advisable to, the DSS or other agency of the U.S. government in accordance with the NISPOM, (IV) notification to, and submission of any supplementary information and any mitigation agreement requested by, DDTC pursuant to Section 122.4(b) and other provisions of ITAR, (V) the filing with the SEC of such reports and other documents under the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder as may be required in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (VI) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Ohio, (VII) release of the Merger Announcement in compliance with the Listing Rules, approval of the Parent Shareholder Circular and any amendments or supplements thereto by (and the filing of the Parent Shareholder Circular and any amendments or supplements thereto with) the UKLA and publication and filing with the UKLA and the UK Financial Conduct Authority of such other documents and information as may be required pursuant to the Listing Rules or otherwise in connection with the transactions contemplated

A-29

by this Agreement, (VIII) filing with the London Stock Exchange plc of such documents and information as may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (IX) receipt of the Parent Requisite Vote, (X) any consents, approvals, orders, waivers, permits, actions, authorizations, registrations, declarations, filings and notices required to be made or obtained by the Company or any of its Affiliates or as a result of the identity of the Company or any of its Affiliates and (XI) such other consents, approvals, orders, waivers, permits, actions, authorizations, registrations, declarations, filings and notices, the failure of which to be obtained or made would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to prevent, materially delay or impair the ability of Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(c) <u>Disclosure Documents</u>.

- (i) The Merger Announcement, the Parent Shareholder Circular, and any amendment or supplement thereto, and any other documents filed by Parent with the UKLA or published by Parent pursuant to the Listing Rules, in each case in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, will in all material respects, at the time the relevant document or announcement in its final form is published, issued or released, (A) comply in all material respects with the Listing Rules and any other applicable Laws and (B) (1) be in accordance with the facts and (2) not contain any omission likely to affect the import of such information. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent makes no representation or warranty with respect to statements made, or incorporated by reference into, in any of the foregoing documents or announcements based on information supplied by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates expressly for inclusion or incorporation by reference therein.
- (ii) All of the information relating to Parent and its Subsidiaries supplied in writing by, or on behalf of, Parent, its Subsidiaries or its Affiliates to the Company expressly for inclusion in, or incorporation by reference into, the Proxy Statement, or any amendment or supplement thereto, in each case in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not, at the time the Proxy Statement and any amendments or supplements thereto are first mailed to the Company Shareholders and at the time of the Company Shareholders Meeting, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
- (d) <u>Litigation</u>. Except as has not prevented, materially delayed or impaired, and would not reasonably be expected to prevent, materially delay or impair, the ability of Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (i) there is no Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened against, or pending or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened material governmental or regulatory investigation of, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries and (ii) there is no injunction, order, judgment, ruling, decree or writ of any Governmental Entity outstanding or, to the Knowledge of Parent, threatened against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (e) <u>Brokers and Other Advisors</u>. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person, other than Guggenheim Securities, LLC, RBC Europe Limited and Investec Bank plc, is entitled to, or will be entitled to, any broker s, finder s or financial advisor s fee or commission or similar payments from Parent or any of its Affiliates in connection with the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (f) Ownership and Operation of Merger Sub. The authorized capital stock of Merger Sub consists solely of 100 common shares, no par value, 100 of which are validly issued and outstanding as of the date hereof. All of the issued and outstanding capital stock of Merger Sub is, and at and immediately prior to the Effective Time will be, owned by Ultra Electronics Defense, Inc., an indirect wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent. Merger Sub has been formed solely for the purpose of engaging in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and prior to the Effective Time will have engaged in no other business activities and will have no assets, liabilities or obligations of any nature other than

those incident to its formation pursuant to this Agreement and the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

A-30

- (g) Ownership of Shares and Derivatives. None of Parent, Merger Sub or any of their Subsidiaries beneficially owns (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act) any Shares or any securities that are convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Shares, or holds any rights to acquire or vote any Shares, or any option, warrant, convertible security, stock appreciation right, swap agreement or other security, contract right or derivative position, whether or not presently exercisable, that provides Parent, Merger Sub, or any of their respective Subsidiaries with an exercise or conversion privilege or a settlement payment or mechanism at a price related to the value of the Shares or a value determined in whole or part with reference to, or derived in whole or part from, the value of the Shares, in any case without regard to whether (i) such derivative conveys any voting rights in such securities to such Person, (ii) such derivative is required to be, or capable of being, settled through delivery of securities or (iii) such Person may have entered into other transactions that hedge the economic effect of such derivative. None of Parent, Merger Sub or any of their Subsidiaries has beneficially owned during the three (3) years immediately preceding the date of this Agreement a number of Shares that would make it an interested shareholder (as such term is defined in Section 1704.01(C) of the OGCL) of the Company.
- (h) <u>Voting Requirements</u>. The affirmative vote of a simple majority of the votes cast on a show of hands by the Parent Shareholders present in person or by proxy at a duly convened and held general meeting of Parent (or any adjournment thereof, such meeting or adjourned meeting being the <u>Parent Shareholders Meeting</u>) passing a resolution (the <u>Parent Shareholder Resolution</u>) to approve the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including the Merger but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, the Share Issuance), or if a poll is called, the affirmative vote of a simple majority of the votes cast on a poll by the Parent Shareholders present in person or by proxy at the Parent Shareholders Meeting passing the Parent Shareholder Resolution, in each case, for the purposes of Chapter 10 of the Listing Rules (the <u>Parent Requisite Vote</u>) is the only vote of the holders of any class of capital stock of Parent necessary for Parent to approve this Agreement and approve and consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(i) Financing.

- (i) <u>Sufficiency of Funds</u>. Subject to the receipt of the Equity Financing, Parent has available to it, and at the Closing Parent will have available to it, sufficient available funds to pay the aggregate Per Share Merger Consideration to holders of Shares pursuant to <u>Section 2.01(a)</u>, all amounts payable to holders of Company RSUs and Company Options pursuant to <u>Section 2.02</u>, any repayment or refinancing of Indebtedness of the Company required in connection with the Merger or otherwise contemplated by this Agreement and all fees and expenses of Parent, Merger Sub and the Surviving Corporation in connection with the Equity Financing, the Merger and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Parent has no obligations, commitments, restrictions or liabilities of any kind which would reasonably be expected to adversely affect the availability of such funds.
- (ii) Equity Agreements. Parent has provided to the Company a true and complete copy of the executed placing agreement by and between Parent and Investec Bank plc (the <u>Placing Agreement</u>) to which Parent is a party and which will be used in connection with funding the aggregate Per Share Merger Consideration payable pursuant to this Agreement and payment of other amounts payable by Parent to consummate the transactions expressly contemplated hereby. Pursuant to the Placing Agreement, the placing agent thereto (the <u>Placing Agent</u>) has undertaken, as agent for Parent, to use its reasonable endeavors to procure subscribers for shares of Parent in the Share Issuance on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Placing Agreement, and if the Placing Agent fails to procure subscribers for such shares, the Placing Agent will, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Placing Agreement, itself subscribe for such shares, which Share Issuance is expected to provide, subject to the terms and conditions therein, aggregate net proceeds of approximately \$173,800,000 to Parent (applying a GBP/USD exchange rate of GBP1.00/USD1.30) (the <u>Equity Financing</u>).

(iii) The Placing Agreement is valid and binding and in full force and effect with respect to Parent and its Subsidiaries that are a party thereto and, to the Knowledge of Parent, the other parties thereto. No event has occurred that, with or without notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a material

A-31

breach, material default or failure of a material condition of the Placing Agreement by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or, to the Knowledge of Parent, any of the other parties thereto. To the Knowledge of Parent, there is no reason to believe that (A) the Placing Agreement may be terminated by any of the parties thereto or (B) any of the conditions set forth in the Placing Agreement of any of the parties to the Placing Agreement shall not be satisfied prior to the Closing Date. There are no Contracts to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is party other than the Placing Agreement related to the funding of any portion of the Equity Financing.

- (j) Access to Information. Each of Parent and Merger Sub has conducted its own independent investigation and analysis of the business, operations, assets, liabilities, results of operations, condition and prospects of the Company and its Subsidiaries and it and its Representatives have received access to such books, records and facilities, equipment, Contracts and other assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries that it and its Representatives have requested for such purposes and that it and its Representatives have had the opportunity to meet with management of the Company to discuss the foregoing, and it and its Representatives have not relied on any representation, warranty, or any other statement by any Person on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, other than the representations and warranties expressly set forth in Section 3.01.
- (k) <u>Sanctions</u>. To the Knowledge of Parent, no director, officer or employee of Parent or Merger Sub is identified on any of the following: (i) the OFAC list of SDNs; (ii) the Bureau of Industry and Security of the United States

 Department of Commerce Denied Persons List, Entity List or Unverified List; (iii) the Office of Defense Trade

 Controls of the United States Department of State List of Debarred Parties, including both administrative and statutory debarments; or (iv) the Bureau of International Security and Nonproliferation of the United States Department of State listing of Nonproliferation Sanctions .
- (1) No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties contained in Section 3.01, each of Parent and Merger Sub acknowledges that neither the Company nor any other Person on behalf of the Company makes any express or implied representation or warranty with respect to the Company or with respect to any other information provided to Parent or Merger Sub, including any information, documents, projections, forecasts or other material made available to Parent or Merger Sub or their Representatives in any virtual data room maintained by or on behalf of the Company or any confidential information package or management presentations in expectation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including with respect to the completeness, accuracy or currency of any such information.

ARTICLE IV

COVENANTS RELATING TO CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

Section 4.01. Conduct of Business Pending the Merger.

(a) From the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Effective Time and the termination of this Agreement in accordance with <u>ARTICLE VII</u>, except as otherwise expressly contemplated by this Agreement, set forth in Section 4.01(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter, required by applicable Law, requested by Parent to be undertaken in connection with the MDS Sale or consented to in writing by Parent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), (x) the Company shall, and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to, carry on its business in the ordinary course consistent with past practice and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to (I) preserve substantially intact its current business organizations, (II) maintain its goodwill and preserve its relationships with significant customers and suppliers and other Persons with whom it has material business relationships in a manner consistent with past practice and (III) retain the services of its officers and key employees as of the date of this Agreement and (y) without limiting the foregoing, the Company shall not, and shall cause it Subsidiaries not to:

(i) declare, set aside or pay any dividends on, or make any other distributions (whether in cash, stock or property) in respect of, any of its capital stock or other voting securities or equity interests, other than

A-32

cash dividends or distributions by a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or another wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company;

- (ii) adjust, split, combine or reclassify any of its capital stock or issue or authorize the issuance of any other securities in respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for shares of its capital stock, other than transactions solely between or among the Company and its wholly owned Subsidiaries;
- (iii) purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any shares of its or its Subsidiaries capital stock or other securities or any rights, warrants or options to acquire any such shares or other securities, other than (A) the withholding of Shares in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice to satisfy Tax obligations or the exercise price with respect to awards granted pursuant to the Company Equity Award Plans and (B) the acquisition by the Company in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice of awards granted pursuant to the Company Equity Award Plans in connection with the forfeiture of such awards or rights, in each case, with respect to awards that are outstanding as of the date hereof and in accordance with their terms as of the date hereof or granted after the date hereof in accordance with this Agreement;
- (iv) issue, deliver, sell, pledge, dispose of, encumber or subject to any Lien any shares of its capital stock, ownership interests, any other voting securities (other than the issuance of shares by a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or another wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company), or any securities convertible into, exercisable or exchangeable for, or any rights, warrants or options to acquire, any such shares, ownership interests, voting securities or convertible securities or any phantom stock, phantom stock rights, stock appreciation rights or stock-based performance units, other than upon the vesting or settlement of Restricted Shares, Company RSUs and Company Options granted under the Company Equity Award Plans that are outstanding as of the date hereof or granted after the date hereof in accordance with this Agreement, in each case, vested or settled in accordance with their terms;
- (v) amend, waive or rescind (A) the Company Articles of Incorporation or the Company Code of Regulations or (B) the comparable organizational or governing documents of any Subsidiary of the Company, other than, in the case of this clause (B), amendments that effect solely ministerial changes to such documents;
- (vi) merge or consolidate with any Person, or purchase property or assets (including equity interests) of any Person, or make capital contributions to any Person, in each case, other than (A) purchases of inventory, equipment and other personal property (1) in the ordinary course of business or (2) for such purchases not in the ordinary course of business, in an amount not in excess of \$1,000,000 in the aggregate, or (B) transactions solely between or among the Company and its wholly owned Subsidiaries;
- (vii) sell, license, lease, transfer, assign, divest, cancel, abandon or otherwise dispose of or permit a Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) to be placed upon any of its properties, rights or assets (including Company Intellectual Property) with a value in excess of \$1,000,000 in the aggregate, other than (A) sales, licenses or other dispositions of assets in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (B) sales, transfers and dispositions of obsolete, non-operating or worthless assets or properties, (C) sales, licenses, leases, transfers or other dispositions made in connection with any transaction between or among the Company and its wholly owned Subsidiaries or (D) pursuant to Contracts existing as of the date hereof;
- (viii) incur, create, assume, redeem, prepay, defease, cancel, or, in any material respect, modify any Indebtedness or enter into any arrangement having the economic effect of any of the foregoing, other than (A) borrowings and prepayments under the Company s existing credit facilities that are made solely for working capital purposes in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (B) the incurrence, redemption, prepayment, defeasance,

cancellation or modification of Indebtedness of the Company or a wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or a wholly owned

A-33

Subsidiary of the Company, (C) the incurrence, creation or assumption of Indebtedness to replace, renew, extend, refinance or refund any existing Indebtedness on substantially the same or more favorable terms to the Company or a Subsidiary of the Company than such existing Indebtedness and (D) with respect to any Indebtedness not incurred, created, assumed, redeemed, prepaid, defeased, cancelled or modified in accordance with the foregoing clauses (A) through (C), the incurrence, creation, assumption, redemption, prepayment, defeasance, cancellation or modification of Indebtedness not in excess of \$1,000,000 in aggregate principal amount outstanding;

- (ix) subject to Section 5.16, settle Proceedings or investigations with a Governmental Entity or third party, in each case, threatened, made or pending against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in excess of \$1,000,000 in the aggregate for all such Proceedings or investigations, other than the settlement of Proceedings or investigations made in the ordinary course of business or for an amount (excluding any amounts that are covered by any insurance policies of the Company or its Subsidiaries, as applicable) not in excess of the amount reflected or reserved therefor in the most recent financial statements (or the notes thereto) of the Company included in the Applicable SEC Reports; provided, however, that in no event shall the Company or any of its Subsidiaries settle any Proceeding or investigation if such settlement involves injunctive relief against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or restricts the conduct of the Company s business following the Effective Time;
- (x) except as required pursuant to the terms of any Company Benefit Plan or other written agreement disclosed to Parent in the Company Disclosure Letter, in each case, as in effect on the date hereof, (A) promote any officers or employees to a position of Vice President or more senior without first consulting with Parent and considering its views in good faith, (B) grant to any director or executive officer or employee any increase in compensation or pay, or award any bonuses or incentive compensation other than, in the case of non-executive employees, in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (C) grant to any current or former director, executive officer or employee any increase in severance, change of control, retention or termination pay, (D) grant or amend any equity awards, (E) enter into any new, or modify any existing, employment, consulting, severance, retention or termination agreement with any (x) current or former director, (y) executive officer or (z) any other employee or individual consultant pursuant to which the annual base salary of such individual under such agreement exceeds \$200,000, (F) establish, adopt, enter into, terminate, waive or amend in any material respect any collective bargaining agreement or material Company Benefit Plan or (G) take any action to accelerate any rights or benefits under any Company Benefit Plan; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not restrict the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from entering into or making available to newly hired employees or to employees in the context of promotions based on job performance or workplace requirements, in each case, in the ordinary course of business, plans, agreements, benefits and compensation arrangements (including incentive grants, but excluding any individual severance arrangements or any options or other equity awards) that have a value that is consistent with the past practice of making compensation and benefits available to newly hired or promoted employees in similar positions;
- (xi) other than as required (A) by GAAP (or any interpretation thereof), including pursuant to standards, guidelines and interpretations of the Financial Accounting Standards Board or any similar organization or (B) by Law, including pursuant to SEC rule or policy, make any change in accounting methods, principles or practices affecting the consolidated assets, liabilities or results of operations of the Company where such change would reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;
- (xii) (A) make any material Tax election or change or rescind any material Tax election or Tax method of accounting, (B) settle or compromise any Tax liability or, with respect to any claim or assessment that does not relate to U.S. federal income Tax, consent to any claim or assessment relating to a material amount of Taxes, (C) other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, file any amended Tax Return, (D) enter into any Tax allocation, sharing, indemnity or closing

A-34

Contract or similar arrangement relating to a material amount of Taxes or (E) consent to any extension or waiver of the statute of limitations period applicable to any material Taxes;

(xiii) materially amend or modify or cancel or terminate, or waive any material rights under, any Material Contract or waive any material rights with respect to any material Company Real Property;

(xiv) enter into any Contract that would constitute a Material Contract under clauses (i), (iv), (v), (xiii) and (xv) of Section 3.01(i) had it been in existence prior to or on the date of this Agreement, except as otherwise expressly permitted under this Section 4.01(a);

(xv) adopt or enter into a plan of complete or partial liquidation, dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other reorganization, other than the Merger and any other mergers, consolidations, restructurings, recapitalizations or other reorganizations solely between or among the Company and its wholly owned Subsidiaries; or

(xvi) other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, make capital expenditures in excess of \$1,000,000 in the aggregate other than in accordance with the Company s capital expenditure plan previously provided to Parent;

(xvii) fail to keep in force any Insurance Policy or comparable replacement or revised provisions providing insurance coverage with respect to the assets, operations and activities of the Company and its Subsidiaries as are currently in effect; or

(xviii) authorize any of, or commit or agree to take any of, the foregoing actions prohibited pursuant to clauses (i) through (xvii) of this Section 4.01(a).

(b) From the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Effective Time and the termination of this Agreement in accordance with <u>ARTICLE VII</u>, except as expressly permitted by this Agreement, neither Parent nor the Company shall, and each shall cause its respective Subsidiaries not to, take any action that is reasonably likely to prevent, or materially impair or delay, the consummation of the Merger.

Section 4.02. <u>Acquisition Proposals</u>.

(a) No Solicitation or Negotiation. The Company agrees that, except as may be requested, or consented to in writing, by Parent to be undertaken by the Company in connection with the MDS Sale or as permitted by this Section 4.02, neither it nor any of its Subsidiaries nor any of the officers, directors and employees of it or its Subsidiaries or any of its or its Subsidiaries investment bankers, attorneys, accountants and other advisors or representatives (such directors, officers, employees, investment bankers, attorneys, accountants and other advisors or representatives, collectively, Representatives) retained by the Company or its Subsidiaries in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby (collectively such Representatives, the Company Transaction Representatives) shall, and it shall instruct and use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and its Subsidiaries Representatives retained by the Company or its Subsidiaries other than in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby (collectively such Representatives, the Other Company Representatives), in each case, not to, directly or indirectly, (i) initiate, solicit or knowingly take any action to facilitate, encourage or solicit any Acquisition Proposal or the making of any proposal that would reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal, (ii) participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding, or furnish or provide any non-public information to any Person in connection with, any Acquisition Proposal or afford access to the business, properties, assets, books or records of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to, or knowingly assist, participate in, facilitate or encourage any effort relating to an Acquisition

Proposal by, any Person that is seeking to make, or has made, an Acquisition Proposal, (iii) except as required by applicable Law, amend or grant any waiver or release under any standstill or similar agreement with respect to any class of equity securities of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iv) enter into any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding, agreement in principle, merger agreement, acquisition agreement or other similar agreement relating to an Acquisition Proposal. In furtherance of the foregoing, except as may be requested, or consented to in writing, by Parent to be undertaken by the Company in connection with the MDS Sale or as

A-35

permitted by this <u>Section 4.02</u>, the Company shall and shall cause its Subsidiaries and its and their Company Transaction Representatives to, and shall instruct and use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and its Subsidiaries Other Company Representatives to, immediately cease any solicitation, discussions, or negotiations with any Person (other than Parent, Parent s Affiliates and their respective Representatives) with respect to an Acquisition Proposal or other proposal that would reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal that existed on or prior to the date hereof. The Company shall promptly request the return or destruction of all non-public information furnished by or on its behalf to any Person and its Representatives (other than Parent, Parent s Affiliates and their respective Representatives) with respect to any Acquisition Proposal prior to the date hereof. It is understood that any violation of the restrictions on the Company set forth in this <u>Section 4.02</u> by any Subsidiary of the Company or any Company Transaction Representative shall be deemed a breach of this <u>Section 4.02</u> by the Company.

- (b) Notice. Until the Effective Time, promptly (and, in any event, within forty-eight (48) hours) after receipt by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or their respective Representatives of any Acquisition Proposal or any request for non-public information or inquiry relating to any Acquisition Proposal, the Company shall provide Parent with notice of such receipt, the identity of the Person making any such Acquisition Proposal or request for non-public information or inquiry, the material terms and conditions of such Acquisition Proposal, request or inquiry, as applicable, and copies of any documents evidencing or delivered in connection therewith. The Company shall keep Parent informed on a reasonably current basis of any material developments, discussions or negotiations regarding any such Acquisition Proposal, request or inquiry (including any changes thereto), and shall promptly (and, in any event, within forty-eight (48) hours after receipt) provide to Parent copies of all correspondence and written materials sent or provided to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that describes any terms or conditions of any Acquisition Proposal, request or inquiry.
- (c) Information Exchange; Discussions or Negotiation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in Section 4.02(a), prior to obtaining the Company Requisite Vote, in the event that the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives receive from any Person, after the date of this Agreement, an unsolicited, bona fide written Acquisition Proposal that did not result from a breach of this Section 4.02, and that the Company Board determines in good faith, after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, is, or is reasonably likely to lead to, a Superior Proposal, then the Company may (i) furnish or provide information to the Person making such Acquisition Proposal and its Representatives pursuant to an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement; provided, however, that the Company shall promptly (and, in any event, within forty-eight (48) hours) make available to Parent and its Representatives any written material non-public information concerning the Company or its Subsidiaries that is provided to any Person pursuant to this Section 4.02(c) (i) to the extent such information was not previously made available to Parent and its Representatives and (ii) engage in discussions and negotiations with such Person and its Representatives with respect to such Acquisition Proposal. As used in this Agreement, Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement means any confidentiality agreement entered into by the Company before or after the date of this Agreement that contains confidentiality provisions that are not less favorable in the aggregate to the Company than those contained in the Confidentiality Agreement; provided, however, that any such confidentiality agreement may contain provisions that permit the Company to comply with the terms of this Agreement, but shall not include in any event any provisions requiring exclusive negotiations, a copy of which confidentiality agreement shall be provided to Parent promptly after the execution thereof.

(d) No Change in Recommendation; Exceptions.

(i) Except as set forth in this Section 4.02(d), the Company Board (including any committee thereof) shall not (A) withdraw, fail to make or modify in a manner adverse to Parent or Merger Sub, or propose to withdraw, fail to make or modify in a manner adverse to Parent or Merger Sub, the Company Board Recommendation, (B) fail to include, in the Proxy Statement, the Company Board Recommendation, (C) approve, adopt or recommend, or propose

to approve, adopt or recommend, any Acquisition Proposal, (D) if any Acquisition Proposal is structured as a tender or exchange offer that is

A-36

commenced, fail to recommend against acceptance of such tender or exchange offer by the Company Shareholders within ten (10) Business Days of commencement thereof pursuant to Rule 14d-2 of the Exchange Act, or (E) agree or resolve to take actions set forth in the foregoing clauses (A) through (D) (any of the foregoing clauses (A) through (E), a Company Adverse Recommendation Change).

- (ii) Notwithstanding Section 4.02(d)(i), at any time prior to obtaining the Company Requisite Vote, in the event that the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives receive from any Person, after the date of this Agreement, an unsolicited, bona fide written Acquisition Proposal that did not result from a breach of this Section 4.02 and that the Company Board determines in good faith after consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel is a Superior Proposal, the Company Board may, in response to such Superior Proposal, (A) effect a Company Adverse Recommendation Change or (B) terminate this Agreement pursuant to and in accordance with Section 7.01(c)(i) in order to enter into a definitive, written agreement concerning such Superior Proposal; provided, however, that prior to taking any such action, and as a condition precedent to taking any such action, (1) the Company shall provide Parent with at least four (4) Business Days prior written notice of the Company Board s intention to take such action (which notice shall specify the reasons therefor and include an unredacted copy of any relevant proposed transaction agreements, the identity of the party making such Superior Proposal and the material terms thereof) during which period Parent may propose revisions to the terms of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (it being understood that, in the event of any change to the financial terms or any other material terms of any such Superior Proposal, such notice period shall be extended to ensure that at least two (2) Business Days remain in such notice period following any such change), (2) the Company Board shall have discussed and negotiated, and shall have caused its Representatives to discuss and negotiate, in good faith with Parent during such notice period to the extent Parent reasonably desires to discuss and negotiate and (3) the Company Board, at or after 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the final day of such notice period, shall have considered in good faith the effect of any irrevocable written binding offer proposed by Parent to amend the terms of this Agreement (such amendment, the <u>Offered Amendment</u>) and shall have determined, after consideration and consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, and taking into consideration such Offered Amendment, that any such Acquisition Proposal continues to be a Superior Proposal and that the failure to take such action would continue to be inconsistent with the Company Board s fiduciary duties under applicable Law.
- (iii) Notwithstanding Section 4.02(d)(i), other than in connection with an Acquisition Proposal (which shall be governed by Section 4.02(d)(ii)), if an Intervening Event occurs and the Company Board determines in good faith after considering advice from its financial advisors and outside legal counsel that the failure to effect a Company Adverse Recommendation Change would be inconsistent with the Company Board s fiduciary duties under applicable Law, the Company Board may, in response to such Intervening Event, effect a Company Adverse Recommendation Change; provided, however, that prior to taking any such action, (A) the Company shall provide Parent with at least four (4) Business Days prior written notice of the Company Board s intention to take such action (which notice shall specify the reasons therefor and include a reasonably detailed description of the Intervening Event) during which period Parent may propose revisions to the terms of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (B) the Company Board shall have negotiated, and shall have caused its Representatives to negotiate, in good faith with Parent during such notice period to the extent Parent reasonably desires to negotiate and (C) the Company Board, at or after 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the final day of such notice period, shall have considered in good faith the effect of any Offered Amendment in consultation with its financial advisors and outside legal counsel, and shall have determined, after such consideration and consultation and taking into consideration such Offered Amendment, that a failure to effect a Company Adverse Recommendation Change would continue to be inconsistent with the Company Board s fiduciary duties under applicable Law.
- (e) <u>Certain Permitted Disclosure</u>. Nothing contained in this <u>Section 4.02</u> or elsewhere in this Agreement shall prohibit the Company or any of its Subsidiaries from (i) taking and disclosing to the Company

A-37

Shareholders a position contemplated by Rule 14d-9 or Rule 14e-2(a) under the Exchange Act or (ii) making a disclosure to the Company Shareholders if the Company Board determines in good faith in consultation with its outside legal counsel that a failure to do so would be inconsistent with applicable Law; provided, however, that in no event shall the Company or the Company Board or any committee thereof take any action prohibited by Section 4.02(d)(i) (except that any stop, look and listen communication that contains only the information set forth in Rule 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act shall not be deemed a Company Adverse Recommendation Change), unless such action is required by applicable Law and, if such action constitutes a Company Adverse Recommendation Change before the Company Requisite Vote, then Parent will have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.01(d)(i).

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

Section 5.01. Proxy Statement; Company Shareholders Meeting.

- (a) The Company shall prepare and file with the SEC, as promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement (and, in any event, within twenty (20) Business Days), a proxy statement, in preliminary form, relating to the Company Shareholders Meeting (such proxy statement, including any amendment or supplement thereto, the Proxy Statement). The Company agrees that the Proxy Statement will comply in all material respects with the applicable provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder. The fees and expenses incurred in connection with the filing, printing and mailing of the Proxy Statement shall be paid by the Company. As promptly as practicable after the date of this Agreement, Parent will use commercially reasonable efforts to furnish or cause to be furnished to the Company the information relating to Parent and its Subsidiaries to be set forth in the Proxy Statement (or any amendment or supplement thereto) and the Company, Parent and Merger Sub will cooperate with one another in the preparation of the Proxy Statement (or any amendment or supplement thereto). Without limiting the foregoing, the Company shall not file the Proxy Statement (or any amendment or supplement thereto) without first providing Parent and Merger Sub a reasonable opportunity to review and propose comments thereon (which comments shall be considered in good faith by the Company). Each of the Company and Parent agree to correct any information provided by it for inclusion in the Proxy Statement that, to its Knowledge, was when provided, or shall have become, false or misleading.
- (b) The Company shall promptly notify Parent of the receipt of all comments of the SEC with respect to the Proxy Statement and of any request by the SEC for any amendment or supplement thereto or for additional information and, after the Company and its Representatives shall have had a reasonable opportunity to review and consider any written correspondence or comments received from the SEC relating to the Proxy Statement (or any amendment or supplement thereto), provide Parent with copies of all written correspondence between the Company and its Representatives, on the one hand, and the SEC, on the other hand, relating to the Proxy Statement (or any amendment or supplement thereto). Subject to Parent's compliance with its obligations under Section 5.01(a), (i) the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to promptly provide responses to the SEC with respect to all comments received on the Proxy Statement from the SEC, and (ii) the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Proxy Statement in definitive form to be cleared by the SEC and mailed as promptly as possible after the date the SEC staff advises that it has no further comments thereon or that the Company may commence mailing the Proxy Statement.
- (c) The Company shall cause the Company Shareholders Meeting to be duly called and held as promptly as practicable after the clearance of the Proxy Statement by the SEC (and, in any event, within forty-five (45) days), to consider and vote upon the adoption of this Agreement. Subject to Section 4.02, the Company Board shall recommend

such adoption in the Proxy Statement and in such other materials and communications between the Company and the Company Shareholders as are reasonable and customary and shall use reasonable best efforts to solicit such adoption of this Agreement at the Company Shareholders

A-38

Meeting. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the Company may not adjourn or postpone the Company Shareholders Meeting except (i) to the extent necessary to ensure that any necessary supplement or amendment to the Proxy Statement is provided to the Company Shareholders at least five (5) Business Days in advance of a vote on the adoption of this Agreement, (ii) if the Company reasonably believes it is necessary and advisable to do so in order to solicit additional proxies in order to obtain the Company Requisite Vote or (iii) if, as of the time for which the Company Shareholders Meeting is originally scheduled, there are insufficient Shares represented (either in person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to conduct the business of the Company Shareholders Meeting. The Company shall keep Parent and Merger Sub reasonably informed with respect to proxy solicitation results.

Section 5.02. Parent Shareholders Meeting; Parent Shareholder Circular; Parent Adverse Recommendation Change.

(a) Subject to the Company s compliance with its obligations under this Section 5.02(a), Parent shall (i) if Parent has not done so prior to the date of this Agreement, submit to the UKLA as soon as practicable on or after the date of this Agreement a first draft of the circular to be sent to Parent Shareholders entitled to vote on the Parent Shareholder Resolution in accordance with its obligations under the Listing Rules (the <u>Parent Shareholder Circular</u>) and (ii) subject to the Proxy Statement, in preliminary form, having been filed with the SEC by the Company, use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the approval of the UKLA for such Parent Shareholder Circular as soon as reasonably practicable after such SEC filing (it being recognized and agreed by the Company that, subsequent to such SEC filing, Parent may make one or more further submissions of draft versions of the Parent Shareholder Circular to the UKLA in order to address comments received from the UKLA and/or disclosures which Parent determines to be reasonably necessary or desirable for the purposes of complying with its obligations pursuant to the Listing Rules). The Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to furnish or cause to be furnished to Parent all such assistance and information (financial or otherwise) relating to the Company, its Subsidiaries and Affiliates as Parent may reasonably request for the purposes of preparing the Parent Shareholder Circular (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or as may be required by the UKLA or pursuant to the Listing Rules in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, pursuant to this Section 5.02 the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to: (i) provide all such information about itself, its Subsidiaries and its Affiliates and its and their respective directors, officers and shareholders as Parent may reasonably request for inclusion in the Parent Shareholder Circular (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or as may be required by the UKLA or pursuant to the Listing Rules in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; (ii) provide reasonable access to the Company s Representatives (including its external auditors) for the purposes of allowing Parent and/or its Representatives (including its external auditors) to prepare the Parent Shareholder Circular (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or to provide any information required by the UKLA or pursuant to the Listing Rules in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and (iii) procure that the Company s Representatives (including its external auditors) provide such assistance, information and cooperation to Parent and its Representatives (including its external auditors) as they may reasonably request for the purposes of preparing the Parent Shareholder Circular (or any amendment or supplement thereto) or providing any information required by the UKLA or pursuant to the Listing Rules in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Except to the extent it has done so prior to the date of this Agreement, Parent shall not file with the UKLA a draft copy of the Parent Shareholder Circular (or any draft copy of an amendment or supplement thereto) without first providing the Company a reasonable opportunity to review and propose comments thereon (which comments shall be considered in good faith by Parent). Each of Parent and the Company agree to correct any information provided by it for inclusion in the Parent Shareholder Circular that, to its Knowledge, was when provided, or shall have become, false or misleading, or otherwise not in accordance with the facts.

(b) Parent shall promptly notify the Company of the receipt of all written comments of the UKLA with respect to the Parent Shareholder Circular and of any request by the UKLA for any amendment or supplement thereto or for

additional information and, after Parent and its Representatives shall have had a

A-39

reasonable opportunity to review and consider any written correspondence or comments received from the UKLA relating to the Parent Shareholder Circular (or any amendment or supplement thereto), provide the Company with copies of all written correspondence between Parent and its Representatives, on the one hand, and the UKLA, on the other hand, relating to the Parent Shareholder Circular (or any amendment or supplement thereto). Subject to the Company s compliance with its obligations under Section 5.02(a), (i) Parent and the Company shall each use their respective commercially reasonable efforts to promptly provide responses to the UKLA with respect to all comments received on the Parent Shareholder Circular from the UKLA, and (ii) subject to the fiduciary duties of the Parent Board, Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Parent Shareholder Circular (or any amendment or supplement thereto) in definitive form to be mailed, delivered or otherwise made available to Parent Shareholders as promptly as possible after the date the UKLA approve the Parent Shareholder Circular (or any amendment or supplement thereto).

- (c) Subject to the fiduciary duties of the Parent Board and the Company s compliance with its obligations under Section 5.02(a), Parent shall, as promptly as practicable after approval of the Parent Shareholder Circular by the UKLA and in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, duly call, give notice of and convene a Parent Shareholders Meeting to consider and vote upon the Parent Shareholder Resolution. Subject to the fiduciary duties of the Parent Board and the provisions of Section 5.02(e), Parent shall include the Parent Board Recommendation in the Parent Shareholder Circular and, unless the Parent Board shall have effected a Parent Adverse Recommendation Change, shall use reasonable best efforts to solicit approval of the Parent Shareholder Resolution by Parent Shareholders. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Parent may not adjourn or postpone the Parent Shareholders Meeting except: (i) with the written consent of the Company, (ii) to the extent necessary to ensure that any necessary supplement or amendment to the Parent Shareholder Circular is provided to the Parent Shareholders a reasonable amount of time in advance of (being at least five (5) Business Days in advance of) a vote of Parent Shareholders on the Parent Shareholder Resolution, (iii) if Parent reasonably believes it is necessary and advisable to do so in order to solicit additional proxies in order to obtain the Parent Requisite Vote, (iv) if, as of the time for which the Parent Shareholders Meeting is originally scheduled, there are insufficient shares represented (either in person or by proxy) to constitute a quorum necessary to conduct the business of the Parent Shareholders Meeting or (v) as required by applicable Law or the fiduciary duties of the Parent Board. Parent shall keep the Company reasonably informed with respect to proxy solicitation results.
- (d) Subject to the fiduciary duties of the Parent Board and the provisions of Section 5.02(e), the Parent Board (including any committee thereof) shall not (i) withdraw, fail to make or modify in a manner adverse to the Company, or propose to withdraw, fail to make or modify in a manner adverse to the Company, the Parent Board Recommendation, (ii) fail to include, in the Parent Shareholder Circular, the Parent Board Recommendation, or (iii) agree or resolve to take actions set forth in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii) (any of the foregoing clauses (i) through (iii), an Parent Adverse Recommendation Change, provided, however, that where a unanimous recommendation of the Parent Board or a committee thereof, as applicable, ceases to be unanimous, so long as a majority recommendation of the Parent Board to vote in favor of passing the Parent Shareholder Resolution remains, that shall not constitute a Parent Adverse Recommendation Change and (B) an adjournment or postponement of the Parent Shareholders Meeting in the circumstances set out in Section 5.02(c) shall not constitute a Parent Adverse Recommendation Change unless and until, at or prior to the adjourned or postponed Parent Shareholders Meeting, the recommendation of the Parent Board in relation to the Parent Shareholder Resolution is other than the Parent Board Recommendation.
- (e) At any time prior to obtaining the Parent Requisite Vote, the Parent Board may effect a Parent Adverse Recommendation Change if (i) the Parent Board, acting in good faith, determines at any time, after consultation with its external legal counsel and/or external financial advisers (as the case may be), that the failure to take such action would reasonably be expected to constitute a breach the Parent Board s fiduciary duties under applicable Law and

(ii) where reasonably practicable and not contrary to the duties of the Parent Board, Parent shall have first provided written notice to the Company of such determination of the

A-40

Parent Board and of the fact that the Parent Board intends to effect a Parent Adverse Recommendation Change, which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail the reasons therefor.

Section 5.03. Filings; Other Actions; Notification.

- (a) Cooperation; Efforts. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, including Section 5.01 and Section 5.02 (provided, that in the event of any conflict between Section 5.01 and/or Section 5.02 and this Section 5.03(a), Section 5.01 and Section 5.02 shall govern with respect to the matters set forth therein), the Company and Parent shall cooperate with each other and use (and shall cause their respective Subsidiaries to use) their respective reasonable best efforts to take or cause to be taken all actions, and do or cause to be done all things, reasonably necessary and proper on their part under this Agreement and applicable Law to consummate and make effective the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement as soon as practicable, including preparing and filing as promptly as practicable all documentation to effect all necessary notices, reports and other filings and to obtain as promptly as practicable all consents, registrations, approvals, permits and authorizations necessary or advisable to be obtained from any third party and/or any Governmental Entity in order to consummate the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. To the extent not prohibited by applicable Law and upon the terms and subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, each of the Company and Parent shall cooperate with each other in connection with the matters contemplated by this Section 5.03, including (i) promptly notifying the other of, and, if in writing, furnishing the other with copies of (or, in the case of material oral communications, advising the other orally of) any communications from or with any Governmental Entity with respect to the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) permitting the other to review and discuss in advance, and considering in good faith the views of the other in connection with, any proposed written (or any material proposed oral) communication with any such Governmental Entity, (iii) not participating, and not permitting any of its Representatives to participate, in any meeting with any such Governmental Entity unless it notifies the other in advance and, to the extent permitted by such Governmental Entity, gives the other the opportunity to attend and participate thereat, (iv) furnishing the other with copies of all correspondence, filings and communications (and memoranda setting forth the substance thereof) between it and any such Governmental Entity with respect to this Agreement and the Merger, and (v) cooperating with the other to furnish the other party with such necessary information and reasonable assistance as the other party may reasonably request in connection with the parties mutual cooperation in preparing any necessary filings or submissions of information to any such Governmental Entity. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company shall not agree or consent to dispose of, license or hold separate any assets, or otherwise take to commit or take any action that would limit Parent s ability to retain the Company or any of its Affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) or Parent or any of its Affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) or agree to alter or restrict the business or commercial practices, including any terms or conditions of any Contracts, of the Company or any of its Affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) without the prior written consent of Parent, in each case, in order to obtain the consents, registrations, approvals, permits and authorizations contemplated by this Section 5.03.
- (b) No Divestiture or Other Remedial Action. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to require Parent or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof to agree to any action to: (i) dispose of, license or hold separate any assets, or otherwise take or commit to take any action that limits the freedom of action of Parent or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof with respect to, or their ability to retain, the Company or any of its Affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) or Parent or any of its Affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets), or (ii) alter or restrict in any way the business or commercial practices, including any terms or conditions of any Contracts, of the Company or any of its Affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets) or Parent or any of its Affiliates (or any of their respective businesses, product lines or assets); provided, however, that, if requested by a Governmental Entity in order

to obtain consents, registrations, approvals, permits or authorizations contemplated by this <u>Section 5.03</u>, Parent shall agree to

A-41

the disposal (and the Company shall agree to do so after the Closing if requested by Parent) of (A) the Company s MDS business segment or (B) any assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries (but not of Parent or its Affiliates) that do not relate to the sonobuoy business of the Company or its Subsidiaries and that, individually or in the aggregate, are not material in any respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries.

- (c) <u>Litigation Not Required</u>. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, Parent shall have the right, but not the obligation, to defend (or initiate) any Proceeding instituted by a Governmental Entity (i) with respect to the legality of the Merger under any Law, including any antitrust or competition Law, or (ii) in order to overturn any regulatory action by any such Governmental Entity to prevent consummation of the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including by defending any Proceeding in order to avoid the entry of, or to have vacated, overturned or terminated, including by appeal, any Order.
- (d) <u>Information</u>. Without limiting the generality of <u>Sections 5.01</u> and <u>5.02</u>, subject to applicable Laws relating to the exchange of information, the Company and Parent each shall, and shall instruct its Representatives to, upon request by the other, furnish the other with all information concerning itself and its Subsidiaries, directors, officers and shareholders, and such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with the Proxy Statement, the Parent Shareholder Circular or any other statement, filing, notice or application made by or on behalf of Parent, the Company or any of their respective Subsidiaries to any third party and/or any Governmental Entity in connection with the Merger and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (e) <u>Status</u>. Subject to applicable Law and as required by any Governmental Entity, the Company and Parent each shall keep the other apprised of the status of matters relating to completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including promptly furnishing the other with copies of notices or other communications received by Parent or the Company, as the case may be, or any of its Subsidiaries, from any third party and/or any Governmental Entity with respect to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(f) Regulatory Approvals.

- (i) <u>HSR/Antitrust</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, without limiting the generality of the undertakings pursuant to this <u>Section 5.03</u>, each of the Company and Parent agree (A) as promptly as practicable but in no event later than ten (10) Business Days following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, to file or cause to be filed with the United States Federal Trade Commission and the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice the notification and report form, if any, required for the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby and any supplemental information requested in connection therewith and (B) as promptly as practicable, to make, or cause to be made, any filing that may be necessary or, in the reasonable opinion of Parent, advisable under any other antitrust or competition Law and provide each and every Governmental Entity with jurisdiction over enforcement of any antitrust or competition Law applicable to the Company, its Subsidiaries or Parent all non-privileged information and documents that are required or reasonably requested by any such Governmental Entity or by Parent pursuant to applicable antitrust or competition Law in connection with consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (ii) <u>CFIUS</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, without limiting the generality of the undertakings pursuant to this <u>Section 5.03</u>, Parent and the Company shall use their reasonable best efforts to obtain the CFIUS Approval. Such reasonable best efforts shall include promptly after the date hereof preparing, prefiling, and then filing with CFIUS a joint voluntary notice pursuant to the DPA with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and providing any additional or supplemental information, certifications and agreements requested by CFIUS or any other agency or branch of the U.S. government in connection with the CFIUS review or investigation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement within the timeframes required by the DPA, unless CFIUS agrees in

writing to an extension of such timeframe; provided, however, that other than

A-42

operating the Company and its cleared Subsidiaries pursuant to the Special Security Agreement existing as of the date hereof (<u>SS</u>A) of Parent or one of its Subsidiaries, neither Parent nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to agree to take or commit to take any action or agree to any mitigation under Section 721(l) of the DPA or the NISPOM that are reasonably unacceptable to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, including any actions or mitigation that could reasonably be expected to limit its freedom of action with respect to, or ability to retain, one or more of the Company s businesses or product lines; and <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that in the event that CFIUS notifies Parent, Merger Sub or the Company that CFIUS (A) has completed its review or investigation and (B) intends to send a report to the President of the United States recommending that the President suspend or prohibit the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Parent and the Company may, at the discretion of Parent or the Company, request a withdrawal of any filing or notification made to CFIUS. Each party hereto shall afford the other the opportunity to review and comment in advance on any submissions to CFIUS to be made by the submitting party, except for personal identifier information or other information proprietary to the submitting party.

- (iii) <u>DDTC</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, without limiting the generality of the undertakings pursuant to this <u>Section 5.03</u>, Parent and the Company shall use their reasonable best efforts to prepare and submit, as promptly as practicable but in no event later than ten (10) Business Days following the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the Company s notification to DDTC pursuant to Section 122.4(b) of ITAR, including such information about the Company and its Affiliates as may be required, and to prepare and submit any other information or agreement as may be required by DDTC in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (iv) <u>NISPOM</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, without limiting the generality of the undertakings pursuant to this <u>Section 5.03</u>, Parent and the Company shall use their reasonable best efforts to:
- (A) have the Company prepare and submit, at its sole expense, to the DSS and, to the extent applicable, any other agency of the U.S. government, notification of the Merger and the other relevant transactions contemplated hereby pursuant to the NISPOM, and the Company shall reasonably cooperate with Parent in requesting, at Parent s sole expense, from the DSS approval to operate the business of the Company and its cleared Subsidiaries pursuant to the SSA in accordance with NISPOM (<u>DSS Approv</u>al); and
- (B) take all steps advisable, necessary or desirable to obtain assurances, reasonably deemed sufficient by Parent or one of its Subsidiaries, that favorable National Interest Determinations in accordance with the NISPOM, or similar determinations under any applicable national or industrial security regulations of any federal Governmental Entity of the U.S. Government, will be granted authorizing access to proscribed or other relevant information by the Company and its cleared Subsidiaries following the Closing as may be necessary for the Company and its cleared Subsidiaries to continue to perform their Government Contracts.

Section 5.04. Access and Reports; Confidentiality.

(a) Subject to applicable Law, upon reasonable notice, the Company shall (and shall cause its Subsidiaries to) afford Parent s and its Affiliates officers and other authorized Representatives reasonable access, during normal business hours throughout the period prior to the Effective Time, to its employees, properties, books, Contracts and records and, during such period, the Company shall (and shall cause its Subsidiaries to) furnish promptly to Parent all information concerning its business, properties and personnel as may reasonably be requested (including such information as Parent may request in accordance with Section 5.03(c)); provided, however, that no investigation pursuant to this Section 5.04 shall affect or be deemed to modify any representation or warranty made by the Company herein; provided, further, that the foregoing shall not require the Company to (i) permit any inspection, or to disclose any information, that in

A-43

the reasonable judgment of the Company would result in the disclosure of any trade secrets of third parties or violate any of its obligations to a third party with respect to confidentiality if the Company shall have used commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the consent of such third party to such inspection or disclosure, (ii) disclose any attorney-client privileged information of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or information of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries subject to the work product doctrine, (iii) permit any invasive environmental testing or sampling at any property or (iv) take or allow any action that would unreasonably interfere with the Company s or any of its Subsidiaries business or operations. Except to the extent already performed prior to the date of this Agreement, the Company shall instruct its external auditors to provide any cooperation as Parent s external auditors may reasonably request as soon as practicable to agree on the necessary processes and procedures that are required to be undertaken by each of them in relation to the preparation of the Parent Shareholder Circular and any information and comfort letters reasonably required in relation to the preparation of the Parent Shareholder Circular. All requests for information made pursuant to this Section 5.04 shall be directed to the executive officer or other Person designated by the Company.

(b) Each of Parent and Merger Sub will comply with the terms and conditions of that certain letter agreement, dated May 9, 2016, by and between Parent and the Company (as may be amended from time to time, the <u>Confidentiality Agreement</u>), and will hold and treat, and will cause their respective Representatives to hold and treat, in confidence all documents and information concerning the Company and its Subsidiaries furnished to Parent or Merger Sub in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including pursuant to <u>Section 5.04(a)</u>) in accordance with the Confidentiality Agreement, which Confidentiality Agreement shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with its terms; <u>provided</u>, that in no event shall the terms of the Confidentiality Agreement be deemed to prevent the disclosure of any information by Parent (A) to the UKLA, (B) in the Merger Announcement or the Parent Shareholder Circular (in the case of the Parent Shareholder Circular, to the extent required in order for Parent to comply with the Listing Rules or any other requirements of the UKLA or applicable Law), or (C) to the Placing Agent in the Share Issuance in connection with the Equity Financing or to Parent s existing providers of debt finance in connection with the Merger and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.05. <u>Stock Exchange Delisting</u>. Prior to the Closing Date, the Company shall cooperate with Parent and use reasonable best efforts to take or cause to be taken all actions, and do or cause to be done all things, reasonably necessary, proper or advisable on its part under applicable Law and rules and policies of the NYSE to enable the delisting by the Surviving Corporation of the Shares from the NYSE and the deregistration of the Shares under the Exchange Act as promptly as practicable after the Effective Time (and, in any event, within ten (10) days after the Closing Date).

Section 5.06. <u>Publicity</u>. Each of the Company and Parent shall issue its own initial news release regarding the Merger, the form of which, in both cases, shall be mutually agreed upon by the Company and Parent and, except with respect to any action taken pursuant to <u>Section 4.02</u>, <u>Section 5.02(e)</u> or <u>Section 7.01</u> or in respect of the Share Issuance, thereafter neither the Company nor Parent (nor any of their respective Affiliates) shall issue or disseminate any press release or public announcement with respect to the Merger and/or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement without the consent of the other (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) and the Company and Parent shall consult with each other prior to issuing and, to the extent practicable and permitted by applicable Law, give each other the reasonable opportunity to review and comment upon, any press releases or other public announcements with respect to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except where and to the extent any such press release or public announcement is required by Law (including the Listing Rules and the UK Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules) or by obligations pursuant to any listing agreement with or rules of any national securities exchange (including the UKLA and the London Stock Exchange) or any interdealer quotation service or by the request of any Governmental Entity.

A-44

Section 5.07. Employee Matters.

- (a) Following the Effective Time and until the later of the first (1st) anniversary of the Closing Date and December 31, 2018 (the Continuation Period), Parent shall provide, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to provide, each individual who is employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries immediately before the Effective Time (the Company Employees) and who continues employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries during such time period with compensation and benefits that are substantially comparable in the aggregate to the compensation and benefits (including target cash incentive amounts but excluding equity compensation incentives, severance payments and any compensation or benefits triggered in whole or in part by the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or other transactions that would constitute a change in control or change of control or similar transaction for purposes of a Company Benefit Plan or comparable plan) provided to such Company Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time. The foregoing notwithstanding, and for the avoidance of doubt, those individuals who are employed by MDS or otherwise are transferred to a buyer in connection with a MDS Sale shall cease to be Company Employees as of the closing of the MDS Sale, and the Continuation Period with respect to such individuals shall, if not previously expired, expire on the closing of the MDS Sale. With respect to all plans (if any) maintained by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or their respective Subsidiaries in which the Company Employees are eligible to participate after the Closing Date (including any vacation and paid time-off and severance plans), Parent, the Surviving Corporation and their respective Subsidiaries, as applicable, shall cause each Company Benefit Plan or comparable benefit plan to take into account each Company Employee s service with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (as well as service with any predecessor employer of the Company or any such Subsidiary, to the extent service with the predecessor employer is recognized by the Company or such Subsidiary) for purposes of determining such Company Employee s eligibility to participate and vesting in such plan (but not for accrual of benefits other than determining the level of vacation pay accrual); provided, however, that such service need not be considered to the extent that such recognition would result in any duplication of benefits for the same period of service.
- (b) Without limiting the generality of Section 5.07(a), to the extent permitted by applicable Law and the relevant insurance carriers, Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, waive any pre-existing condition limitations, exclusions, actively-at-work requirements and waiting periods under any welfare benefit plan maintained by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Subsidiaries in which Company Employees (and their eligible dependents) will be eligible to participate from and after the Effective Time, except to the extent that such pre-existing condition limitations, exclusions, actively-at-work requirements and waiting periods would not have been satisfied or waived under the comparable Company Benefit Plan immediately prior to the Effective Time. Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, recognize the dollar amount of all co-payments, deductibles and similar expenses incurred by each Company Employee (and his or her eligible dependents) during the calendar year in which the Effective Time occurs for purposes of satisfying such year s deductible and co-payment limitations under the relevant welfare benefit plans in which they will be eligible to participate from and after the Effective Time.
- (c) Without limiting the generality of Section 5.07(a), Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, waive any pre-existing condition limitations, exclusions, actively-at-work requirements and waiting periods under any welfare benefit plan maintained by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective Subsidiaries in which Company Employees (and their eligible dependents) will be eligible to participate from and after the Effective Time, except to the extent that such pre-existing condition limitations, exclusions, actively-at-work requirements and waiting periods would not have been satisfied or waived under the comparable Company Benefit Plan immediately prior to the Effective Time. Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, recognize the dollar amount of all co-payments, deductibles and similar expenses incurred by each Company Employee (and his or her eligible dependents) during the calendar year in which the Effective Time occurs for purposes of satisfying such year s deductible and

A-45

co-payment limitations under the relevant welfare benefit plans in which they will be eligible to participate from and after the Effective Time.

(d) The provisions of this Section 5.07 are solely for the benefit of the parties to this Agreement, and no other Person (including any Company Employee or any beneficiary or dependent thereof) shall be regarded for any purpose as a third-party beneficiary of this Section 5.07, and no provision of this Section 5.07 shall create such rights in any such Persons. No provision of this Agreement shall be construed (i) as a guarantee of continued employment of any Company Employee, (ii) to limit the right of Parent or the Surviving Corporation to terminate the employment of any Company Employee or require Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries to provide any such employee compensation or benefits for any period following any such termination, (iii) to prevent the amendment, modification or termination of any Company Benefit Plan after the Closing (in each case in accordance with the terms of the applicable Company Benefit Plan) or (iv) as an amendment or modification of the terms of any Company Benefit Plan.

Section 5.08. Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, whether or not the Merger is consummated, all costs and expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid by the party incurring such expenses.

Section 5.09. Indemnification; Directors and Officers Insurance.

- (a) Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, indemnify and hold harmless each present and former director and officer of the Company and its Subsidiaries (in each case, when acting in such capacity) (collectively, the Indemnified Parties) to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law from and against any costs or expenses (including reasonable attorneys fees), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages or liabilities (collectively, Costs) incurred in connection with any Proceeding arising out of or pertaining to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the Effective Time relating to the Indemnified Party s service with, at the request of or for the benefit of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, including the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. From and after the Effective Time, the Parent shall, and shall cause the Surviving Corporation to, advance expenses to any Indemnified Party claiming indemnification pursuant to this Section 5.09 as incurred to the fullest extent permitted under applicable Law; provided, however, that such Indemnified Party provides a written undertaking in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent to repay such advances if it is ultimately determined that such Indemnified Party is not entitled to indemnification.
- (b) From and after the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to honor the provisions, to the extent they are enforceable under applicable Law, regarding (i) exculpation of directors, (ii) limitation of liability of directors and officers and (iii) advancement of expenses, in each case, contained in the Company Articles of Incorporation, Company Code of Regulations, the comparable organizational documents of any of the Company s Subsidiaries or any indemnification Contract between the applicable Indemnified Party and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries immediately prior to the Effective Time.
- (c) From and after the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to maintain for a period of at least six (6) years following the Effective Time directors—and officers—liability insurance and fiduciary liability insurance policies (collectively, <u>D&O Insurance</u>) from an insurance carrier with the same or better credit rating as the Company—s current insurance carrier with benefits, levels of coverage and terms and conditions that are at least as favorable as the Company—s D&O Insurance existing immediately prior to the Effective Time with respect to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the Effective Time, including for acts or omissions in connection with this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall Parent or the Surviving Corporation be required to expend for any year of such D&O Insurance coverage an annual

premium amount greater than three hundred percent (300%) of the annual premium paid by the Company for D&O Insurance for the fiscal year immediately prior to the Effective Time (such amount, the $\underline{\text{Maximum Annual Premium}}$). The Company represents and warrants that the annual premium paid by the Company for D&O Insurance for the fiscal year immediately prior to the Effective Time is set forth in Section 5.09(c) of the

A-46

Company Disclosure Letter. If the annual premiums of such D&O Insurance coverage exceed the Maximum Annual Premium, Parent and the Surviving Corporation shall obtain a policy with the greatest coverage available for a an annual premium not exceeding the Maximum Annual Premium.

- (d) Notwithstanding Section 5.09(c), the Company may in its sole discretion obtain, prior to the Effective Time, six (6) year pre-paid tail insurance coverage, at an aggregate cost no greater than six (6) times the Maximum Annual Premium, providing for D&O Insurance not less favorable than that described in Section 5.09(c). If the Company has obtained such policy pursuant to this Section 5.09(d), Parent will cause such policy to be maintained in full force and effect for its full term and cause all obligations thereunder to be honored by the Surviving Corporation, and Parent will have no further obligation to purchase or pay for insurance pursuant to Section 5.09(c).
- (e) If the Surviving Corporation or any of its successors or assigns (i) consolidates or merges with or into any other Person and is not the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfers all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, Parent shall cause proper provisions to be made so that the successors and assigns of the Surviving Corporation shall assume and comply with all of the obligations set forth in this <u>Section 5.09</u>.
- (f) The provisions of this <u>Section 5.09</u> are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each of the Indemnified Parties. The obligations of Parent and the Surviving Corporation in this <u>Section 5.09</u> will not be terminated or modified in any manner which could adversely affect any Indemnified Party without the consent of such Indemnified Party.
- (g) The rights of the Indemnified Parties under this <u>Section 5.09</u> shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, any rights such Indemnified Parties may have under the Company Articles of Incorporation, the Company Code of Regulations or any of the comparable organizational documents of any of the Company s Subsidiaries, or under any applicable Contracts or Law.
- Section 5.10. <u>Rule 16b-3</u>. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take such steps as may be reasonably necessary or advisable to cause any dispositions of Company equity securities (including derivative securities) pursuant to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by each individual who is subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act with respect to the Company to be exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

Section 5.11. Written Consents, Resolutions and Other Materials.

- (a) Immediately following the execution of this Agreement, Parent shall cause Ultra Electronics Defense, Inc., the sole shareholder of Merger Sub, to execute and deliver, in accordance with applicable Law and in its capacity as the sole shareholder of Merger Sub, a written consent adopting this Agreement.
- (b) Promptly following the date hereof, Parent shall make available to the Company true and complete copies of (i) the resolutions described in <u>Sections 3.02(b)(iii)</u> and <u>3.02(b)(iii)</u> and (ii) the written consent described in <u>Section 5.11(a)</u>.
- (c) Promptly following the date hereof, the Company shall make available to Parent true and complete copies of (i) the resolutions described in <u>Section 3.01(d)(ii)</u> and (ii) the opinions described in <u>Section 3.01(u)</u> for informational purposes only.

Section 5.12. <u>Merger Sub and Surviving Corporation Compliance</u>. Parent shall cause Merger Sub and the Surviving Corporation to comply with all of its obligations under this Agreement, and Merger Sub shall not engage in any activities of any nature except as provided in or contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.13. <u>Takeover Statutes</u>. If any Takeover Statute is or may become applicable to the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and their respective boards of directors shall grant such reasonable approvals and take such reasonable actions as are necessary so that such transactions may be consummated as promptly as practicable on the terms contemplated by this Agreement and otherwise act to eliminate or minimize the effects of such statute or regulation on such transactions.

A-47

Section 5.14. <u>Control of Operations</u>. Without limiting any party s rights or obligations under this Agreement, the parties understand and agree that (a) nothing contained in this Agreement will give any party hereto, directly or indirectly, the right to control or direct any other party s operations prior to the Effective Time and (b) prior to the Effective Time, each party will exercise, consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement, complete control and supervision over its operations.

Section 5.15. Resignation of Directors and Officers. The Company will cause each of the directors and officers of the Company and its Subsidiaries requested by Parent in writing to the Company not later than ten (10) Business Days prior to the Closing Date to submit at the Closing a letter of resignation in form reasonably satisfactory to Parent and effective on or before the Effective Time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company will not be in breach of this Section 5.15 if it fails to obtain the resignation of any such director or officer if Parent will have the power, directly or indirectly, to remove any such Person from his or her position as a director or officer without cause immediately after the Effective Time.

Section 5.16. <u>Transaction Litigation</u>. The Company and Parent shall promptly notify each other of, and shall give each other the opportunity to participate in the defense, settlement and/or prosecution of, any Proceeding (including derivative claims) brought by any of the Company Shareholders against the Company and/or members of the Company Board relating to the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (collectively, <u>Transaction Litigation</u>): provided, however, that (a) the parties shall keep each other reasonably informed with respect to the status of any Transaction Litigation brought against such party, and (b) the Company shall not compromise, settle, come to an arrangement regarding or agree to compromise, settle or come to an arrangement regarding any Transaction Litigation or consent to the same, without the prior written consent of Parent (not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed).

Section 5.17. Government Contracts.

(a) With respect to any Government Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, if a Responsible Contracting Officer (as that term is defined in FAR 42.1202) for the United States government determines before the Closing that there are any issues related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement that should be addressed in a formal agreement between the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and the United States government (including pursuant to FAR 42.12), the Company and Parent shall, and, if applicable, the Company shall cause the applicable Subsidiary of the Company to, prepare (with Parent s assistance) the required agreement within a reasonable time following the Effective Time, which shall be submitted by the Company to the Responsible Contracting Officer, for the United States government. Each party shall provide to the others promptly any information with respect to such party that may be required in connection with preparing, processing, entering into and completing the agreement. Each party shall each use reasonable best efforts to obtain all consents, approvals and waivers required for the purpose of processing, entering into, and completing the agreement with respect to the Government Contracts, including responding to any requests for information by the U.S. Government with regard to such agreement.

(b) With respect to any Government Contract set forth in Section 3.01(y)(i) of the Company Disclosure Letter, at Parent s reasonable request, the Company shall, or, if applicable, cause its Subsidiary to, communicate to each Responsible Contracting Officer for the United States government the fact that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are pending. Such communications shall be made as soon as practicable after the date hereof and prior to the Closing Date and shall be made in such manner as Parent reasonably determines to be appropriate to preserve the Company s or its applicable Subsidiary s relationship with such Responsible Contracting Officers for the United States government.

Section 5.18. <u>Notification of Certain Matters</u>. Each party hereto shall give prompt written notice to the other of (a) any notice or other communication received by such party from any Governmental Entity in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby or from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated hereby, or

A-48

(b) to the Knowledge of such party, the occurrence, or non-occurrence, of any change or event that, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to cause any condition to the obligations of any party to effect the Merger set forth in <u>ARTICLE VI</u> not to be satisfied; <u>provided, however</u>, that (i) the delivery of any notice pursuant to this <u>Section 5.18</u> shall not cure any breach of any representation or warranty, breach of covenant or failure to satisfy the conditions to the obligations of the parties under this Agreement or otherwise limit or affect the remedies available hereunder to the party receiving such notice and (ii) a failure to comply with clause (b) of this <u>Section 5.18</u> will not be deemed to be a breach of this Agreement.

Section 5.19. Sale of MDS.

- (a) The parties hereto shall cooperate with one another, following the date of this Agreement, to arrange for the sale, whether by merger, acquisition or otherwise, after the Effective Time of MDS (such a sale solely of MDS, a MDS Sale), and achieve a tax efficient disposition of MDS. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its and their respective Representatives to, (i) provide to Parent and prospective purchasers of MDS approved by Parent who have signed or will sign confidentiality agreements in form reasonably acceptable to Parent and the Company (the Prospective <u>Purchasers</u>) reasonable access, subject to <u>Section 5.04(a)</u>, to the Company and its Subsidiaries and their facilities, books and records (including copies of Tax Returns and supporting work schedules and such other financial, Tax and operating data, including information regarding tax basis of the assets and stock of each of the Company s Subsidiaries and any net operating losses and current year income) and other information relating to MDS and, to the extent applicable, the Company and its Subsidiaries, (ii) make employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries reasonably available to Parent, Prospective Purchasers and their respective Representatives, subject to Section 5.04(a), to provide additional information and explanation as may be reasonably requested of any materials provided hereunder and to facilitate discussions regarding employment of such employees following the MDS Sale, (iii) in anticipation of, and prior to, signing the definitive purchase agreement with respect to a MDS Sale with a Prospective Purchaser, facilitate customary pre-signing calls between such Prospective Purchaser and the material customers and suppliers of MDS to assist with due diligence by such Prospective Purchaser (it being understood that the Company shall have the option to, at its sole discretion, participate in all such calls), (iv) make available an electronic data room and contribute information relating to MDS as may be reasonably requested by Parent or the Prospective Purchasers, (iv) cause its and its Subsidiaries officers and employees to provide assistance reasonably requested by Parent in Parent s preparation and negotiation of the definitive purchase agreement, including appropriate covenants, representations, warranties and disclosure schedules and customary ancillary agreements, and (v) take such additional actions as reasonably requested by Parent in connection with the foregoing (which shall include providing such information as may be reasonably requested by Parent in connection with any announcement it is required to issue in respect of the MDS Sale in compliance with the Listing Rules).
- (b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in Section 5.19(a) shall require the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives to (i) enter into any Contract in connection with the MDS Sale (other than a non-disclosure agreement with a Prospective Purchaser, to the extent that it does not have one), (ii) provide any cooperation, or take any action, that would reasonably be expected to cause the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives to incur any actual or potential material liability, (iii) provide any cooperation, or take any action, that the Company reasonably determines would be expected to result in a violation of a confidentiality agreement or any other material Contract or the loss of any attorney-client privilege, privilege under the work product doctrine or any other similar privilege, (iv) provide any cooperation, or take any action, that would reasonably be expected to materially interfere with the business or operations of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Affiliates or Representatives, (v) provide any cooperation, or take any action, that would reasonably be expected to prevent, materially delay or impair the ability of the Company, Parent or Merger Sub to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (vi) make any

representation or warranty with respect to MDS or in connection with the MDS Sale or (vii) cause any member of the Company Board or of any similar

A-49

governing body of any of the Company s Subsidiaries or the Company and its Subsidiaries respective Affiliates or Representatives to adopt or approve any written consent, resolution or similar approval with respect to the MDS Sale or any Contracts entered into in connection with the MDS Sale.

Section 5.20. Equity Financing. Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and shall use its reasonable best efforts to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary to obtain, and close on or prior to the Closing Date, the Equity Financing. Parent shall not, without the prior written consent of the Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), agree to any amendment or modification of the Placing Agreement that materially and adversely affects the ability of Parent to receive the Equity Financing required to consummate the Merger and the other transactions expressly contemplated hereby to be effected at the Closing. Parent and Merger Sub acknowledge and agree that obtaining the Equity Financing is not a condition to Parent s and Merger Sub s obligations to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 5.21. Letters of Credit; Company Credit Facilities. Prior to the Closing and as promptly as practicable following the date hereof, the Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries and its Subsidiaries respective Representatives to, use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with Parent, in connection with facilitating (a) the replacement (effective as of the Closing Date) of all outstanding letters of credit of the Company or any its Subsidiaries issued under the Company s existing credit facility with BMO Harris Bank N.A. (such letters of credit, the Existing Letters of Credit) with letters of credit issued under Parent s credit facility and (b) the payoff of other credit facilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date and, as applicable, release of Liens thereunder and receipt of documentation confirming same. Such cooperation shall include facilitating the direct contact between Parent and parties under credit facilities of the Company and its Subsidiaries, the beneficiaries of the Existing Letters of Credit with the Parent and its Representatives, as well as direct contact between such beneficiaries and the Parent s lenders, in all such cases upon reasonable advance notice.

ARTICLE VI

CONDITIONS

Section 6.01. <u>Conditions to Each Party</u> s <u>Obligation to Effect the Merger</u>. The respective obligation of each party hereto to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver at or prior to the Closing of each of the following conditions:

- (a) <u>Company Shareholder Approval</u>. This Agreement shall have been duly adopted by the holders of Shares constituting the Company Requisite Vote;
- (b) <u>Parent Shareholder Resolution</u>. The Parent Shareholder Resolution shall have been duly passed by a vote of the Parent Shareholders constituting the Parent Requisite Vote;
- (c) <u>No Orders</u>. No Governmental Entity of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, entered, promulgated or enforced any Law, executive order, ruling, injunction, or other order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent) (collectively, <u>Orders</u>) that is in effect and restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits the consummation of the Merger;
- (d) <u>Investment Canada Act and Antitrust Clearance</u>. (i) The waiting or other time periods applicable to the consummation of the Merger under the Investment Canada Act (or any extension thereof) shall have expired, lapsed or been terminated and any applicable regulatory clearance shall have been obtained, (ii) the waiting period applicable to the consummation of the Merger under the HSR Act (or any extension thereof) shall have expired or early termination thereof shall have been granted, (iii) all applicable waiting and other time periods applicable to the consummation of

the Merger under the antitrust or competition Laws of each Applicable Jurisdiction shall have expired, lapsed or been terminated (as appropriate) and all antitrust or competition regulatory clearances applicable to the consummation of the Merger in each Applicable

A-50

Jurisdiction shall have been obtained, in each case unless waived by Parent in its sole discretion, and (iv) any agreement with a Governmental Entity not to consummate the Merger, which agreement shall have been entered into with the prior written consent of both the Company and Parent, shall have expired or been terminated;

- (e) <u>CFIUS Approval</u>. The CFIUS Approval shall have been obtained;
- (f) DSS Approval. The DSS Approval shall have been obtained; and
- (g) <u>DDTC</u>. Any applicable prior notice period under ITAR relating to the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have expired or otherwise been waived by DDTC.

Section 6.02. <u>Additional Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub</u>. The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to effect the Merger are further subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver at or prior to the Closing of each of the following conditions:

- (a) Representations and Warranties. Each of (i) the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in the second sentence of Section 3.01(b) (Subsidiaries), Section 3.01(c) (Capital Structure), Section 3.01(d)(i) (Authority) and Section 3.01(t) (Brokers and Other Advisors) shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of such date (except for any such representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specified date (including the date of this Agreement) in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct only as of such specified date), except, in the case of Section 3.01(b) or Section 3.01(c), for de minimis inaccuracies, (ii) the representation and warranty set forth in Section 3.01(g)(i) (Absence of Certain Changes or Events) shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of such date, (iii) the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Section 3.01(d)(ii) and (iii)(A) (Authority; Noncontravention) shall be true and correct in all material respects (disregarding all qualifications or limitations as to materiality, Material Adverse Effect or words of similar import set forth therein) as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of such date (except for any such representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specific date (including the date of this Agreement, in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct only as of such specific date), and (iv) the representations and warranties of the Company set forth in Section 3.01 (other than the representations and warranties referred to in the foregoing clauses (i), (ii) and (iii)) shall be true and correct in all respects (disregarding all qualifications or limitations as to materiality, Material Adverse Effect and words of similar import set forth therein) as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of such date (except for any such representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specified date (including the date of this Agreement), in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct only as of such specified date), except, in the case of this clause (iv) only, where the failure of such representations and warranties to be so true and correct has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect:
- (b) <u>Performance of Obligations of the Company</u>. The Company shall have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under this Agreement on or prior to the Closing Date; and
- (c) <u>Certificate</u>. Parent shall have received a certificate of the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certifying that the conditions set forth in <u>Section 6.02(a)</u> and <u>(b)</u> have been satisfied.

Section 6.03. <u>Additional Conditions to Obligation of the Company</u>. The obligation of the Company to effect the Merger is further subject to the satisfaction or (to the extent permitted by Law) waiver on or prior to the Closing of the following conditions:

(a) <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. Each of (i) the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth in <u>Section 3.02(b)(i)</u> (*Authority*) shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this

A-51

Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of such date (except for any such representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specified date (including the date of this Agreement) in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct only as of such specified date) except for *de minimis* inaccuracies and (ii) the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub set forth in Section 3.02 (other than the representations and warranties referred to in the foregoing clause (i)) shall be true and correct in all respects (disregarding all qualifications or limitations as to materiality, material adverse effect and words of similar import set forth therein) as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of such date (except for any such representation or warranty that is expressly made as of a specified date (including the date of this Agreement) in which case such representation or warranty shall be true and correct only as of such specified date), except in the case of this clause (ii) only, where the failure to such representations and warranties to be so true and correct has not had and would not reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on Parent or Merger Sub s ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;

- (b) <u>Performance of Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub</u>. Each of Parent and Merger Sub shall have performed in all material respects all obligations required to be performed by it under this Agreement at or prior to the Closing Date; and
- (c) <u>Certificate</u>. The Company shall have received a certificate of the Chief Executive Officer or the Chief Financial Officer (or comparable officer) of Parent, certifying that the conditions set forth in <u>Section 6.03(a)</u> and <u>(b)</u> have been satisfied.

ARTICLE VII

TERMINATION

Section 7.01. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger may be abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after (except as set forth below) the Company Requisite Vote is obtained:

- (a) by mutual written consent of Parent and the Company;
- (b) by either Parent or the Company:
- (i) if the Merger shall not have been consummated on or before January 31, 2018 (such date or such later date, if any, as provided in the proviso of this Section 7.01(b)(i), the __Termination Date _); provided, however, that if any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.01(c) (solely with respect to any Order entered pursuant to the HSR Act or any other applicable antitrust or competition Law) or Section 6.01(d), 6.01(e), 6.01(f) or 6.01(g) shall not have been satisfied as of January 31, 2018 (or, if the extension described in clause (x) of this Section 7.01(b)(i) has occurred, March 31, 2018), (x) either Parent or the Company may extend the Termination Date to March 31, 2018 and (y) following any extension described in clause (x) of this Section 7.01(b)(i), Parent, in its sole discretion, may further extend the Termination Date to July 31, 2018; provided, further, that the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.01(b)(i) shall not be available to any party if such party (or, in the case of Parent, Merger Sub) has materially breached its obligations under this Agreement in a manner that shall have been the principal cause of or resulted in the failure of a condition to any party s obligation to effect the Merger on or prior to such date;
- (ii) if at the Company Shareholders Meeting (or any adjournment or postponement thereof), a proposal to adopt this Agreement shall have been voted upon by the Company Shareholders and the Company Requisite Vote shall not have been obtained;

(iii) if at the Parent Shareholders Meeting (or any adjournment or postponement thereof), the Parent Shareholder Resolution shall have been voted upon by the Parent Shareholders and the Parent Requisite Vote shall not have been obtained;

A-52

- (iv) if any Order permanently restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Merger shall have become final and non-appealable; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that a party may not terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 7.01(b)(iv)</u> if such party (or, in the case of Parent, Merger Sub) has not complied in all material respects with its obligations under <u>Section 5.03</u>.
- (c) by the Company:
- (i) at any time prior to obtaining the Company Requisite Vote and, subject to the Company being in compliance in all respects with <u>Section 4.02</u>, in order to accept a Superior Proposal and enter into an acquisition agreement providing for such Superior Proposal, in accordance with <u>Section 4.02</u>, concurrently with such termination;
- (ii) (A) if the Parent Board shall have effected a Parent Adverse Recommendation Change or (B) if (1) the Parent Shareholders Meeting shall not have been convened or (2) the Parent Shareholders Meeting shall have been convened without a vote on the Parent Shareholder Resolution by the Parent Shareholders having taken place, in the case of the foregoing clauses (1) and (2), by January 24, 2018 and in circumstances where Parent has not effected a Parent Adverse Recommendation Change; provided, however, that, with respect to each of Section 7.01(c)(ii)(A) and 7.01(c)(ii)(B), the Company shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.01(c)(ii) if the Parent Requisite Vote shall have been obtained;
- (iii) if Parent or Merger Sub shall have breached any of their respective representations or warranties or failed to perform any of their respective covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, where such breach or failure to perform (A) would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.03(a) or 6.03(b) and (B) such breach is incapable of being cured or, if capable of being cured, is not cured prior to the earlier of (1) the forty-fifth (45th) day after written notice thereof is given by the Company to Parent and (2) the Termination Date; provided, however, that the Company shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.01(c)(iii) if the Company is then in material breach of this Agreement such that any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.02(a) or 6.02(b) would not be satisfied;
- (d) by Parent:
- (i) (A) if the Company Board shall have effected a Company Adverse Recommendation Change or (B) if the Company shall have breached or been deemed to have breached (as provided in the last sentence of Section 4.02(a)) Section 4.02(a) in any material respect; provided, however, that, with respect to each of Section 7.01(d)(i)(A) and 7.01(d)(i)(B), Parent shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.01(d)(i) if the Company Requisite Vote shall have been obtained;
- (ii) if the Company shall have breached any of its representations or warranties or failed to perform any of its covenants or other agreements contained in this Agreement, where such breach or failure to perform (A) would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 6.02(a) or 6.02(b) and (B) such breach is incapable of being cured, or if capable of being cured, is not cured prior to the earlier of (1) the forty-fifth (45th) day after written notice thereof is given by Parent to the Company and (2) the Termination Date; provided, however, that Parent shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 7.01(d)(ii) if either Parent or Merger Sub is then in material breach of this Agreement such that any of the conditions set forth in Section 6.03(a) or 6.03(b) would not be satisfied; or
- (iii) by Parent in its sole discretion if any Governmental Entity shall institute any Proceeding challenging the validity or legality of, or seeking to restrain the consummation of, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 7.02. <u>Effect of Termination and Abandonment</u>. In the event of termination of this Agreement and the abandonment of the Merger as provided in <u>Section 7.01</u>, written notice thereof shall be given to the other parties

A-53

hereto, specifying the provision hereof pursuant to which such termination is made, and this Agreement shall forthwith become void and of no effect, except as provided in the provisions of Section 5.04(b) (Access and Reports; Confidentiality), Section 5.08 (Expenses), this Section 7.02, Section 7.03 (Termination Fee), Section 7.04 (Parent Termination Fee), Section 7.05 (VAT), Section 7.06 (Costs and Expenses), Section 7.07 (Limitation) and ARTICLE VIII (Miscellaneous) and the Confidentiality Agreement, all of which shall survive such termination; provided, however, that no such termination shall relieve any party hereto of any liability for damages to any other party hereto resulting from any Willful Breach by such party prior to such termination, and the aggrieved party will be entitled to all rights and remedies available at law or in equity (including, in the case of a Willful Breach by Parent or Merger Sub, the right of the Company to pursue damages, which shall include the loss to the holders of Shares and awards granted pursuant to the Company Equity Award Plans of the economic benefits of the Merger, including the loss of any premium associated with any amounts that would have been received by such holders in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby had such transactions been consummated in accordance with the terms hereof, it being understood that the Company (but not any holders of Shares or awards granted pursuant to the Company Equity Award Plans) shall be entitled to pursue damages for such losses and to enforce the right to recover such losses on behalf of such holders in its sole and absolute discretion, and any amounts recovered in connection therewith shall be paid to the Company). The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that nothing in this Section 7.02 shall be deemed to affect their right to specific performance under Section 8.11.

Section 7.03. Termination Fee.

- (a) The Company shall pay Parent (or its designee) a fee equal to \$7,500,000 (the <u>Termination Fee</u>) if:
- (i) this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 7.01(c)(i);
- (ii) after the date of this Agreement and prior to the date of the Company Shareholders Meeting (or the date of any postponement or adjournment thereof, if applicable), a *bona fide* Acquisition Proposal shall have been publicly announced or otherwise publicly disclosed and not have been withdrawn prior to the date of the Company Shareholders Meeting (or the date of any postponement or adjournment thereof, if applicable) and thereafter (A) this Agreement is terminated by Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 7.01(b)(ii), and (B) (1) within twelve (12) months after such termination, the Company enters into a definitive agreement to consummate an Acquisition Proposal and such Acquisition Proposal is subsequently consummated or (2) an Acquisition Proposal is otherwise consummated within twelve (12) months after such termination; or
- (iii) after the date of this Agreement and prior to the Termination Date, a *bona fide* Acquisition Proposal shall have been publicly announced or otherwise disclosed to the Company Board and not have been withdrawn as of the Termination Date and the Company, as of the Termination Date, shall have been in breach of this Agreement such that Parent could have terminated this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.01(d)(ii) and thereafter (A) this Agreement is terminated by Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 7.1(b)(i), and (B) (i) within twelve (12) months after such termination, the Company enters into a definitive agreement to consummate an Acquisition Proposal and such Acquisition Proposal is subsequently consummated or (2) an Acquisition Proposal is otherwise consummated within twelve (12) months after such termination; or
- (iv) this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 7.01(d)(i)(A) or 7.01(d)(i)(B).
- (b) The Termination Fee shall be paid by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by Parent (x) in the case of Section 7.03(a)(i), simultaneously with the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.01(c)(i), (y) in the case of Section 7.03(a)(ii) or 7.03(a)(iii), on the date of consummation of such Acquisition Proposal and (z) in the case of Section 7.03(a)(iv), within three (3) Business Days of the termination of

this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.01(d)(i)(A) or 7.01(d)(i)(B), it being understood that in no event shall the Company be required to pay the Termination Fee on more than one occasion. Parent shall provide to the Company notice designating an account for purposes of payment of the Termination Fee within forty-eight (48) hours of a request by the Company to provide such information.

A-54

For purposes of this <u>Section 7.03</u>, the term Acquisition Proposal shall have the meaning assigned to such term in <u>Annex I</u>, except that all references to fifteen percent (15%) therein shall be deemed to be references to fifty percent (50%) and shall exclude a MDS Sale.

Section 7.04. Parent Termination Fee. Parent shall pay to the Company a fee equal to \$7,500,000 (provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement shall require Parent to pay any amount which is in excess of that which is permitted to be paid without the prior approval of Parent Shareholders pursuant to LR 10.2.7R of the Listing Rules and, accordingly, that such fee shall be reduced to the extent necessary to ensure prior Parent Shareholder approval of the payment of such fee is not required pursuant to LR 10.2.7R of the Listing Rules) (the Parent Termination Fee) if this Agreement is terminated by (a) either Parent or the Company pursuant to Section 7.01(c)(iii) or (b) by the Company pursuant to Section 7.01(c)(iii)(A) or 7.01(c)(iii)(B). The Parent Termination Fee shall be paid by wire transfer of immediately available funds within three (3) Business Days of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.01(b)(iii), 7.01(c)(ii)(A) or 7.01(c)(ii)(B), as applicable, it being understood that in no event shall Parent be required to pay the Parent Termination Fee on more than one occasion. The Company shall provide to Parent notice designating an account for purposes of payment of the Parent Termination Fee within forty-eight (48) hours of a request by Parent to provide such information.

Section 7.05. <u>VAT</u>. The parties anticipate that the Termination Fee and the Parent Termination Fee, if paid, being liquidated damages and compensatory in nature, shall not be treated, in whole or in part, as consideration for a supply for VAT purposes. However, if the Termination Fee or the Parent Termination Fee, as applicable, is or is deemed to be consideration, in whole or in part, for a supply for VAT purposes, then the amount of the Termination Fee or the Parent Termination Fee, as applicable, shall be reduced by an amount such that the sum payable by Parent or the Company, as applicable, when aggregated with any VAT in respect thereof which is not eligible for recovery through either a VAT return or by a claim under the 13th directive, shall be equal to the amount of the Termination Fee or the Parent Termination Fee, as applicable, that would be payable but for this <u>Section 7.05</u>. Such adjusting payment or payments as may be required between the parties to give effect to this <u>Section 7.05</u> shall be made as soon as reasonably practicable.

Section 7.06. Costs and Expenses. Each party acknowledges that the agreements contained in this ARTICLE VII are an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and that, without these agreements, such party would not enter into this Agreement. Accordingly, if the applicable party fails promptly to pay any amount due pursuant to this ARTICLE VII, such party shall also pay any reasonable out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses incurred by the other party (including reasonable legal fees and expenses) in connection with a legal action to enforce this Agreement that results in a final non-appealable judgment for such amount against the party failing to promptly pay such amount. Any amount not paid when due pursuant to this ARTICLE VII shall bear interest from the date such amount is due until the date paid at a rate equal to the prime rate as published in *The Wall Street Journal, Eastern Edition*, in effect on the date of such payment.

Section 7.07. Limitation.

(a) The parties agree and understand that in no event shall the Company be required to pay the Termination Fee on more than one occasion and in no event shall Parent be required to pay the Parent Termination Fee on more than one occasion. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if Parent or its designee, as applicable, receives the Termination Fee from the Company pursuant to Section 7.03(a) or if the Company receives the Parent Termination Fee from Parent pursuant to Section 7.04, such payment, together with the costs, fees or expenses payable pursuant to Section 7.06, shall be the sole and exclusive remedy of the receiving party against the paying party and its Subsidiaries and their respective former, current or future partners, stockholders, managers, members, Affiliates and Representatives in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby and none of

the paying party, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective former, current or future partners, stockholders, managers, members, Affiliates or Representatives shall have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby, in each case including with respect to any Willful Breach.

A-55

(b) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, none of the Financing Sources shall have any liability to the Company or any Person that is an Affiliate of the Company relating to or arising out of this Agreement, the Equity Financing or otherwise, whether at law, or equity, in contract, in tort or otherwise, and neither the Company nor any Person that is an Affiliate of the Company shall have any rights or claims against any Financing Sources hereunder or thereunder. As used in this Agreement, the term <u>Financing Sources</u> means any agent, arranger, lender or other Person that, in each case, (i) is not Parent or a Subsidiary of Parent and (ii) has committed to provide or arrange, or has entered into definitive agreements related to, the Equity Financing, or any of such Person s Affiliates or its or their respective officers, directors, employees, partners, trustees, shareholders, controlling persons, agents, representatives, successors or assigns.

ARTICLE VIII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 8.01. <u>Non-Survival</u>. None of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in this Agreement or in any instrument delivered pursuant to this Agreement, including any rights arising out of any breach of such representations, warranties, covenants and agreements, shall survive the Effective Time, except for (a) those covenants and agreements contained herein that by their terms apply or are to be performed in whole or in part after the Effective Time and (b) those contained in this <u>ARTICLE VIII</u>.

Section 8.02. <u>Modification or Amendment</u>. Subject to the provisions of applicable Law, at any time prior to the Effective Time, the parties hereto (in the case of the Company or Merger Sub, by action of their respective boards of directors to the extent required by Law) may modify or amend this Agreement by written agreement, executed and delivered by duly authorized officers of the respective parties.

Section 8.03. Waiver. At any time prior to the Effective Time, any party hereto may (a) extend the time for the performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other parties, (b) to the extent permitted by Law, waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other parties contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (c) subject to the requirements of applicable Law, waive compliance with any of the agreements or conditions of the other parties contained herein; provided, however, that neither Parent nor Merger Sub may perform any of the actions set forth in the foregoing clauses (a), (b) and (c) with respect to Merger Sub or Parent, respectively. Any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party or parties to be bound thereby and specifically referencing this Agreement. The failure of any party hereto to assert any rights or remedies shall not constitute a waiver of such rights or remedies.

Section 8.04. Notices. All notices, consents, waivers, requests, claims, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed given if (a) on the date of delivery if delivered personally, (b) on the date of delivery if sent by overnight courier (providing proof of delivery) or (c) on the date of transmission if faxed (with confirmation of transmission) or electronically mailed in portable document format (PDF) (with confirmation of transmission by the sender) and, in the case of this clause (c) confirmed with a copy delivered as provided in the foregoing clauses (a) or (b), in each case to the parties at the following addresses (or at such other address for a party as shall be specified by like notice):

if to Parent, to:

Ultra Electronics Holdings plc

417 Bridport Road, Greenford

Middlesex, UB6 8UA, UK

Fax No.: +44(0)20 8813 4322

Attention: Sharon Harris, Company Secretary and General Counsel

Email: Sharon.harris@ultra-electronics.com

A-56

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer LLP

250 West 55th Street

New York, New York 10019

Fax No.: (212) 836-6565

(202) 942-5999

Attention: Nancy E. Fuchs, Esq.

Andrew J. Varner, Esq.

Email: nancy.fuchs@apks.com

andrew.varner@apks.com

if to Merger Sub, to:

Ultra Electronics Aneira Inc.

c/o Ultra Electronics Inc.

107 Church Hill Road

Unit GL-2

Sandy Hook, Connecticut 06482

Fax No.: (203) 270-3699

Attention: Scott Myers, VP Finance & Administration, NA

Email: scott.meyers@ultra-na.com with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Arnold & Porter Kaye Scholer LLP

250 West 55th Street

New York, New York 10019

Fax No.: (212) 836-6565

(202) 942-5999

Attention: Nancy E. Fuchs, Esq.

Andrew J. Varner, Esq.

Email: nancy.fuchs@apks.com

andrew.varner@apks.com

if to the Company, to:

Sparton Corporation

425 North Martingale Road, Suite 1000

Schaumburg, Illinois 60173

Fax No.: (847) 762-5820 Attention: Joseph J. Hartnett

Email: Joseph.Hartnett@sparton.com with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Mayer Brown LLP

71 South Wacker Drive

Chicago, Illinois 60606

Fax No.: (312) 706-8183 Attention: Frederick B. Thomas

Andrew J. Noreuil

Email: fthomas@mayerbrown.com

anoreuil@mayerbrown.com

A-57

Section 8.05. <u>Definitions</u>. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement have the meanings specified in <u>Annex I</u>.

Section 8.06. Interpretation.

- (a) When a reference is made in this Agreement to an Article, a Section or an Exhibit, such reference shall be to an Article or a Section of, or an Exhibit to, this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
- (b) Whenever the words include, includes or including are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words without limitation and shall not be interpreted as limiting the category or class of items immediately preceding such phrase. The words hereof, herein and hereunder and words of similar import when used in this Agreement shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. The word or when used in this Agreement is not exclusive and the word or shall be deemed to mean and/or. The word extent in the phrase to the extent shall mean the degree to which a subject or other thing extends, and such phrase shall not mean simply if.
- (c) When a reference is made in this Agreement or the Company Disclosure Letter to information or documents being provided, made available or disclosed to Parent or its Affiliates, such information or documents shall include any information or documents (i) included in the SEC Reports filed with, or furnished to, the SEC by the Company publicly available at least two (2) Business Days prior to the date of this Agreement, (ii) furnished at least two (2) Business Days prior to the date of this Agreement in the electronic data room maintained by the Company and to which access has been granted to Parent and its Representatives or (iii) otherwise provided in writing (including electronically) to Parent or any of its Affiliates or Representatives.
- (d) All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth herein when used in any certificate or document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. The definitions contained in this Agreement are applicable to the singular as well as the plural forms of such terms and to the masculine as well as to the feminine and neuter genders of such term.
- (e) Any agreement, instrument or statute defined or referred to herein means such agreement, instrument or statute as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of agreements or instruments) by waiver or consent and (in the case of statutes) by succession of comparable successor statutes, and all attachments thereto and instruments incorporated therein.
- (f) References to a Person are also to its permitted successors and permitted assigns but, if applicable, only if such successors and assigns are not prohibited by this Agreement, and reference to a Person in a particular capacity excludes such Person in any other capacity.
- (g) Where this Agreement states that a party shall, will or must perform in some manner, it means that the party is legally obligated to do so under this Agreement.
- (h) The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. If an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as jointly drafted by the parties hereto, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.

Section 8.07. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts (including by facsimile or by attachment to electronic mail in portable document format (PDF), each of which shall be deemed an original to the other parties), and by the different parties hereto in separate counterparts, each of which when executed shall be deemed an original but all of which taken together shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall become effective when one or more counterparts have been signed by each of the parties hereto and delivered to the other parties hereto.

A-58

Section 8.08. Parties in Interest. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties hereto, and nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person any rights, benefits or remedies of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement, other than (a) after the Effective Time, with respect to the provisions of Section 5.09 which shall inure to the benefit of the Persons benefiting therefrom, who are intended to be third-party beneficiaries thereof, (b) after the Effective Time, the rights of the holders of Shares (including Restricted Shares) to receive the Per Share Merger Consideration in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement and (c) after the Effective Time, the rights of the holders of Company RSUs and Company Options to receive the payments contemplated by the applicable provisions of Section 2.02, in each case, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement. The representations and warranties in this Agreement are the product of negotiations among the parties hereto and are for the sole benefit of such parties. Any inaccuracies in such representations and warranties are subject to waiver by the parties hereto in accordance with Section 8.03 without notice or liability to any other Person. In some instances, the representations and warranties in this Agreement may represent an allocation among the parties hereto of risks associated with particular matters regardless of the knowledge of any of the parties hereto. Consequently, Persons other than the parties hereto may not rely upon the representations and warranties in this Agreement as characterizations of actual facts or circumstances as of the date of this Agreement or as of any other date.

Section 8.09. <u>Governing Law</u>. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal Law and judicial decisions of the State of Ohio applicable to agreements executed and performed entirely within such State, regardless of the Law that might otherwise govern under applicable principles of conflicts of Law thereof.

Section 8.10. Entire Agreement; Assignment. This Agreement (including the Exhibits, the Company Disclosure Letter and the Parent Disclosure Letter) and the Confidentiality Agreement constitute the entire agreement among the parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof; provided, however, that nothing herein shall be deemed to limit or modify in any way the rights or obligations of Parent, the Company or their respective Subsidiaries with respect to the joint venture between Parent, the Company and/or one of their Affiliates (_ERAPSCO_) or under or relating to the agreements between the ERAPSCO joint venture parties and/or their Affiliates with respect to ERAPSCO. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder may be assigned, in whole or in part, by operation of law or otherwise by any of the parties without the prior written consent of the other parties hereto. Any purported assignment in contravention of this Agreement is null and void and of no effect. Subject to the two immediately preceding sentences, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. No assignment by any party shall relieve such party of any of its obligations hereunder.

Section 8.11. Specific Enforcement; Consent to Jurisdiction.

(a) The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage for which monetary damages, even if available, may not be an adequate remedy, would occur in the event that the parties hereto do not perform the provisions of this Agreement (including failing to take such actions as are required of it hereunder in order to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement) in accordance with its specified terms or otherwise breach such provisions. The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that each party hereto shall be entitled to an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof, this being in addition to any other remedy to which it is entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties hereto further agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief as provided herein on the basis that (x) the other party has an adequate remedy at law or (y) an award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or equity. Any party hereto seeking an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this

Agreement shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in connection with any such order or injunction.

A-59

(b) Each of the parties hereto irrevocably (i) submits itself to the personal jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Cleveland, Ohio and any appellate court therefrom, in connection with any matter based upon or arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the actions of Parent, Merger Sub or the Company in the negotiation, administration, performance and enforcement hereof and thereof, (ii) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from any such court, (iii) agrees that it will not bring any action relating to this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any court other than the state and federal courts located in Cleveland, Ohio and (iv) consents to service being made through the notice procedures set forth in Section 8.04; provided, that nothing in this Section 8.11 shall affect the right of any party to serve legal process in any other manger permitted by Law, Each of the Company, Parent and Merger Sub hereby agrees that service of any process, summons, notice or document by U.S. registered mail to the respective addresses set forth in Section 8.04 shall be effective service of process for any Proceeding in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Each party hereto hereby irrevocably waives, and agrees not to assert, by way of motion, as a defense, counterclaim or otherwise, in any Proceeding with respect to this Agreement, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of the above-named courts for any reason other than the failure to serve process in accordance with this Section 8.11, that it or its property is exempt or immune from jurisdiction of any such court or from any legal process commenced in such courts (whether through service of notice, attachment prior to judgment, attachment in aid of execution of judgment, execution of judgment or otherwise), and to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, that the Proceeding in any such court is brought in an inconvenient forum, that the venue of such Proceeding is improper, or that this Agreement, or the subject matter hereof or thereof, may not be enforced in or by such courts and further irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, the benefit of any defense that would hinder, fetter or delay the levy, execution or collection of any amount to which any party is entitled pursuant to the final judgment of any court having jurisdiction. Each party hereto expressly acknowledges that the foregoing waiver is intended to be irrevocable under the Law of the State of Ohio and of the United States of America; provided, however, that each such party s consent to jurisdiction and service contained in this Section 8.11 is solely for the purpose referred to in this Section 8.11 and shall not be deemed to be a general submission to said courts or in the State of Ohio other than for such purpose.

Section 8.12. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE IT HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OF THE AGREEMENTS DELIVERED IN CONNECTION HEREWITH OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY OR THE ACTIONS OF PARENT, MERGER SUB OR THE COMPANY IN THE NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE AND ENFORCEMENT HEREOF OR THEREOF. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT (A) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, (B) IT UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF SUCH WAIVER, (C) IT MAKES SUCH WAIVER VOLUNTARILY AND (D) IT HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVER AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 8.12.

Section 8.13. <u>Severability</u>. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of Law or public policy, all other terms and provisions of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is not affected in any manner adverse to any party

hereto. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of

A-60

being enforced, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties hereto as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are fulfilled to the fullest extent possible.

Section 8.14. <u>Transfer Taxes</u>. All transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other similar Taxes and fees (including penalties and interest, but excluding, for the avoidance of doubt, any Taxes based upon or measured by net income or gain) incurred in connection with the Merger shall be paid by Parent and Merger Sub when due.

Section 8.15. <u>Disclosure Letters</u>. Certain items and matters are listed in the Company Disclosure Letter and the Parent Disclosure Letter for informational purposes only and may not be required to be listed therein by the terms of this Agreement. In no event shall the listing of items or matters in the Company Disclosure Letter or the Parent Disclosure Letter be deemed or interpreted to broaden, or otherwise expand the scope of, the representations and warranties or covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement. No reference to, or disclosure of, any item or matter in any Section of this Agreement or any section or subsection of the Company Disclosure Letter or the Parent Disclosure Letter shall be construed as an admission or indication that such item or matter is material or that such item or matter is required to be referred to or disclosed in this Agreement or in the Company Disclosure Letter or the Parent Disclosure Letter, as applicable. Without limiting the foregoing, no reference to, or disclosure of, a possible breach or violation of any Contract or Law in the Company Disclosure Letter or the Parent Disclosure Letter shall be construed as an admission or indication that a breach or violation exists or has actually occurred.

Section 8.16. <u>Further Assurances</u>. At and after the Effective Time, the officers and directors of the Surviving Corporation shall be authorized to execute and deliver, in the name and on behalf of the Company or Merger Sub, any deeds, bills of sale, assignments or assurances and to take and do, in the name and on behalf of the Company or Merger Sub, any other actions and things to vest, perfect or confirm of record or otherwise in the Surviving Corporation any and all right, title and interest in, to and under any of the rights, properties or assets of the Company acquired or to be acquired by the Surviving Corporation as a result of, or in connection with, the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

[Signature Page Follows]

A-61

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company, Parent and Merger Sub have caused this Agreement to be signed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, all as of the date first written above.

SPARTON CORPORATION

By: /s/ Joseph J. Hartnett
Name: Joseph J. Hartnett
Title: Interim President & CEO

ULTRA ELECTRONICS HOLDINGS PLC

By: /s/ Rakesh Sharma Name: Rakesh Sharma Title: Chief Executive

ULTRA ELECTRONICS ANEIRA INC.

By: /s/ Thomas Link Name: Thomas Link Title: President

[Signature page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

A-62

ANNEX I

DEFINITIONS

(a) The following terms have the following meanings:

Acquisition Proposal means any inquiry, proposal or offer from any Person (other than Parent, Merger Sub or their respective Affiliates) relating to (i) a MDS Sale or any direct or indirect acquisition or purchase of a business in a single transaction or series of related transactions that constitutes more than fifteen percent (15%) of the net revenues, net income or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, or more than fifteen percent (15%) of the issued and outstanding Shares of the Company, (ii) any tender offer or exchange offer that if consummated would result in any Person beneficially owning, directly or indirectly, more than fifteen percent (15%) of the issued and outstanding Shares of the Company, or (iii) any merger, reorganization, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, joint venture, partnership, dissolution or similar transaction involving the Company (or any Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Company whose business constitutes more than fifteen percent (15%) of the net revenues, net income or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis).

<u>Affiliate</u> means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such first Person.

Applicable Jurisdiction means (i) each of the jurisdictions listed in Section 8.05(a) of the Company Disclosure Letter and (ii) each additional jurisdiction for which Parent reasonably determines, within fifteen (15) days of the Company providing the Company 2017 Data to Parent, a filing under applicable antitrust or competition Laws is mandatory based on the Company 2017 Data.

<u>Business Day</u> means any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or a day on which banks in the City of New York are required or authorized to be closed.

<u>CFIUS</u> means the Committee on Foreign Investment in the United States, or any member agency thereof acting in its capacity as a CFIUS member agency.

<u>CFIUS Approval</u> means (i) a written determination from CFIUS to the effect that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement do not constitute a covered transaction pursuant to 31 C.F.R. § 800.207, (ii) a written notice issued by CFIUS indicating that CFIUS has made a determination there are no unresolved national security concerns with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and that CFIUS has concluded its review or investigation of the notification voluntarily provided pursuant to the DPA with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (iii) if CFIUS has sent a report to the President of the United States requesting the President s decision, then (A) the President has announced a decision not to take any action to suspend or prohibit the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or (B) having received a report from CFIUS requesting the President s decision, the President has not taken any action after fifteen (15) days from the date the President received such report from CFIUS.

<u>Code</u> means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

<u>Commonly Controlled Entity</u> means, with respect to a Person, any other Person that, together with such first Person, is treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code.

<u>Company 2017 Data</u> means the revenues of the Company and each of its Subsidiaries (aggregated and by entity) in each country outside of the United States for the fiscal year ended July 2, 2017.

<u>Company Benefit Plan</u> means any (i) pension plan (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) or post-retirement or employment profit-sharing, insurance, health, medical or fringe plan, program, policy or arrangement, (ii)

A-I-1

employee benefit plan (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA), (iii) bonus, incentive or deferred compensation or equity or equity-based compensation plan, program, policy or arrangement (including the Company Equity Award Plans), (iv) severance, change in control, employment, consulting, retirement, retention or termination plan, program, agreement, policy or arrangement or (v) other compensation or benefit plan, program, agreement, policy, practice, contract, arrangement or other obligation, whether or not in writing and whether or not subject to ERISA, in each case, sponsored, maintained, contributed to or required to be maintained or contributed to by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any other Commonly Controlled Entity of the Company (A) for the benefit of any current or former director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (B) under which the Company or any Commonly Controlled Entity of the Company had or has any present or future liability, other than any (x) multiemployer plan (within the meaning of Section 3(37) of ERISA) or (y) plan, program, policy or arrangement mandated by applicable Law.

<u>Company Disclosure Letter</u> means the confidential disclosure letter dated as of the date of this Agreement delivered by the Company to Parent and Merger Sub.

<u>Company Equity Award Plans</u> means the Sparton Corporation Stock Incentivyle="font-family:inherit;font-size:10pt;">

(1)%

384

397

(13
)

(3
)%

Crude oil pipelines

4,299

4,233

66

2 %

```
4,368
4,131
237
6
%
NGL pipelines
185
200
(15
(8
)%
182
195
(13
)
(7
)%
Tariff activities total volumes
4,484
4,433
51
1
```

%

```
4,550
4,326
224
5
%
Trucking
118
112
6
5
%
113
114
(1
)
(1
)%
Transportation segment total volumes
4,602
4,545
57
1
```

%

4,663	
4,440	
223	
5 %	
(1) Revenues and costs and expenses include intersegment amounts. Field operating costs and Segment general and administrative expenses evaluate equity indexed compensation.	
(2) Field operating costs and Segment general and administrative expenses exclude equity-indexed compensation expense, which is presented separately in the table above.	l
40	

Table of Contents

- Segment general and administrative expenses reflect direct costs attributable to each segment and an allocation of other expenses to the segments. The proportional allocations by segment require judgment by management and are based on the business activities that exist during each period.
- (4) Average daily volumes are calculated as the total volumes (attributable to our interest) for the period divided by the number of days in the period.
- (5) Region includes volumes (attributable to our interest) from pipelines owned by unconsolidated entities.

Tariffs and other fees on our pipeline systems vary by receipt point and delivery point. The segment profit generated by our tariff and other fee-related activities depends on the volumes transported on the pipeline and the level of the tariff and other fees charged, as well as the fixed and variable field costs of operating the pipeline. As is common in the pipeline transportation industry, our tariffs incorporate a loss allowance factor that is intended to offset losses due to evaporation, measurement and other losses in transit. We value the variance of allowance volumes to actual losses at the estimated net realizable value (including the impact of gains and losses from derivative-related activities) at the time the variance occurred and the result is recorded as either an increase or decrease to tariff activities revenues. Revenue from our pipeline capacity agreements generally reflects a negotiated amount.

The following is a discussion of items impacting Transportation segment profit and segment profit per barrel for the periods indicated.

Tariff Activities Revenues, Equity Earnings in Unconsolidated Entities and Volumes. As noted in the table above, revenues from tariff activities and equity earnings in unconsolidated entities were relatively consistent for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same 2015 periods, while volumes increased for both comparative periods presented. The revenues, equity earnings and volumes reported for the periods do not include net deferred revenues of \$30 million and \$54 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, related to agreements that require counterparties to deliver or transport a minimum volume during the period. The net amounts deferred are for volume commitments for which the counterparty did not fulfill its volume commitment, but which have been billed and collected from the counterparty.

The following table presents significant tariff activities revenues and equity earnings in unconsolidated entities variances by region for the comparative periods presented:

	Favorable/(Unfavorable) Variance					Favorable/(Unfavorable) Variance						
	Three Months Ended September					Nine Months Ended September						
	30,						30,					
	2016-2015					2016-2015						
(in millions)	Re	venues		Equ	ity Ear	nings	Rev	venues		Equ	uity Ea	arnings
Tariff activities:												
Permian Basin region	\$	20		\$	2		\$	78		\$		
Rocky Mountain region	(7)	2			(10)	5		
Gulf Coast region	(9)				(8)			
Central region	(7)				(18)	1		
Other (including pipeline loss allowance	2			(2		`	(16		`	(7		`
revenue)	3			(3)	(46)	())
Total variance	\$	_		\$	1		\$	(4)	\$	(1)

Permian Basin region — The increase in revenues for the comparative 2016 periods presented was largely driven by higher volumes associated with the expansion of our pipeline systems in the Delaware Basin, as well as higher

volumes on our takeaway pipelines. For the nine month comparative period, the increase in revenues was also driven by results from our Cactus pipeline, which was placed in service in April 2015 and was in a ramp-up phase for the following months, and which also favorably impacted volumes on our McCamey pipeline system which connects our Midland terminal to the Cactus pipeline origin station.

Rocky Mountain region — The decrease in revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 versus the comparable 2015 periods was largely driven by (i) decreased tariffs on certain of our Bakken area pipelines, (ii) crude oil quality issues that resulted in lower movements on our Robinson Lake pipeline for the 2016 periods, (iii) lower volumes due to production declines and increased competition and (iv) the sale of 50%

41

Table of Contents

of our investment in Cheyenne Pipeline in June 2016, subsequent to which it was accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

Equity earnings increased for the three and nine month comparative periods due to earnings from (i) our 40% investment in the entity that owns the Saddlehorn Pipeline, a segment of which was placed in service in the third quarter of 2016, and (ii) our 50% investment in Cheyenne Pipeline, as discussed above. The nine-month comparative period was further favorably impacted by contributions from our investment in Frontier, in which we purchased an additional interest in August 2015.

Gulf Coast region — Revenues and volumes decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same 2015 periods primarily due to the sale of certain of our Gulf Coast pipelines in March 2016 and July 2016. These decreases were partially offset by increased volumes on the Capline and Pascagoula pipelines, which were favorably impacted by higher refinery demand, but were at lower tariff rates than the pipelines that were sold.

Central region — The decrease in revenues for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 versus the comparable 2015 periods was largely driven by lower volumes due to production declines in the Mid-Continent area.

Other — The decrease in other revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily related to lower pipeline loss allowance revenue of \$36 million driven by a lower average realized price per barrel.

The decrease in equity earnings for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was primarily due to less favorable results from our investment in Settoon, which was impacted by lower demand for barge and towing movements.

Trucking Revenues. The decrease in trucking revenues for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was primarily driven by unfavorable foreign exchange impacts of \$6 million.

Trucking Costs. Trucking costs decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same 2015 period due to lower contract services rates, as well as favorable foreign exchange impacts of \$4 million.

Field Operating Costs. Field operating costs (excluding equity-indexed compensation expense) decreased for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to net costs of approximately \$65 million associated with the Line 901 incident that were recognized in the second quarter of 2015. See Note 12 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the Line 901 incident. The decrease in both the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 as compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was further driven by lower utilities and maintenance costs, costs associated with the MP29 release in the third quarter of 2015 and lower operating costs due to the sale of certain of our Gulf Coast pipelines in March 2016 and July 2016. The decrease for the nine-month comparative period was also due to a favorable foreign exchange impact of \$5 million, partially offset by an increase in integrity management costs.

Equity-Indexed Compensation Expense. On a consolidated basis, equity-indexed compensation expense increased by \$22 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same period in 2015, primarily due to the impact of the increase in PAA unit price during the three months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the impact of the decrease in PAA unit price during the same period in 2015, partially offset by the impact of lower average values per PAA LTIP unit during the 2016 period compared to the same period in 2015.

On a consolidated basis across all segments, equity-indexed compensation expense increased by \$13 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same period in 2015, primarily due to the impact of the increase in PAA unit price during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the impact of the decrease

in PAA unit price during the same period in 2015, partially offset by the impact of fewer probable PAA LTIP units outstanding and lower average values per PAA LTIP unit during the 2016 period compared to the same period in 2015.

Allocations of equity-indexed compensation expense vary over time between field operating costs and general and administrative expenses, as well as between segments, and could result in variances in those expense categories or segments that differ from the consolidated variance explanations above. See Note 15 to our Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part IV of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding our equity-indexed compensation plans.

42

Table of Contents

Maintenance Capital. Maintenance capital consists of capital expenditures for the replacement of partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the operating and/or earnings capacity of our existing assets. The decrease in maintenance capital for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was primarily driven by lower third party service costs and timing of projects.

Facilities Segment

Our Facilities segment operations generally consist of fee-based activities associated with providing storage, terminalling and throughput services for crude oil, refined products, NGL and natural gas, as well as NGL fractionation and isomerization services and natural gas and condensate processing services. The Facilities segment generates revenue through a combination of month-to-month and multi-year agreements and processing arrangements.

The following tables set forth our operating results from our Facilities segment:

The following tables set forth our operati	_				ui i uci	1111	.03 3051	iliciit.								
	Three	e N	Months						Nine	M	l onths					
Operating Results (1)	Ended	d		7	Favorab	ole	/(Unfa	vorab	leE)Nober	dh	nce		Favoral	ble	/(Unfa	vorable)Varia
	Septe	m	ber 30,	,					Septe	m	iber 30),				
(in millions, except per barrel data)	2016		2015		\$		%		2016		2015		\$		%	
Revenues	\$282		\$263		\$ 19		7	%	\$817		\$789		\$ 28		4	%
Natural gas related storage costs	(6)	(7))	1		14	%	(17)	(17)	_		_	%
Field operating costs (2)	(85	-)	11		11	%			•)	26		9	%
Equity-indexed compensation	`		, ,						•		•	_		,		
(expense)/benefit - operations	(1)	1	((2)	(200)%	(3)	(1)	(2)	(200)%
Segment general and administrative expenses (2) (3)	(15)	(17)) 2	2		12	%	(44)	(50)	6		12	%
Equity-indexed compensation																
(expense)/benefit - general and administrative	(2)	2	((4)	(200)%	(7)	(5)	(2)	(40)%
Segment profit	\$173		\$146	,	\$ 27		18	%	\$488		\$432		\$ 56		13	%
Maintenance capital	\$15		\$16		\$ 1		6	%	\$32		\$48		\$ 16		33	%
Segment profit per barrel	\$0.44	1	\$0.39		\$ 0.05		13	%	\$0.42	2	\$0.38	3	\$ 0.04		11	%
	Three Ended		Months		Favorab	ole	:/(Unfa	vorab			Ionths nce		Favoral	ble	/(Unfa	vorable)Vari
	Septe	m	ber 30,	,					Septe	m	iber 30),				
Volumes (4)	2016		2015		Volume	es	%		2016		2015		Volume	es	%	
Crude oil, refined products and NGL	100		100		^		0	O4	106				7		7	OH.
terminalling and storage (average monthly capacity in millions of barrels)	109		100	,	9		9	%	106		99		7		7	%
Rail load / unload volumes (average volumes in thousands of barrels per day)	73		231	1	(158)	(68)%	97		223		(126)	(57)%
Natural gas storage (average monthly working capacity in billions of cubic feet)	97		97	-	_		_	%	97		97		_			%
NGL fractionation (average volumes in thousands of barrels per day)	119		98		21		21	%	113		101		12		12	%
mousailus of variois per uay)					_								_		_	

Table of Contents 329

5

131

126

129

126

3

2

%

Facilities segment total (average monthly volumes in millions of barrels) (5)

- (1) Revenues and costs and expenses include intersegment amounts.
- (2) Field operating costs and Segment general and administrative expenses exclude equity-indexed compensation expense, which is presented separately in the table above.

43

Table of Contents

- Segment general and administrative expenses reflect direct costs attributable to each segment and an allocation of other expenses to the segments. The proportional allocations by segment require judgment by management and are based on the business activities that exist during each period.
- (4) Average monthly volumes are calculated as total volumes for the period divided by the number of months in the period.
- Facilities segment total is calculated as the sum of: (i) crude oil, refined products and NGL terminalling and storage capacity; (ii) rail load and unload volumes multiplied by the number of days in the period and divided by the number of months in the period; (iii) natural gas storage working capacity divided by 6 to account for the 6:1 mcf of natural gas to crude Btu equivalent ratio and further divided by 1,000 to convert to monthly volumes in millions; and (iv) NGL fractionation volumes multiplied by the number of days in the period and divided by the number of months in the period.

The following is a discussion of items impacting Facilities segment profit and segment profit per barrel for the periods indicated.

Revenues and Volumes. As noted in the table above, our Facilities segment revenues increased by \$19 million and \$28 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. Total volumes increased for both comparative periods presented. Our Facilities segment results for the comparative periods were impacted by:

Crude Oil Storage — Revenues increased by \$5 million and \$23 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, as compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to (i) increased utilization at certain of our West Coast terminals and (ii) aggregate capacity expansions of approximately 5 million barrels at our St. James and Cushing terminals. Such increases were partially offset by lower results due to the sale of certain of our East Coast terminals in April 2016.

Rail Terminals — Revenues decreased by \$1 million and \$16 million for the three and nine month comparative periods, respectively, primarily due to lower volumes at our U.S. terminals as a result of production declines in the Bakken and less favorable market conditions, partially offset by revenue associated with minimum volume commitments entered into during 2016 at certain of our terminals, and revenues and volumes from our Canadian NGL rail terminal that came online in April 2016. The three-month comparative period was further favorably impacted by the recognition of revenue associated with minimum volume commitments that had been deferred in prior quarters of 2016.

NGL Storage, NGL Fractionation and Canadian Natural Gas Processing — Revenues increased by \$18 million and \$25 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2015 primarily due to (i) contributions from the Western Canada NGL assets we acquired in August 2016 and (ii) higher fees at certain of our NGL storage and fractionation facilities. For the nine-month comparative period, such increases were partially offset by unfavorable foreign exchange impacts of approximately \$10 million.

Field Operating Costs. Field operating costs (excluding equity-indexed compensation expense) decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to lower costs related to contract services, primarily at our rail terminals and, to a lesser extent, at our processing facilities, as well as the impact of the sale of certain of our East Coast terminals in April 2016. The nine-month comparative period was also impacted by lower utilities costs and a favorable foreign exchange impact of \$5 million. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in operating costs due to the Western Canada NGL assets acquired in August 2016.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses (excluding equity-indexed compensation expense) decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to cost reduction efforts and lower costs incurred for legal fees.

Maintenance Capital. The decrease in maintenance capital for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2015 was primarily due to lower spending on various tank and other maintenance capital projects, partially due to the timing of certain 2015 projects at our NGL storage and fractionation facilities.

Supply and Logistics Segment

44

Table of Contents

Our revenues from supply and logistics activities reflect the sale of gathered and bulk-purchased crude oil, as well as sales of NGL volumes purchased from suppliers and natural gas sales attributable to the activities performed by our natural gas storage commercial optimization group. Generally, our segment profit is impacted by (i) increases or decreases in our Supply and Logistics segment volumes (which consist of lease gathering crude oil purchases volumes, NGL sales volumes and waterborne cargos), (ii) the effects of competition on our lease gathering margins and (iii) the overall volatility and strength or weakness of market conditions and the allocation of our assets among our various risk management strategies. In addition, the execution of our risk management strategies in conjunction with our assets can provide upside in certain markets. Although segment profit may be adversely affected during certain transitional periods as discussed further below, our crude oil and NGL supply, logistics and distribution operations are not directly affected by the absolute level of prices, but are affected by overall levels of supply and demand for crude oil and NGL and relative fluctuations in market-related indices.

The following tables set forth our operating results from our Supply and Logistics segment:

The following those set form our op	Three I		r our our	P	j ana i	20510	Nine Mo		Favo	orabl	e/	
Operating Results (1)	Ended	.10110115	Favoral	ole	/(Unfa	vorat	ol æri lan				rable))
T. W. &		ber 30,					Septemb		,	iance		
(in millions, except per barrel data)	2016	2015	\$		%		2016	2015	\$		%	
Revenues	\$4,879	\$5,254	\$ (375)	(7)%	\$13,353	\$17,238	\$(3,	885)	(23)%
Purchases and related costs (2)	(4,788	(5,032)	244		5	%	(13,031) (16,553	3,52	2	21	%
Field operating costs (3)	(70	(110)	40		36	%	(226) (338	112		33	%
Equity-indexed compensation	_		_		N/A		(1) —	(1)) N/A	
expense - operations							`	,		,		
Segment general and administrative expenses (3) (4)	(23) (26	3		12	%	(72) (79	7		9	%
Equity-indexed compensation												
(expense)/benefit - general and	(4) 1	(5)	(500)%	(10) (10) —			%
administrative												
Segment profit/(loss)	\$(6	\$87	\$ (93)	(107)%	\$13	\$258	\$(24	15)	(95)%
Maintenance capital	\$3	\$2	\$ (1)	(50)%	\$10	\$5	\$(5)	(100))%
Segment profit/(loss) per barrel	\$(0.06) \$0.84	\$ (0.90)	(107)%	\$0.04	\$0.81	\$(0.	77)	(95)%
	Three I	Months					Nine Mo	onths	Favo	orabl	le/	
Average Daily Volumes	Ended		Favoral	ole	/(Unfa	vorat	ol Æ)Nderil an	ce	(Un	favoi	rable))
	Septem	ber 30,			•		Septemb		Vari	iance	•	
(in thousands of barrels per day)	2016	2015	Volume	es	%		2016	2015	Vol	umes	, %	
Crude oil lease gathering purchases	883	927	(44)	(5)%	894	958	(64)	(7)%
NGL sales	207	183	24		13	%	230	209	21		10	%
Waterborne cargos	8	4	4		100	%	7	1	6		600	%
Supply and Logistics segment total	1,098	1,114	(16)	(1)%	1,131	1,168	(37)	(3)%

⁽¹⁾ Revenues and costs include intersegment amounts.

Purchases and related costs include interest expense (related to hedged inventory purchases) of \$5 million and \$1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and \$10 million and \$4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

⁽³⁾ Field operating costs and Segment general and administrative expenses exclude equity-indexed compensation expense, which is presented separately in the table above.

Segment general and administrative expenses reflect direct costs attributable to each segment and an allocation of other expenses to the segments. The proportional allocations by segment require judgment by management and are based on the business activities that exist during each period.

45

Table of Contents

The following table presents the range of the NYMEX WTI benchmark price of crude oil (in dollars per barrel):

	NYME	X WTI
	Crude (Oil Price
	Low	High
Three months ended September 30, 2016	\$ 40	\$ 49
Three months ended September 30, 2015	\$ 38	\$ 57
Nine months ended September 30, 2016	\$ 26	\$ 51
Nine months ended September 30, 2015	\$ 38	\$ 61

Because the commodities that we buy and sell are generally indexed to the same pricing indices for both sales and purchases, revenues and costs related to purchases will fluctuate with market prices. However, the margins related to those sales and purchases will not necessarily have a corresponding increase or decrease. The absolute amount of our revenues and purchases decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the same periods in 2015 due to lower crude oil and NGL prices.

Generally, we expect a base level of earnings from our Supply and Logistics segment from the assets employed by this segment. This base level may be optimized and enhanced when there is a high level of market volatility, favorable basis differentials and/or a steep contango or backwardated market structure. During certain transitional periods, such as this extended period of lower crude oil prices, the ability to generate above base level earnings is challenging, and taking into account the over-capacity of midstream assets and increased competition that currently exists in most crude oil producing regions, generating even baseline level performance is challenging. Our NGL operations are also impacted by similar competitive pressures. In addition, our NGL operations are sensitive to weather-related demand, particularly during the approximate five-month peak heating season of November through March, and temperature differences from period-to-period may have a significant effect on NGL demand and thus our financial performance.

The following is a discussion of items impacting Supply and Logistics segment profit and segment profit per barrel for the periods indicated.

Net Revenues and Volumes. Our Supply and Logistics segment revenues, net of purchases and related costs, decreased by \$131 million and \$363 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, respectively. The following summarizes the significant items impacting the comparative periods:

Crude Oil Operations — Net revenues from our crude oil supply and logistics activities decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 as compared to the same 2015 periods, primarily due to increased competition, largely due to overbuilt infrastructure underwritten with volume commitments and the effect of such on differentials, as well as volume declines in certain areas, that have negatively impacted our unit margins.

NGL Operations — Net revenues from our NGL operations decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 as compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015, largely due to (i) higher storage and processing fees for the 2016 periods and (ii) higher supply costs driven by competition. The nine-month comparative period was further unfavorably impacted by softer propane sales margins in the first quarter of 2016 versus the first quarter of 2015 resulting from a shorter and milder winter.

Foreign Exchange Impacts — Our results are impacted by fluctuations in the value of CAD to USD, resulting in foreign exchange gains and losses on U.S. denominated net assets within our Canadian operations. The changes in exchange rates during each period resulted in a unfavorable variances of \$1 million and \$32 million for the three and nine

months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and months ended September 30, 2015, respectively.

Furthermore, for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2015, the depreciation of CAD relative to USD resulted in lower USD costs of approximately \$15 million. Such costs were primarily associated with intercompany facility fees and were largely offset in our Facilities segment results.

46

Table of Contents

Impact from Certain Derivative Activities, Net of Inventory Valuation Adjustments — The mark-to-market of certain of our derivative activities impacted our net revenues as shown in the table below (in millions):

Three

Months Nine Months Ended Ended

September September 30,

30,

2016 2015 Variance 2016 2015 Variance

Gains/(losses) from certain derivative activities net of inventory valuation adjustments (1)

\$52 \$43 \$ 9 \$(196) \$(116) \$ (80)

Includes mark-to-market and other gains and losses resulting from certain derivative instruments that are related to underlying activities in another period (or the reversal of mark-to-market gains and losses from a prior period),

Long-Term Inventory Costing Adjustment — Our operating results are impacted by changes in the weighted average cost of our crude oil and NGL inventory pools that result from price movements during the periods. Such costing adjustments resulted in unfavorable impacts of \$38 million and \$47 million for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and favorable impacts of \$6 million and unfavorable impacts of \$62 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, due to price changes during each period. These costing adjustments related to long-term inventory necessary to meet our minimum inventory requirements in third-party assets and other working inventory that was needed for our commercial operations. We consider this inventory necessary to conduct our operations and we intend to carry this inventory for the foreseeable future.

Field Operating Costs. The decrease in field operating costs (excluding equity-indexed compensation expense) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was primarily due to a combination of (i) lower lease gathering volumes, (ii) shorter truck hauls and reduced use of third party trucking services as pipeline expansion projects were placed into service and (iii) a decrease in fuel prices.

General and Administrative Expenses. The decrease in general and administrative expenses (excluding equity-indexed compensation expense) for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was primarily due to lower salary and other personnel costs and reduced spending on legal fees.

Other Income and Expenses

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 includes net gains of approximately \$84 million and \$99 million, respectively, which were primarily associated with non-core asset sales and joint venture formations during the periods. Excluding such gains, depreciation and amortization expense increased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to additional depreciation expense associated with various capital expansion projects completed since the 2015 periods and the write off of costs associated with the discontinuation of certain projects during 2016. Additionally, the nine-month comparative period was impacted in the second quarter of 2016 by impairment losses of approximately \$80 million associated with certain of our rail and other terminal assets and an \$18 million charge related to assets taken out of service.

⁽¹⁾ gains and losses on certain derivatives that are related to investing activities (such as the purchase of linefill) and inventory valuation adjustments, as applicable. See Note 9 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a comprehensive discussion regarding our derivatives and risk management activities.

Interest Expense

The increase in interest expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 over the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 was primarily due to a higher weighted average debt balance largely driven by PAA's August 2015 \$1.0 billion senior note issuance, partially offset by the maturity of \$150 million and \$400 million of PAA's senior notes in June 2015 and September 2015, respectively, and PAA's \$175 million senior notes in August 2016.

47

Table of Contents

Other Income/(Expense), Net

Other income/(expense), net for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 was impacted by gains of \$17 million and \$42 million, respectively, related to the mark-to-market adjustment of the Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option. See Note 9 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information. Excluding such gains, Other income/(expense), net in each of the periods presented was primarily comprised of foreign currency gains or losses related to revaluations of CAD-denominated interest receivables associated with intercompany notes.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense decreased for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2016 compared to the three and nine months ended September 30, 2015 primarily due to (i) lower year over year income as impacted by fluctuations in derivative mark-to-market valuations in our Canadian operations, partially offset by Canadian audit adjustments and (ii) deferred tax benefits recorded in the second quarter of 2016 related to return-to-accrual adjustments and a Louisiana law change enacted during the quarter. The decrease in income tax expense for the nine month comparative period was also due to the cumulative revaluation of Canadian net deferred tax liabilities resulting from a 2% Alberta, Canada provincial tax rate increase in the second quarter of 2015. The decreases for the three and nine month comparative periods were partially offset by higher deferred tax expense associated with the amortization of our deferred tax asset.

Outlook

Primarily as a result of advances in drilling and completion techniques and their application to a number of large-scale shale and resource plays, which occurred contemporaneously with attractive crude oil and liquids prices, during the approximately three year period through the end of 2014, U.S. crude oil and liquids production in the lower 48 states increased rapidly. This was particularly true for light crudes and condensates. Similar resource development activities in Canada and ongoing oil sands development activities also led to increased Canadian crude oil production during this period. Additionally, during this period, the crude oil market experienced high levels of volatility in location and quality differentials as a result of the confluence of regional infrastructure constraints in North America, rapid and unexpected changes in crude oil qualities, international supply issues, and regional downstream operating issues. During 2013 and to a lesser degree 2014, these market conditions had a positive impact on our profitability as our business strategy and asset base positioned us to capitalize on opportunities created by the volatile environment.

However, the combination during such period of surging North American liquids production, relatively flat liquids production for the rest of the world and relatively modest growth in global liquids demand led to a supply imbalance, which in turn led to a significant and rapid reduction in petroleum prices. While we believe that our business model and asset base have minimal direct exposure to petroleum prices, our performance is influenced by certain differentials and overall North American production levels, which in turn are impacted by major price movements. The meaningful decrease in crude oil price levels during the second half of 2014 and throughout 2015 relative to the levels experienced during 2013 and the first half of 2014 have led many producers, including North American producers, to significantly scale back capital programs. As a result, during 2015 and through the third quarter of 2016, the rate of growth of North American crude oil production slowed significantly and production levels began to decrease in many areas as producers have taken rigs out of service and deferred completions at an increased rate. While the recent increase in crude oil prices has led to increased rig activity in a few areas where we now anticipate production levels to increase, most notably the Permian Basin in West Texas and the STACK resource play in Oklahoma, the overall pace and depth of the reduction in drilling and completion activities by producers has been greater than anticipated by many market participants and observers; since the beginning of 2015, onshore rig counts for the lower 48 States have decreased approximately 70%. As a result of the combined effect of such overall reduced activity levels and the high decline rates for many of the producing wells that contribute towards current lower 48

onshore production levels, crude oil production declines are expected to continue during 2016 and potentially beyond in a number of onshore plays. While we believe that the larger North American resource base remains intact and will ultimately be developed, such production will likely take place at a slower pace and previously anticipated peak production levels will likely be reduced. This slowdown and reduction in North American production coupled with past increases in infrastructure has led to a compression of basis differentials in a number of locations. Furthermore, many of these new infrastructure projects are supported by long-term minimum volume commitments whereby the shipper, based on an expectation of continued volume growth, has agreed to ship and pay for certain stated volumes. In many cases, the volume owned or controlled by a shipper is meaningfully below such shipper's shipping commitment, resulting in increased competition for the marginal uncommitted barrel, which has led to margin compression. In general, the impact of such developments has been more severe on us than we anticipated, in part due to infrastructure overbuild, but more critically the significant level of contractual overcommitments that has intensified the level of competition for the marginal barrel. This transitioning crude oil market presents challenges to both us and the overall midstream industry, and while we believe our integrated business model gives us competitive advantages, we may see a lower

48

Table of Contents

rate of cash flow and distribution growth than we would have otherwise experienced over the next several years. In addition, increased competition and compressed differentials may drive lower volumes and lower unit margins in parts of our business, particularly our Supply and Logistics segment.

While we believe that these recent market developments will continue to impede crude oil supply growth and contribute toward bringing the markets back to equilibrium, there can be no assurance that such equilibrium will be achieved or that we will not be negatively impacted by declining crude oil supply, low levels of volatility or challenging capital markets conditions. Additionally, construction of additional infrastructure by us and our competitors will likely lead to even greater levels of excess takeaway capacity in certain areas for the near to medium term, which could further reduce unit margins in our various segments, and which could be exacerbated by declining levels of crude oil production. Finally, we cannot be certain that our expansion efforts will generate targeted returns or that any future acquisition activities will be successful. See "Risk Factors—Risks Related to PAA's Business" discussed in Item 1A of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

On a consolidated basis, our primary sources of liquidity are (i) cash flow from operating activities, (ii) borrowings under the credit facilities or the PAA commercial paper program and (iii) funds received from PAA's sales of equity and debt securities. Our primary cash requirements include, but are not limited to, (i) ordinary course of business uses, such as the payment of amounts related to the purchase of crude oil, NGL and other products and other expenses and interest payments on outstanding debt, (ii) expansion and maintenance activities, (iii) acquisitions of assets or businesses, (iv) repayment of principal on long-term debt and (v) distributions to our Class A shareholders and noncontrolling interests. We generally expect to fund our short-term cash requirements through cash flow generated from operating activities and/or borrowings under the PAA commercial paper program or the credit facilities. In addition, we generally expect to fund our long-term needs, such as those resulting from expansion activities or acquisitions and refinancing long-term debt, through a variety of sources (either separately or in combination), which may include the sources mentioned above as funding for short-term needs and/or the issuance of additional PAA equity or debt securities. From time to time, we may also complete strategic divestitures, including non-core asset sales and/or sales of partial interests in assets to strategic partners. As of September 30, 2016, although we had a working capital deficit of \$303 million, we had approximately \$2.6 billion of liquidity available to meet our ongoing operating, investing and financing needs, subject to continued covenant compliance, as noted below (in millions): As of

	September 30, 2016
Availability under PAA senior unsecured revolving credit facility (1) (2)	\$ 1,583
Availability under PAA senior secured hedged inventory facility (1) (2)	644
Availability under PAA senior unsecured 364-day revolving credit facility	1,000
Amounts outstanding under under PAA commercial paper program	(756)
Subtotal	2,471
Availability under AAP senior secured revolving credit facility	72
Cash and cash equivalents	34
Total	\$ 2,577

⁽¹⁾ Represents availability prior to giving effect to amounts outstanding under the PAA commercial paper program, which reduce available capacity under the facilities.

(2)

Available capacity under the PAA senior unsecured revolving credit facility and the PAA senior secured hedged inventory facility was reduced by outstanding letters of credit of \$17 million and \$30 million, respectively.

We believe that we have, and will continue to have, the ability to access the PAA commercial paper program and credit facilities, which we use to meet our short-term cash needs. We believe that our financial position remains solid and we have sufficient liquidity; however, extended disruptions in the financial markets and/or energy price volatility that adversely affect our business may have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. Also, see Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion regarding such risks that may impact our liquidity and capital resources. Usage of the PAA credit facilities, which provide the backstop for the PAA commercial paper program, and the AAP credit facility is subject to ongoing compliance with covenants. As of September 30, 2016, PAA and AAP were in compliance with all such covenants.

49

Table of Contents

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

For a comprehensive discussion of the primary drivers of cash flow from operating activities, including the impact of varying market conditions and the timing of settlement of our derivatives, see Item 7. "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Cash Flow from Operating Activities" included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the first nine months of 2016 and 2015 was \$630 million and \$1.2 billion, respectively, and primarily resulted from earnings from our operations. Additionally, during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we increased our inventory levels and margin balances required as part of our hedging activities that were funded by short-term debt, resulting in an unfavorable impact on our cash provided by operating activities.

Minimum Volume Commitments. We have certain agreements that require counterparties to deliver, transport or throughput a minimum volume over an agreed upon period. Some of these agreements include make-up rights if the minimum volume is not met. At September 30, 2016, counterparty deficiencies associated with agreements that include minimum volume commitments totaled \$83 million. We record a receivable from the counterparty in the period that services are provided or when the transaction occurs, including amounts for deficiency obligations from counterparties associated with minimum volume commitments. If a counterparty has a make-up right associated with a deficiency, we defer the revenue attributable to the counterparty make-up right and subsequently recognize the revenue at the earlier of when the deficiency volume is delivered or shipped, when the make-up right expires or when it is determined that the counterparty's ability to utilize the make-up right is remote. Deferred revenue associated with non-performance under minimum volume contracts could be significant and could adversely affect our profitability and earnings, but generally does not impact our liquidity.

As of September 30, 2016, we had deferred revenue associated with minimum volume commitments of \$72 million. In addition to the amounts recorded as deferred revenue, as of September 30, 2016, there was \$11 million of accrued deficiencies for which the counterparties had not met their contractual minimum commitments, but we had not yet billed or collected such amounts.

Acquisitions, Capital Expenditures and Divestitures

In addition to our operating needs discussed above, on a consolidated basis, we also use cash for our acquisition activities and capital projects. We have made and will continue to make capital expenditures for acquisitions, expansion capital and maintenance capital.

Acquisitions and Divestitures. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, we paid cash of \$282 million (net of cash acquired of \$7 million) and \$104 million, respectively, for acquisitions. The acquisitions for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 included an integrated system of NGL assets in Western Canada for a cash purchase price of approximately \$204 million. In addition, during the first nine months of 2016, we completed the sale of various non-core assets, as well as the sale of 50% of our investment in each of Cheyenne Pipeline LLC and STACK Pipeline LLC, for cash proceeds of \$638 million. We have signed definitive agreements to sell additional non-core assets, which we expect to be consummated in the fourth quarter of 2016 or the first half of 2017, subject to customary closing conditions, as applicable.

2016 Capital Projects. We invested approximately \$1.065 billion in midstream infrastructure during the nine months ended September 30, 2016. See "—Acquisitions and Capital Projects" for detail of our projected capital expenditures for the year ending December 31, 2016. We expect the majority of funding for our 2016 capital program will be provided by the proceeds from PAA's January 2016 Series A preferred unit offering, the sale of various non-core assets throughout the year, the issuance of PAA common units under its continuous offering program and through the

potential issuance of long-term debt by PAA.

Equity and Debt Financing Activities

On a consolidated basis, our financing activities primarily relate to funding expansion capital projects, acquisitions and refinancing of debt maturities, as well as short-term working capital and hedged inventory borrowings related to our NGL business and contango market activities. Our financing activities have primarily consisted of PAA equity offerings, PAA senior notes offerings and borrowings and repayments under credit facilities or the PAA commercial paper program, as well as payment of distributions to our Class A shareholders and noncontrolling interests.

PAA Registration Statements. PAA periodically accesses the capital markets for both equity and debt financing. PAA has filed with the SEC a universal shelf registration statement that, subject to effectiveness at the time of use, allows PAA to issue up to an aggregate of \$2.0 billion of debt or equity securities ("Traditional Shelf"). At September 30, 2016, PAA had

50

Table of Contents

approximately \$1.7 billion of unsold securities available under the Traditional Shelf. PAA also has access to a universal shelf registration statement ("WKSI Shelf"), which provides it with the ability to offer and sell an unlimited amount of debt and equity securities, subject to market conditions and capital needs. PAA did not conduct any offerings under the WKSI Shelf during the nine months ended September 30, 2016.

PAA Continuous Offering Program. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016, PAA issued an aggregate of approximately 9.9 million common units under its continuous offering program, generating proceeds of \$283 million, net of \$2 million of commissions paid to sales agents. The net proceeds from sales were used for general partnership purposes. Subsequent to September 30, 2016, PAA sold an additional 4.9 million common units under its continuous offering program, generating proceeds of \$151 million, net of \$2 million of commissions to sales agents.

PAA Series A Preferred Unit Issuance. On January 28, 2016, PAA completed the private placement of approximately 61.0 million PAA Series A preferred units at a price of \$26.25 per unit resulting in total net proceeds, after deducting offering expenses and the 2% transaction fee due to the purchasers, of approximately \$1.6 billion. We used the net proceeds for capital expenditures, repayment of debt and general partnership purposes.

The PAA Series A preferred units rank senior to all classes or series of equity securities in PAA with respect to distribution rights. The holders of the PAA Series A preferred units are entitled to receive quarterly distributions, subject to customary antidilution adjustments, of \$0.525 per unit (\$2.10 per unit annualized), commencing with the quarter ended March 31, 2016. With respect to any quarter ending on or prior to December 31, 2017, PAA may elect to pay distributions on the PAA Series A preferred units in additional preferred units, in cash or a combination of both.

After two years, the PAA Series A preferred units are convertible at the purchasers' option into common units on a one-for-one basis, subject to certain conditions, and are convertible at PAA's option in certain circumstances after three years. See Note 8 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information regarding the PAA Series A preferred units.

Credit Agreements, Commercial Paper Program and Indentures. The PAA credit agreements (which impact the ability to access the PAA commercial paper program because they provide the backstop that supports PAA's short-term credit ratings), the AAP credit agreement and the indentures governing PAA's senior notes contain cross-default provisions. A default under the credit agreements would permit the lenders to accelerate the maturity of the outstanding debt. As long as PAA and AAP are in compliance with the provisions in the credit agreements, their ability to make distributions of available cash is not restricted. As of September 30, 2016, PAA and AAP were in compliance with the covenants contained in the credit agreements and indentures.

On a consolidated basis, during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, we had net repayments on the credit agreements and PAA commercial paper program of \$149 million. The net repayments resulted primarily from cash flow from operating activities and cash received from equity activities, which offset borrowings during the period related to funding needs for (i) inventory purchases and related margin balances required as part of our hedging activities, (ii) capital investments, (iii) repayment of PAA's \$175 million senior notes in August 2016 and (iv) other general partnership purposes.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2015, we had net borrowings under credit agreements and the PAA commercial paper program of \$174 million. These net borrowings resulted primarily from funding needs for (i) internal capital projects, (ii) repayment of PAA senior notes that matured during 2015 and (iii) other general partnership purposes, and were partially offset by repayments from cash received from PAA's debt and equity activities.

In August 2016, PAA extended the maturity dates of its senior unsecured revolving credit facility, senior secured hedged inventory facility and 364-day credit facility to August 2021, August 2019 and August 2017, respectively.

In August 2016, PAA's \$175 million, 5.88% senior notes matured and were repaid with cash on hand and proceeds from borrowings under the PAA commercial paper program.

PAA's \$400 million, 6.13% senior notes will mature in January 2017. We intend to use borrowings under the PAA commercial paper program or credit facilities to repay these senior notes when they mature.

Distributions to Our Class A Shareholders and Noncontrolling Interests

Distributions to our Class A shareholders. We distribute 100% of our available cash within 55 days following the end of each quarter to Class A shareholders of record. Available cash is generally defined as all of our cash and cash equivalents on

51

Table of Contents

hand at the end of each quarter less reserves established in the discretion of our general partner for future requirements. On November 14, 2016, we will pay a quarterly distribution of \$0.2065 per Class A share, which equates to a 10.6% reduction to the quarterly distribution paid in August 2016. See Note 8 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for details of distributions paid during or pertaining to the first nine months of 2016. Also, see Item 5. "Market for Registrant's Shares, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities—Cash Distribution Policy" included in our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional discussion regarding distributions.

Distributions to noncontrolling interests. Distributions to noncontrolling interests represent amounts paid on interests in consolidated entities that are not owned by us. During the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, we paid distributions of approximately \$1.1 billion and \$1.1 billion, respectively, to noncontrolling interests.

We believe that we have sufficient liquid assets, cash flow from operating activities and borrowing capacity under the credit agreements to meet our financial commitments, debt service obligations, contingencies and anticipated capital expenditures. We are, however, subject to business and operational risks that could adversely affect our cash flow. A prolonged material decrease in our cash flows would likely produce an adverse effect on our borrowing capacity.

Simplification Transactions

On July 11, 2016, PAGP, PAA, AAP, PAA GP, GP LLC and GP Holdings entered into a Simplification Agreement pursuant to which, upon closing, in exchange for the issuance by PAA to AAP of approximately 245.5 million common units representing limited partner interests in PAA ("PAA Common Units") and the assumption by PAA of AAP's outstanding debt (as of September 30, 2016, approximately \$603 million but expected to be approximately \$641 million as of November 15, 2016), AAP will contribute the IDRs to PAA and PAA GP's 2% economic general partner interest in PAA will be converted into a non-economic general partner interest in PAA. Following the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Simplification Agreement (the "Simplification Transactions"), which is expected to occur on November 15, 2016, both PAGP and PAA will continue to be publicly traded.

Pursuant to the terms of the Simplification Agreement, AAP agreed that if (i) the closing of the Simplification Transactions does not occur prior to the record date for PAA's distribution of available cash in respect of the third quarter of 2016 and (ii) the amount of such distribution is below a quarterly level of \$0.70 per common unit, AAP will borrow funds under its existing credit agreement as necessary to make a special "true-up" distribution to AAP's unitholders that, when added to the distributions to be paid to AAP in respect of its indirect 2% general partner interest and IDRs, equals the total distribution such unitholders would have received had the closing of the Simplification Transactions occurred prior to such third quarter record date. As the Simplification Transactions did not close prior to the PAA third quarter distribution record date of October 31, 2016 and PAA declared a quarterly distribution of \$0.55 per common unit for its third quarter distribution, it is currently estimated that the incremental borrowings that will be made by AAP will be approximately \$33 million.

The consummation of the matters contemplated by the Simplification Agreement is subject to customary closing conditions and may be terminated under certain conditions. On September 26, 2016, we announced November 15, 2016 as the date for the special meeting of our shareholders to consider and vote upon a proposal to approve the Simplification Transactions. Our Class A and Class B shareholders of record at the close of business on September 30, 2016 will be entitled to vote at the special meeting. See Note 15 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of the Simplification Transactions.

These transactions are among consolidated subsidiaries of PAGP that are considered entities under common control. As such, in accordance with FASB guidance, these transactions will be recognized at carrying value. Additionally, the transactions will be accounted for as equity transactions in accordance with FASB guidance.

Contingencies

For a discussion of contingencies that may impact us, see Note 12 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Commitments

Contractual Obligations. In the ordinary course of doing business, we purchase crude oil and NGL from third parties under contracts, the majority of which range in term from thirty-day evergreen to five years, with a limited number of contracts with remaining terms extending up to approximately nine years. We establish a margin for these purchases by entering into various types of physical and financial sale and exchange transactions through which we seek to maintain a position that is

52

Table of Contents

substantially balanced between purchases on the one hand and sales and future delivery obligations on the other. In addition, we enter into similar contractual obligations in conjunction with our natural gas operations. The table below includes purchase obligations related to these activities. Where applicable, the amounts presented represent the net obligations associated with our counterparties (including giving effect to netting buy/sell contracts and those subject to a net settlement arrangement). We do not expect to use a significant amount of internal capital to meet these obligations, as the obligations will be funded by corresponding sales to entities that we deem creditworthy or who have provided credit support we consider adequate.

The following table includes our best estimate of the amount and timing of these payments as well as others due under the specified contractual obligations as of September 30, 2016 (in millions):

	Remainde of 2016	r 2017	2018	2019	2020	2021 and Thereafter	Total
Long-term debt, including current maturities and related interest payments (1)	\$ 622	\$860	\$1,034	\$1,249	\$1,446	\$ 11,041	\$16,252
Leases (2)	53	190	161	140	119	499	1,162
Other obligations (3)	249	566	222	168	146	613	1,964
Subtotal	924	1,616	1,417	1,557	1,711	12,153	19,378
Crude oil, natural gas, NGL and other purchases (4)	1,911	2,661	1,869	1,672	1,190	4,430	13,733
Total	\$ 2,835	\$4,277	\$3,286	\$3,229	\$2,901	\$ 16,583	\$33,111

Includes debt service payments, interest payments due on PAA's senior notes, interest payments on long-term borrowings outstanding under the AAP credit agreement and the commitment fee on assumed available capacity under the PAA revolving credit facilities and long-term borrowings under the PAA commercial paper program. Although there may be short-term borrowings under the PAA credit facilities and the PAA commercial paper program, we historically repay and borrow at varying amounts. As such, we have included only the maximum commitment fee (as if no short-term borrowings were outstanding on the PAA credit facilities or the PAA commercial paper program) in the amounts above. Contingent upon the closing of the Simplification Transactions, the maturity date of the borrowings under the AAP credit agreement will be accelerated from 2020 to 2017 or earlier. See Note 15 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion of the Simplification Transactions.

- (2) Leases are primarily for (i) surface rentals, (ii) office rent, (iii) pipeline assets and (iv) trucks, trailers and railcars. Includes both capital and operating leases as defined by FASB guidance.
- Includes (i) other long-term liabilities, (ii) storage, processing and transportation agreements and (iii) non-cancelable commitments related to our capital expansion projects, including projected contributions for our share of the capital spending of our equity method investments. The transportation agreements include approximately \$875 million associated with an agreement to transport crude oil on a pipeline that is owned by an equity method investee, in which we own a 50% interest. Our commitment to transport is supported by crude oil buy/sell agreements with third parties (including Oxy) with commensurate quantities.
- Amounts are primarily based on estimated volumes and market prices based on average activity during

 (4) September 2016. The actual physical volume purchased and actual settlement prices will vary from the assumptions used in the table. Uncertainties involved in these estimates include levels of production at the wellhead, weather conditions, changes in market prices and other conditions beyond our control.

Letters of Credit. In connection with supply and logistics activities, we provide certain suppliers with irrevocable standby letters of credit to secure our obligation for the purchase of crude oil, NGL and natural gas. Additionally, we

issue letters of credit to support insurance programs, derivative transactions and construction activities. At September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we had outstanding letters of credit of approximately \$47 million and \$46 million, respectively.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by Item 303 of Regulation S-K.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

53

Table of Contents

See Note 2 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

For a discussion regarding our critical accounting policies and estimates, see "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates" under Item 7 of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements included in this report, other than statements of historical fact, are forward-looking statements, including but not limited to statements incorporating the words "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "expect," "plan," "intend" a "forecast," as well as similar expressions and statements regarding our business strategy, plans and objectives for future operations. The absence of such words, expressions or statements, however, does not mean that the statements are not forward-looking. Any such forward-looking statements reflect our current views with respect to future events, based on what we believe to be reasonable assumptions. Certain factors could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from the results or outcomes anticipated in the forward-looking statements. The most important of these factors include, but are not limited to:

our ability to pay distributions to our Class A shareholders;

our expected receipt of, and amounts of, distributions from Plains AAP, L.P.;

declines in the volume of crude oil, refined product and NGL shipped, processed, purchased, stored, fractionated and/or gathered at or through the use of our assets, whether due to declines in production from existing oil and gas reserves, failure to develop or slowdown in the development of additional oil and gas reserves, whether from reduced cash flow to fund drilling or the inability to access capital, or other factors;

the effects of competition;

failure to implement or capitalize, or delays in implementing or capitalizing, on expansion projects;

unanticipated changes in crude oil market structure, grade differentials and volatility (or lack thereof);

environmental liabilities or events that are not covered by an indemnity, insurance or existing reserves;

fluctuations in refinery capacity in areas supplied by our mainlines and other factors affecting demand for various grades of crude oil, refined products and natural gas and resulting changes in pricing conditions or transportation throughput requirements;

the occurrence of a natural disaster, catastrophe, terrorist attack or other event, including attacks on our electronic and computer systems;

maintenance of PAA's credit rating and ability to receive open credit from suppliers and trade counterparties; tightened capital markets or other factors that increase our cost of capital or limit our ability to obtain debt or equity financing on satisfactory terms to fund additional acquisitions, expansion projects, working capital requirements and the repayment or refinancing of indebtedness;

the currency exchange rate of the Canadian dollar;

continued creditworthiness of, and performance by, our counterparties, including financial institutions and trading companies with which we do business;

inability to recognize current revenue attributable to deficiency payments received from customers who fail to ship or move more than minimum contracted volumes until the related credits expire or are used;

non-utilization of our assets and facilities;

increased costs, or lack of availability, of insurance;

weather interference with business operations or project construction, including the impact of extreme weather events or conditions:

54

Table of Contents

the availability of, and our ability to consummate, acquisition or combination opportunities;

the successful integration and future performance of acquired assets or businesses and the risks associated with operating in lines of business that are distinct and separate from historical operations;

the effectiveness of our risk management activities;

shortages or cost increases of supplies, materials or labor;

the impact of current and future laws, rulings, governmental regulations, accounting standards and statements, and related interpretations;

fluctuations in the debt and equity markets, including the price of PAA's units at the time of vesting under its long-term incentive plans;

risks related to the development and operation of our assets, including our ability to satisfy our contractual obligations to our customers:

factors affecting demand for natural gas and natural gas storage services and rates;

• general economic, market or business conditions and the amplification of other risks caused by volatile financial markets, capital constraints and pervasive liquidity concerns; and other factors and uncertainties inherent in the transportation, storage, terminalling and marketing of crude oil and refined products, as well as in the storage of natural gas and the processing, transportation, fractionation, storage and marketing of natural gas liquids.

Other factors described herein, as well as factors that are unknown or unpredictable, could also have a material adverse effect on future results. Please read "Risk Factors" discussed in Item 1A of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as required by applicable securities laws, we do not intend to update these forward-looking statements and information.

Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to various market risks, including (i) commodity price risk, (ii) interest rate risk and (iii) currency exchange rate risk. We use various derivative instruments to manage such risks and, in certain circumstances, to realize incremental margin during volatile market conditions. Our risk management policies and procedures are designed to help ensure that our hedging activities address our risks by monitoring our exchange-cleared and over-the-counter positions, as well as physical volumes, grades, locations, delivery schedules and storage capacity. We have a risk management function that has direct responsibility and authority for our risk policies, related controls around commercial activities and certain aspects of corporate risk management. Our risk management function also approves all new risk management strategies through a formal process. The following discussion addresses each category of risk.

Commodity Price Risk

We use derivative instruments to hedge price risk associated with the following commodities:

Crude oil

We utilize crude oil derivatives to hedge commodity price risk inherent in our Supply and Logistics and Transportation segments. Our objectives for these derivatives include hedging anticipated purchases and sales, stored inventory, and storage capacity utilization. We manage these exposures with various instruments including exchange-traded and over-the-counter futures, forwards, swaps and options.

Natural gas

We utilize natural gas derivatives to hedge commodity price risk inherent in our Supply and Logistics and Facilities segments. Our objectives for these derivatives include hedging anticipated purchases and sales and managing our anticipated base gas requirements. We manage these exposures with various instruments including exchange-traded futures, swaps and options.

NGL and other

55

Table of Contents

We utilize NGL derivatives, primarily butane and propane derivatives, to hedge commodity price risk inherent in our Supply and Logistics segment. Our objectives for these derivatives include hedging anticipated purchases and sales and stored inventory. We manage these exposures with various instruments including exchange-traded and over-the-counter futures, forwards, swaps and options.

See Note 9 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion regarding our hedging strategies and objectives.

The fair value of our commodity derivatives and the change in fair value as of September 30, 2016 that would be expected from a 10% price increase or decrease is shown in the table below (in millions):

	Esia Value		Eff	fect of 1	0%	Effect of 10% Price Decrease				
	raii vai	Pri	ce Incre	ease	Pric	e Decr	ease			
Crude oil	\$ (18)	\$	(75)	\$	75			
Natural gas	(4)	\$	3		\$	(3)		
NGL and other	(44)	\$	(56)	\$	56			
Total fair value	\$ (66)								

The fair values presented in the table above reflect the sensitivity of the derivative instruments only and do not include the effect of the underlying hedged commodity. Price-risk sensitivities were calculated by assuming an across-the-board 10% increase or decrease in price regardless of term or historical relationships between the contractual price of the instruments and the underlying commodity price. In the event of an actual 10% change in near-term commodity prices, the fair value of our derivative portfolio would typically change less than that shown in the table as changes in near-term prices are not typically mirrored in delivery months further out.

Interest Rate Risk

Our use of variable rate debt and any forecasted issuances of fixed rate debt expose us to interest rate risk. Therefore, from time to time, we use interest rate derivatives to hedge interest rate risk associated with anticipated interest payments and, in certain cases, outstanding debt instruments. All of PAA's senior notes are fixed rate notes and thus are not subject to interest rate risk. Our variable rate debt outstanding at September 30, 2016, approximately \$2.1 billion, was subject to interest rate re-sets of one month or less. The average interest rate on variable rate debt that was outstanding during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 was 1.6%, based upon rates in effect during such period. The fair value of our interest rate derivatives was a liability of \$175 million as of September 30, 2016. A 10% increase in the forward LIBOR curve as of September 30, 2016 would have resulted in an increase of \$33 million to the fair value of our interest rate derivatives. A 10% decrease in the forward LIBOR curve as of September 30, 2016 would have resulted in a decrease of \$33 million to the fair value of our interest rate derivatives. See Note 9 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our interest rate risk hedging activities.

Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We use foreign currency derivatives to hedge foreign currency exchange rate risk associated with our exposure to fluctuations in the USD-to-CAD exchange rate. Because a significant portion of our Canadian business is conducted in CAD and, at times, a portion of our debt is denominated in CAD, we use certain financial instruments to minimize the risks of unfavorable changes in exchange rates. These instruments include foreign currency exchange contracts, forwards and options. The fair value of our foreign currency derivatives was a liability of \$3 million as of September 30, 2016. A 10% increase in the exchange rate (USD-to-CAD) would have resulted in a decrease of \$13 million to the fair value of our foreign currency derivatives. A 10% decrease in the exchange rate (USD-to-CAD)

would have resulted in an increase of \$13 million to the fair value of our foreign currency derivatives. See Note 9 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of our currency exchange rate risk hedging.

Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option

The Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option of PAA's Series A preferred units is an embedded derivative that must be bifurcated from the related host contract, PAA's partnership agreement, and recorded at fair value in our Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets. The valuation model utilized for this embedded derivative contains inputs including PAA's

56

Table of Contents

common unit price, ten-year U.S. treasury rates and default probabilities to ultimately calculate the fair value of PAA's Series A preferred units with and without the Preferred Distribution Rate Reset Option. The fair value of this embedded derivative was a liability of \$18 million as of September 30, 2016. A 10% increase in the fair value would have an impact of \$2 million. A 10% decrease in the fair value would also have an impact of \$2 million. See Note 9 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of embedded derivatives.

Item 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain written disclosure controls and procedures, which we refer to as our "DCP." Our DCP is designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") is (i) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Applicable SEC rules require an evaluation of the effectiveness of our DCP. Management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our DCP as of September 30, 2016, the end of the period covered by this report, and, based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our DCP is effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In addition to the information concerning our DCP, we are required to disclose certain changes in internal control over financial reporting. There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the third quarter of 2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Certifications

The certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) are filed with this report as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2. The certifications of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 are furnished with this report as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2.

57

Table of Contents

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information required by this item is included under the caption "Legal Proceedings — General" in Note 12 to our Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, and is incorporated herein by reference thereto.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS

For a discussion regarding our risk factors, see Item 1A of our 2015 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Those risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing us and there may be additional matters of which we are unaware or that we currently consider immaterial. All of those risks and uncertainties could adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or results of operations.

Item 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

In connection with our IPO and related transactions, the former owners of Plains All American GP LLC (the "Legacy Owners") acquired the following interests (collectively, the "Stapled Interests"): (i) AAP units representing an economic limited partner interest in AAP; (ii) general partner units representing a non-economic membership interest in our general partner; and (iii) Class B shares representing a non-economic limited partner interest in us. The Legacy Owners and any permitted transferees of their Stapled Interests have the right to exchange (the "Exchange Right") all or a portion of such Stapled Interests for an equivalent number of Class A shares. In connection with the exercise of the Exchange Right, the Stapled Interests are transferred to us and the applicable Class B shares are canceled. Although we issue one Class A share for each Stapled Interest that is exchanged, we also receive one AAP unit and one general partner unit. Additionally, a holder of vested AAP Management Units is entitled to convert his or her AAP Management Units into AAP units and a like number of our Class B shares based on a conversion ratio calculated in accordance with the AAP limited partnership agreement. Following any such conversion, the holder will have the Exchange Right for our Class A shares. Holders of AAP Management Units who convert such units into AAP units and our Class B shares will not receive general partner units and thus will not need to include any general partner units in a transfer to us upon exercise of their Exchange Right. During the three months ended September 30, 2016, certain AAP unitholders or their permitted transferees exercised the Exchange Right, which resulted in the issuance of 1,320,189 Class A shares. The issuance of Class A shares in connection with the exercise of the Exchange Right was exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to Section 4(2) thereof.

Item 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES

None.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

None.

Item 5. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

Item 6. EXHIBITS

The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this report, and such Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference.

58

Table of Contents

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

PLAINS GP HOLDINGS, L.P.

By: PAA GP HOLDINGS LLC,

its general partner

By:/s/ Greg L. Armstrong

Greg L. Armstrong,

Chairman of the Board,

Chief Executive Officer and Director of PAA GP Holdings LLC (Principal Executive Officer)

November 8, 2016

By:/s/ Al Swanson

Al Swanson,

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of PAA GP Holdings LLC (Principal Financial Officer)

November 8, 2016

By:/s/ Chris Herbold

Chris Herbold,

Vice President—Accounting and Chief Accounting Officer of PAA GP Holdings LLC (Principal Accounting Officer)

November 8, 2016

59

Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

- Simplification Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2016, by and among PAA GP Holdings LLC, Plains GP Holdings, L.P., Plains All American GP LLC, Plains AAP, L.P., PAA GP LLC and Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 14, 2016).
- 3.1 Certificate of Limited Partnership of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-190227) filed July 29, 2013).
- Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains GP Holdings, L.P. dated as of October 21, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).
- 3.3 Certificate of Formation of PAA GP Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (333-190227) filed July 29, 2013).
- Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of PAA GP Holdings LLC dated as of 3.4 -October 21, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).
- Amendment No. 1 dated as of December 31, 2013 to the Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 3.5 –Agreement of PAA GP Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 31, 2013).
- Fifth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. dated as of 3.6 –January 28, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 2, 2016).
- Amendment No. 1 to the Fifth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Plains All American 3.7 —Pipeline, L.P. dated as of July 10, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 14, 2016).
- Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Plains All American GP LLC dated 3.8 -October 21, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).
- Amendment No. 1 dated January 28, 2016 to the Sixth Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company 3.9 –Agreement of Plains All American GP LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed February 2, 2016).
- 3.10 Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Plains AAP, L.P. dated October 21, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).
- Amendment No. 1 dated December 31, 2013 to the Seventh Amended and Restated Limited Partnership 3.11–Agreement of Plains AAP, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 31, 2013).
- 3.12 Limited Liability Company Agreement of PAA GP LLC dated December 28, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.3 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 4, 2008).

- Indenture dated September 25, 2002 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and 4.1 –Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002).
- Fourth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 5.875% Senior Notes due 2016) dated August 12, 2004 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and Wachovia Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to PAA's Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333-121168).
- Sixth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.70% Senior Notes due 2036) dated May 12, 2006 among
 Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and Wachovia
 Bank, National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on
 Form 8-K filed May 12, 2006).

60

Table of Contents

- Ninth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.125% Senior Notes due 2017) dated October 30, 2006

 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and

 U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 30, 2006).
- Tenth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.650% Senior Notes due 2037) dated October 30, 2006
 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and
 U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 30, 2006).
- Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture (Series A and Series B 6.50% Senior Notes due 2018) dated April 23, 2008

 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and

 U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 23, 2008).
- Fifteenth Supplemental Indenture (8.75% Senior Notes due 2019) dated April 20, 2009 among Plains All

 American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National

 Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 20, 2009).
- Seventeenth Supplemental Indenture (5.75% Senior Notes due 2020) dated September 4, 2009 among Plains All

 American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National

 Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 4, 2009).
- Nineteenth Supplemental Indenture (5.00% Senior Notes due 2021) dated January 14, 2011 among Plains All

 American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., the Subsidiary Guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank National

 Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 11, 2011).
- Twentieth Supplemental Indenture (3.65% Senior Notes due 2022) dated March 22, 2012 among Plains All 4.10–American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 26, 2012).
- Twenty-First Supplemental Indenture (5.15% Senior Notes due 2042) dated March 22, 2012 among Plains All 4.11–American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed March 26, 2012).
- Twenty-Second Supplemental Indenture (2.85% Senior Notes due 2023) dated December 10, 2012, by and 4.12–among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 12, 2012).
- Twenty-Third Supplemental Indenture (4.30% Senior Notes due 2043) dated December 10, 2012, by and among 4.13-Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 12, 2012).
- Twenty-Fourth Supplemental Indenture (3.85% Senior Notes due 2023) dated August 15, 2013, by and among 4.14—Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 15, 2013).

Twenty-Fifth Supplemental Indenture (4.70% Senior Notes due 2044) dated April 23, 2014, by and among 4.15—Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 29, 2014).

Twenty-Sixth Supplemental Indenture (3.60% Senior Notes due 2024) dated September 9, 2014, by and among 4.16-Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 11, 2014). Twenty-Seventh Supplemental Indenture (2.60% Senior Notes due 2019) dated December 9, 2014, by and 4.17-among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 11, 2014).

61

Table of Contents

- Twenty-Eighth Supplemental Indenture (4.90% Senior Notes due 2045) dated December 9, 2014, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 11, 2014).
- Twenty-Ninth Supplemental Indenture (4.65% Senior Notes due 2025) dated August 24, 2015, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., PAA Finance Corp., and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 26, 2015).
- Shareholder and Registration Rights Agreement dated October 21, 2013 by and among Plains GP Holdings,
 4.20 —L.P. and the other parties signatory thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 25, 2013).
- Voting Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2016, by and among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., Plains GP

 -Holdings, L.P. and the shareholders named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA's

 Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 14, 2016).
- Third Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of August 11, 2016 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent,

 -Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer; Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as an L/C Issuer; and the other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 17, 2016).
- Second Amendment to 364-Day Credit Agreement dated as of August 11, 2016 among Plains All American Pipeline, L.P., as Borrower; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Citibank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A. and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Co-Syndication Agents; DNB Bank

 ASA, New York Branch and Mizuho Bank Ltd., as Co-Documentation Agents; the other Lenders party thereto; and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Citigroup Global Markets Inc., DNB Markets, Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Mizuho Bank, Ltd. and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Join Bookrunners (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 17, 2016).
- Third Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of August 11, 2016 among Plains Marketing, L.P. and Plains Midstream Canada ULC, as Borrowers; Plains All American Pipeline,

 -L.P., as Guarantor; Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer; Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as an L/C Lender; and the other Lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to PAA's Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 17, 2016).
- Consent, Limited Waiver and Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of

 August 11, 2016 among Plains AAP, L.P., as Borrower, Citibank, N.A. as Administrative Agent, and the

 other Lenders party thereto. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to our Current Report on Form 8-K
 filed August 17, 2016).
- Form of PAA LTIP Grant Letter for Officers (August 2016) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to PAA's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 filed November 8, 2016).
- 10.7 ** Form of Amendment to Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement dated August 25, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to PAA's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

September 30, 2016 filed November 8, 2016).

- Amendment dated August 25, 2016 to LTIP Grant Letter dated August 24, 2015 (Willie
- 10.8 ** -Chiang)(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to PAA's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 filed November 8, 2016).
- First Amendment to Plains AAP, L.P. Class B Restricted Units Agreement dated August 25, 2016 (Willie 10.9 ** -Chiang) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to PAA's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 filed November 8, 2016).
- 31.1 † —Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a).
- 31.2 † —Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a).
- 32.1 †† —Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.
- 32.2 †† Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.
- 101.INS†-XBRL Instance Document
- 101.SCH‡XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

62

Table of Contents

101.CAL‡XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF‡XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB‡XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE‡XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

63

[†] Filed herewith.

^{††} Furnished herewith.

^{*} Certain schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule will be furnished supplementally to the SEC upon request.

^{**} Management compensatory plan or arrangement.